
ANNUAL REPORT

2024

2024



IN CHINESE MAINLAND

LEADING
FOUNDRY







ENHANCED COMPETITIVENESS

EMPOWERED TECHNOLOGY

ENRICHED
SERVICES



7 Section 1 �Definitions

9 Section 2 �Letter to Shareholders

12 Section 3 �Corporate Profile and Principal 
Financial Indicators

17 Section 4 �Management Discussion and Analysis

35 Section 5 �Report of the Directors

37 Section 6 �Corporate Governance

69 Section 7 �Environmental, Social Responsibility 
and Other Corporate Governance

76 Section 8 �Significant Events

87 Section 9 �Changes in Shares and Information 
of Shareholders

92 Section 10 �Financial Report

CONTENTS



SMIC  |  2024 ANNUAL REPORT

5

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This report may contain, in addition to historical information, forward-looking statements. These forward-looking 
statements are based on SMIC’s current assumptions, expectations, beliefs, plans, objectives and projections 
about future events or performance. SMIC uses words including but not limited to “believe”, “anticipate”, 
“intend”, “estimate”, “expect”, “project”, “target”, “going forward”, “continue”, “ought to”, “may”, “seek”, 
“should”, “plan”, “could”, “vision”, “goal”, “aim”, “aspire”, “objective”, “schedule”, “outlook” and other 
similar expressions to identify forward looking statements. These forward-looking statements are estimates 
made by SMIC’s senior management based on their best judgment and involve significant risks, both known 
and unknown, uncertainties and other factors that may cause SMIC’s actual performance, financial condition or 
results of operations to be materially different from those suggested by the forward-looking statements including, 
among others, risks associated with cyclicality and market conditions in the semiconductor industry, intense 
competition in the semiconductor industry, timely wafer acceptance by SMIC’s customers, timely introduction 
of new technologies, SMIC’s ability to ramp new products into volume, supply and demand for semiconductor 
foundry services, shortages in equipment, parts, raw materials, software and service supports, orders or judgments 
from pending litigation, common intellectual property litigation in the semiconductor industry, macro-economic 
conditions, fluctuations in currency exchange rates and the risk of geopolitics.
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In this report, unless the context requires otherwise, the following expressions shall have meanings as follows:

Definitions of common terms

the Company, Company or SMIC for Semiconductor Manufacturing International Corporation

the Group or We for the Company and its subsidiaries

SMIC Shanghai for Semiconductor Manufacturing International (Shanghai) Corporation

SMIC Beijing for Semiconductor Manufacturing International (Beijing) Corporation

SMIC Tianjin for Semiconductor Manufacturing International (Tianjin) Corporation

SMIC Shenzhen for Semiconductor Manufacturing International (Shenzhen) Corporation

SMNC for Semiconductor Manufacturing North China (Beijing) Corporation

SMSC for Semiconductor Manufacturing South China Corporation

SMBC for Semiconductor Manufacturing Beijing Corporation

SMOC for Semiconductor Manufacturing Oriental Corporation

SMTC for Semiconductor Manufacturing Tianjin-Xiqing Corporation

CICT for China Information and Communication Technology Group Co., Ltd.

Datang Holdings for Datang Telecom Technology & Industry Holdings Co., Ltd.

Datang HK for Datang Holdings (Hongkong) Investment Company Limited

China IC Fund for China Integrated Circuit Industry Investment Fund Co., Ltd.

China IC Fund II for China Integrated Circuit Industry Investment Fund (Phase II) Co., Ltd.

Xinxin HK for Xinxin (Hongkong) Capital Co., Ltd.

2024 AGM for the Company’s annual general meeting held on June 28, 2024

Board for the board of directors of the Company

Director(s) for the director(s) of the Company

CSRC for China Securities Regulatory Commission

HKSE or Hong Kong Stock Exchange for The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

SSE for The Shanghai Stock Exchange

SSE STAR Market for Shanghai Stock Exchange Science and Technology Innovation Board

Hong Kong Listing Rules for the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong 
Kong Limited, as amended from time to time

SSE STAR Market Listing Rules for the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the SSE STAR Market, as 
amended from time to time

IFRS(s) for the International Financial Reporting Standard(s) as issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board

CAS(s) for the China Accounting Standard(s) for Business Enterprises as issued by the 
PRC Ministry of Finance

Ordinary Share(s) for the ordinary share(s) of US$0.004 each in the share capital of the Company

A Share(s) for the Ordinary Share(s) issued by the Company on the SSE STAR Market

Hong Kong Share(s) for the Ordinary Share(s) issued by the Company on the Hong Kong Stock 
Exchange

Reporting period, this period or this 
year

for period from January 1, 2024 to December 31, 2024

Corresponding period, previous period 
or last year

for period from January 1, 2023 to December 31, 2023

All references in this report to silicon wafer quantities are to standard logic 8-inch equivalent wafers, unless otherwise specified. 
The number of standard logic 8-inch equivalent wafers is equal to the number of standard logic 12-inch wafers multiplied by 2.25.

The financial information in this report has been prepared in accordance with the provisions under the IFRSs.
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Dear shareholders and investors,

The year 2024 was a pivotal year for SMIC to achieve new breakthroughs in driving high-quality development 
and overcoming challenges. Confronted with the severe and complex international geopolitical environment, 
macroeconomic situation and profoundly changing industry landscape, the Company has actively undertaken 
the original mission of “strengthening, refining and scaling up the Company to compete globally as a key player 
in the industry”. Guided by the development blueprint of “one SMIC, global operations”, the Company has 
scientifically planned the development path and deeply advanced the reform and innovation. The Company’s 
efforts have yielded steady progress and enhanced quality for various work. The full year revenue increased by 
27% year-over-year to $8.03 billion, hit a record high. Gross margin was 18%, and capacity utilization rate was 
85.6%. By the end of 2024, the Company’s total assets were $49.2 billion, and the monthly capacity reached 948 
thousand standard logic 8-inch equivalent wafers. The achievements the Company have made would not have 
been possible without the care, support, and assistance from our shareholders, investors, and the community. 
Here, on behalf of the Company’s board of directors and management, I would like to extend our most heartfelt 
gratitude and sincerest respect to all the friends who have cared for and supported the development of SMIC 
over the years.

Adhering to innovation-driven strategies, the Company continuously enhances the core competitive 
capabilities. The Company has always aimed to improve the core competitive capabilities through benchmarking 
the world-class enterprises. As a result, multiple operational indicators reached record highs, utilization rate 
achieved an industry-leading level, process and platform development steadily expanded, technology iteration 
and product upgrade solidly advanced. The rapid involvement capabilities for various end applications significantly 
improved, and customer satisfaction as well as the market influence continued to grow. Adhering to open 
collaboration, the Company continuously expands the industry chain eco-system. Anchored “customer-
centricity and value creation for customer” in the starting point and ultimate objective, the Company has 
deepened strategic partnerships with industry leaders in consumer electronics, automotive, IoT, industrial control, 
AI, and other sectors, while strengthening industry-academia-research collaboration with top-tier universities 
and research institutes globally. Along with conducting more forward-looking R&D projects, the Company has 
achieved significant strides in process innovation and platform development, and accelerated the establishments of 
SMIC-featured industry chain, eco-system chain, and innovation chain. Adhering to a people-centric approach, 
the Company comprehensively advances the green and sustainable development. Guided by our mission 
of “creating value for customers, delivering returns to shareholders, providing a platform for employees and 
contributing to society”, the Company has forged a community of shared benefits, a community of career 
aspirations and a community of shared future among the Company, employees and society. The Company has 
actively fulfilled the responsibilities in emission and carbon reduction, and constructed green factories. Through 
sustained initiatives like the “SMIC Liver Transplant Program for Children” and other philanthropic projects, the 
Company has cultivated a corporate culture with humanistic warmth.

The year 2025 signifies a transformative year for the Company as it comprehensively deepens reforms and drives 
high-quality development. Confronted with both challenges and opportunities, the Company will adhere to the 
overarching principle of seeking progress while maintaining stability, ground itself in the new development stage, 
implement the new development philosophy, and integrate into the new development paradigm. The Company 
will further balance development and security, scientifically plan development strategy, cultivate and advance 
new quality productive forces, and collaborate with broad base of customers and partners to contribute “SMIC 
Power” to the innovative development of the global integrated circuit industry!

Chairman

Shanghai, PRC
March 27, 2025
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I.	 BASIC CORPORATE INFORMATION
Name of the Company in Chinese

Chinese abbreviation

Name of the Company in English Semiconductor Manufacturing International Corporation

English abbreviation SMIC

Legal representative of the Company(Note) Liu Xunfeng

Authorized Representatives under Hong Kong 
Listing Rules

Liu Xunfeng, Guo Guangli

Board Secretary/Company Secretary Guo Guangli

Registered address of the Company Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman, 
KY1-1111 Cayman Islands

Office address of the Company 18 Zhangjiang Road, Pudong New Area, Shanghai, PRC

Place of business in Hong Kong 29th Floor, Exchange Square One, 8 Connaught Place, Central, 
Hong Kong

Postal code of the office address of the 
Company

201203

Website address https://www.smics.com/

E-mail ir@smics.com

Hong Kong Share registrar Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, 17M Floor, 
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wan Chai, Hong Kong

Custodian of A Shares Shanghai Branch of China Securities Depository and Clearing 
Corporation Limited (“China Clearing”)

Note:	�The Company is registered in the Cayman Islands, which does not have the concept of a legal representative, and 
the Chairman of the Company is Liu Xunfeng.

II.	 CONTACT PERSONS AND CONTACT METHODS

Board Secretary 
(Domestic Representative for 
Information Disclosure)

Securities Affairs 
Representative   

Name Guo Guangli Wen Jiehan
Contact address 18 Zhangjiang Road, Pudong New 

Area, Shanghai, PRC
18 Zhangjiang Road, Pudong 

New Area, Shanghai, PRC
Telephone 021-20812800 021-20812800
E-mail ir@smics.com ir@smics.com   

III.	 INFORMATION DISCLOSURE AND PLACE AVAILABLE FOR INSPECTION
Names and websites of the media selected by 

the Company for information disclosure
Shanghai Securities News (www.cnstock.com), China Securities 

Journal (www.cs.com.cn), Securities Times (www.stcn.com) and 
Securities Daily (www.zqrb.cn)

Website of the Shanghai Stock Exchange 
for publishing the annual report of the 
Company

https://www.sse.com.cn

Website of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange 
for publishing the annual report of the 
Company

https://www.hkexnews.hk

Place available for inspection of the annual 
report of the Company

Board Affairs Office, 18 Zhangjiang Road, Pudong New Area, 
Shanghai, PRC
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IV.	 INFORMATION ON THE COMPANY’S SHARES

Class of shares
Stock exchange and board on which shares 
are listed Stock abbreviation Stock code    

A Shares SSE STAR Market 688981
Hong Kong Shares Main Board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange SMIC 00981

    

V.	 OTHER RELEVANT INFORMATION
Auditor engaged by the 

Company (domestic)
Name Ernst & Young Hua Ming LLP (Special General Partnership)

Office address 16th Floor, Ernst & Young Tower, Oriental Plaza, 1 East 
Chang An Avenue, Dongcheng District, Beijing, China

Name of signing accountants Meng Dong, Gu Fan

Auditor engaged by the 
Company (overseas)

Name Ernst & Young Certificated Public Accountant and 
Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor

Office address 27/F, One Taikoo Place, 979 King’s Road, Quarry Bay, 
Hong Kong

Name of signing accountant Ng Cheung

VI.	 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING DATA AND FINANCIAL INDICATORS FOR THE LAST THREE 
YEARS
(I)	 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING DATA

in USD’000

Year ended December 31,

2024 2023
2024 as compared 

with 2023 (%) 2022     
Revenue 8,029,921 6,321,560 27.0 7,273,284
Profit for the year attributable to owners of the 

Company 492,748 902,526 -45.4 1,817,942
Profit for the year attributable to owners of the 

Company, net of non-recurring profit or loss 368,930 465,963 -20.8 1,525,696
Net cash generated from operating activities 3,175,555 3,358,294 -5.4 5,347,916
Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and 

amortisation (“EBITDA”) 4,379,732 4,064,164 7.8 4,611,048
     

As of December 31,

2024 2023
2024 as compared 

with 2023 (%) 2022     
Equity attributable to owners of the Company 20,613,809 20,116,102 2.5 19,149,976
Total assets 49,161,248 47,787,312 2.9 43,807,784
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(II)	 PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL INDICATORS
Year ended December 31,

2024 2023
2024 as compared 

with 2023 (%) 2022     
Gross margin 18.0% 19.3% Decreased by 1.3 

percentage points
38.0%

Net margin 9.1% 17.8% Decreased by 8.7 
percentage points

30.2%

EBITDA margin 54.5% 64.3% Decreased by 9.8 
percentage points

63.4%

Basic earnings per share $0.06 $0.11 -45.5 $0.23
Diluted earnings per share $0.06 $0.11 -45.5 $0.23
Basic earnings per share, net of non-recurring 

profit or loss
$0.05 $0.06 -16.7 $0.19

Weighted average return on equity(1) 2.4% 4.6% Decreased by 2.2 
percentage points

10.0%

Weighted average return on equity, net of  
non-recurring profit or loss(2)

1.8% 2.4% Decreased by 0.6 
percentage point

8.4%

Percentage of research and development 
(“R&D”) costs to revenue

9.5% 11.2% Decreased by 1.7 
percentage points

10.1%
     

Notes:

(1)	 Weighted average return on equity = profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company/weighted average equity attributable 

to owners of the Company

(2)	 Weighted average return on equity, net of non-recurring profit or loss = profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company, 

net of non-recurring profit or loss/weighted average equity attributable to owners of the Company

Profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company, basic earnings per share, diluted earnings per share for this 
year decreased, primarily due to the decrease of investment income and financial income.

VII.	 DISCREPANCIES IN ACCOUNTING DATA BETWEEN DIFFERENT ACCOUNTING 
STANDARDS
(I)	 DISCREPANCIES IN PROFIT AND EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE COMPANY 

IN THE FINANCIAL REPORT DISCLOSED UNDER IFRSs AND UNDER CASs
in USD’000

Profit attributable to  
owners of the Company

Equity attributable to  
owners of the Company

Year ended 
12/31/24

Year ended 
12/31/23 12/31/24 12/31/23     

Prepared in accordance with CASs 517,851 685,559 20,613,809 20,116,102
Adjustments to items and amounts 

prepared in accordance with IFRSs:
Equity interest in associates being 

passively diluted and the reversal of 
passive dilution due to the disposal of 
equity interests in associates(Note) (25,103) 216,967 – –

Prepared in accordance with IFRSs 492,748 902,526 20,613,809 20,116,102     

Note:	 Under the CASs, the impact arising from passive dilution of investments in associates and joint ventures shall adjust the carrying 

amount of the long-term investment, and be recognised in capital reserve. When the equity method accounting for the remaining 

equity is terminated, all of this capital reserve shall be transferred to the profit or loss in the current period. Under the IFRSs, the 

impact arising from passive dilution of investments in associates and joint ventures shall adjust the carrying amount of the long-

term investment, and be recognised in profit or loss in the current period.

VIII.	PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL DATA FOR THE YEAR OF 2024 BY QUARTER
in USD’000

First Quarter  
(From January to 

March)

Second Quarter  
(From April to 

June)

Third Quarter  
(From July to 

September)

Fourth Quarter 
(From October to 

December)     
Revenue 1,750,176 1,901,276 2,171,188 2,207,281
Profit attributable to 

owners of the Company 71,792 164,569 148,800 107,587
Profit attributable 

to owners of the 
Company, net of non-
recurring profit or loss 87,662 93,678 127,678 59,912

Net cash generated from 
operating activities 470,022 19,275 1,236,416 1,449,842     
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IX.	 NON-RECURRING PROFIT OR LOSS ITEMS AND AMOUNTS
in USD’000

Year ended December 31,

2024 2023 2022    
Gain/(loss) on disposal of property, plant and equipment and 

assets classified as held-for-sale 18,414 (177) 45,774
Government funding 187,686 236,425 188,610
Net gain arising from items measured at fair value through profit 

or loss (“FVPL”) 2,090 51,265 12,257
One-off adjustments to the profit or loss under the requirements 

of tax, accounting and other laws and regulations – – 9,524
Other non-recurring profit or loss items 136,405 270,998 92,355

    

344,595 558,511 348,520
Effects on income tax (150,261) (54,162) (8,696)
Impact on non-controlling interests (after tax) (70,516) (67,786) (47,578)

    

Total 123,818 436,563 292,246
    

in USD’000

Year ended December 31,

Other non-recurring profit or loss items 2024  
Share of net gain arising from items measured at FVPL of 

associates and a joint venture and gain on disposal of an 
associate 132,634

Equity interest in associates being passively diluted 4,698
Others (927)  

X.	 EBITDA
in USD’000

Year ended December 31,

2024 2023   
Profit for the year 729,993 1,124,935
Finance costs 297,111 209,424
Depreciation and amortisation 3,223,063 2,667,291
Income tax expense 129,565 62,514
   

EBITDA 4,379,732 4,064,164
EBITDA margin 54.5% 64.3%   

Notes:

(1)	 EBITDA margin is calculated by dividing EBITDA by revenue.

(2)	 EBITDA and EBITDA margin are non-IFRS measurement items and may not be comparable to similar measurement items reported 

by other companies.

(3)	 EBITDA and EBITDA margin exclude the effects of different capital structures, depreciation policies, and tax burdens, providing 

readers with information on the Company’s core profitability and cash flow status.

The increase in EBITDA was mainly due to the increase in wafer shipment and the product mix change during this year. 
The decrease of EBITDA margin was mainly due to EBITDA growth rate for this year lower than revenue growth rate.

XI.	 ITEMS MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE
in USD’000

As of December 31,

2024 2023
Change in the 

reporting period

Impact on profit 
for the reporting 

period     
Investments in equity 

securities 138,086 197,830 (59,744) (7,537)
Structural deposits and 

monetary funds 561,544 498,768 62,776 9,627
Derivative financial 

instruments – net 
liabilities (69,387) (69,804) 417 –

     

Total 630,243 626,794 3,449 2,090     
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XII.	 BUSINESS PERFORMANCE HIGHLIGHTS FOR THE PREVIOUS FIVE YEARS

(I)	 PROFIT OR LOSS DATA
in USD’000

Year ended December 31,

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020      
Revenue 8,029,921 6,321,560 7,273,284 5,443,112 3,906,975
Cost of sales (6,581,953) (5,103,816) (4,511,636) (3,767,342) (2,986,062)

      

Gross profit 1,447,968 1,217,744 2,761,648 1,675,770 920,913
Research and development expenses (765,279) (707,275) (733,096) (638,842) (677,413)
Selling and marketing expenses (39,847) (36,162) (33,834) (27,642) (29,466)
General and administration expenses (580,041) (482,262) (493,730) (275,703) (266,376)
Impairment losses on financial assets, net (107) 1,255 (605) 997 (199)
Other operating income 411,206 364,447 335,296 657,982 364,487

      

Profit from operations 473,900 357,747 1,835,679 1,392,562 311,946
Interest income 546,061 736,591 349,135 223,035 170,794
Finance costs (297,111) (209,424) (125,582) (110,143) (73,234)
Foreign exchange gain 11,261 11,155 6,586 1,407 89,818
Other gains, net 96,837 262,591 26,763 80,785 50,741
Share of profit of associates and a joint 

venture 28,610 28,789 121,524 252,678 187,343
      

Profit before tax 859,558 1,187,449 2,214,105 1,840,324 737,408
Income tax expense (129,565) (62,514) (16,023) (65,166) (68,310)

      

Profit for the year 729,993 1,124,935 2,198,082 1,775,158 669,098
      

Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to:
Owners of the Company 492,748 902,526 1,817,942 1,701,803 715,550
Non-controlling interests 237,245 222,409 380,140 73,355 (46,452)

      

729,993 1,124,935 2,198,082 1,775,158 669,098
      

Year ended December 31,

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020      
Earnings per share
Basic $0.06 $0.11 $0.23 $0.22 $0.11
Diluted $0.06 $0.11 $0.23 $0.21 $0.11
Shares issued and outstanding (share) 7,976,149,966 7,946,555,760 7,912,664,696 7,903,856,555 7,703,507,527

      

Financial ratio
Gross margin 18.0% 19.3% 38.0% 30.8% 23.6%
Net margin 9.1% 17.8% 30.2% 32.6% 17.1%

      

Operating data
Wafers shipped (in piece) 8,020,798 5,866,683 7,098,458 6,747,190 5,698,624

      

(II)	 MAJOR FINANCIAL POSITION DATA
in USD’000

As of December 31,

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020      
Total assets 49,161,248 47,787,312 43,807,784 36,110,941 31,320,575
Property, plant and equipment 28,092,037 23,944,961 18,855,532 14,260,783 12,138,021
Financial assets at amortised cost 7,954,060 9,840,224 10,676,151 7,564,091 4,445,238
Cash and cash equivalents 6,364,189 6,215,058 6,932,587 8,581,746 9,826,537
Total liabilities 17,291,590 16,941,696 14,846,363 10,672,798 9,638,837
Borrowings 10,964,459 9,550,931 7,986,522 5,726,987 5,290,833
Trade and other payables 3,280,365 3,727,922 3,217,001 1,830,415 1,648,556
Total equity 31,869,658 30,845,616 28,961,421 25,438,143 21,681,738
Non-controlling interests 11,255,849 10,729,514 9,811,445 8,288,479 6,507,144      

(III)	 MAJOR CASH FLOW DATA
in USD’000

Year ended December 31,

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020      
Net cash generated from operating 

activities 3,175,555 3,358,294 5,347,916 3,011,895 1,660,410
Profit for the year 729,993 1,124,935 2,198,082 1,775,158 669,098
Depreciation and amortisation 3,223,063 2,667,291 2,271,361 1,869,302 1,312,694
Net cash used in investing activities (4,518,437) (6,207,572) (10,391,505) (6,655,435) (7,071,383)
Acquisition of property, plant and 

equipment (7,664,215) (7,630,407) (6,172,106) (4,120,275) (5,274,686)
Net cash generated from financing 

activities 1,608,336 2,466,338 3,614,290 2,357,325 12,704,215
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and 

cash equivalents 265,454 (382,940) (1,429,299) (1,286,215) 7,293,242      
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I.	 DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS ON BUSINESS
In 2024, the overall semiconductor market showed a recovery trend. Smartphones, personal computers and consumer 
electronics products are stabilizing and gradually rebounding, while demand in emerging markets like smart wearables 
and IoT devices continues to expand, serving as key drivers of growth for the semiconductor industry. In the medium to 
long term, the overall industry maintains its cyclicality and growth despite supply-demand imbalance in the short term. 
With the uptrend of demand driven by intelligence in the application fields of home appliance, education, scientific 
research, business, industry, transportation and medical, the market vitality is gradually recovering, the end market scale 
is improving, and main parts of the industry chain revive progressively.

During the reporting period, the Company actively implemented various innovative measures in the aspects of management 
improvement, team development, cost reduction and productivity exaltation, technology research, business development, 
etc., devoting all efforts to firm up every mission of the year. Under the overall macro cyclical upward environment, the 
Company seized the demand of the increasing indigenous manufacturing. Through rapid identifications on customers’ 
market share of the incremental market segments, the Company proactively responded to the changes in customer needs, 
timely adjusted product portfolio, and paid more focus on technical innovations and process optimizations, provided 
customers with comprehensive platform support and design services. The Company further consolidated the short-term 
business foundation, while continued to broaden the medium-to long-term capacity layout and firmly capture long-term 
megatrend of the semiconductor industry.

During the reporting period, the Group recorded revenue of US$8,029.9 million, representing a year-on-year increase of 
27.0%. In particular, the wafer revenue amounted to US$7,486.9 million, representing a year-on-year increase of 29.2%.

II.	 PRINCIPAL BUSINESS, BUSINESS MODEL, INDUSTRY OVERVIEW AND R&D DURING 
THE REPORTING PERIOD
(I)	 PRINCIPAL BUSINESS, MAJOR PRODUCTS OR SERVICES
SMIC is one of the leading semiconductor foundries in the world and also the front runner in Chinese Mainland, with 
leading manufacturing capability, manufacturing scale and comprehensive services. SMIC Group provides semiconductor 
foundry and technology services to global customers on 8-inch and 12-inch wafers.

In addition to the IC foundry business, the Group is also committed to creating a platform-based ecological service 
model, providing customers with one-stop supporting services in design services, IP support, photomask manufacturing, 
etc., while promoting the collaborations of upstream and downstream of IC industry chain so as to provide a full range 
of integrated circuit solutions to our customers with the partners in all links of the industry chain.

(II)	 MAJOR BUSINESS MODEL
1.	 Profit model
The Company is mainly engaged in IC foundry business based on multiple technology nodes and different technology 
platforms, as well as supporting services such as design services and IP support, photomask manufacturing, etc.

2.	 R&D model
The Company has formed a complete and efficient innovation mechanism and a complete R&D process management 
system, equipped with professional R&D teams. The Company promoted the application platforms’ development, further 
solidified its technical foundation and established its technical thresholds. The R&D procedures principally include seven 
stages, namely selection of project, feasibility assessment, project establishment, technology development, technology 
verification, product validation and production, each with strict review procedure, to ensure the successful conversion 
of R&D projects.

3.	 Procurement model
The Company mainly purchases materials, parts, equipment, software and technical services for IC foundry services and 
supporting services from its suppliers. In order to improve productivity and enhance cost control, the Company has 
established a procurement management system. The Company has an established supplier management system and 
a relatively comprehensive security system for supply chain management. It has built mechanisms for supplier access, 
supplier assessment and evaluation, and supplier capability development and improvement. While maintaining long-term 
collaboration with its major suppliers, the Company continues to take into account the introduction and cultivation of 
new suppliers to strengthen the sustainability and safety of the supply chain.

4.	 Production model
The Company plans production capacity based on the market demand and determines production schedule, the details 
of which are as follows:

(1)	 Small-batch trial production: The customer designs the products according to the design rules provided by the 
Company. After completing the design, the Company conducts a small-batch trial production based on the 
customers’ requirements for such product.

(2)	 Risk production: The samples from the small-batch trial production are packaged, tested, and functionally verified. 
If they meet the market requirements, the product can enter into the risk production stage. The stage of risk 
production mainly includes product yield improvement, product process improvement and production capacity 
expansion.



18

SECTION 4 MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

(3)	 Mass production: After completing the risk production, and the above mentioned delivery indicators have met the 
standards, the product can enter into the mass production stage. In the mass production stage, the sales department 
confirms with customer on the purchase order quantity. The production-planning department arranges production 
based on customer order requirements, tracks production progress, and provides customers with production progress 
reports.

5.	 Marketing and sales model
The Company adopts various marketing methods and actively expands customer base through multiple channels. After 
forming a cooperative relationship with customers, the Company will maintain direct communication channels with 
customers and formulate solutions to meet their needs.

Through market research, the Company actively contacts and visits target customers, recommends process and services 
linked to customer needs and launches a series of customer development activities. The Company also establishes 
cooperative relations with customers through collaborations with design service companies, IP suppliers, EDA companies, 
packaging and testing companies, industry associations and various IC industry promotion centers. The Company conducts 
promotional activities and acquires customers by hosting technical seminars and participating in various professional 
exhibitions, summits, and forums in the semiconductor industry. Some customers contact the Company for direct 
cooperation through public channels such as the Company’s website and word-of-mouth communication. The Company’s 
sales team executes orders with customers, and provides IC wafer foundry services and relevant supporting services to 
the customers according to the requirements of the order. Upon completion of manufacturing, the products will be 
delivered to customers or the downstream packaging and testing manufacturers designated by customers.

The Company has established the current foundry model based on the factors such as market supply and demand 
situation, upstream and downstream development, the Company’s principal business, major products, core technologies, 
and its own development stage. During the reporting period, the aforementioned key factors of business model had no 
material changes.

(III)	 INDUSTRY OVERVIEW
1.	 Development stage, basic features and major technical thresholds of the industry
In 2024, the global semiconductor industry showed signs of recovery. The industrial chains have established moderate 
upward trend. Since the semiconductor industry is involved in wide range of application areas, the development of each 
market segment varied correspondently during the same period. In the area of global leading industries on intellectualization 
and high speed computing, the related leading application companies, as the major driving force to the incremental market 
scale, have kept capturing their fast-growing phase, steering the industries towards further explosive growth injected by 
the industry pursuits of excellence. Benefiting from the new round of intelligent terminal products’ function upgrade and 
performance boosts, the new waves of device replacements on smartphone, personal computer, connectivity and IoT, 
consumer electronics and other products were encouraged by the moderate market where corresponding demand has 
shown a mild growth. In the automotive electronics market, as the EV market competition becomes increasingly fierce, 
the inventory digestion of automotive chips has gradually slowed down, and now the semiconductor demand for this 
field is entering a cyclical adjustment phase.

From the perspective of the semiconductor demand and wafer foundry business, the companies participating in industry 
chains of each market segment may have different development situations. Among which, the leading industry has rapid 
growth in logic IC demand with extremely high technical requirements on IC design, wafer foundry and varied package 
types. The industrial barrier has already been established. The area of smartphone, personal computer, connectivity and 
IoT, consumer electronics and other products have covered a wider range and relatively large number of semiconductor 
types. The market trend is in the progress of recovery, while the upstream and downstream supply-chain-players are still 
facing intensive competition landscape; as for the automotive and industrial, their market share from total semiconductor 
market is relatively small, it requires relatively special requirements on their products specifications and reliabilities, and 
the industry supply chains for related IC design and foundry business are relatively concentrated, thus, its impact on the 
overall semiconductor and wafer foundry industry is limited.

From the regional perspectives, in order to enhance supply chain convenience, the local industrial chains establishment has 
formed a mega trend in many countries and regions around the world. From the perspective of industry construction in 
Chinese Mainland, the current IC industry, including IC design, wafer foundry capacity scale, process technology capability 
and packaging technology, still cannot meet the actual market demand. As one of the world’s largest semiconductor 
consumption markets, IC industry still relies on import to a certain extent at current stage. From the perspectives of 
technology and manufacturing scale, our domestic companies in the upstream and downstream chains still have wide 
gap compared with global leading companies, accompanied with challenges in many aspects. Driven by the new round 
of technological innovation, the constructions for domestic industrial chains are having large growth space.

According to the industry characteristics, the wafer foundry industry is still the core sector of semiconductor supply chains 
with high technology-intensive, talent-intensive and capital-intensive features. Its operation procedure requires stringent 
control and execution standards for the manufacturing environment, energy, raw materials, equipment and quality 
management system, etc. The R&D and manufacturing process involves science of material, chemistry, semiconductor 
physics, optics, microelectronics, quantum mechanics and other subjects, and requires professional technical teams with 
strong R&D ability for integration technologies and engineering capabilities for process integration. The industry is with 
extremely high barrier to entry.
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2.	 Analysis on the industry position of the Company and its changes
SMIC is one of the leading IC wafer foundries in the world and also the front runner in Chinese Mainland, with leading 
manufacturing capability, manufacturing scale and comprehensive services. According to the global pure-play foundries’ 
latest published sales in 2024, SMIC ranks the second globally and the first among the enterprises in Chinese Mainland.

3.	 Development of new technologies, new industries, new sectors and new models during 
the reporting period as well as their future development trends

In recent years, the foundry manufacturers attract customers with their core advantages in the field of technological 
leadership, platform diversity, and device performance differentiation. Meanwhile, the market demand is becoming 
more diversified. The enterprises pursue not only smaller transistor structures vertically but also the derivative platforms 
establishment by utilizing existing technology nodes as horizontal development, in order to meet the differentiated needs 
of the huge end market.

At the same time, the technologies’ breakthrough in new types of packaging, design services and photomask also 
empower the wafer foundry technologies iterations. In the field of new packaging technologies, a variety of systematic 
solutions effectively exceed the limitation of transistor linewidth, and further improve the compatibility of multi-chip 
integration. In the design services sector, DTCO (Design Technology Co-Optimization) is utilized to evaluate and adjust 
the coordination between IC design and manufacturing process, to effectively reduce the cost of semiconductor process 
development and minimise the risk of process going for production. Photomask as a core tool in IC manufacturing 
industry chain, the process performance of design pattern lithography has been further improved with the evolutions 
on photomask types and graphic transfer materials.

With the changes in global industrial landscape, the wafer foundry companies begin to pay more attentions to the 
industrial constructions ecosystem layout instead of just focus on own technology capability and platform buildup. The 
foundries’ capacity scale effect and collaboration capabilities in local industry chain have become the important factors 
for customers’ assessment of supply chain stability and completeness.

Regarding the future development trends, the foundry companies continue to strengthen their industry barriers in the 
aspects of capital, technology and ecosystem through their continuous efforts on capacity scale expansion, new process 
developing, and industrial chain collaborations, etc. The business format dominated by a small number of companies in 
the market will exist in long run, and the industry’s leading effect will become increasingly evident.

(IV)	 CORE TECHNOLOGIES AND R&D PROGRESS
1.	 Core technologies and the advancement and their changes during the reporting period
SMIC has a comprehensive core technology system of IC wafer foundry, helping customers complete product introduction 
and certification as well as stable mass production efficiently. SMIC has successfully developed diverse technology platforms 
for 8-inch and 12-inch, offering “one-stop” wafer foundry and technical services.

In 2024, multiple platform projects have been developed as planned. Please refer to the following information on R&D 
ongoing projects for details.

2.	 R&D achievements during the reporting period
List of intellectual property rights obtained during the reporting period:

Addition during the year Accumulative number

Number of 
applications

Number of 
rights obtained

Number of 
applications

Number of 
rights obtained     

Invention patents 614 471 18,216 12,112
Utility model patents 51 43 1,892 1,852
Layout design rights – – 94 94

     

Total 665 514 20,202 14,058
     

3.	 Analysis of R&D costs
in USD’000

Year ended December 31,

2024 2023
2024 as compared 

with 2023 (%)    
Expensed R&D costs 765,279 707,275 8.2
Total R&D costs 765,279 707,275 8.2
Percentage of total R&D costs to revenue (%) 9.5 11.2 Decreased by 1.7 

percentage points
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4.	 R&D ongoing projects

No.
Name of 
project

Progress or milestone 
achievements Expected objective

Technology 
positioning

Specific application 
prospects      

1 28nm ULL 
Technology 
Platform  
R&D Project

PDK V1.0 has been released, 
multiple leading customers’ 
products have entered mass 
production. More products are 
continuously being introduced.

To further improve the 
layout of platform IPs and 
to expand the application 
market. Meanwhile, to 
improve performance of the 
existing platform by process 
iteration, to continuously 
reduce the level of power 
leakage to meet the demand 
for extremely low-power 
products, and to reach mass 
production.

Chinese 
Mainland 
leadership

Mainly applied to 
various IoT, mobile 
communication and 
other industries to 
meet the needs of 
smartphones, digital 
TVs, set-top boxes, 
image processing 
and other products 
demand.

2 55nm HV 
Display 
Driver Gen2 
Technology 
Platform  
R&D Project

PDK V1.0 has been released, key 
IP layout has been completed. 
Leading customers’ products 
are continuously being 
introduced. More customers’ 
new products are under 
designing.

To complete customers’ new 
products verification, to 
reach mass production, 
and to expand more global 
segment markets.

Chinese 
Mainland 
leadership

Mainly applied to small 
and medium-sized 
LCD and OLED display 
driver chips.

3 65nm RF-SOI 
Technology 
Platforms 
Continuous 
R&D Project

PDK V1.0 has been released, 
multiple products have entered 
mass production. More 
products are continuously being 
introduced.

To continuously improve the 
performance of the platform 
to the world class in the 
industry. To introduce more 
customers’ new products and 
to reach mass production.

Chinese 
Mainland 
leadership

Mainly applied to 
RF chips in RF 
frontend modules for 
smartphones, Wi-Fi 
and etc.

4 90nm BCD 
Technology 
Platform 
Continuous 
R&D Project

The phase 2 of development 
of process and devices for 
90nm BCD platform has been 
completed, and PDK V1.0 is 
preparing.

To release PDK, to further 
improve the performance, to 
expand more device types 
to meet more customer 
demands, and to reach mass 
production.

Chinese 
Mainland 
leadership

Mainly applied to 
intelligent power 
management, audio 
amplifiers, intelligent 
motor drivers and 
automotive chips.

5 8’’ BCD and 
Analog 
Technology 
Platform 
Continuous 
R&D Project

The new generation of low-
voltage BCD technology 
platform has entered mass 
production. The process 
development of next generation 
of low-voltage BCD platform 
has been completed. The PDK 
V1.0 of the latest generation of 
medium and high voltage BCD 
platform has been released, 
customers’ products are 
continuously being introduced.

To continuously develop 
new BCD platforms and 
to iteratively improve 
performance of the existing 
platform, to release PDK, 
to implement product 
introduction and to reach 
mass production.

Chinese 
Mainland 
leadership

Mainly applied to 
power management, 
industrial applications 
and automotive chips.

6 0.18μm eNVM 
for Automotive 
Electronics 
Technology 
Platform  
R&D Project

The process and devices 
development have been 
completed. Reliability 
verification has been 
completed, PDK V1.0 has been 
released and the IP is under 
development.

To complete platform 
development and reliability 
verification, to release 
models and PDK, to 
complete the layout of IP, to 
introduce products and to 
reach mass production.

Chinese 
Mainland 
leadership

Mainly applied to 
industrial applications 
and automotive chips.

7 8’’ HV Display 
Driver 
Technology 
Platform 
Continuous 
R&D Project

PDK V1.0 for medium size of 
OLED display driver technology 
platform has been released, 
customers’ products are under 
designing. The platform process 
for new generation of medium 
to large-sized LCD display driver 
platform has been completed, 
PDK V1.0 is preparing.

To continuously develop new 
devices and new technology 
platforms, to release PDK, 
to implement product 
introduction and to reach 
mass production.

Chinese 
Mainland 
leadership

Mainly used in medium 
and large-sized screen 
display driver chips 
and car screen display 
driver chips.
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5.	 R&D staff
Basic information

2024 2023   
Number of R&D staff of the Group (person) 2,330 2,363
Proportion of R&D staff to the total number of employees in the Group (%) 12.1 11.7
Total compensation of R&D staff (in USD’000) 173,108 157,171
Average compensation of R&D staff (in USD’000) 74 67

   

Education level

Education level
Number of persons 

by education  
Doctorate 498
Master 1,268
Bachelor and below 564  

Age structure

Age group
Number of persons 

by age  
Aged below 30 (excluding 30) 1,156
Aged 30-40 (excluding 40) 826
Aged 40-50 (excluding 50) 326
Aged 50 and above 22  

III.	 ANALYSIS ON THE CORE COMPETITIVENESS DURING THE REPORTING PERIOD
(I)	 ANALYSIS ON THE CORE COMPETITIVENESS
The Company continued to strengthen its core competitiveness during the reporting period as described below:

1.	 Advantages in R&D platforms
According to the overall strategy and customer demand-oriented, the Company’s R&D center has continuously improved 
its process R&D and innovation capabilities, strengthened platform construction, and upgraded product performance. 
The R&D project fully benchmarked the technical requirements of the product in the early stage, effectively utilized R&D 
resources, ensured the quality and reliability of output, actively shortened the cycle from R&D to mass production, and 
met the market demand for product innovation and rapid iteration, and strived to provide new business growth points 
for the Company.

2.	 Advantages in R&D team
Through years of IC R&D practices, the Company has established a high-quality core management team and a professional 
competent R&D team. The main members of the R&D team comprise of senior experts with many years of R&D and 
management experience in the industry.

3.	 Advantages in rich product platforms and well-known brands
The Company has long been focusing on the development of IC process technologies for decades, and provides 
semiconductor foundry and technology services to global customers on 8-inch and 12-inch wafers, which are applied 
in various technology platforms. The Company owns mass production capability on many technology platforms, such 
as logic IC, power/analog, high-voltage driver, embedded non-volatile memory, non-volatile memory, mix signal/RF, and 
CMOS image sensor, etc. The Company is able to provide both IC foundry services and supporting services to customers 
in the application fields of smartphone, computer and tablet, consumer electronics, connectivity and IoT, industrial and 
automotive and other areas. Through long-term cooperation with domestic and overseas renowned customers, the 
Company has formed prominent brand effects, and obtained sound industry recognition.

4.	 Well-established intellectual property systems
The Company has accumulated many core technologies in the IC field with well-established intellectual property system. 
As of December 31, 2024, the Company had 13,964 patents in total, including 12,112 invention patents. In addition, 
the Company also had 94 layout design rights of IC.

5.	 Internationalised and supply chain layout
The Company is based on the concept of globalised operation and serves customers all over the world. The Company has 
established an internationalised management team and talent team, and set up service bases and a business network that 
spans the globe. Meanwhile, the Company has set up marketing offices in the United States, Europe, Japan and Taiwan, 
China, further expanding the markets and quickly responding to customer needs. The Company pays great attention to 
the partnerships with upstream and downstream enterprises of the IC industry supply chain, actively enhances supply 
chain integration and layout capability, and constructs a compact IC ecosystem, in order to provide customers with 
comprehensive one-stop IC solutions.

6.	 Sound quality, occupational health, safety and environmental protection systems
The Company has established a comprehensive quality management system through continuously enlarging quality 
management scope vertically and horizontally. Currently, the Company has obtained many accreditations, such as the 
Information Security Management System Accreditation (ISO 27001), Quality Management System Accreditation (ISO 
9001), Environmental Management System Accreditation (ISO 14001), Occupational Health and Safety Management 
System Accreditation (ISO 45001), Quality Management System Accreditation for Automotive Supply Chain (IATF 16949), 
Quality Management System Accreditation for Telecommunication Industry (TL 9000), Hazardous Substance Process 
Management System Accreditation (QC 080000), Greenhouse Gas Emission Inventory Accreditation (ISO 14064), Energy 
Management System Accreditation (ISO 50001), and the Road Vehicles – Functional Safety Accreditation (ISO 26262).
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IV.	 RISK FACTORS
The IC industry is confronted with a dynamic macro environment and uncertainties. The Company is committed to 
maintaining stability while pursuing progress as its principal, to fostering sustainable development as its cornerstone, 
and to serving customers while enhancing core competitiveness as its goal. It strives to better balance security with 
development, making every effort to minimize the impact of various risk factors on the Company.

(I)	 RISK OF CORE COMPETITIVENESS
1.	 The risk of R&D and iteration of technology upgrade
The IC wafer foundry industry in which the Company operates is a technology-intensive industry. IC wafer foundry 
involves the comprehensive application of dozens of disciplines in science technology and engineering, and has the 
characteristics of fast process technology iteration, large capital investment, long R&D cycle, etc. The IC wafer foundry 
requires relatively high technical content, experiencing early technical demonstration, and the continuous R&D practice 
in the later period, and the cycle is relatively long. If the Company fails to keep up with the needs of the industry in the 
future or correctly identify the direction of R&D, deviations may occur in process technology positioning. At the same 
time, as the R&D process of the new technology is more complicated, time-consuming and costly, there exists uncertainty. 
The rich terminal application scenarios of integrated circuits determine the differences in the mainstream technology 
nodes and processes of chip products in various niche markets, and the corresponding market demand changes rapidly. 

The Company has insisted on independent R&D and further consolidated its independent core intellectual property 
rights. By aligning market and R&D efforts to plan the technology roadmap, the Company ensures that its processes 
and technology platforms are better matched to market demands and remain competitive. Additionally, the Company 
continues to invest resources in attracting talents.

If the Company’s investment in technology R&D in future is insufficient to support the need for technology upgrades, the 
Company’s technology may be overtaken or replaced, which will adversely affect the Company’s sustained competitiveness, 
or the Company fails to launch cost-effective technology platforms that meets market demand in a timely manner, 
the technology iteration lags significantly behind the process requirements of product application, the Company’s 
competitiveness and market share may decline, thus affecting the Company’s development.

2.	 The risk of shortage or loss of technical talents
The IC wafer foundry industry is also a talent-intensive industry. IC wafer foundry involves the integration of thousands 
of processes and dozens of professional disciplines, and requires relevant talents to have solid professional knowledge 
and long-term accumulation of technology. Besides, the extremely high requirements for process coordination and error 
control in each sector require relevant talents to have strong comprehensive capabilities and experience accumulation. 
Excellent R&D personnel and engineering technical personnel are an important foundation for the Company to improve 
competitiveness and maintain development.

For the past years, the Company has attached great importance to the scientific management of human resources, 
formulated a relatively reasonable talent policy and salary management system, and implemented multiple incentive 
measures, including share incentives for outstanding talents, which played a positive role in retaining and attracting 
technical talents.

In recent years, the number of IC companies has been growing rapidly, resulting in a relatively huge gap between the 
supply and demand of outstanding technical talents in the industry, and the competition for talents is fierce. If a large 
number of outstanding technical R&D personnel quit, and the Company is unable to recruit or cultivate experienced 
technical personnel in a short period of time, the Company’s R&D progress may be affected, which has an adverse impact 
on the Company’s sustainable competitiveness.

3.	 The risk of technical leakage
Technology is the core competitiveness in the IC wafer foundry industry, and the Company is driven by technological 
innovation.

The Company attaches great importance to the protection of core technologies. It has formulated a series of strict 
and complete confidentiality policies including the information security protection policies, and signed confidentiality 
agreements and competitive restriction agreements with relevant technical personnel to ensure the confidentiality of 
core technologies.

However, due to the limitations of technical confidentiality protection measures, the mobility of technical personnel and 
other factors beyond its control, the Company is exposed to the risk of core technology leakage. The occurrence of any 
of the above may weaken the Company’s technical advantages to a certain extent and has adverse effects.
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(II)	 OPERATING RISKS
1.	 The risk of continuous huge investment in the Company’s R&D and production
The IC wafer foundry industry is a capital-intensive industry. In order to continuously upgrade the existing technology 
platforms to maintain the advantage of market competitiveness, ensure sufficient production capacity to meet order 
production requirements, and improve core competitiveness, the Company has to make continuous huge investments.

The Company enhances its overall profitability by optimizing product mix, improving utilization rate, and refining process 
technologies etc., while maintaining a diversified strategy in financing channels.

In the future, if the Company fails to generate sufficient operating profit or financing is restricted, which would result 
in reduced investment and may in turn have an adverse impact on the Company’s competitiveness.

2.	 The risk of too high or too low customer concentration
The downstream industry market of the global IC wafer foundry industry has a relatively high concentration, however, 
the market concentration of downstream industry in China’s IC wafer foundry industry is relatively fragmented.

The Company has established a relatively stable cooperative relationship with major customers by virtue of its advantages 
in R&D strength, product quality, capacity support and service response, however, the Company may still face the risk 
of too high or too low customer concentration.

If there are material issues in the production and operation of major customers in the future, or if customers are scattered, 
weak and small, and the Company needs to invest more in sales, operation and production costs, the Company’s 
performance stability, operating efficiency and sustained profitability may be adversely affected.

3.	 The risk of supply chain
The IC wafer foundry industry has high requirements for raw materials, parts, software, equipment and service supports 
etc. There is a limited number of qualified suppliers around the world for certain important raw materials, parts, software, 
core equipment and service supports etc., and the majority of which are located outside China.

In the future, the Company’s production, operations and sustainable development may be adversely affected if there 
is a shortage of supply, delay in delivery or a significant rise in price of the required important raw materials, parts, 
software, core equipment and service supports etc., or there are trade frictions, diplomatic conflicts, wars, etc., between 
other countries and the countries and/or regions where the suppliers are located, which, in turn, affect the approval of 
export licenses, supply or rise in price of the related raw materials, parts, software, equipment and service supports etc.

(III)	 FINANCIAL RISKS
1.	 The risk of performance fluctuations
Fluctuations in the macro environment, change in the industry prosperity of integrated circuit, domestic and foreign 
customers’ demand not meeting expectations, price fluctuations of major raw materials and equipment etc., high capital 
expenditure and R&D investment resulted from the Company’s continuous production capacity expansion and other 
situations, may cause the Company to be exposed to the risks of fluctuations in sales revenue, gross margin, profit, etc. 
within a certain period of time.

2.	 The risk of impairment on assets
As a capital-intensive enterprise, the Group has a relatively large scale of fixed assets. In the future, if there is a sharp 
decline in the market price of assets in the period and the decline is remarkably greater than the expected decline due 
to the passage of time or normal use, or the economic, technological or legal environment where the Company is in, 
and the market where the asset is located experienced or is expected to experience significant changes in the period or 
in the near future, or the market interest rates or other market investment returns have increased in the period, which 
affects the Company’s calculation of the discount rate applicable for the calculation of the net present value of future 
cash flows of the assets, this may cause insufficient asset utilization, termination of use or early disposal of assets, or 
cause recoverable amount of assets to be lower than the carrying amount, resulting in impairment, which may adversely 
affect the Group’s income statement in the period.

The Company’s major customers are integrated circuit design companies and IDM companies at home and abroad with 
large scale, high credit ratings, and good payment records. Although the possibility of bad debts from major customers is 
currently low, the Company will still be exposed to the risk of bad debt losses caused by uncollectible accounts receivable 
if there are adverse changes in the business conditions of some customers in the future.

In addition, in the future, if the net realizable value of some inventories fails to cover the cost resulted from the market 
demand changes, the Company will be exposed to the risk of an increase in the impairment losses on inventories.

3.	 The risk of exchange rate and interest rate fluctuations
The functional currency of the Company is U.S. dollars, and some transactions of the Group are denominated in RMB or 
foreign currencies such as Euro and Japanese Yen. Monetary items in foreign currencies are converted through bookkeeping 
at the spot exchange rate on the balance sheet date, thus affecting exchange gains or losses. The Company adheres 
to the principle of “exchange rate risk neutrality” by establishing an exchange rate risk management system, prudently 
arranging the currency structure of monetary assets and liabilities, and utilizing various exchange rate risk-avoiding tools 
to hedge against the impact of exchange rate fluctuations. However, if the exchange rate of local and foreign currency 
fluctuates significantly as a result of the changes in domestic and foreign economic environment, political situation, 
monetary policy and other factors in the future, the Company will still face the risk of exchange losses.

The Company’s debt structure includes floating-rate debt instruments, which may expose relevant interest expenses to 
market interest rate fluctuations. To better manage interest rate risks, the Company maintains an appropriate allocation 
between fixed-rate and floating-rate debt. Additionally, it takes the use of financial derivatives such as interest rate 
swaps to flexibly hedge against interest rate volatility. However, future significant fluctuations in market interest rates 
caused by changes in domestic and international economic conditions, political landscapes, monetary policies, or other 
factors may still expose the Company to risks of volatile interest expenses.

Details of the Group’s exchange rate risk and interest rate risk are set out in Note 36 to the consolidated financial 
statements.
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(IV)	 INDUSTRY RISKS
1.	 The risk of changes in industry policies
As the foundation and core of the information industry, the IC industry is a strategic industry for national economic and 
social development. The state has successively issued a series of policies including the “Notice of the State Council on 
Launching Several Policies to Further Encourage the Development of the Software Industry and Integrated Circuit Industry” 
(Guo Fa [2011] No.4) and the “Notice of the State Council regarding Certain Policies for Promoting the Highquality 
Development of the Integrated Circuit (IC) Industry and Software Industry in the New Era” (Guo Fa [2020] No.8) which 
provide more support for IC companies in taxation, investment and financing, research and development, import and 
export, talents, intellectual property rights, markets application, international cooperation, etc. In the future, any material 
unfavorable changes in relevant national industrial policies will adversely affect the Company’s development.

2.	 The risk of industry competition
From a global perspective, the competition in the wafer foundry industry is fierce. Compared with global industry leaders, 
the Company has a relatively large technological gap and a relatively low market share.

With the continuous emergence of various new application fields, the hot areas for the development of the chip industry 
are constantly enriched, and the broad market prospects and relatively favorable industrial policies have attracted many 
domestic and foreign IC-related companies entering the IC wafer foundry industry, which may further intensify market 
competition or result in the situation of structural oversupply of capacity.

In the future, if the Company fails to develop and introduce the manufacturing process technologies and platforms that 
fit for the market and customers demand or fails to expand capacity in a timely manner, etc., the Company’s competitive 
advantage will be weakened and the Company’s operating results will be adversely affected.

(V)	 MACRO-ENVIRONMENTAL RISKS
1.	 The risk of macroeconomic fluctuations and industry cyclicity
Affected by the factors such as global macroeconomic fluctuations and industry prosperity, the IC industry has a certain 
cyclicity. If the macro-economy fluctuates greatly or remains at a low point for a long time, the market demand of the 
IC industry may also be affected; in addition, the fluctuation and downturn of downstream market demand may also 
lead to decline in the demand for IC products, or due to the overheated investment and duplicate construction in the 
semiconductor industry, the production capacity supply may exceed market demand when the prosperity is relatively 
weak, which will further affect the profitability of IC wafer foundries, and may have a certain adverse impact on the 
Company’s operating results.

2.	 The risk of geopolitics
As geopolitical conflicts intensify, the United States and other countries/regions continue to tighten export control policies 
on the semiconductor industry, the international export control policies are also showing a trend to become increasingly 
stringent, and economic globalization has been greatly challenged, bringing uncertain risks to the stability of the global 
semiconductor market and chip supply chain. In the future, if the trade friction between the United States or other 
countries/regions and China escalates, such as in the form of heightened import, export and investment restrictions, 
increased tariffs or establishment of other trade barriers, the Company may also face the risk of tight supply on production 
materials, such as related restricted equipment, raw material, parts, software and service supports etc, and the risk of 
financing restriction, etc., consequently adversely affect the Company’s R&D, production, operating and business.

On December 3, 2020 U.S. Eastern Standard Time (“EST”), the relevant U.S. government departments and agencies placed 
the Company on the Communist Chinese Military Companies List. Any transaction on the publicly traded securities, or 
any securities that are derivative of such securities of the Company by any U.S. person is restricted.

On December 18, 2020 EST, the relevant U.S. government departments and agencies added the Company and its certain 
subsidiaries and associates to the Entity List on the grounds of U.S. national security and foreign policy interests. This 
designation requires suppliers of items that are subject to the U.S. Export Administration Regulations (“EAR”) to apply 
for licenses before supplying such items to the Company. In particular, for items uniquely required for production at 10 
nanometers and below (including extreme ultraviolet technology), the license review policy of a presumption of denial 
will be imposed by the relevant U.S. government departments and agencies.

On June 3, 2021 EST, an executive order issued by U.S. president Biden placed the Company on the Chinese Military 
Industrial Complex Companies List, restricting U.S. persons from investing Chinese Military Industrial Complex Companies. 
Any transaction on the publicly traded securities, and any securities that are derivative of such securities of the Company 
by any U.S. person is further restricted.

On December 2, 2024 EST, the relevant U.S. government departments and agencies issued a series of amendments to the 
EAR, including modifications to the license review policy for the Company and assigning some of Company’s subsidiaries 
and affiliates with a footnote 5 designation. A presumption of denial license review policy will apply to certain items 
subject to the EAR.
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(VI)	 LEGAL RISKS
1.	 The risk of differences between the Company’s current corporate governance structure 

and that of the listed companies subject to the applicable laws, regulations and regulatory 
documents in the PRC

The Company was established under the Companies Act of the Cayman Islands. In accordance with the Circular of the 
General Office of the State Council on Forwarding the Several Opinions of the CSRC on Launching the Pilot Program of 
Domestically Issuing Stocks or Depository Receipts by Innovation-oriented Enterprises (Guo Ban Fa [2018] No.21), the 
pilot red-chip companies’ equity structure, corporate governance, and operation specifications may be governed by laws 
and regulations such as the Company Law of the place of incorporation overseas. As a red-chip company registered 
in the Cayman Islands, the Company is required to comply with the Companies Act of the Cayman Islands and the 
Articles of Association, and has enhanced the corporate governance system and operation specifications in accordance 
with the Hong Kong Listing Rules and SSE STAR Market Listing Rules. The Company’s protection of investors’ rights and 
interests are generally no less exacting than legal requirements in the PRC. However, in certain corporate governance 
arrangements, there are certain differences when compared with the general A Share listed companies registered in 
the PRC. For details, please refer to “I. Introduction of Corporate Governance” in “Section 6 Corporate Governance”.

2.	 The risk of changes in laws and regulations
The Company was established in the Cayman Islands, and its subsidiaries were established in and outside the Chinese 
Mainland. The Company and its subsidiaries should abide by different laws and regulations of different countries and 
areas. Changes in laws and regulations of the places of registration and business of the Company and its subsidiaries 
may have an impact on the operation and management of the Company and its subsidiaries.

3.	 The risk of litigation and arbitration
The IC wafer foundry industry where the Company operates is a key link in driving the integration of the IC industry, 
and the Company has a large number of customers and suppliers. In its future business development, the Company 
cannot rule out risks of litigations and arbitrations with customers, suppliers, etc., which will consume the Company’s 
manpower, material resources and distract management efforts. The Company may be exposed to the risk of losing the 
lawsuit, which may in turn adversely affect the Company’s production and operation.

As of the date of this report, the Company’s pending litigations and arbitrations which are relatively large include: on 
May 7, 2020, PDF SOLUTIONS, INC. (“PDF”) initiated an arbitration on certain technical service agreement signed with 
SMIC New Technology Research & Development (Shanghai) Corporation (“SMIC New Technology”), the arbitration is 
still ongoing.

(VII)	 IT RISKS
The Company pays attention to the protection of core technology and customer information. According to the overall 
strategic planning, the Company has organised an information security team, formulated information security policies 
and objectives, and built security technology solutions.

To continuously reduce information technology risks, the Company relies on ISO 27001, the authoritative standards in the 
field of information security management. The Company carries out information security governance and performs three 
major tasks of anti-virus, anti-hack and anti-leakage, establishing a comprehensive confidential information technology 
protection and monitoring system. By strengthening the capabilities of the security team, optimizing various information 
security technologies, and enhancing the security awareness of all employees through systematic measures, the Company 
reduces security risks of key business, systems, and overall operations, ensuring compliance and protecting its reputation.

However, due to uncontrollable factors of the cyber securities threats, including but not limited to 0 day weakness, 
professional hacker attacks etc., the Company still faces to the potential risk of data loss, disruption of customer services 
or production halt. If any of the above events happens, the business and reputation of the Company may be impacted 
to some extent.

(VIII)	 RISKS OF FIRE, EXPLOSIONS, NATURAL DISASTERS AND UTILITY SUPPLY DISRUPTION
SMIC uses flammable, toxic and harmful chemical substances in its production process, which may cause risks of fire, 
explosion or environmental impact. In addition, global climate change or systemic regional geological changes may cause 
natural disasters such as extreme climate, weather and destructive earthquakes, which may bring risks such as cold waves, 
floods, tsunamis, typhoons, droughts and earthquakes, which then may cause the risk of shortages or interruptions of 
public utilities such as water supply, power supply and gas supply.

SMIC is committed to maintaining a comprehensive risk management system to protect natural resources and safeguard 
people and assets. For all possible emergencies and natural disasters, the Company has developed comprehensive plans 
and processes for risk prevention, emergency response, crisis management and business continuity, and regularly conducted 
drills for emergency response plans, including disaster relief and personnel evacuation. All of our operating fabs have 
been verified by our environmental management system (ISO 14001) and occupational safety and health management 
system (ISO 45001), and have established business continuity plans to minimise injuries, operational disruptions and 
financial impacts.

Although none of these risks impacted our operations at our manufacturing facilities during the reporting period, these 
risks still remain. If any of these risks occurs, it could result in some degree of property damage, injury to personnel, 
business interruption and damage to the Company’s reputation.
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V.	 MAIN OPERATION RESULTS DURING THE REPORTING PERIOD
During the reporting period, the Group recorded a revenue of US$8,029.9 million, representing a year-on-year increase of 
27.0%. The Group recorded a profit attributable to owners of the Company of US$492.7 million, representing a year-on-year 
decline of 45.4%. During the reporting period, the Group generated US$3,175.6 million in net cash from operating activities, 
representing a year-on-year decline of 5.4%; payments for property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and land-use 
right totaled US$7,669.9 million, representing a year-on-year increase of 0.5%.

(I)	 ANALYSIS OF PRINCIPAL BUSINESSES
1.	 Analysis of changes in relevant items in the income statement and cash flow statement

in USD’000

Year ended December 31,

2024 2023

2024  
as compared with 

2023 (%)    
Revenue 8,029,921 6,321,560 27.0
Cost of sales (6,581,953) (5,103,816) 29.0
Gross profit 1,447,968 1,217,744 18.9
Research and development expenses (765,279) (707,275) 8.2
Selling and marketing expenses (39,847) (36,162) 10.2
General and administration expenses (580,041) (482,262) 20.3
Other operating income 411,206 364,447 12.8
Finance income, net 260,211 538,322 -51.7
Other gains, net 96,837 262,591 -63.1
Share of profit of associates and a joint venture 28,610 28,789 -0.6
Income tax expense (129,565) (62,514) 107.3
Net cash generated from operating activities 3,175,555 3,358,294 -5.4
Net cash used in investing activities (4,518,437) (6,207,572) -27.2
Net cash generated from financing activities 1,608,336 2,466,338 -34.8

Net cash generated from financing activities 2,466,338 3,614,290 -31.8

(1)	 Revenue
The Group’s revenue increased by 27.0% from US$6,321.6 million for last year to US$8,029.9 million for this year, 
primarily due to the increase in wafer shipment and the product mix change during this year. The wafer shipment quantity 
(standard logic 8-inch equivalent wafers) increased by 36.7% from 5,867 thousand for last year to 8,021 thousand for 
this year. The average selling price, calculated as the wafer revenue divided by total shipments of the wafers, was US$933 
per wafer for this year, compared to US$988 per wafer for last year.

(2)	 Cost of sales
Cost of sales increased by 29.0% from US$5,103.8 million for last year to US$6,582.0 million for this year, primarily 
due to the increase in wafer shipment, the product mix change and the increase in depreciation.

(3)	 Profit from operations for the year
Profit from operations for the year increased by 32.5% from US$357.7 million for last year to US$473.9 million for this 
year, primarily due to the combined effect of the changes of revenue, cost of sales and gross profit mentioned above, 
and the following changes:

Research and development expenses were US$765.3 million for this year, compared to US$707.3 million for last year.

Selling and marketing expenses were US$39.8 million for this year, compared to US$36.2 million for last year.

General and administration expenses were US$580.0 million for this year, compared to US$482.3 million for last year. 
The change was primarily due to the increase in new fab start-up costs during this year.

Other operating income was US$411.2 million for this year, compared to US$364.4 million for last year.

(4)	 Profit for the year
Finance income, net includes interest income, finance costs and foreign exchange gain. The change of finance income, 
net was mainly due to the increase in interest expenses and the decrease in interest income during this year.

The decrease in other gains, net was primarily due to the decrease in the gain on passive dilution of equity interests in 
associates and the fair value change of the investments in equity securities, partially offset by the gain on sale of an 
associate during this year.

Share of profit of associates and a joint venture was US$28.6 million for this year, compared to US$28.8 million for 
last year.

The increase in income tax expense was primarily due to the income tax arising from the sale of an associate in this year.

The Group recorded a profit of US$730.0 million for this year, compared to a profit of US$1,124.9 million for last year, 
representing a decrease of 35.1%, which was mainly due to the impact of the factors described above.

(5)	 Cash flows
The change in net cash used in investing activities was mainly due to the decrease in the cash placed as bank time 
deposits during this year.

The change in net cash generated from financing activities was mainly due to the decrease in capital injection from 
minority shareholders and the decrease in the net cash inflow of borrowings during this year.
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2.	 Analysis of revenue and cost
Please refer to the following tables for details of revenue and cost.

(1)	 Principal business by industry, by product, by region or by sales model.
in USD’000

Principal business by industry

By industry Revenue
Cost of 

sales

Gross 
profit 

margin (%)

Change in 
revenue as 

compared 
with last 
year (%)

Change 
in cost of 

sales as 
compared 
with last 
year (%)

Change in gross 
profit margin as 

compared with last 
year (%)        

IC Industry 8,029,921 6,581,953 18.0 27.0 29.0 Decreased by 1.3 
percentage points

       

Principal business by product

By product Revenue
Cost of 

sales

Gross 
profit 

margin (%)

Change in 
revenue as 

compared 
with last 
year (%)

Change 
in cost of 

sales as 
compared 
with last 
year (%)

Change in gross 
profit margin as 

compared with last 
year (%)        

IC wafer foundry 7,486,934 6,165,249 17.7 29.2 28.4 Increased by 0.5 
percentage point

Others 542,987 416,704 23.3 3.0 37.3 Decreased by 19.1 
percentage points

       

Principal business by sales model

By sales model Revenue
Cost of 

sales

Gross 
profit 

margin (%)

Change in 
revenue as 

compared 
with last 
year (%)

Change 
in cost of 

sales as 
compared 
with last 
year (%)

Change in gross 
profit margin as 

compared with last 
year (%)        

Direct sales 8,029,921 6,581,953 18.0 27.0 29.0 Decreased by 1.3 
percentage points

       

Revenue by region

Year ended December 31,

By region 2024 2023   
China 84.6% 80.1%
America 12.4% 16.4%
Eurasia 3.0% 3.5%   

Analysis on revenue of IC wafer foundry

Year ended December 31,

By application 2024 2023   
Smartphone 27.8% 26.7%
Computer and Tablet 16.6% 26.7%
Consumer Electronics 37.8% 25.0%
Connectivity and IoT 10.0% 12.1%
Industrial and Automotive 7.8% 9.5%   

Year ended December 31,

By size 2024 2023   
8’’ wafers 22.7% 26.3%
12’’ wafers 77.3% 73.7%   
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(2)	 Analysis of production and sales volumes

Principal 
product Unit

Production 
volume

Sales 
volume Inventory

Change in 
production 
volume as 
compared 
with last 
year (%)

Change 
in sales 

volume as 
compared 
with last 
year (%)

Change in 
inventory as 

compared 
with last 
year (%)         

Wafer piece 8,463,280 8,020,798 1,166,503 39.3 36.7 61.1        

The increase in inventory was primarily due to the pre-build of inventory.

(3)	 Cost analysis
in USD’000

By industry

By industry
Cost 
structure

Year ended 
12/31/24

Accounting 
for total 
costs of 

2024 (%)
Year ended 

12/31/23

Accounting for 
total costs of 

2023 (%)

Year ended 
12/31/24 as 

compared 
with 

12/31/23 
(%)        

IC industry Cost of 
production

6,581,953 100.0 5,103,816 100.0 29.0

       

By product

By product Cost structure

Year 
ended 

12/31/24

Accounting 
for total 
costs of 

2024 (%)
Year ended 

12/31/23

Accounting for 
total costs of 

2023 (%)

Year ended 
12/31/24 as 

compared 
with 

12/31/23 
(%)        

IC wafer foundry Direct material 407,649 6.2 331,420 6.5 23.0
IC wafer foundry Direct labor 104,838 1.6 110,176 2.2 -4.8
IC wafer foundry Manufacturing 

expenses
5,652,762 85.9 4,358,738 85.4 29.7

Others Cost of 
production

416,704 6.3 303,482 5.9 37.3

       

(4)	 Major customers and suppliers
A.	 Information about the major customers of the Company
During the reporting period, sales to the largest customer and the five largest customers accounted for 8.1% and 36.0% 
of the revenue for the year, respectively. There were no related-party sales among such transactions to the five largest 
customers.

To the best of the Company’s knowledge, in 2024, none of the Company’s Directors or other shareholders (which to 
the knowledge of the Directors own 5% or more of the Company’s issued share capital) or their respective associates 
had interests in any of the Group’s five largest customers.

B.	 Information about the major suppliers of the Company
During the reporting period, purchases from the largest and five largest raw materials suppliers accounted for 7.9% 
and 31.5% of the Company’s overall raw materials purchases for the year, respectively. There were no related-party 
purchases among such transactions from the five largest raw materials suppliers.

To the best of the Company’s knowledge, in 2024, none of the Company’s Directors or other shareholders (which to 
the knowledge of the Directors own 5% or more of the Company’s issued share capital) or their respective associates 
had interests in any of the Group’s five largest raw materials suppliers.
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3.	 Expenses
For details of changes in the Group’s expenses during the reporting period, please refer to “V. (I) 1. Analysis of changes 
in relevant items in the income statement and cash flow statement” in this section.

4.	 Liquidity and capital sources
(1)	 Cash flows
For details of changes in items in the statement of cash flows during the reporting period, please refer to “V. (I) 1. 
Analysis of changes in relevant items in the income statement and cash flow statement” in this section.

(2)	 Net debt
in USD’000

As of December 31,

2024 2023   
Borrowings 10,964,459 9,550,931
Lease liabilities 26,280 58,620
Bonds payable 605,258 599,115

   

Total debt 11,595,997 10,208,666
Less:

Cash and cash equivalents 6,364,189 6,215,058
Restricted cash 372,514 435,607
Financial assets at FVPL – current portion(1) 272,257 214,629
Financial assets at amortised cost(2) 7,954,060 9,840,224

   

Net debt (3,367,023) (6,496,852)
   

Notes:

(1)	 Mainly include structural deposits and monetary funds.

(2)	 Mainly include bank time deposits over three months.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group’s outstanding debts amounted to US$11,596.0 million, and primarily 
consisted of secured bank loans of US$3,023.9 million, unsecured bank loans of US$7,940.6 million, lease liabilities and 
bonds payable. Debt due within 1 year amounted to US$3,550.1 million. For details of debt, please refer to Notes 17, 
30 and 31 to the consolidated financial statements.

(3)	 Capital expenditure and funding sources
Most of the capital expenditure in the reporting period are used for capacity expansion.

The Group’s actual expenditure may differ from its planned expenditure for a variety of reasons, including factors such as 
changes in customers’ demand, equipment’s delivery, business plan, market condition and industry policies. The Company 
will closely monitor the global economy, the semiconductor industry, the demands of the customers, cash flow from 
operations, etc. and will adjust the capital expenditure plans upon approval by the Board as necessary.

The primary sources of capital of the Group include cash generated from operations, bank borrowings and debt or 
equity issuances, capital injections from minority interests and other forms of financing. The amount of capital required 
to meet the Group’s growth and development targets is difficult to predict in the highly cyclical and rapidly changing 
semiconductor industry.

(4)	 Exchange rate and interest rate risks
The functional currency of the Company is U.S. dollar, but the Group also enters into transactions in other currencies 
that results in the Group being primarily exposed to changes in exchange rates for the Euro, Japanese Yen, and RMB. 
Additionally, the Group entered into or issued several RMB denominated loan facility agreements and several RMB 
denominated financial assets at amortised cost that results in the Group being exposed to changes in the exchange rate 
for the RMB. The Group strives to minimise these risks by using forward exchange contracts and cross currency swap 
contracts.

The Group’s exposure to interest rate risks relates primarily to the Group’s long-term loans, which the Group generally 
assumes to fund capital expenditure and working capital requirements. The risk is managed by the Group by maintaining 
an appropriate mix between fixed and floating rate borrowings, and by the use of interest rate swap contracts and cross 
currency swap contracts.

Details of the Group’s exchange rate risk and interest rate risk are set out in Note 36 to the consolidated financial 
statements.
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(II)	 ANALYSIS ON ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
1.	 Assets and liabilities 

in USD’000

Items
As of 

12/31/24

The closing 
balance to 

the total 
assets in 
2024 (%)

As of 
12/31/23

The closing 
balance to 

the total 
assets in 
2023 (%)

12/31/24 as 
compared 

with 
12/31/23 

(%) Explanations       
Investments in 

associates
1,252,507 2.5 2,042,671 4.3 -38.7 Decrease mainly due to the 

sale of an associate in this 
year.

Financial assets at 
amortised cost  
– non-current

3,747,134 7.6 6,891,233 14.4 -45.6 Decrease mainly due to the 
decrease in bank deposits 
maturing more than 1 year 
in this year.

Restricted cash  
– non-current

372,514 0.8 256,071 0.5 45.5 Increase due to the increase 
in bank time deposit 
pledged to secure long-term 
borrowings in this year.

Trade and other 
receivables

840,153 1.7 1,170,008 2.4 -28.2 Decrease mainly due to the 
decrease in value-added tax 
to be deducted in this year.

Financial assets at 
amortised cost  
– current

4,206,926 8.6 2,948,991 6.2 42.7 Increase mainly due to the 
increase in bank deposits 
maturing more than 3 
months and within 1 year.

Restricted cash 
 – current

– – 179,536 0.4 -100.0 No bank time deposit was 
pledged to secure short-
term borrowings at the end 
of the year.

Contract liabilities 1,185,932 2.4 2,053,222 4.3 -42.2 Decrease due to the decrease 
in prepayments relevant to 
sales of goods in this year.

Borrowings – current 2,926,311 6.0 1,216,283 2.5 140.6 Increase due to the increase 
in long-term borrowings 
maturing within 1 year.

Bond payable 
 – current

605,258 1.2 – – N/A Increase due to the increase 
in bond payable maturing 
within 1 year.

Accrued liabilities 361,954 0.7 298,022 0.6 21.5 Increase mainly due to the 
increase in unpaid employee 
bonus at the end of the 
year.

Current tax liabilities 84,828 0.2 10,516 0.0 706.7 Increase mainly due to the 
increase in corporate 
income tax payable caused 
by the investment income 
obtained from the sale of 
an associate in this year.

Other reserves 142,470 0.3 286,917 0.6 -50.3 Decrease mainly due to the 
decrease in cash flow 
hedges reserve and equity-
settled employee benefits 
reserve.

       

2.	 Major assets subject to restriction by the end of the reporting period
(1)	 Assets pledged as security
At the end of the reporting period, no property, plant and equipment or land-use right have been pledged to secure 
borrowings of the Group.

(2)	 Restricted cash
At the end of the reporting period, restricted cash consisted of pledge deposits of US$372.5 million paid to obtain 
long-term pledged borrowings.
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3.	 Other information
(1)	 Capital management
The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities of the Group will be able to continue as going concerns while 
maximising the return to stakeholders through the optimization of the capital structure.

The Group manages its capital through the issue of new shares, share buy-backs, the issue of new bonds or the repayment 
of existing bonds to balance its overall capital structure, and reviews the capital structure on an interim basis. The gearing 
ratio at the end of the reporting period was as follows:

in USD’000

As of December 31,

Gearing ratio 2024 2023   
Net debt (3,367,023) (6,496,852)
Equity 31,869,658 30,845,616   
Net debt to equity ratio -10.6% -21.1%   

(2)	 Capitalised interest
Interest is capitalised when incurred on the specialised borrowings that are used for the over-one-year construction of plant 
and equipment. Capitalised interest is added to the cost of the underlying assets and is depreciated over as accounting 
policy. No interest was capitalised during the reporting period and the corresponding period. For the reporting period 
and the corresponding period of last year, the Group recorded depreciation expenses relating to the capitalised interest 
of US$19.2 million and US$28.2 million, respectively.

(III)	 ANALYSIS ON INDUSTRY OPERATIONAL INFORMATION
Please refer to “II. (III) Industry overview” of this section for details.

(IV)	 ANALYSIS ON INVESTMENTS
1.	 Overall analysis on equity investment
The following is the paid-in amount of the Company’s investment in associates during the reporting period:

in USD’000

Year ended December 31,

2024 2023 Change    
Capital injection in associates 74,516 110,052 -32.3%    

2.	 Financial assets at fair value
in USD’000

Assets category
As of  

1/1/24

Fair value 
gains/

(losses) 
during this 

period

Cumulative 
changes in 
fair value 

recognised 
in equity

Amount 
added in this 

period

Amount 
sold/

redeemed in 
this period Others

As of 
12/31/24

        

Stocks 30,009 (216) – – (24,216) 442 6,019
Private equity funds 167,821 (8,874) – 9,056 (33,809) (2,127) 132,067
Structural deposits and 

monetary funds
498,768 9,627 – 798,346 (739,200) (5,997) 561,544

Derivative financial 
instruments – net 
liabilities

(69,804) – (64,768) – – 65,185 (69,387)

        

Total 626,794 537 (64,768) 807,402 (797,225) 57,503 630,243
        

(1)	 Descriptions of securities investment
in USD’000

Security type Stock code

Investment 
cost as of 
12/31/24

Source of 
funds

As of 
1/1/24

Fair value 
gains/

(losses) 
during this 

period

Disposal 
during this 

period Others
As of 

12/31/24 Account           
Domestic and 

foreign stocks
Listed Company A 1,116

Self-owned 
funds

– 25 – – 25 Financial assets 
at fair value 
through profit 
or loss

Domestic and 
foreign stocks

Listed Company B 152 30,009 (241) (24,216) 442 5,994

          

Total 1,268 30,009 (216) (24,216) 442 6,019
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(2)	 Descriptions of derivative financial instruments
Derivative financial instruments for hedging purpose during the reporting period

in USD’000

Derivative financial 
instruments types

Amounts 
invested 

as at  
12/31/24

As of  
1/1/24

Cumulative 
changes in 
fair value 

recognised 
in equity Others

As of 
12/31/24

The closing 
balance 

to equity 
attributable 

to owners 
of the 

Company 
(%)

      

Cross currency swap 
contracts

– (84,524) (56,330) 78,300 (62,554) -0.30

Interest rate swap 
contracts

– 14,720 14,677 (24,583) 4,814 0.02

Forward exchange 
contracts

– – (23,115) 11,468 (11,647) -0.06

-0.34       

Total – (69,804) (64,768) 65,185 (69,387) -0.34
       

Explanation for principles regarding 
accounting policies and methods 
of hedging transactions during the 
reporting period, and if any significant 
change occurred as compared with the 
previous reporting period

Hedge accounting is adopted during the reporting period. The portion of 
gains or losses from hedging instruments that are effective in hedging 
are directly recognised as other comprehensive income, while the portion 
that is ineffective in hedging is recognised as profit or loss for the current 
period. Please refer to Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements for 
details. There was no significant change in the accounting policies and 
specific accounting principles for this period.

Explanation for actual gains or losses 
during the reporting period

Transactions of derivatives entered by the Company during the reporting 
period were all for hedging management purposes, and changes in fair 
value were recognised in other comprehensive income, with no actual 
impact on profit or loss for the current period.

Explanation of hedging effect Please refer to the Announcement of Conducting Hedging Activities in 
2024 on the website of SSE (https://www.sse.com.cn) dated May 10, 
2024.

Sources of funds for derivative financial 
instruments

Please refer to the Announcement of Conducting Hedging Activities in 
2024 on the website of SSE (https://www.sse.com.cn) dated May 10, 
2024.

Explanation for risk analysis and control 
measures for derivatives during the 
reporting period (including but not 
limited to market risk, liquidity risk, 
credit risk, operational risk, legal risk, 
etc.)

Please refer to the Announcement of Conducting Hedging Activities in 
2024 on the website of SSE (https://www.sse.com.cn) dated May 10, 
2024.

Changes in the market price or product 
fair value of invested derivatives 
during the reporting period; methods 
assumptions and parameters used for 
analysing fair value of derivatives shall be 
disclosed

The Company followed the regulations and guidelines, namely “IFRS 7 – 
Financial Instruments: Disclosures”, “IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments”,”IFRS 
13 – Fair Value Measurement”, to conduct its corresponding accounting 
treatment for the proposed foreign exchange hedging activities and reflect in 
the relevant items of statement of financial position and statement of profit 
or loss.

Disclosure date for announcement on 
approval of the Board for investment in 
derivative financial instruments (if any)

On May 9, 2024, the Board of the Company approved “Proposal for 
Conducting Hedging Activities in 2024”, allowing the Company and 
its subsidiaries to operate hedging activities relating to production and 
operation in 2024.

Disclosure date for announcement on 
approval of the annual general meeting 
for investment in derivative financial 
instruments (if any)

The above “Proposal for Conducting Hedging Activities in 2024” was 
approved at the Company’s general meeting of shareholders on June 28, 
2024.
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(3)	 Descriptions of investment in private equity funds
in USD’000

Name

Signing time 
of investment 
agreement

Investment 
purpose

Total proposed 
investment

Investment 
cost during 

the reporting 
period

Investment 
cost as of 
12/31/24

Participation 
role

Capital 
contribution 

ratio as at 
12/31/24  

(%)

Whether 
control 
or exert 
significant 
influence 
over the 
fund Account

Related 
parties or 
not

Fund  
underlying 
assets

Effect 
on profit 

for the 
reporting 

period

Accumulated 
effect on 

profit            
A March 2011

Financial 
investment

US$1,000,000 – 16

Limited partner

1.27

No

Financial 
assets at 
fair value 
through 
profit or 
loss

No

Invest in integrated 
circuits and related 
industries

786 3,585

B September 2014 RMB100,000,000 – 497 8.92 Invest in integrated 
circuits and related 
industries

(1,553) 21,213

C September 2016 RMB13,000,000 – 43 3.61 Invest in strategic 
emerging industries

(970) 5,852

D May 2017 RMB30,000,000 – 1,588 3.00 Invest in integrated 
circuits and related 
industries

(7,516) 1,631

E March 2018 RMB100,000,000 – 1,651 9.05 Invest in integrated 
circuits and related 
industries

702 16,291

F April 2018 RMB165,000,000 – 1,570 10.21 Invest in integrated 
circuits and related 
industries

(1,061) 3,399

G June 2018 RMB50,000,000 – 459 16.53 Invest in strategic 
emerging industries

(1,578) 4,886

H August 2020 RMB50,000,000 – 1,409 30.12 Invest in integrated 
circuits industry

811 17,068

I October 2021 RMB30,000,000 634 3,151 3.00 Invest in regional 
strategic emerging 
industries

132 703

J November 2021 RMB200,000,000 – 27,821 24.84 Invest in strategic 
emerging industries

1,781 3,692

K December 2021 RMB100,000,000 – 13,910 17.21 Invest in strategic 
emerging industries

– –

L December 2022 RMB100,000,000 – 5,564 16.53 Invest in strategic 
emerging industries

378 378

M October 2023 RMB7,500,000 – 1,043 15.00 Invest in regional 
strategic emerging 
industries

– –

N May 2024 RMB200,000,000 8,422 8,346 33.15 Invest in integrated 
circuits and related 
industries

– –

              

Total 9,056 67,068 (8,088) 78,698
              

(V)	 SIGNIFICANT ASSET AND EQUITY DISPOSAL
On March 26, 2024, the Company’s subsidiary, SilTech Semiconductor (Shanghai) Corporation Limited (“SilTech Shanghai”), 
entered into a share transfer agreement (“Agreement”) with Pan Shi Hong Kong Company Limited (“Pan Shi Hong 
Kong”). According to the Agreement, SilTech Shanghai intends to transfer its 228,833,996 shares (“Target Shares”) of 
JCET Group Co., Ltd. (“JCET”), which are subject to unrestricted circulation, to Pan Shi Hong Kong or its affiliates at a 
price of RMB29 per share, with a total transfer consideration of RMB6,636.2 million (approximately US$922.6 million) 
(“Transaction”).

On August 22, 2024, SilTech Shanghai entered into a supplemental agreement to the Agreement (“Supplemental 
Agreement”) with Pan Shi Hong Kong and Pan Shi Run Qi Information Management (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. (“Pan Shi Run 
Qi”). According to the Supplemental Agreement, the purchaser of the Transaction changed from Pan Shi Hong Kong 
to Pan Shi Run Qi.

On November 12, 2024, the share transfer registration procedures for this Transaction were completed, and SilTech 
Shanghai no longer holds any shares of JCET. Based on this Transaction, the pre-tax gain and after-tax gain of the 
Company amounted to US$112.1 million and US$9.5 million, respectively (IFRSs).

This Transaction is based on the Company’s own strategic development, which can optimise resource allocation and 
focus on the development of main business, and is not sustainable.

(VI)	 ANALYSIS OF PRINCIPAL CONTROLLED AND INVESTEE COMPANIES
1.	 Major subsidiaries
The major subsidiaries of the Company are SMIC Shanghai, SMIC Beijing, SMIC Tianjin, SMNC, SMIC Shenzhen, SMSC, 
SMBC, SMOC and SMTC. The followings are the consolidated accounting data of the major subsidiaries:

in USD’000

Total assets Equity Revenue Profit before tax Profit for the year     
51,607,166 27,819,025 8,020,883 897,947 921,124     

For details of each of the major subsidiaries, please refer to Note 19 to the consolidated financial statements.
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2.	 Major associates

Name of company

Place of registration/
principal place of 
business Business

Percentage of 
voting rights

Accounting 
treatment     

Sino IC Leasing Co., Ltd. 
(“Sino IC Leasing”)

Room 3205F, 32/F, No. 
707 Zhangyang Road, 
China (Shanghai) Pilot 
Free Trade Zone

Focusing on finance leases 
in IC industry

8.17% Equity method

United Nova Technology 
Co., Ltd. (“UNTC”)

No.518 Linjiang Road, 
Yuecheng District, 
Shaoxing, Zhejiang

Providing foundry services 
of specialty process 
technology for wafer 
and module packaging

14.08% Equity method

Ningbo Semiconductor 
International 
Corporation (“NSI”)

Building 3, 4 and 5, 
No.335 Anju Road, 
Xiaogang street, 
Beilun District, Ningbo, 
Zhejiang

Focusing on the 
development of 
specialty process 
technologies, such 
as high voltage 
analog, optoelectronic 
integration, etc.

14.83% Equity method

     

VI.	 DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OVER THE FUTURE DEVELOPMENT OF THE COMPANY
(I)	 INDUSTRY LANDSCAPE AND TRENDS
The wafer foundry enterprises continue to distinguish themselves with more advantages on productivity improvement, 
product yield assurance, cost control, economies of scale, process platform development cycles, and intellectual property 
securities. More and more design companies and a certain amount of IDMs tend to establish close and long-term 
partnership with wafer foundry enterprises, in order to cope with the intensifying industry competitions.

From the perspective of applications, with a new round of intelligent technology application moving towards industrialisations, 
the semiconductor industrial transformation trend is preliminarily established. The intelligent technology application trend, 
including but not limited to the fields of home appliance, education, scientific research, business, industry, transportation 
and medical, etc., need a large amount of Logic, Analog, RF, Optoelectronic and Sensor devices. This mega trend will 
bring a new round of market growth for wafer foundry enterprises.

From the perspective of regional developing trend, the trend in localization within the semiconductor industry has 
become more and more obvious in recent years. Some countries and regions have been actively planning geographical 
layouts for localised capacity constructions, greatly encouraging local chains collaborations. These measures are to 
mitigate geopolitical restrictions impact to the globalised industry chains. Overall, the regional semiconductor industry 
development will obtain the opportunities from the advantages of near market, while also face the challenges of losing 
industrial resources mobility.

(II)	 DEVELOPMENT STRATEGIES OF THE COMPANY
The integrated circuit industry is a capital-intensive, technology-intensive, and talent-intensive high-tech industry, and 
integrated circuit manufacturing is the core link of the integrated circuit industry. SMIC is one of the leading foundries in 
the world and is also the front runner in integrated circuit manufacturing with leading process manufacturing capabilities, 
production capacity advantages and service supporting facilities in Chinese mainland.

SMIC adheres to the direction of internationalisation and marketization, is committed to the research and development 
and production capacity layout of high-quality specialty process technology platform, and is committed to continuous 
optimization and efficiency improvement of production, operation and related services, to provide better service to 
customers and achieve its own healthy growth and create long-term value for shareholders.

In addition to the integrated circuit foundry business, SMIC is also committed to creating a platform-based ecological 
service model, providing customers with one-stop supporting services such as design services and IP support, photomask 
manufacturing, and promoting the upstream and downstream cooperation of the integrated circuit industry chain, so as to 
provide customers with a full range of integrated circuit solutions together with partners in all links of the industry chain.

(III)	 BUSINESS PLAN
In the beginning of 2025, based on the extensive communication with industry chain partners, it is generally recognized 
that in 2025, except that AI is expected to continuously grow in a fast pace, demand is expected to be flat or grow 
moderately across other various fields in the market. The external environment has brought a certain degree of uncertainty 
to the second half of 2025, and industry competition is intensifying.

Based on the premise that there are no significant changes in the external environment, the Company’s guidance for the 
year 2025 are: the revenue growth is expected to be higher than industry average in the same markets, and the capital 
expenditure is expected to be flat compared to that of previous year.

Facing the challenges and opportunities, the Company will target “strengthening, refining and scaling up SMIC”, continue 
to build up capacity, support customers to expand the market, focus on quality and efficiency.
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I.	 BUSINESS OVERVIEW
The business overview and the future developments of the Group during the year are described in detail in “I. Discussion 
and Analysis on Business” and “VI. Discussion and Analysis over the Future Development of the Company” in “Section 
4 Management Discussion and Analysis”.
The Group has implemented internal controls and other risk management measures designed to mitigate the principal 
risks which the Group faces in its financial condition and operations. For details, please refer to “IV. Risk Factors” in 
“Section 4 Management Discussion and Analysis”.
We are committed to protecting the environment and have in place various environmental protection, safety and health 
policies, as well as obtaining international standards certifications. We have complied with all relevant laws and regulations. 
For details, please refer to “Section 7 Environmental, Social Responsibility and Other Corporate Governance”. The 
Company will publish a separate environmental, social and governance report on the websites of the Hong Kong Stock 
Exchange, SSE and the Company in accordance with the relevant Hong Kong Listing Rules and SSE related requirements.

II.	 BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Members of the Board are elected or re-elected by the shareholders of the Company. The Board shall have the power at 
any time and from time to time to appoint any person to be a Director, either to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition 
to the existing Directors. Any Director so appointed by the Board in accordance with the preceding sentence shall hold 
office only until the first annual general meeting of the Company after his/her appointment and shall then be eligible 
for re-election at that meeting.
Please refer to “V. Particulars of Directors and Senior Management” in “Section 6 Corporate Governance” for details 
of members of the Board.

III.	 SUBSIDIARIES
Please refer to Note 19 to the consolidated financial statements for details of the Company’s interests in major subsidiaries 
as of December 31, 2024.

IV.	 DIVIDENDS AND DIVIDEND POLICY
The Company has not declared or paid any cash dividends on the Ordinary Shares. For details, please refer to “XII. Profit 
Distribution Plan or Plan to Convert Capital Reserve into Share Capital” in “Section 6 Corporate Governance”.

V.	 SHARE CAPITAL
Movements in the share capital of the Company during the reporting period are set out in “Section 9 Changes in Shares 
and Information of Shareholders”.

VI.	 DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVE
The Company’s reserves available for distribution to shareholders as of December 31, 2024 amounted to US$6,173.1 million.

VII.	 ISSUANCE OF EQUITY SECURITIES
Please refer to “II. Issuance and Listing of Securities” in “Section 9 Changes in Shares and Information of Shareholders” 
for details of issuance of equity securities.

VIII.	 REPURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY
During the reporting period, neither the Company nor its subsidiaries had conducted any repurchase, sale or redemption 
of any ordinary shares (including sale of treasury shares (as defined under the Hong Kong Listing Rules)). As at December 
31, 2024, there were no treasury shares held by the Company.

IX.	 EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS
The Company has made various stock incentive plans which subsist as of December 31, 2024 as set out in Note 35 to 
the consolidated financial statements.

X.	 MATERIAL INVESTMENTS, ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS
Please refer to “V. (V) Significant Asset and Equity Disposal” in “Section 4 Management Discussion and Analysis” for 
details of the Company’s material investments, acquisitions and disposals during the reporting period.

XI.	 CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
Please refer to “IV. Significant Related and Connected Transactions” in “Section 8 Significant Events” for details of the 
Company’s connected transactions.

XII.	 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Save as “XI. Connected Transactions” in this section, the Group entered into several transactions with multiple parties 
that are considered as “related parties” under the applicable accounting standards, and these transactions are not 
regarded as connected transactions under the Listing Rules of Hong Kong Stock Exchange.
Please refer to Note 39 to the consolidated financial statements for details of related party transactions.

XIII.	 SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS
Please refer to “III. Particulars of Shareholders and De Facto Controllers” in “Section 9 Changes in Shares and Information 
of Shareholders” for details.

XIV.	TAX RELIEF
The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to the shareholders by reason of their holding of the 
Shares of the Company.
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XV.	 ARRANGEMENT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES
Save as disclosed in “V. (IV) The Equity Incentives Granted to the Directors, Senior Management and Core Technicians 
during the Reporting Period” in “Section 6 Corporate Governance”, at no time during the Reporting Period was the 
Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of 
the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

XVI.	 DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF 
SIGNIFICANCE
Save as disclosed in “IV. Significant Related and Connected Transactions” in “Section 8 Significant Events”, no Director 
or entity connected with the Directors had a material interest, directly or indirectly, in any transaction, arrangement 
or contract of significance to the business of the Group to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party 
during the reporting period.

XVII.	 DIRECTOR’S SERVICE CONTRACTS
No Director proposed for re-election has a service contract which is not determinable by the Group with the Company 
or any of its subsidiaries within 1 year without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

XVIII.	 PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION
Pursuant to the Articles of Association of the Company, subject to the provisions under relevant laws and regulations, 
every Director shall be indemnified by the Company against all losses or liabilities which the Directors may sustain or 
incur in or about the conduct of the Company’s business or affairs or in the execution or discharge of his/her duties, 
powers, authorities or discretions.

The Company has taken out insurance against the liability and costs resulted from defending proceedings which may be 
brought against the Directors of the Company.

XIX.	EMOLUMENTS TO THE DIRECTORS
Please refer to “V. (III) Remunerations of Directors, Senior Management and Core Technicians” in “Section 6 Corporate 
Governance” for details.

XX.	 EMOLUMENTS TO THE KEY MANAGEMENT
Please refer to “V. (III) Remunerations of Directors, Senior Management and Core Technicians” in “Section 6 Corporate 
Governance” for details.

XXI.	EMPLOYEES
Please refer to “XI. Particulars of Employees at the End of the Reporting Period” in “Section 6 Corporate Governance” 
for details.

XXII.	 REMUNERATION POLICY
Please refer to “XI. Particulars of Employees at the End of the Reporting Period” in “Section 6 Corporate Governance” 
for details.

XXIII.	 STOCK INCENTIVE SCHEMES
Please refer to “XIII. Information about the Company’s Stock Incentive Plans, Employee Equity Incentive Plan or Other 
Employee Incentive Measures and Their Impacts” in “Section 6 Corporate Governance” for details.

XXIV.	 PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS
The Company confirms there are no statutory pre-emptive rights under the law of the Cayman Islands.

XXV.	 PUBLIC FLOAT
Based on publicly available information and within the Directors’ knowledge, more than 25% of the Company’s issued 
share capital was held by the public as of the date of this annual report.

XXVI.	 MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS
Please refer to “V. (I) Analysis of Principal Businesses” in “Section 4 Management Discussion and Analysis” for details 
of the Group’s major suppliers and customers.

XXVII.	 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS
As far as the Board is aware, the Group has complied in all material aspects with the relevant laws and regulations that 
have a significant impact on the business and operation.

XXVIII.	 AUDITORS
The financial statements of the Company have been audited by Ernst & Young.

By order of the Board
Semiconductor Manufacturing International Corporation

Board Secretary/Company Secretary
Guo Guangli

Shanghai, China
March 27, 2025
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I.	 INTRODUCTION OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
The Company is committed to remaining an exemplary corporate citizen and maintaining a high level of corporate 
governance in order to protect the interests of its shareholders. The Company is committed to complying with the 
Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix C1 to the Hong Kong Listing Rules and has adopted 
a set of Corporate Governance Policy (the “CG Policy”) since January 25, 2005 as its own code of corporate governance, 
which is amended from time to time (latest amended on February 10, 2022) to comply with the CG Code. In addition, 
the Company has adopted or put in place various policies, procedures, and practices in compliance with the provisions 
of the CG Policy. The Company had complied with all Code Provisions set out in the CG Code during the year ended 
December 31, 2024. The current corporate governance situation is as follows:

The Company, being a red chip company established in the Cayman Islands and listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange 
and the Science and Technology Innovation Board of the Shanghai Stock Exchange, has formulated the Articles of 
Association in accordance with the requirements of the laws of the Cayman Islands and taking into account the actual 
circumstances.

At the same time, the Company strictly complies with the Hong Kong Listing Rules and the SSE STAR Market Listing 
Rules, and has developed a well-established corporate governance structure. The general meeting of shareholders and 
the Board of Directors of the Company operate independently and effectively and perform their duties in accordance 
with the laws of the Cayman Islands, the Hong Kong Listing Rules, the SSE STAR Market Listing Rules, the Articles of 
Association and other regulations.

The standing special committees of the Board of Directors of the Company include the Audit Committee, the Compensation 
Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Strategic Committee, which assist the Board of Directors in discharging 
its functions in the areas of audit, compensation, nomination and strategy respectively.

In addition, the Company currently employs four professionals as independent non-executive Directors of the Company 
to participate in decision-making and supervision, so as to enhance the objectivity and scientificity of the decision-making 
process of the Board. The independent non-executive Directors of the Company have been performing their duties in 
accordance with the Hong Kong Listing Rules and the standards generally recognised by the Hong Kong securities market.

As there are no provisions in the Companies Act of the Cayman Islands for the establishment of a supervisor or a supervisory 
committee of a company, the Company does not have a supervisor or a supervisory committee. The independent non-
executive Directors and the Audit Committee of the Company can effectively exercise a substantial part of the duties 
and powers of the supervisory committee as mentioned above.

WHETHER THERE IS ANY MATERIAL DIFFERENCE BETWEEN THE REQUIREMENTS OF CORPORATE 
GOVERNANCE AND THE LAW, ADMINISTRATIVE REGULATION AND THE RELEVANT REGULATIONS 
OF THE CSRC ON LISTED COMPANY GOVERNANCE; IF THERE IS A MATERIAL DIFFERENCE, THE 
REASON SHOULD BE EXPLAINED
The Company is a red chip company established in the Cayman Islands and listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange and 
the SSE STAR MARKET. Its current corporate governance system is mainly formulated based on relevant laws, regulations 
and rules of the place of registration and listing of the Company, and compared with the current corporate governance 
model applicable to general A-share listed companies registered in China, there are certain differences. The details are 
as follows:

(I)	 THE RIGHTS OF INVESTORS TO OBTAIN ASSET RETURNS
According to the relevant laws of the Cayman Islands and the provisions of the Articles of Association, upon approval 
of the profit distribution plan by the general meeting of shareholders, the Company may distribute dividends out of 
the Company’s profits (whether realised or unrealised), share premium or other assets as may be permitted under the 
Companies Act of the Cayman Islands, which is more flexible than general A-share listed companies registered in China. 
In addition, there is no substantial difference between the Company’s system for obtaining asset returns by investors 
and the requirements of domestic laws and regulations.

(II)	 THE RIGHTS OF INVESTORS TO PARTICIPATE IN MAJOR DECISIONS
According to the Articles of Association, the remuneration of Directors of the Company, the issuance of general corporate 
bonds of the Company (excluding the issuance of securities that affect the Company’s share capital such as convertible 
bonds), the Company’s provision of guarantees to its consolidated enterprises (excluding those that constitute “connected 
persons” under the Hong Kong Listing Rules), the change in the use of the Company’s proceeds (subject to applicable 
legal provisions) and other matters will be decided by the Board of Directors, whereas according to the requirements of 
the domestic market, the aforesaid matters of A-share listed companies are generally required to be submitted to the 
general meeting of shareholders for consideration.

Notwithstanding the above differences, according to the Articles of Association, the authority to consider major events 
of the Company, such as fundamental changes in the Company’s business, changes in the total number of shares 
authorized to be issued and the total number of outstanding shares of the Company, amendments to the Articles of 
Association, re-election of Directors, determination of profit distribution and making up for losses, shall still be vested 
at the general meeting of shareholders.
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In addition, there are certain differences between the Company’s related (connected) transaction system and the 
arrangements applicable to general domestic A-share listed companies, mainly due to the fact that the criteria for the 
Company’s related (connected) transaction submitted to the general meeting of shareholders for consideration are 
implemented with reference to the Hong Kong Listing Rules.

According to the Articles of Association, the Directors of the Company shall be appointed and removed by the general 
meeting of shareholders (except where the appointment or removal is permitted by the Board of Directors in the Articles 
of Association), and he/she shall be loyal and diligent when deliberating on the operation and management of the 
Company, and shall safeguard the interests of the Company and all shareholders. Therefore, the division of duties and 
powers between the general meeting of shareholders and the Board of Directors in the Articles of Association does not 
prejudice investors’ rights to participate in major decisions of the Company.

Apart from the differences in corporate governance as mentioned above, there are certain differences in the Company’s 
other relevant arrangements as compared with the general domestic A-share listed companies in terms of merger, 
demerger, acquisition, liquidation and dissolution of the Company. However, the current corporate governance model of 
the Company can ensure that the Company’s level of protection of investors’ rights and interests is generally not lower 
than the requirements of domestic laws and regulations.

II.	 RED-CHIP STRUCTURE CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
DIFFERENCES WITH DOMESTIC LAWS AND REGULATIONS ON RETURN ON ASSETS, PARTICIPATION 
IN MAJOR DECISION-MAKING, DISTRIBUTION OF RESIDUAL PROPERTY
The rights of the Company’s investors in receiving asset returns and participating in major decisions differ to some 
extent from the requirements of domestic laws and regulations. For details, please refer to “I. Introduction of Corporate 
Governance” in “Section 6 Corporate Governance”. There is no substantial difference in the rights of the Company’s 
investors to obtain the distribution of residual property between the Company’s Articles of Association and the requirements 
of domestic laws and regulations.

DIFFERENT PROVISIONS OR ARRANGEMENTS FOR THE DUTIES OF THE BOARD AND INDEPENDENT 
DIRECTORS RESULTED IN THEIR INABILITY TO PERFORM THEIR DUTIES OR EXPRESS THEIR 
OPINIONS IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE PROVISIONS OF THE COMPANY
The independent non-executive Directors of the Company perform their duties in accordance with the Hong Kong Listing 
Rules. The requirements of the Hong Kong Listing Rules in respect of the qualifications, terms of reference and meeting 
mechanism of the independent non-executive directors differ to a certain extent when compared with the requirements for 
independent directors under domestic laws and regulations, such as the “Measures for the Administration of Independent 
Directors of Listed Companies” of CSRC, but there is no substantial difference in terms of safeguarding the interests of 
the Company as a whole and the protection of the legitimate rights and interests of small and medium shareholders.

ADJUSTMENT OF APPLICATION OF INFORMATION DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS AND ONGOING 
SUPERVISION REGULATIONS OF SSE
For application matters applicable to the adjustment of the Company’s information disclosure, please refer to the 
“Applications Applicable to Adjustment of Information Disclosure on the STAR Market of Semiconductor Manufacturing 
International Corporation and the Legal Opinion of AllBright Law Offices” dated February 5, 2021 of the Company.

According to the “Implementation Measures for Continuous Supervision of Domestic Shares or Depository Receipts Issued 
by Innovative Enterprises upon Listing (Trial)” issued by CSRC, the Company has summarised and disclosed remunerations 
of senior executives in the annual report, without affecting the integrity of information disclosure.

The applicable matters of the Company’s continuous regulatory adjustment shall be implemented in accordance with the 
special provisions of red chip enterprises in Section 1 of Chapter 13 of the Listing Rules of the Shanghai Stock Exchange 
on the Science and Technology Innovation Board, unless otherwise stipulated by laws and regulations.

III.	 SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS AND INVESTOR RELATIONS
(I)	 SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS
To convene an extraordinary general meeting
According to Article 57 of the Company’s Articles of Association, members who individually or collectively hold not less 
than 10% of the voting rights, on a one vote per share basis, of the Company’s Shares shall have the right to propose 
in writing the holding of an extraordinary general meeting to the Board.

To submit enquiries to the Board
Enquiries may be submitted to the Board by contacting either Board Secretary/Company Secretary, or directly at an annual 
general meeting or an extraordinary general meeting. Questions on the procedures for putting forward proposals at 
an annual general meeting may also be raised to Board Secretary/Company Secretary by the same means. For detailed 
contact information of the Company, please refer to “I. Basic Corporate Information” and “II. Contact Persons and 
Contact Methods” in “Section 3 Corporate Profile and Principal Financial Indicators”.

To put forth proposals at an annual general meeting
According to Article 73 of the Company’s Articles of Association, the Company’s shareholders who may put a proposal 
at an annual general meeting of the Company must (1) be a member of record on both the date of giving of the notice 
by such shareholder and the record date for the determination of members entitled to vote at such meeting, holding 
individually or jointly of more than 3% (3% inclusive) of the issued outstanding shares with voting rights and (2) comply 
with the notice requirements, in each case, as specified in the Articles of Association.

Such shareholders may put forth proposals at an annual general meeting of the Company by submitting written notice 
to Board Secretary/Company Secretary. The procedures for shareholders to put forward proposals at an annual general 
meeting are also available upon request from Board Secretary/Company Secretary.
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(II)	 INVESTOR RELATIONS
The Company and the Board recognises the importance of maintaining open and frequent communications with its 
shareholders.

The key to effectively communicate with shareholders and investors is to release information about the Company in a 
timely manner. In addition to announcing annual and interim reports, the Company announces its quarterly financial 
results approximately 45 days after the end of each quarter. The Company holds public conference calls/webcasts 
regularly, during which the senior management reports the performance, the latest developments, and answers questions 
from participants. The Company also keeps communication with investors, fund managers, analysts and other investors 
through the Company’s official website, WeChat official account, investor hotline and e-mail box, stock exchange investor 
relations interactive platform, announcements, general meetings of shareholders, earnings calls/webcasts, roadshows and 
reverse roadshows, investor and brokerage research, brokerage conferences, promotional materials, media interviews, 
and other legally effective channels, platforms and methods.

The Company holds general meeting each year and the shareholder circular is available to all shareholders in accordance 
with the Hong Kong Listing Rules and the Articles of Association and other relevant provisions. The circular and the 
accompanying materials shall set forth information relevant to the proposed resolutions. Separate resolutions are proposed 
at these annual general meetings on each substantially separate issue, including the re-election of individual Directors. 
The Chairman of the general meeting will announce the result of the on-site voting on each resolution. The final poll 
results will then be published in accordance with the requirements of the Hong Kong Listing Rules and STAR Market 
Listing Rules. Directors, members of the management, as well as the Company’s external auditors, are present to answer 
questions from the shareholders at the date of the annual general meeting.

The Board has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the shareholders’ communication policy, including the 
multiple communication channels for shareholders in place and the steps taken to handle shareholders’ enquiries as above 
mentioned, and considered that the shareholders’ communication policy has been properly implemented and effective.

IV.	 INTRODUCTION OF GENERAL MEETINGS

Session Date of convention
Inquiry index on the website on which 
the resolution(s) are published

Date of 
disclosure for 
publication of 
resolution(s)    

The 2024 annual general 
meeting

June 28, 2024 The website of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange 
(https://www.hkexnews.hk)/The website of 
the SSE (https://www.sse.com.cn)

June 28, 2024/
June 29, 2024

    

At the annual general meeting of the Company, which was held through a combination of on-site meeting and online 
voting on June 28, 2024, the following resolutions were made:

•	 consider the 2023 annual report of the Company (including the audited consolidated financial statements and the 
reports of the Directors and the auditors of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2023);

•	 re-elect Dr. Liu Xunfeng as an executive Director, re-elect Dr. Chen Shanzhi as a non-executive Director, re-elect 
Dr. Fan Ren Da Anthony as an independent non-executive Director;

•	 re-appoint Ernst & Young and Ernst & Young Hua Ming LLP (Special General Partnership) as the 2024 auditors of 
the Company;

•	 approve the proposal on profit distribution for the year 2023;

•	 approve the engagement in hedging business by the Company and its subsidiaries;

•	 grant a general mandate to the Board to allot, issue, grant, distribute and otherwise deal with additional Common 
Shares in the Company (including any sale or transfer treasury Hong Kong Shares), not exceeding 20% of the total 
number of issued Shares of the Company (excluding any treasury Shares) as at the date of this Resolution;

•	 grant a general mandate to the Board to repurchase Hong Kong Shares of the Company, not exceeding 10% of 
the number of issued Hong Kong Shares of the Company (excluding any treasury Shares) as at the date of this 
Resolution;

•	 extend the mandate granted to the Board to allot, issue, grant, distribute and otherwise deal with additional 
Hong Kong Shares of the Company (including any sale or transfer treasury Hong Kong Shares), not exceeding the 
number of Hong Kong Shares repurchased by the Company.
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V.	 PARTICULARS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
(I)	 CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDING OF CURRENT AND RESIGNED DIRECTORS, SENIOR 

MANAGEMENT AND CORE TECHNICIANS AND THEIR REMUNERATIONS DURING THE 
REPORTING PERIOD

Unit: Share

Name Position
Class of 
Director Gender Age(1)

Commencement 
date of the term(2)

Cessation date/
Re-election of 
the term(3)

Number of 
ordinary 

shares 
held at the 

beginning of 
the year(4)

Number of 
ordinary 

shares held 
at the end of 

the year(4)

Changes in 
shares held 

for the year Reason for changes

Receiving 
remunerations 
from connected 
parties of the 
Company or not(5)

             
Liu Xunfeng Chairman and Executive 

Director
Class II Male 59 May 11, 2023 the date of 2027 

annual general 
meeting

– – – No

Lu Guoqing Non-executive Director Class I Male 62 May 13, 2021 the date of 2026 
annual general 
meeting

– – – Yes

Chen Shanzhi Non-executive Director Class II Male 55 June 23, 2009 the date of 2027 
annual general 
meeting

– – – Yes

Yang Lumin Non-executive Director Class III Male 45 November 10, 2022 the date of 2025 
annual general 
meeting

– – – Yes

Huang Dengshan Non-executive Director Class I Male 57 November 7, 2024 the date of 2025 
annual general 
meeting

– – – Yes

Fan Ren Da 
Anthony

Independent Non-executive 
Director

Class II Male 64 June 22, 2018 the date of 2027 
annual general 
meeting

– – – No

Liu Ming Independent Non-executive 
Director

Class III Female 60 February 4, 2021 the date of 2025 
annual general 
meeting

– – – No

Wu Hanming Independent Non-executive 
Director

Class I Male 72 August 11, 2022 the date of 2026 
annual general 
meeting

– – – No

Chen Xinyuan Independent Non-executive 
Director

Class III Male 60 November 7, 2024 the date of 2025 
annual general 
meeting

– – – No

Zhao Haijun Co-Chief Executive Officer — Male 61 October 16, 2017 — – – – No
Liang Mong Song Co-Chief Executive Officer — Male 72 October 16, 2017 — – – – No
Guo Guangli Senior Vice President  

Board Secretary and 
Company Secretary

— Female 55 November 11, 2020 — – – – Yes

Wu Junfeng Senior Vice President  
Person-in-charge of 
Finance

— Male 51 February 9, 2023 — – – – No

Zhang Xin Senior Vice President — Male 59 April 30, 2020 — 80,000 142,000 62,000 Vesting and sale of STAR No
Core Technician Market restricted shares

Jin Da Senior Vice President — Male 49 June 30, 2022 — 40,000 40,000 – No
Core Technician

Yan Dayong Vice President — Male 46 June 30, 2022 — 35,000 – -35,000 Vesting and sale of STAR No
Core Technician Market restricted shares

Lau Lawrence 
Juen-Yee 
(retired)

Independent Non-executive 
Director

Class II Male 80 June 22, 2018 June 28, 2024 – – – No

            

Total 155,000 182,000 27,000
            

Notes:

(1)	 Age is calculated as of December 31, 2024.

(2)	 The commencement date of the term refers to the earliest date of serving as a director, senior management and core technician 

in the Company.

(3)	 The relevant Director shall retire from office at the relevant annual general meeting and, if eligible, offer himself/herself from re-

election as a Director of the Company.

(4)	 The number of ordinary shares held at the beginning or at the end of the year only refers to the A share holdings of the Company.

(5)	 The related parties of the Company refer to the related parties defined in the SSE STAR Market Listing Rules.
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The Board of Directors

Executive Director

Liu Xunfeng
Chairman

Non-Executive Directors

Lu Guoqing Chen Shanzhi Yang Lumin Huang Dengshan

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Fan Ren Da Anthony Liu Ming Wu Hanming Chen Xinyuan

Note:	 Above photos of Directors only include current Directors.



42

SECTION 6 CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

  
Name Major working experience
  

The Board of Directors
Liu Xunfeng
Chairman, Executive 
Director

Dr. Liu Xunfeng serves as the Chairman of the Board and an executive director of the 
Company. He also serves as a director or Chairman of several subsidiaries of the Company. 
Dr. Liu concurrently serves as member of the 14th National Committee of the Chinese 
People’s Political Consultative Conference. Dr. Liu has long tenured in large industrial group 
and has more than 30 years of experience in corporate management. He had successively 
served as the deputy chief engineer of the ethylene plant, deputy director of the investment 
engineering department, assistant to the general manager, and deputy general manager 
of SINOPEC Shanghai Petrochemical Co., Ltd., vice general manager of Shanghai Secco 
Petrochemical Company Limited, deputy general manager of Shanghai Chemical Industry Park 
Development Co., Ltd.(SCIP), deputy secretary of the Party Committee, president, secretary 
of the Party Committee and Chairman of Shanghai Huayi (Group) Co., Ltd., secretary of the 
Party Committee and Chairman of Shanghai Huayi Group Co., Ltd., Chairman of Shanghai 
Huayi Holding Group Co., Ltd., vice chairman and executive director of Semiconductor 
Manufacturing International Corporation, vice chairman of Shanghai Chemical Industry 
Park Development Co., Ltd.(SCIP), vice president of China Petroleum and Chemical Industry 
Federation. He has successively won the titles of Shanghai Industrial and Commercial Leader 
and Shanghai Outstanding Entrepreneur, etc.. Dr. Liu holds a Ph. D. in management science 
and engineering from Xi’an Jiaotong University, a Master’s degree in business administration 
from China Europe International Business School, a Master’s degree in chemical engineering 
from the Chemical Engineering Department of East China Institute of Chemical Technology 
(now known as East China University of Science and Technology), and he is a professorate 
senior engineer.

Lu Guoqing
Non-Executive Director

Mr. Lu Guoqing serves as a non-executive director of the Company. He is currently the 
secretary of the Party Committee and Chairman of CICT, the secretary of the Party Committee, 
Chairman, president of FiberHome Technologies Group Co., Ltd. and the secretary of the 
Party Committee, Chairman, general manager of Wuhan Research Institute of Posts and 
Telecommunications. Mr. Lu has long tenured in technology research and development and 
enterprise management positions. He has served as the main person in charge of the enterprise 
for many years and has rich experience in operation and management. Mr. Lu served as the 
Chairman of Fiberhome Communication Technologies Co., Ltd. and Wuhan Ligong Guangke 
Co., Ltd.. Mr. Lu holds a Bachelor’s degree in industrial instrumentation and automation 
from Tsinghua University and a Master’s degree in management from Huazhong University 
of Science and Technology, and he is a professorate senior engineer.

Chen Shanzhi
Non-Executive Director

Dr. Chen Shanzhi serves as a non-executive director of the Company. Dr. Chen is the vice 
president, the chief engineer and the head of science and technology committee of CICT. 
Dr. Chen is also a fellow of IEEE, The Chinese Institute of Electronics, and China Institute 
of Communications. Dr. Chen has more than 30 years of experience in communication core 
technology breakthroughs, international standard development, and product development. 
Dr. Chen holds a Bachelor’s degree from Xidian University, a Master’s degree from China 
Academy of Posts and Telecommunications of the Ministry of Posts and Telecommunications, 
and a Ph.D. from Beijing University of Posts and Telecommunications.

Yang Lumin
Non-Executive Director

Mr. Yang Lumin serves as a non-executive director of the Company. Mr. Yang is currently 
the deputy secretary of the Party Committee, president and director of Sino IC Capital Co. 
Ltd. Mr. Yang worked in the International Finance Bureau, Investment Business Bureau, 
Personnel Bureau and Jiangsu Branch of China Development Bank, and China Development 
Bank Capital  Co., Ltd.. He also served on the board of directors of China IC Fund and China 
IC Fund II. Mr. Yang obtained a  Master’s degree in finance from Peking University and is 
a senior economist.

Huang Dengshan
Non-Executive Director

Mr. Huang Dengshan serves as a non-executive director of the Company. He also serves as a 
director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Since May 2015, Mr. Huang has been serving 
as the vice president of China IC Fund. Since September 2019, he has been serving as the vice 
president of China IC Fund II. Since August 2024, he has been serving as the vice president 
of China Integrated Circuit Industry Investment Fund (Phase III) Co., Ltd.. Mr. Huang served 
as the non-executive director of the Company from May 13, 2021 to May 11, 2023. Mr. 
Huang worked in the Budget Management Department, the Infrastructure Department and 
the Economic Development Department of the Ministry of Finance of the People’s Republic 
of China from July 1989 to September 2014. Mr. Huang obtained a  Bachelor’s degree in 
Economics from Dongbei University of Finance and Economics.

Fan Ren Da Anthony
Independent  
Non-executive Director

Dr. Fan Ren Da Anthony serves as an independent non-executive director of the Company. Dr. 
Fan is the chairman of the board and managing director of AsiaLink Capital Limited. Dr. Fan 
is also an independent non-executive director of CITIC Resources Holdings Limited (1205.HK), 
Uni-President China Holdings Ltd. (0220.HK), Shanghai Industrial Urban Development Group 
Limited (0563.HK), Technovator International Limited (1206.HK), Neo-Neon Holdings Limited 
(1868.HK), Haitong Securities Co.,Ltd. (6837.HK), an executive director of Tenfu (Cayman) 
Holdings Company Limited (6868.HK) and a non-executive director of Hilong Holding Limited 
(1623.HK). Dr. Fan holds a Ph.D. in Economics. Dr. Fan is the Founding President of The 
Hong Kong Independent Non-Executive Director Association.
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Name Major working experience
  

Liu Ming
Independent  
Non-executive Director

Academician Liu Ming serves as an independent non-executive director of the Company. 
Academician Liu serves as a professor in Fudan University. She served as an assistant professor 
in University of Yantai, an associate professor, a professor in Institute of Microelectronics of the 
Chinese Academy of Sciences. During Academician Liu’s 34-year career in the semiconductor 
industry, she has contributed to research in micro/nanofabrication, NVM device and circuit, 
modeling and simulation, and reliability. Academician Liu has published five Books and 
Chapters, more than 300 Journal papers, and more than 100 Conference Papers (including 
more than 40 keynote or invited papers). Academician Liu holds Bachelor and Master 
of Science degree in semiconductor from Hefei University of Technology, and Doctorate 
in material engineering from Beijing University of Aeronautics and Astronauts. She is an 
academician of Chinese Academy of Sciences and the Fellow of The World Academy of 
Sciences (TWAS) for the advancement of science in developing countries.

Wu Hanming
Independent  
Non-executive Director

Academician Wu Hanming, serves as an independent non-executive director of the Company. 
Academician Wu is an expert in microelectronics technology. Academician Wu is currently 
the dean of the School of Micro-Nano Electronics, Zhejiang University and an independent 
director of NAURA Technology Group Co., Ltd. (a company listed on Shenzhen Stock 
Exchange: 002371). He served as a senior engineer of Intel Corporation of the United 
States, a technical director, vice president of the R&D department and consultant of SMIC, 
and an executive director of EtownIP Innovation Design Service Center (Ningbo) Co., Ltd.. 
Academician Wu has been working in China’s integrated circuit industry for a long time 
and has made outstanding contributions. Academician Wu has published 116 papers and 
has been granted 67 invention patents. Academician Wu was selected as the first “Beijing 
Scholar”, and awarded the title of “the top 10 national outstanding scientists and engineers” 
and “national outstanding professional and technical talents”, etc. He was also the chairman 
of the China Semiconductor Technology International Conference (CSTIC). Academician Wu 
holds Ph.D. from the Institute of Mechanics, Chinese Academy of Sciences and he is an 
academician of the Chinese Academy of Engineering.

Chen Xinyuan
Independent  
Non-executive Director

Professor Chen Xinyuan serves as an independent non-executive director of the Company. 
Professor Chen is currently a professor of accounting at Shanghai University of Finance 
and Economics, and is concurrently the director of the Guiding Committee on Education 
of Accounting of the Ministry of Education, the vice president of the Accounting Society 
of China and the president of the Accounting Society of Shanghai. He was formerly the 
vice president of the Shanghai University of Finance and Economics and the dean of the 
School of Accounting. Professor Chen has expertise in finance and accounting and corporate 
governance. He has been awarded the honorary titles of the first Outstanding Faculty Award 
of the Ministry of Education, the National “May 1” Labour Medal, Shanghai Model Worker, 
Shanghai Outstanding Communist Party Member, etc., and has been selected in the national 
“New Century Talents Project”. Professor Chen obtained his master degree and doctorate 
degree in Economics (Accounting) from Shanghai University of Finance and Economics, and 
is a distinguished professor of the Ministry of Education’s “Changjiang Scholars Program” 
and an expert with special allowances of the State Council.

Senior Management
Liu Xunfeng Biographical details are set out on page 42 of this annual report.

Zhao Haijun
Co-Chief Executive 
Officer

Dr. Zhao Haijun serves as Co-Chief Executive Officer of the Company. Dr. Zhao also serves as a 
director of certain subsidiaries and affiliated companies of the Company, and a director on the 
board of directors of Zhejiang Juhua Co., Ltd. (a company listed on Shanghai Stock Exchange: 
600160). Dr. Zhao has more than 30 years of experience in semiconductor operations and 
technology development. Dr. Zhao served as an executive Director of the Company between 
2017 and 2022, and served as the Chief Operating Officer and Executive Vice President of 
the Company, general manager of SMNC from 2010 to 2016. Dr. Zhao holds a Bachelor’s 
and a Doctor’s degree in Electronic Engineering from Tsinghua University and a Master of 
Business Administration (MBA) degree from the University of Chicago.

Liang Mong Song
Co-Chief Executive 
Officer

Dr. Liang Mong Song serves as Co-Chief Executive Officer of the Company. Dr. Liang has 
been engaged in the semiconductor industry for over 35 years. Dr. Liang owns over 450 
patents and has published over 350 technical papers. Dr. Liang holds a doctor of philosophy 
degree in electrical engineering from the Department of Electrical Engineering and Computer 
Sciences at University of California, Berkeley. He is a Fellow of Institute of Electrical and 
Electronics Engineers.

Guo Guangli
Senior Vice President, 
Board Secretary and 
Company Secretary

Ms. Guo Guangli serves as a senior vice president, Board Secretary and Company Secretary 
of the Company. Ms. Guo is a member of the Sixth Session of the Review Committee of the 
Shanghai Stock Exchange and a guest advisor of Central University of Finance and Economics. 
Ms. Guo served as the member of the Party Committee, chief accountant of Datang Telecom 
Technology Industry Group, and also the Chairman of Datang Telecom finance company. Ms. 
Guo has rich experience in corporate governance, financial management and investment and 
financing projects of capital market. Ms. Guo holds a Bachelor of law degree from Beijing 
University of Aeronautics and Astronautics and a Master of accounting from the Central 
University of Finance and Economics. She is a Chinese Certified Public Accountant.
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Name Major working experience
  

Wu Junfeng
Senior Vice President, 
Person-in-charge of 
Finance

Dr. Wu Junfeng serves as a senior vice president and Person-in-charge of Finance of the 
Company. He also serves as a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Dr. Wu is the 
master’s tutor for Southwestern University of Finance and Economics, Central University of 
Finance and Economics, an expert of ACCA China Think Tank, an executive director of The 
Chinese Tax Institute, a contributing researcher of China Government Audit Research Center. 
Dr. Wu served as a member of the Standing Committee of the Party Committee, the chief 
accountant, the board secretary of China General Nuclear Power Corporation, the Chairman 
of CGN Finance Co., Ltd., a member of the leading group and the chief financial officer 
of New Hope Group Co., Ltd., and the Chairman of New Hope Finance Co., Ltd.. Dr. Wu 
has rich experience in financial management and capital market investment and financing 
projects. Dr. Wu holds a Ph.D. from Southwestern University of Finance and Economics. He is a 
member of ACCA, a Chinese Certified Public Accountant and an Advanced Level Accountant.

Core Technicians
Zhao Haijun Biographical details are set out on page 43 of this annual report.

Liang Mong Song Biographical details are set out on page 43 of this annual report.

Zhang Xin
Senior Vice President

Mr. Zhang Xin serves as a senior vice president of the Company. He also serves as a director 
or Chairman of several subsidiaries and affiliated companies of the Company. Mr. Zhang 
is currently Chairman of the Zhong Guan Cun IC Industry Alliance, and a member of the 
Expert Committee of the China Integrated Circuit Innovation Alliance (ICIA). Mr. Zhang has 
been working in the field of Integrated Circuit manufacturing for many years and has a 
long overseas working experience, serving successively as a high profile in TSMC and Global 
Foundries. Mr. Zhang received his Bachelor’s and Master’s degrees in Electronic Physics from 
the Department of Electronic Engineering at Tsinghua University.

Jin Da
Senior Vice President

Mr. Jin Da serves as a senior vice president of the Company. Mr. Jin successively served in 
technical and management positions in research and development and multiple production 
departments of the Company. He has rich experience in the development of integrated 
circuit process technology. Mr. Jin holds a Bachelor’s degree in materials engineering from 
Nanyang Technological University, Singapore, and a Master’s degree in electrical engineering 
from the National University of Singapore.

Yan Dayong
Vice President

Mr. Yan Dayong serves as a vice president of the Company. Mr. Yan successively served as the 
manager and director of process integration department, senior director and vice president 
of characteristic process research and development of the Company. He has rich experience 
in process integration and characteristic process technology research and development. Mr. 
Yan holds a Bachelor’s degree and a Master’s degree in engineering from the Department 
of Electronic Science and Technology of Xi’an Jiaotong University.

  

(II)	 POSITIONS OF CURRENT AND RESIGNED DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT DURING 
THE REPORTING PERIOD

1.	 Positions in shareholder entities

Name Name of shareholder entities
Position held in shareholder 
entities

Commencement 
date of term(note)

Cessation date 
of term      

Lu Guoqing China Information and Communication 
Technology Group Co., Ltd.

Secretary of the Party Committee 
and Chairman of the Board

February 2021 –

Lu Guoqing China Academy of Telecommunications 
Technology Co., Ltd.

Executive Director and General 
Manager

April 2021 –

Lu Guoqing Datang Telecom Technology & Industry 
Holdings Co., Ltd.

Executive Director and General 
Manager

April 2021 –

Chen Shanzhi China Information and Communication 
Technology Group Co., Ltd.

Vice General Manager June 2018 –

Chen Shanzhi China Academy of Telecommunications 
Technology Co., Ltd.

Vice General Manager December 2017 –

Chen Shanzhi Datang Telecom Technology & Industry 
Holdings Co., Ltd.

Senior Vice President December 2009 –

Huang Dengshan China Integrated Circuit Industry 
Investment Fund Co., Ltd.

Vice President May 2015 –

Huang Dengshan China Integrated Circuit Industry 
Investment Fund (Phase II) Co., Ltd.

Vice President September 2019 –
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2.	 Positions in other entities

Name Name of other entities Position held in other entities
Commencement 
date of term (note)

Cessation date 
of term      

Lu Guoqing Wuhan Research Institute of Posts 
and Telecommunications

Secretary of the Party Committee, 
Chairman, General Manager

December 2017 –

Lu Guoqing FiberHome Technologies Group 
Co., Ltd.

Secretary of the Party Committee, 
Chairman, President

August 2016 –

Yang Lumin Wuhan Xinxin Semiconductor 
Manufacturing Co., Ltd.

Director September 2021 February 2024

Yang Lumin Yangtze Memory Technologies 
Holding Co., Ltd.

Director September 2021 –

Yang Lumin Yangtze Memory Technologies 
Co., Ltd.

Director September 2021 –

Yang Lumin Sino IC Capital Co., Ltd. Director and President February 2021 –
Huang Dengshan China Integrated Circuit Industry 

Investment Fund (Phase III) Co., 
Ltd.

Vice President August 2024 –

Fan Ren Da Anthony Haitong Securities Co., Ltd. Independent Non-executive 
Director

October 2023 –

Fan Ren Da Anthony Hilong Holding Limited Non-executive Director July 2022 –
Fan Ren Da Anthony Tenfu (Cayman) Holdings 

Company Limited
Executive Director May 2021 –

Fan Ren Da Anthony Neo-Neon Holdings Limited Independent Non-executive 
Director

August 2014 –

Fan Ren Da Anthony China Development Bank 
International Investment Limited

Independent Non-executive 
Director

March 2012 March 2024

Fan Ren Da Anthony Technovator International Limited Independent Non-executive 
Director

September 2011 –

Fan Ren Da Anthony Shanghai Industrial Urban 
Development Group Limited

Independent Non-executive 
Director

July 2010 –

Fan Ren Da Anthony China Dili Group Independent Non-executive 
Director

August 2008 December 2024

Fan Ren Da Anthony Uni-President China Holdings Ltd. Independent Non-executive 
Director

September 2007 –

Fan Ren Da Anthony AsiaLink Capital Limited Chairman and Managing Director October 2003 –
Fan Ren Da Anthony CITIC Resources Holdings Limited Independent Non-executive 

Director
August 2000 –

Liu Ming Fudan University Professor January 2021 –
Wu Hanming Zhejiang ICsprout Semiconductor 

Co., Ltd.
Chairman of the Board January 2021 March 2025

Wu Hanming BYD Semiconductor Company 
Limited

Independent Director December 2020 December 2024

Wu Hanming NAURA Technology Group Co., 
Ltd.

Independent Director December 2019 –

Wu Hanming Zhejiang University Dean of the School of Micro-
Nano Electronics

December 2019 –

Chen Xinyuan Shanghai University of Finance 
and Economics

Professor January 1988 –

Zhao Haijun Toppan Sensing Electronics 
(Shanghai) Co., Ltd.

Vice Chairman of the Board June 2017 –

Zhao Haijun Brite Semiconductor (Shanghai) 
Co., Ltd.

Chairman of the Board January 2017 May 2024

Zhao Haijun Zhejiang Juhua Co., Ltd. Director November 2016 –
Guo Guangli China Fortune-Tech Capital Co., 

Ltd.
Director March 2024 –

Guo Guangli Beijing Tianma Intelligent Control 
Technology Co., Ltd.

Independent Director October 2021 August 2024

Lau Lawrence Juen-Yee 
(retired)

AIA Group Limited Independent Non-executive 
Director

September 2014 –

Lau Lawrence Juen-Yee 
(retired)

Far EasTone Telecommunications 
Company Limited

Independent Non-executive 
Director

May 2005 June 2024

     

Note:	 The commencement date of term refers to the earliest date of holding the above positions of directors and senior managements 
in other entities.
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(III)	 REMUNERATIONS OF DIRECTORS, SENIOR MANAGEMENT AND CORE TECHNICIANS
1.	 Remunerations of Directors, senior management and core technicians
The Company has formulated Policy on Directors and Senior Management Remuneration, according to which, formal and 
transparent procedures are implemented to formulate remuneration packages for Directors and senior management. Remuneration 
level should be maintained at a reasonable level and sufficient to attract and retain Directors and senior management to run 
the Company successfully. No Directors or senior management should be involved in deciding his or her own remuneration.

  

The decision-making procedure for the remunerations of 
Directors and senior management

The remuneration of executive directors shall be approved 
by the Compensation Committee and reported to the 
Board in accordance with the Company’s executive director 
remuneration policy and structure; the remuneration of non-
executive Directors shall be proposed by the Compensation 
Committee to the Board and approved by the Board; the 
remuneration of senior management shall be determined 
according to the remuneration management policy formulated 
by the Company upon the approval of the Compensation 
Committee.

Whether Directors evade from discussions on their 
remuneration at the Board

Yes

Details of the Compensation Committee issuing 
recommendations on remuneration matters for 
Directors and senior management

During the reporting period, members of Compensation 
Committee fully discussed about remuneration matters for 
Directors and senior management, and formed a consensus.

The basis for determining remunerations of Directors and 
senior management

Policy on Director and Senior Management Remuneration 
approved by the Board.

Actual payment of remunerations of Directors and senior 
management

During the reporting period, remunerations of Directors, senior 
management and core technicians of the Company were in 
line with relevant remuneration policy and appraisal standards 
of the Company, and were granted in strict compliance 
with appraisal results. There were no events in violation of 
the remuneration management policy of the Company. The 
actual payment of remunerations was consistent with that as 
disclosed by the Company.

Total actual remunerations received by all Directors and 
senior management during the reporting period

US$5.7 million

Total actual compensations received by core technicians 
during the reporting period

US$4.7 million

  

Note:	 Total remunerations before tax received from the Company during the reporting period of Directors, senior management and core technicians 

include basic salaries, bonus, allowances, subsidies, employee benefits and various insurance fees, provident funds and remunerations 

otherwise received from the Company, exclude share incentive received.

2.	 Remuneration to the Senior Management
The remuneration to the senior management for the year ended December 31, 2024 is as follows.

in USD’000

2024  
Salaries, bonus and benefits 5,346
State-managed pension(Note) 41

  

Total 5,387
  

Note:	 The employees of the Group in Chinese Mainland participate in the pension insurance and unemployment insurance scheme administered 

by the local government. The Group contributes on a monthly basis to these schemes based on certain percentages of the salaries of the 

employees. After retirement, the local government is responsible for paying pensions to the retired employees.
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(IV)	 THE EQUITY INCENTIVES GRANTED TO THE DIRECTORS, SENIOR MANAGEMENT AND CORE 
TECHNICIANS DURING THE REPORTING PERIOD

1.	 Stock options of Directors and chief executives
(1)	 2014 Stock Option Plan – Hong Kong Share

Unit: Share

Name Position

Options 
grant 
date

Exercise 
price at 

grant date 
per share 

(HKD)

Unexercised 
number as of 

1/1/24

Number of 
new grants 
during the 

reporting 
period

Lapsed 
number 

during the 
reporting 

period

Cancelled 
number 

during the 
reporting 

period

Exercised 
number 

during the 
reporting 

period

Weighted 
average 

closing price 
of Hong 

Kong Shares 
immediately 

before 
exercise 

dates (HKD)

Unexercised 
number as of 

12/31/24

Closing price 
of Hong 

Kong Shares 
immediately 
before grant 
dates (HKD) Exercisable period             

Fan Ren Da 
Anthony

Independent Non-
executive Director

9/13/2018 8.57 187,500 – – – – – 187,500 8.35 9/13/2018-9/12/2028
5/31/2021 24.50 32,877 – – – – – 32,877 24.15 5/31/2021-5/30/2031

Liu Ming Independent Non-
executive Director

5/31/2021 24.50 187,500 – – – – – 187,500 24.15 5/31/2021-5/30/2031

Zhao Haijun Co-Chief Executive 
Officer

9/7/2017 7.90 1,687,500 – – – – – 1,687,500 7.83 9/7/2017-9/6/2027
5/25/2020 18.10 219,706 – – – – – 219,706 16.92 5/25/2020-5/24/2030
5/31/2021 24.50 277,149 – – – – – 277,149 24.15 5/31/2021-5/30/2031

Liang Mong 
Song

Co-Chief Executive 
Officer

5/25/2020 18.10 659,117 – – – – – 659,117 16.92 5/25/2020-5/24/2030

Lau Lawrence 
Juen-Yee 
(retired)

Independent Non-
executive Director

5/31/2021 24.50 32,877 – 32,877 – – – – 24.15 5/31/2021-5/30/2031

             
3,284,226 – 32,877 – – – 3,251,349             

2.	 Restricted Share Units (“RSUs”) of Directors and chief executives
(1)	 2014 Equity Incentive Plan – Hong Kong Share

Unit: Share

Name Position
RSUs grant 
date

Purchase 
price per 

share 
(HKD)

Held 
number 

as of  
1/1/24

Unvested 
number 

as of  
1/1/24

Number 
of new 
grants 

during the 
reporting 

period

Lapsed 
number 
during 

the 
reporting 

period

Cancelled 
number 
during 

the 
reporting 

period

Vested 
number 

during the 
reporting 

period

Weighted 
average 

closing price 
of Hong 

Kong Shares 
immediately 

before 
vesting 

dates (HKD)

 Unvested 
number 

as of 
12/31/24

 Held 
number 

as of 
12/31/24

Closing 
price of 

Hong Kong 
Shares 

immediately 
before 

grant dates 
(HKD) Vesting period               

Fan Ren Da 
Anthony

Independent Non-
executive Director

4/1/2023 0.031 92,500 92,500 – – – 92,500 19.86 – – 18.60 1/1/2023-1/1/2024

Liu Ming Independent Non-
executive Director

5/31/2021 0.031 63,750 63,750 – – – 63,750 14.08 – – 24.15 2/4/2021-2/4/2024

Wu Hanming Independent Non-
executive Director

9/5/2022 0.031 185,925 185,925 – – – 91,575 16.58 94,350 94,350 15.00 8/11/2022-8/11/2025

Zhao Haijun Co-Chief Executive 
Officer

5/25/2020 0.031 86,603 21,651 – – – 21,651 16.78 – – 16.92 3/1/2020-3/1/2024
5/31/2021 0.031 138,050 69,025 – – – 34,512 16.78 34,513 34,513 24.15 3/1/2021-3/1/2025
4/8/2022 0.031 401,538 301,154 – – – 100,385 16.78 200,769 200,769 16.80 3/1/2022-3/1/2026
4/1/2023 0.031 79,782 79,782 – – – 47,870 15.16 31,912 31,912 18.60 4/1/2023-4/1/2025

Liang Mong 
Song

Co-Chief Executive 
Officer

5/25/2020 0.031 86,603 – – – – – – – – 16.92 3/1/2019-3/1/2023
5/25/2020 0.031 173,205 43,302 – – – 43,302 16.78 – – 16.92 3/1/2020-3/1/2024
4/8/2022 0.031 401,538 301,154 – – – 100,385 16.78 200,769 200,769 16.80 3/1/2022-3/1/2026
4/1/2023 0.031 79,782 79,782 – – – 47,870 15.16 31,912 31,912 18.60 4/1/2023-4/1/2025

Lau Lawrence 
Juen-Yee 
(retired)

Independent Non-
executive Director

5/31/2021 0.031 32,877 – – – – – – – – 24.15 6/22/2021-1/1/2022
4/8/2022 0.031 92,500 – – – – – – – – 16.80 1/1/2022-1/1/2023
4/1/2023 0.031 92,500 92,500 – – – 92,500 19.86 – – 18.60 1/1/2023-1/1/2024

               

2,007,153 1,330,525 – – – 736,300 594,225 594,225
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(2)	 2024 Equity Incentive Plan – Hong Kong Share
Unit:Share

Name Position
RSUs grant 
date

Consideration 
for the grant 

per share 
(HKD)

Held 
number 

as of  
1/1/24

Unvested 
number 

as of  
1/1/24

Number 
of new 
grants 

during the 
reporting 

period

Lapsed 
number 
during 

the 
reporting 

period

Cancelled 
number 
during 

the 
reporting 

period

Vested 
number 

during the 
reporting 

period

Weighted 
average 

closing price 
of Hong 

Kong Shares 
immediately 

before 
vesting 

dates (HKD)

Unvested 
number 

as of 
12/31/24

Held 
number 

as of 
12/31/24

Closing 
price of 

Hong Kong 
Shares 

immediately 
before 

grant dates 
(HKD) Vesting period               

Liu Xunfeng Chairman and Executive 
Director

4/1/2024 0.031 – – 246,936 – – 123,468 15.16 123,468 123,468 15.16 4/1/2024-4/1/2026

Fan Ren Da 
Anthony

Independent Non-
executive Director

4/1/2024 0.031 – – 45,492 – – 45,492 16.94 – – 15.16 1/1/2024-6/28/2024
7/1/2024 0.031 – – 47,008 – – – – 47,008 47,008 17.12 7/1/2024-1/1/2025

Liu Ming Independent Non-
executive Director

4/1/2024 0.031 – – 83,908 – – – – 83,908 83,908 15.16 2/4/2024-1/1/2025

Zhao Haijun Co-Chief Executive 
Officer

4/1/2024 0.031 – – 227,029 – – 113,515 15.16 113,514 227,029 15.16 4/1/2024-4/1/2026

Liang Mong 
Song

Co-Chief Executive 
Officer

4/1/2024 0.031 – – 227,029 – – 113,515 15.16 113,514 227,029 15.16 4/1/2024-4/1/2026

Lau Lawrence 
Juen-Yee 
(retired)

Independent Non-
executive Director

4/1/2024 0.031 – – 45,492 – – 45,492 16.94 – – 15.16 1/1/2024-6/28/2024

               
– – 922,894 – – 441,482 481,412 708,442               

Note:	 Please refer to “XIII. Information about the Company’s Stock Incentive Plans, Employee Equity Incentive Plan or Other Employee 

Incentive Measures and Their Impacts” in “Section 6 Corporate Governance” for details of the performance targets, the fair value 

of the RSUs at the date of grant and the accounting standard and policy adopted in respect of the RSUs granted during the 

reporting period.

3.	 Type II Restricted Shares
(1)	 2021 STAR Market Restricted Share Incentive Scheme – A Share

Unit: Share

Name Position

Restricted 
Shares 
grant 
date

Grant price 
per share 

(RMB)

Unvested 
number as of 

1/1/24

Number of 
new grants 
during the 

reporting 
period

Lapsed 
number 

during the 
reporting 

period

Cancelled 
number 

during the 
reporting 

period

Vested 
number 

during the 
reporting 

period

Weighted 
average 

closing price 
of A Shares 

immediately 
before 

vesting 
dates (RMB)

Unvested 
number as of 

12/31/24

Closing price 
of A Shares 

immediately 
before grant 
dates (RMB) Vesting period

             

Zhang Xin Senior Vice 
President, Core 
Technician

7/19/2021 20 144,000 – – – 80,000 45.85 64,000 54.86 7/20/2022-7/17/2026

Jin Da Senior Vice 
President, Core 
Technician

7/19/2021 20 72,000 – – – 40,000 45.85 32,000 54.86 7/20/2022-7/17/2026

Yan Dayong Vice President, Core 
Technician

7/19/2021 20 63,000 – – – 35,000 45.85 28,000 54.86 7/20/2022-7/17/2026

             

279,000 – – – 155,000 124,000
             

Note:	 Please refer to “XIII. Information about the Company’s Stock Incentive Plans, Employee Equity Incentive Plan or Other Employee 

Incentive Measures and Their Impacts” in this section for the principle terms of the above-mentioned stock incentive plans.
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4.	 The interests and rights of Directors and chief executives required to be disclosed under 
the Hong Kong Listing Rules

As at December 31, 2024, the interests or short positions of the Directors and the chief executive officer in the Shares, 
underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporation (within the meaning of Part 
XV of the Hong Kong Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”)), which were notified to the Company and the Stock 
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which they are 
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), and as recorded in the register required to be kept under 
section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange pursuant to the 
Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers were as follows:

Name
Long/Short 
Position

Nature of 
Interests

Number of 
Ordinary 

Shares held

Derivatives

Total 
Interests 

(share)

Percentage 
of aggregate 

interests to 
total issued 

share capital 
of the 

Company(1)

Options 
(Hong Kong 

Share)(2)

RSUs  
(Hong Kong 

Share)(2)
         
Executive Director
Liu Xunfeng Long Position Beneficial Owner 123,468 – 123,468 246,936 0.003%

Non-executive Directors
Lu Guoqing — — – – – – –
Chen Shanzhi — — – – – – –
Yang Lumin — — – – – – –
Huang Dengshan — — – – – – –

Independent Non-executive 
Directors

Fan Ren Da Anthony Long Position Beneficial Owner 450,869 220,377 47,008 718,254 0.009%
Liu Ming Long Position Beneficial Owner – 187,500 83,908 271,408 0.003%
Wu Hanming Long Position Beneficial Owner 91,575 – 94,350 185,925 0.002%
Chen Xinyuan — — – – – – –

Co-Chief Executive Officers
Zhao Haijun Long Position Beneficial Owner 275,200 2,184,355 494,223 2,953,778 0.037%
Liang Mong Song Long Position Beneficial Owner 318,973 659,117 459,710 1,437,800 0.018%

        

Notes:

(1)	 Based on 7,976,149,966 Shares in issue as at December 31, 2024.

(2)	 As at December 31, 2024, the interests held by Directors and Co-CEOs were all in Hong Kong Shares. For details of options (Hong 

Kong Share) and RSUs (Hong Kong Share), please refer to “2014 Stock Option Plan-Hong Kong Share”, “2014 Equity Incentive 

Plan-Hong Kong Share” and “2024 Equity Incentive Plan-Hong Kong Share” in this section.

(V)	 EVALUATION MECHANISM FOR SENIOR MANAGEMENT AND THE ESTABLISHMENT AND 
IMPLEMENTATION OF INCENTIVE MECHANISM DURING THE REPORTING PERIOD

The Compensation Committee under the Board is responsible for formulating the remuneration policy of the Company’s 
senior management personnel. In addition to the basic salary, the Company’s senior management personnel are granted 
short-term and long-term incentives linked to the Company’s performance. The appraisal spirit of the Compensation 
Committee under the Board is strictly implemented adhering to performance orientation by performing appraisal on 
senior management personnel on an annual basis.

(VI)	 CHANGES IN DIRECTORS, SENIOR MANAGEMENT AND CORE TECHNICIANS OF THE 
COMPANY

Name Position Change Reason for the change     
Lau Lawrence Juen-

Yee
Independent non-

executive Director
Retirement Professor Lau Lawrence Juen-Yee has retired as an independent non-executive 

Director, and ceased to be a member of each of the Audit Committee, the 
Compensation Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Strategic 
Committee of the Company since June 28, 2024.

Huang Dengshan (Note) Non-executive Director Appointment Mr. Huang Dengshan was appointed as a Class I Director, a non-executive 
Director and a member of the Nomination Committee of the Company on 
November 7, 2024.

Chen Xinyuan (Note) Independent non-
executive Director

Appointment Professor Chen Xinyuan was appointed as a Class III Director, an independent 
non-executive Director, the chairman of the Audit Committee, a member of 
the Compensation Committee and a member of the Nomination Committee 
of the Company on November 7, 2024.

    

Note:	 Mr. Huang Dengshan and Professor Chen Xinyuan obtained legal advice according to the requirements of Rule 3.09D of the Hong 

Kong Listing Rules on October 29, 2024 and September 23, 2024, respectively, and each of them has confirmed he understood 

the obligations as a director of a listed issuer.

Save as disclosed above, there were no changes in the members of the Board during the period from the date of the 
2024 interim report to the date of this annual report. In addition to the disclosure in “V.(II) Positions of Current and 
Resigned Directors and Senior Management during the Reporting Period” in this section, there was no other change to 
any of the information required to be disclosed in relation to any Director pursuant to paragraphs (a) to (e) and (g) of 
Rule 13.51(2) of the Hong Kong Listing Rules during the period from the date of the 2024 interim report to the date 
of this annual report.
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VI.	 OVERVIEW OF THE BOARD
(I)	 THE RESPONSIBILITY OF THE BOARD
As the core institution of corporate governance, the Board bears key decision-making and supervisory responsibilities. The 
Board is responsible to the shareholders of the Company, overseeing and managing the Company’s affairs, and making 
decisions that are in line with the best interests of the Company. The Board exercises its powers directly or through its 
subordinate committees, participates in and is responsible for establishing the overall strategy of the Company, setting 
corporate objects and targets, and supervising the implementation process. The Board is responsible for supervising the 
Company’s financial performance and accounting preparation, developing corporate governance systems and policies, and 
reviewing the Company’s internal control system. The management of the Company is responsible for the implementation 
of the overall strategy of the Company and its daily operations and management. Each board member can consult or 
communicate with the senior management regarding the operations or financial situation of the Company.

(II)	 THE COMPOSITON OF THE BOARD
As at the date of this report, the Board has 9 members, including 1 Chairman (executive Director), 4 non-executive 
Directors and 4 independent non-executive Directors. There are no relationships among members of the Board. The 
personal information of each Director is set out in “V. Particulars of Directors and Senior Management” in this section, 
and published on the Company’s website.

Independent non-executive Directors account for at least one-third of the total number of Board members. On an annual 
basis, each independent non-executive Director confirms his or her independence to the Company, and the Company 
considers these Directors to be independent (as defined under Rule 3.13 of the Hong Kong Listing Rules).

Members of the Board have different professional backgrounds, and they actively provide their valuable experiences 
to the Board to promote the best interests of the Company and shareholders. Independent non-executive Directors 
are committed to ensuring that the Board safeguards the interests of all shareholders of the Company and ensures 
independence and objectivity.

(III)	 THE CHAIRMAN AND THE EXECUTIVE OFFICER
For the year ended December 31, 2024, the roles of Chairman and Co-Chief Executive Officers are segregated. The role 
of Chairman is performed by Dr. Liu Xunfeng and the roles of Co-Chief Executive Officers are performed by Dr. Zhao 
Haijun and Dr. Liang Mong Song.

(IV)	 PROCEDURE REGARDING THE APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS
In accordance with the Company’s Article of Associations and related regulations, the Company has adopted the 
standard procedure regarding the appointment of Directors, setting forth the process by which individuals are appointed 
as members of the Board. Under the policy, the Board will consider, among other factors: (1) the skills, qualifications, 
experience, background and nationality of the nominee, including other directorships held in listed companies in the last 
three years and other major appointments; (2) any shares, class or number of shares in the Company held or beneficially 
owned by the nominee (if any); (3) board diversity; and (4) any other information relating to the nominee required to be 
disclosed in accordance with the rules of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange and the Shanghai Stock Exchange. The Board 
will decide whether to appoint such nominee to fill a casual vacancy on the Board or as an addition to the existing 
Directors, and then to appoint such nominee into one of the three classes of Directors as stipulated in the Articles of 
Association of the Company.

Directors appointed by the Board shall hold office only until the first annual general meeting of the Company after his 
appointment and shall then be eligible for re-election at that meeting. Directors may hold office until the expiration of 
their respective term upon an election passed at a general meeting by holders of a majority of the Company’s issued 
shares being entitled to vote in person or by proxy at such meeting. The Board is divided into three classes with one class 
of Directors eligible for re-election at each annual general meeting of the Company. Each class of Directors (including 
all non-executive Directors) serves a term of three years.

(V)	 BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY
The Board has adopted a Board Diversity Policy. The Board considers that a diversity of perspectives is beneficial to the 
Company and believes that a diversity of perspectives can be achieved through the consideration of factors such as a 
diversity of skills, professional and industry experience, cultural and educational background, ethnicity, length of service, 
gender and age. Board appointments will also be made on the principle of meritocracy and objective criteria, taking into 
account factors based on the Company’s business model and specific needs from time to time. The Nomination Committee 
of the Board will give consideration to this policy when identifying qualified candidates to become members of the Board. 
The Board will review the Board Diversity Policy on a regular basis to ensure its effectiveness. Currently, the Company 
has met the diversity requirement under the Hong Kong Listing Rules. Directors of different genders exist in the Board.

Education Background

Doctor
Master and Bachelor

33%

67%

Gender

Male
Female

11%

89%

Age

40-49 years old
50-59 years old
60 years old and over

56%
11%

33%

Professional and 
Industry Experience

Business Management
Finance and Accounting

33%

45%

22%

Industry Experts
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(VI)	 DIRECTORS’ TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT
All Directors should keep abreast of the responsibilities as a director, and of the conduct and business activities of the 
Company.

The Company is responsible for arranging its Directors to take adequate training and is responsible for the training 
expenses. Each newly appointed Director is provided with training with respect to such Director’s responsibilities under 
the Hong Kong Listing Rules and the SSE STAR Market Listing Rules, as well as the Company’s corporate governance 
policies and practices. The Company also provides each Director with ethics & compliance training, and arranges director 
trainings organized by relevant PRC institutions. The Board Secretary/Company Secretary maintains the training records 
of all Directors. In 2024, the Directors complied with Code Provision C.1.4 of the CG Code through participation in 
the above-mentioned continuous professional development and reading relevant materials and journals to develop and 
refresh their knowledge and skills.

(VII)	COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS OF 
LIST ISSUERS

The Company has developed Management System and Implementation Rules for Insiders which encompasses the 
requirements of the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix C3 to 
the Hong Kong Listing Rules (the “Model Code”). The Company, having made specific enquiry to all Directors, received 
confirmation that all Directors have complied with the Management System and Implementation Rules for Insiders of 
the Company and the Model Code throughout the year ended December 31, 2024.

All directors, senior management, and employees of the Company and its subsidiaries are also required to comply with 
the Management System and Implementation Rules for Insiders of the Company and relevant provisions stipulated by 
CSRC and SSE in relation to inside trading.

(VIII)	MECHANISMS TO ENSURE INDEPENDENT VIEWS AND INPUT ARE AVAILABLE TO THE 
BOARD

The Company has established mechanisms to ensure independent views and input are available to the Board. The 
mechanisms may be covered in the following aspects: (1) independent non-executive director’s nomination process (e.g.
independent non-executive director’s time commitments and qualification), (2) number of independent non-executive 
directors and their time contribution, (3) evaluation of independent non-executive directors’ contribution, and (4) other 
channels where independent views are available (e.g. directors’ access to external independent professional advice to 
assist performance of their duties).

The Chairman of the Board holds meetings with the independent non-executive Directors without the presence of other 
Directors at least once a year.

The Board has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of such mechanisms in 2024.

(IX)	 CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS
Pursuant to the Company’s Corporate Governance Policy as amended in February 2022, the Board (or any of its committees) 
is responsible for performing the following corporate governance duties:

•	 to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance;

•	 to review and monitor the training and continuous professional development of Directors and senior management;

•	 to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

•	 to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and 
Directors; and

•	 to review the Company’s compliance with the code and disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the aforesaid corporate governance functions had been carried out by the 
Board pursuant to the Corporate Governance Policy.

(X)	 PROCEEDINGS OF THE BOARD
The Board meets at least four times a year at approximately quarterly intervals and on such other occasions as may be 
required to discuss and vote upon significant issues affecting the Company. The Board Secretary/Company Secretary assists 
the Chairman in preparing the agenda for the Board meetings and also assist the Board in complying with applicable 
laws, rules and regulations. The relevant papers for the Board meetings are dispatched to Board members in accordance 
with the CG Code. Directors may include matters for discussion in the agenda if the need arises. Upon the conclusion of 
the Board meeting, minutes are circulated to all Directors for their review and comments prior to their approval of the 
minutes at the following or subsequent Board meeting. Furthermore, the Board has established the procedures pursuant 
to which a Director, upon reasonable request, may seek independent professional advice at the Company’s expense in 
order for such Director to discharge his duties. Transactions in which any Directors are considered to have a conflict of 
interest which the Board has determined to be material are dealt with by physical Board meetings rather than written 
resolutions and the interested Directors are not counted in the quorum of such Board meetings and shall abstain from 
voting on the relevant matters.
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VII.	 PERFORMANCE OF DUTIES BY DIRECTORS
(I)	 ATTENDANCE OF DIRECTORS AT BOARD MEETINGS AND GENERAL MEETINGS
For the year ended December 31, 2024, the Directors’ attendance at the Board meetings and general meetings are set 
out below:

Name of Director

Independent 
Director  
or not

Attendance at Board meetings Attendance  
at the general 

meetings
Required 

attendance  
for the year

Attendance  
in person

Attendance  
by proxy Absence

Attendance 
by way of 

teleconference

Any failure in 
attending in 

person for two 
consecutive 

meetings

Attendance 
(times)/Required 

attendance
(times) (times) (times) (times) (times) (times)           

Liu Xunfeng No 4 4 0 0 0 No 1/1
Lu Guoqing No 4 4 0 0 1 No 1/1
Chen Shanzhi No 4 2 2 0 0 No 1/1
Yang Lumin No 4 4 0 0 1 No 1/1
Huang Dengshan No 1 1 0 0 0 No 0/0
Fan Ren Da Anthony Yes 4 4 0 0 0 No 1/1
Liu Ming Yes 4 3 1 0 0 No 1/1
Wu Hanming Yes 4 3 1 0 0 No 1/1
Chen Xinyuan Yes 1 1 0 0 0 No 0/0
Lau Lawrence Juen-Yee (retired) Yes 2 2 0 0 0 No 1/1

         

  
Number of Board meetings held in the year 4
Including: Number of physical meetings 3
Number of meetings held by way of teleconference 0
Number of meetings held in combination of physical meetings and teleconference 1  

(II)	 INFORMATION ON THE BOARD MEETINGS CONVENED DURING THE REPORTING PERIOD
For the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company held 4 board meetings and made 5 written resolutions and 
reviewed the proposals mainly including:

•	 2023 annual report and 2024 interim report

•	 quarterly financial results announcements and quarterly guidance and other related proposals

•	 2024 CAPEX plan of the Group

•	 2024 company targets

•	 2024 annual budget

•	 annual bonuses and Hong Kong Stock grant for non-executive directors

•	 the revision of Audit Committee Charter, Compensation Committee Charter and Nomination Committee Charter

•	 change of principal place of business and authorized representative in Hong Kong

•	 formulation of the management system of external auditors

•	 proposal for the re-appointment of auditors for 2024

•	 formulation of the management system for financial derivatives transactions

•	 conducting hedging activities in 2024

•	 re-election of directors

•	 general mandate to issue and repurchase Hong Kong Shares

•	 proposals of 2024 Annual General Meeting

•	 amendments to information disclosure management system

•	 amendments to management system of investor relations

•	 increase in the membership of the Audit Committee
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VIII.	SPECIAL COMMITTEES OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The Board has established four special committees, including the Audit Committee, the Compensation Committee, 
the Nomination Committee and the Strategic Committee. Each special committee performs its respective duties and 
authorities entrusted by the Board in accordance with the charters of each special committee. The Company has disclosed 
the charters of the Audit Committee, the Compensation Committee and the Nomination Committee on the websites of 
the Company and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange in accordance with the requirements of the Hong Kong Listing Rules.

(I) AUDIT COMMITTEE
The responsibilities of the Audit Committee
The Audit Committee shall be mainly responsible for (1) supervising the accounting and financial reporting system and 
procedures of the Company; (2) reviewing the Company’s financial statements and related disclosures; (3) supervising and 
evaluating the work of the Company’s internal audit department and external auditors; (4) supervising the Company’s 
risk management and internal control system.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the annual results of the Group for the year ended December 31, 2024.

Performance of the Audit Committee
As of the publication date of this annual report, the members of the Company’s audit committee (the “Audit Committee”) 
are Professor Chen Xinyuan (chairman of the Audit Committee), Dr. Fan Ren Da Anthony, Academician Liu Ming and 
Academician Wu Hanming.

According to Rule 3.21 of the Hong Kong Listing Rules, the Audit Committee shall comprise a minimum of three 
members. During the reporting period, the number of members of the Audit Committee fell below the minimum number 
required under Rule 3.21 of the Hong Kong Listing Rules due to the retirement of Professor Lau Lawrence Juen-Yee. 
The Company has appointed Academician Wu Hanming as a member of the Audit Committee within three months and 
re-complied with Rule 3.21. 

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Audit Committee held a total of 4 meetings and made 2 written 
resolutions. Details of the Directors’ attendance at the Audit Committee meetings and the main proposals reviewed are 
set forth below:

Audit Committee

Actual attendance/
Required attendance 

(times) Note     
Independent Non-executive 

Directors
Chen Xinyuan 0/0 Appointed as the chairman of the Audit Committee 

on November 7, 2024
Fan Ren Da Anthony 4/4
Liu Ming 4/4
Wu Hanming 1/1 Appointed as a member of the Audit Committee on 

September 27, 2024. The meeting on November 6, 
2024 was attended by Academician Liu Ming as a 
proxy on his behalf

Lau Lawrence Juen-Yee (retired) 2/2 Retired as a member of the Audit Committee on June 
28, 2024

The reviewed proposals mainly include:

•	 2023 annual report and 2024 interim report

•	 quarterly financial results announcements and guidance

•	 proposal for re-appointment of Ernst & Young to provide non-audit services

•	 the Audit Committee’s annual duty performance report in 2023

•	 special report on the deposit and actual use of raised funds in 2023

•	 the Company’s assessment report on the performance of accounting firms in 2023

•	 formulation of the management system of external auditors

•	 re-appointment of auditors in 2024

•	 conducting hedging activities in 2024

•	 internal audit reports for 2023 and 2024 interim

•	 quarterly external auditor’s report and 2024 audit plan

•	 2024 risk management report   
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(II)	 COMPENSATION COMMITTEE
The responsibilities of the Compensation Committee
The Compensation Committee is mainly responsible for evaluating and reviewing (1) the compensation plan of the 
Company’s Directors and senior management and (2) the Company’s share scheme matters.

Performance of the Compensation Committee
As of the publication date of this annual report, the members of the Company’s compensation committee (the 
“Compensation Committee”) are Dr. Fan Ren Da Anthony (chairman of the Compensation Committee), Mr. Lu Guoqing, 
Academician Liu Ming and Professor Chen Xinyuan.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Compensation Committee held a total of 3 meetings. Details of the 
Directors’ attendance at the Compensation Committee meetings and the main proposals reviewed are set forth below:

Compensation Committee

Actual attendance/
Required attendance 

(times) Note     
Independent Non-executive 

Directors
Fan Ren Da Anthony 3/3
Liu Ming 3/3
Chen Xinyuan 0/0 Appointed as a member of the Compensation 

Committee on November 7, 2024
Lau Lawrence Juen-Yee (retired) 2/2 Retired as a member of the Compensation Committee 

on June 28, 2024

Non-executive Director
Lu Guoqing 3/3

The reviewed proposals mainly include:

•	 annual performance bonus and the Hong Kong Stock grant for executive Directors and senior management

•	 the Hong Kong Stock grant plan for employees

•	 annual bonuses and the Hong Kong Stock grant for non-executive Directors

•	 compensation proposal for Director’s re-election and appointment   

Summary of material matters relating to the share scheme reviewed by the Compensation 
Committee
Grant RSUs under the 2024 Equity Incentive Plan
There were 8,737,798 RSUs granted to 437 grantees (including Directors and senior management of the Group) and 
47,008 RSUs granted to Dr. Fan Ren Da Anthony (an independent non-executive Director) by the Company under the 
2024 Equity Incentive Plan on April 1, 2024 and July 1, 2024, respectively. The vesting period of all or part of RSUs 
granted is shorter than 12 months because such grant of RSUs formed part of the grantees’ remuneration and such 
grant was subject to the fulfillment of the relevant performance targets for the year 2023 and such conditions had been 
fulfilled as at the grant date, or the grant of RSUs formed part of the grantees’ remuneration and the date of such grant 
would have been earlier if not for certain administrative requirements. The Compensation Committee approved such 
arrangements and believed that such arrangements aligns with the purpose of the 2024 Equity Incentive Plan as it retains 
and motivates the relevant grantees (including Directors and senior management) of the Group for their contributions 
to the growth and profits of the Company.

Performance Target
The grant of RSUs shall be conditional upon the achievement of certain targets based on both the Company’s and 
individual performance indicators, including but not limited to revenue, profit, project completion status and other 
relevant indicators. Each target can be presented on an absolute and/or relative basis.

Clawback Mechanism
Any unvested RSUs will automatically lapse immediately under all circumstances, including but not limited to: (i) the 
relevant grantee’s employment or service with the Group terminates for any reason, save for retirement, death, and 
disability and other special circumstances; (ii) the portion of the awards subject to vesting which had not been vested 
due to the failure to achieve certain vesting condition; or (iii) the portion of the awards subject to vesting which had 
not been vested due to violation of the internal code of the Group and had been subject to internal disciplinary action.

For details of the above-mentioned grant, please refer to the announcements of the Company dated April 1, 2024 and 
July 1, 2024.
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(III)	 NOMINATION COMMITTEE
The responsibilities of the Nomination Committee
The Nomination Committee shall be mainly responsible for (1) identifing and recommending candidates suitable for 
serving as Directors; (2) making recommendations to the Board on the appointment and succession of Directors; (3) 
ensuring the Company has a Board of an effective size, structure and composition.

Nomination Policy
This policy sets out the principles which guide the Nomination Committee of the Company to identify and evaluate a 
candidate suitably qualified to become a director of the Board and make recommendations to the Board on the selection 
of candidates nominated for directorships with reference to the formulated criteria. The Board is ultimately responsible 
for selection and appointment of new Directors.

Nomination Criteria
The Nomination Committee shall consider a number of factors in making nominations in accordance with the relevant 
requirements under the Hong Kong Listing Rules, including but not limited to the following:

•	 Skills and Experience: The candidate should possess the skills, knowledge and experience which are relevant to 
the operations of the Company and its subsidiaries.

•	 Diversity: Candidates should be considered on merit and against objective criteria, with due regard to the diversity 
perspectives set out in the Board Diversity Policy of the Company and the balance of skills and experience in board 
composition.

•	 Commitment: The candidate should be able to devote sufficient time to attend board meetings and participate in 
induction, trainings and other board associated activities. In particular, if the proposed candidate will be nominated 
as an independent non-executive director (“INED”) and will be holding his/her seventh (or more) listed company 
directorship, the Nomination Committee should consider the reason given by the candidate for being able to devote 
sufficient time to the Board.

•	 Standing: The candidate must satisfy the Board, Hong Kong Stock Exchange and SSE that he/she has the character, 
experience and integrity, and is able to demonstrate a standard of competence commensurate with the relevant 
position as a director of the Company.

•	 Independence: The candidate to be nominated as an INED must satisfy the independence criteria set out in Rule 
3.13 of the Hong Kong Listing Rules.

Nomination Procedures
1.	 If the Nomination Committee determines that an additional or replacement director is required, the Committee 

may take such measures that it considers appropriate in connection with its identification and evaluation of a 
candidate.

2.	 The Nomination Committee may propose to the Board a candidate as a nominee for election to the Board.

3.	 The Board may appoint the candidate as director to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the Board or recommend.

4.	 The shareholders of the Company approve the election of candidate, who stands for election at the next following 
annual general meeting, as a director.

Performance of the Nomination Committee
As of the publication date of this annual report, the members of the Company’s nomination committee (the “Nomination 
Committee”) are Dr. Liu Xunfeng (chairman of the Nomination Committee), Mr. Huang Dengshan, Dr. Fan Ren Da 
Anthony, Academician Wu Hanming and Professor Chen Xinyuan.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Nomination Committee held 2 meetings. Details of Directors’ attendance 
at the Nomination Committee meetings and the main proposals reviewed are set forth below:

Nomination Committee

Actual attendance/
Required attendance 

(times) Note     
Executive Director
Liu Xunfeng 2/2

Independent Non-executive 
Directors

Fan Ren Da Anthony 2/2
Wu Hanming 2/2
Chen Xinyuan 0/0 Appointed as a member of the Nomination Committee 

on November 7, 2024
Lau Lawrence Juen-Yee (retired) 1/1 Retired as a member of the Nomination Committee 

on June 28, 2024

Non-executive Director
Huang Dengshan 0/0 Appointed as a member of the Nomination Committee 

on November 7, 2024

The reviewed proposals mainly include:

•	 re-election of Directors

•	 appointment of non-executive Director, independent non-executive Director and adjustment of composition of 
Board committees   
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(IV)	 STRATEGIC COMMITTEE
The responsibilities of the Strategic Committee
The purpose of the Strategic Committee is to assist the Board and the management of the Company to evaluate and 
consider various strategic alternatives. The main responsibilities of the Strategic Committee include, among other things: 
(1) evaluate and consider any strategic alternative of the Company; (2) make recommendations to the Board on major 
matters of the Company and major investment and financing options; (3) contribute and participate in discussions with 
potential strategic partners with respect to strategic alternative; and (4) make recommendations to the Board and the 
management of the Company with respect to strategic alternative.

Performance of the Strategic Committee
As of the publication date of this annual report, the members of the Company’s strategic committee (the “Strategic 
Committee”) are Dr. Chen Shanzhi (chairman of the Strategic Committee), Mr. Yang Lumin, Academician Liu Ming and 
Academician Wu Hanming.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Strategic Committee held 1 meeting. Details of Directors’ attendance 
at the Strategic Committee meeting and the main proposals reviewed are set forth below:

Strategic Committee

Actual attendance/
Required attendance 

(times) Note     
Non-executive Directors
Chen Shanzhi 1/1
Yang Lumin 1/1

Independent Non-executive 
Directors

Liu Ming 1/1
Wu Hanming 1/1
Lau Lawrence Juen-Yee (retired) 0/0 Retired as a member of the Strategic Committee on 

June 28, 2024

The reviewed proposals mainly include:

•	 evaluated the Compamy’s strategic planning

•	 made recommendations to the Board and the Company’s management on strategic planning   

IX.	 DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL REPORTING IN RESPECT OF FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS
The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for the preparation of the financial statements of the Company and the 
Group. The Directors, having made appropriate enquiries, consider that the Group has adequate resources to continue 
in operational existence for the foreseeable future and that, for this reason, it is appropriate to adopt the going concern 
basis in preparing the consolidated financial statements.

The statement by the auditors of the Company regarding their reporting responsibilities is set out in the independent 
auditor’s report.

X.	 COMPANY SECRETARY
As of the publication date of this report, Ms. Guo Guangli acts as the Company Secretary of the Company. The 
biographical detail of Ms. Guo Guangli is set out in “V. (I) Changes in Shareholding of Current and Resigned Directors, 
Senior Management and Core Technicians and Their Remunerations during the Reporting Period” of this section.

The Company Secretary reports to the Chairman of the Board. All Directors have access to the Company Secretary, 
who is responsible for assisting the Board in complying with applicable procedures regarding compliance matters. The 
Company Secretary continuously updates all Directors on the latest development of the Hong Kong Listing Rules and 
other applicable regulatory requirements to assist the Company’s compliance with and maintenance of good corporate 
governance practices.

Pursuant to Rule 3.29 of the Hong Kong Listing Rules, Ms. Guo Guangli had taken no less than 15 hours of relevant 
professional training for the year ended December 31, 2024.
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XI.	 PARTICULARS OF EMPLOYEES AT THE END OF THE REPORTING PERIOD
(I)	 PARTICULARS OF EMPLOYEES
  

Number of in-service employees of the Company 1
Number of in-service employees of major subsidiaries 19,185
Total number of in-service employees 19,186
The number of retired employees whose expenses are borne by the Company and major 

subsidiaries –  

Composition of professions

Type of profession
Number of persons 

by profession  
Operation and production staff 15,382
Research and development staff 2,330
Marketing and sales staff 256
Platform and support staff 1,218

  

Total 19,186  

Education level

Type of education level Number of persons  
Doctorate 756
Master 5,515
Bachelor 7,305
Junior college and below 5,610

  

Total 19,186
  

Gender level

Gender Percentage (%)  
Male 65.3
Female 34.7

  

The Company firmly believes that employees are the core driving force of sustainable development. The Group provides 
every employee with the freedom and space to develop in a safe and stable workplace that has an equal and diversified 
working atmosphere. Meanwhile, adhering to the people-oriented philosophy, the Group cares for the well-being of the 
employees, continues to improve welfare system, builds training systems, and sets up various employee communication 
channels. The Group recruits excellent talents extensively from all over the world through diversified recruitment channels, 
providing employment opportunities for talents with or without disabilities from different countries, ethnic groups, and 
cultural backgrounds. The Group encourages gender diversity across its workplace with maintaining workplace gender 
equality while building talent teams and firmly believes that a diversified talent pipeline will help for fuel innovative 
capacity into corporate development, improve scientific research efficiency and better meet the complex and diverse 
customer demands, thus driving the business growth.

During the reporting period, the Board was not aware of any mitigating factors or circumstances which make achieving 
gender diversity across the workforce (including senior management) more challenging or less relevant.

(II)	 REMUNERATION POLICY
The Group pays employees in the form of fixed salary and performance incentives, based on the positions, abilities and 
performance of employees. Among them, the fixed salary is the part that employees enjoy according to their position, 
and attendance, etc. The performance incentives shall be issued according to the company’s business achievement and 
the individual performance, and it will be assessed according to the company policy. According to the relevant national 
and local regulations, the Group pays social insurance and housing provident fund for employees on the job, and also 
provides employees with rich benefits, including company welfare paid annual leave, commercial insurance, welfare 
rental, meal allowance, etc.

(III)	 TRAINING PROGRAMS
Adhering to the talent management concept of “creating the future with SMIC”, the Company is committed to creating 
a talent training and development system with the characteristics of the integrated circuit industry and highlighting 
corporate values. It focused on management and professional technical talents, implemented hierarchical and classified 
training, and developed a talent team with excellent leadership and strong professional and technical capabilities, which 
laid a solid talent foundation for the realisation of the Company’s long-term goals and achieved the common development 
of the industry, the Company and employees.

The Company built an international, professional, and systematic talent training and development system with reference 
to domestic and foreign first-class enterprises, established a Company’s key and core talent pool by defining talent 
standards, building a talent evaluation mechanism and promoting talent inventory, while providing targeted training 
programs and courses for talents with different characteristics. In 2024, the Company conducted diversified training 
projects and courses in combination with offline teaching, online learning and team building. Training was completed 
nearly 500,000 person-time, with online and offline coverage rate achieving 100%.
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XII.	 PROFIT DISTRIBUTION PLAN OR PLAN TO CONVERT CAPITAL RESERVE INTO SHARE 
CAPITAL
(I)	 FORMULATION, IMPLEMENTATION AND ADJUSTMENT OF CASH DIVIDEND POLICIES
1.	 Formulation and adjustment of profit distribution policy
To further improve the profits distribution mechanism, ensure the stability of the Company’s profit distribution policy, 
enhance the transparency and operability of profit distribution decisions and protect the rights and interests of shareholders, 
the Company considered and approved the “Profit Distribution Policy of Semiconductor Manufacturing International 
Corporation” at a special general meeting held on June 1, 2020 in accordance with relevant provisions of relevant 
laws, regulations and regulatory documents, including the Securities Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Notice 
of CSRC on Further Implementation of Cash Dividends of Listed Companies, Guidelines No.3 on the Supervision and 
Administration of Listed Companies – Distribution of Cash Dividends of Listed Companies and the SSE STAR Market Listing 
Rules, in combination with the Memorandum of Association and Articles of Association of Semiconductor Manufacturing 
International Corporation and the Company’s own conditions.

2.	 Implementation of the profit distribution
During the reporting period, the Company strictly followed the Company’s profit distribution policy.

(II)	 SPECIAL EXPLANATION OF CASH DIVIDEND POLICY
  

Whether it is in line with the provisions of the Company’s Articles of Association or requirement of 
resolutions of the general meeting of shareholders

Yes

Whether the standard and proportion of dividends are clear Yes
Whether the relevant decision-making procedures and system are complete Yes
Whether the independent Directors have performed their duties and played their roles Yes
Whether small and medium shareholders have opportunities to fully express their opinions and 

demands, whether their legitimate rights have been adequately protected
Yes

  

(III)	 PROVIDED THAT THE COMPANY HAS MADE PROFITS AND ITS PROFITS DISTRIBUTABLE 
TO ORDINARY SHAREHOLDERS ARE POSITIVE DURING THE REPORTING PERIOD, BUT NO 
CASH PROFIT DISTRIBUTION PLAN FOR ORDINARY SHARES HAS BEEN PROPOSED, THE 
COMPANY SHALL DISCLOSE IN DETAIL THE REASONS THEREFOR AND THE PLAN FOR THE 
USE OF UNDISTRIBUTED PROFITS

The Company expects to maintain a significant capital expenditure in 2025, which is expected to exceed 30% of the 
Company’s latest audited net assets. As to the high demand for funding, the Company needs to reserve sufficient funds 
to meet the expansion of production capacity and the development of core business, fully ensuring the stable operation 
and healthy development of the Company.

Undistributed profits are mainly used for capacity expansion and the development of the Company’s core business.

(IV) CASH DIVIDEND FOR THE LAST THREE FINANCIAL YEARS
in USD’000  

Profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company in the consolidated financial statement for 
the latest financial year

492,748

Retained earnings in the parent’s financial statement for the latest financial year 6,173,075
Cumulative cash dividend amount over the last three financial years (tax inclusive) (1) –
Cumulative amount repurchased and cancelled over the last three financial years (2) –
Aggregate amount of cash dividend and amount repurchased and cancelled over the last three 

financial years (3)=(1)+(2)
–

Average profit attributable to owners of the Company for the last three financial years (4) 1,071,072
Cash dividend payout ratio over the last three financial years (%)(5)=(3)/(4) –
Cumulative R&D costs over the last three financial years 2,205,650
Proportion of cumulative R&D costs to cumulative revenue over the last three financial years (%) 10.2  
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XIII.	 INFORMATION ABOUT THE COMPANY’S STOCK INCENTIVE PLANS, EMPLOYEE 
EQUITY INCENTIVE PLAN OR OTHER EMPLOYEE INCENTIVE MEASURES AND THEIR 
IMPACTS
(I)	 THE OVERALL INFORMATION OF STOCK INCENTIVE
1.	 Stock incentive plans during the reporting period

Name of plan Incentive method

Number of 
target shares 

(share)(1)

Percentage of 
target shares 

(%)(2)
Number of 

participants(3)

Percentage of 
participants 

(%)(4)

Price of  
target shares 

granted(5)
        
2014 Stock Option Plan Stock option 320,737,712 4.02 1,995 10.40 HKD13.35
2014 Equity Incentive Plan Restricted Share Units 80,184,428 1.01 2,399 12.50 HKD0.031
2021 STAR Market Restricted Share Incentive 

Scheme
Type II Restricted Shares 75,650,400 0.95 4,616 24.06 RMB20

2024 Equity Incentive Plan Restricted Share Units 596,812,206 7.48 437 2.28 HKD0.031       

Notes:

(1)	 The number of target shares is the maximum number of ordinary shares can be granted under the stock incentive plans;

(2)	 The percentage of target shares is the proportion of the target shares to the total share capital of the Company as at the end of 
the reporting period;

(3)	 The number of participants is the total number of participants after deducting the duplicate participants;

(4)	 The percentage of participants is the proportion of the number of participants to the number of persons of the Company as at 
the end of the reporting period;

(5)	 The price of target shares granted is the weighted average price of the accumulated target shares granted under the plan as of 
the end of the reporting period. For details of price for each grant under the respective plan, please refer to “V. (IV) The Equity 
Incentives Granted to the Directors, Senior Management and Core Technicians during the Reporting Period” and the below disclosure 
under this section.

2.	 Implementation progress of the stock incentive during the reporting period
Unit: Share

Name of plan

Number 
of Stock 

Incentives 
granted 

at the 
beginning of 

the year

Number 
of newly 
granted 

Stock 
Incentives 
during the 

reporting 
period

Number 
of Stock 

Incentives to 
be vested/

exercised 
during the 

reporting 
period

Number 
of vested/
exercised 

Stock 
Incentives 
during the 

reporting 
period

Grant price/
exercise 

price

Number 
of Stock 

Incentives 
granted at 
the end of 

the year

Number 
of vested/
exercised 

Stock 
Incentives at 

the end of 
the year         

2014 Stock Option Plan 66,879,993 – 18,778,001 4,940,425 Note(1) 66,879,993 30,236,519
2014 Equity Incentive Plan 71,928,257 – 4,888,123 4,888,123 HKD0.031 71,928,257 54,113,397
2021 STAR Market Restricted Share Incentive Scheme 64,787,032 – 14,788,120 14,749,957 RMB20 63,049,849 49,896,129
2024 Equity Incentive Plan – 8,784,806 4,372,532 4,372,532 HKD0.031 8,784,806 4,372,532        

Note:

(1)	 The details of grant prices of each period are set out in the following information: 2014 Stock Option Plan.

As the 2004 Stock Option Plan was terminated on November 15, 2013, and the 2014 Stock Option Plan and the 2014 
Equity Incentive Plan were terminated on November 10, 2023, there have been no stock options or awards available for 
grant under the respective plan since its termination. In addition, the Company had undertaken not to issue or grant 
further restricted shares under the 2021 STAR Market Restricted Share Incentive Scheme upon the effective date of the 
2024 Equity Incentive Plan (i.e. November 10, 2023). Accordingly, under the aforesaid shares schemes, there were no 
stock options or awards available for grant at the beginning and the end of this period. Under the 2024 Equity Incentive 
Plan, there were 596,812,206 RSUs available for grant at the beginning of this period, and there were 588,027,400 
RSUs available for grant at the end of this period.

There were no stock options available for exercise under the 2004 Stock Option Plan at the beginning of this period, 
therefore the Hong Kong Shares to be issued in accordance with such plan was nil.

During the year, the number of Hong Kong Shares that may be issued in respect of all options and awards granted 
under all Hong Kong Share schemes (including the 2014 Stock Option Plan, the 2014 Equity Incentive Plan and the 
2024 Equity Incentive Plan) of the Company divided by the weighted average number of Hong Kong Shares in issue at 
the end of this period is 0.41%.
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During the year, the number of A Shares that may be issued in respect of the awards granted under the A Share scheme 
(i.e. the 2021 STAR Market Restricted Share Incentive Scheme) of the Company divided by the weighted average number 
of A Shares in issue for this period is 0.66%.

During the year, there were no options or awards granted under the 2014 Stock Option Plan, the 2014 Equity Incentive 
Plan and the 2021 STAR Market Restricted Share Incentive Scheme. There were 8,737,798 RSUs granted under the 
2024 Equity Incentive Plan on April 1, 2024 with fair value of HKD15.13 which was based on ordinary share price on 
the grant date. Such RSUs granted had been or will be vested in accordance with the vesting period as disclosed in the 
Company’s announcement dated April 1, 2024. There were 47,008 RSUs granted under the 2024 Equity Incentive Plan 
on July 1, 2024 with fair value of HKD17.09, which was based on ordinary share price on the grant date. Such RSUs 
granted will be vested in accordance with the vesting period as disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated July 
1, 2024. For the performance targets for the RSUs granted during this period, please refer to “VIII. (II) Compensation 
Committee” in this section.

Please refer to Notes 4 and 35 to the consolidated financial statements for the relevant accounting standards and policies 
adopted for options and RSUs and the fair value on the grant date.

(1)	 2014 Stock Option Plan – Hong Kong Share
The Company’s shareholders adopted the 2014 Stock Option Plan that became effective on November 15, 2013 when 
the 2014 Stock Option Plan was registered with the PRC State Administration of Foreign Exchange.

Movement of the options granted to employees of the Group (except Directors of the Company) under the 2014 Stock 
Option Plan during the year ended December 31, 2024 is as follows:

Unit: Share

Options 
grant date

 Exercise 
price at 

grant date 
per share 

(HKD) 

Unexercised 
number as 

of 1/1/24

Number of 
new grants 
during the 

reporting 
period

Lapsed 
number 

during the 
reporting 

period

Cancelled 
number 

during the 
reporting 

period

Exercised 
number 

during the 
reporting 

period

 Weighted 
average 

closing price 
of Hong 

Kong Shares 
immediately 

before 
exercise 

dates (HKD) 

Unexercised 
number 

as of  
12/31/24

 Closing 
price of 

Hong Kong 
Shares 

immediately 
before grant 
dates (HKD) Exercisable period           

6/12/2014 6.40 9,167 – 167 – 9,000 16.70 – 6.40 6/12/2014-6/11/2024
11/17/2014 8.50 727,921 – 74,440 – 653,481 24.08 – 8.60 11/17/2014-11/16/2024
5/20/2015 8.30 35,916 – – – 33,000 17.22 2,916 8.20 5/20/2015-5/19/2025
5/25/2016 6.42 30,450 – – – – – 30,450 6.50 5/25/2016-5/24/2026
5/22/2017 8.48 6,937 – – – – – 6,937 8.35 5/22/2017-5/21/2027
9/7/2017 7.90 1,687,500 – – – – – 1,687,500 7.83 9/7/2017-9/6/2027
5/23/2018 10.51 3,922,970 – 61,200 – 1,213,850 25.40 2,647,920 10.40 5/23/2018-5/22/2028
9/12/2019 9.82 65,500 – – – 65,500 25.54 – 9.70 9/12/2019-9/11/2029
5/25/2020 18.10 4,990,745 – 101,516 – 971,055 27.22 3,918,174 16.92 5/25/2020-5/24/2030
9/9/2020 22.05 8,851 – 8,851 – – – – 18.80 9/9/2020-9/8/2030
11/23/2020 23.00 2,371,581 – 87,725 – 619,223 27.96 1,664,633 22.75 11/23/2020-11/22/2030
5/31/2021 24.50 3,330,469 – 304,561 – 569,455 28.18 2,456,453 24.15 5/31/2021-5/30/2031
9/15/2021 23.18 262,000 – – – 81,600 26.11 180,400 22.95 9/15/2021-9/14/2031
11/19/2021 22.41 3,234,194 – 209,504 – 724,261 28.53 2,300,429 22.35 11/19/2021-11/18/2031

           

Total 20,684,201 – 847,964 – 4,940,425 14,895,812           

In accordance with the terms of the 2014 Stock Option Plan, the Board and the Compensation Committee may respectively 
approve to accelerate the vesting period of the stock options granted to the Directors of the Company and employees 
of the Group.

As the 2024 Equity Incentive Plan has been approved at the annual general meeting held on June 28, 2023 and the 
Board has resolved to terminate the 2014 Stock Option Plan, the 2014 Stock Option Plan shall become expired on the 
effective date of the 2024 Equity Incentive Plan. Upon termination of the 2014 Stock Option Plan, no further options 
may be offered, but the options granted before the termination shall be retained and continue to vest in accordance 
with, and subject to the terms of the 2014 Stock Option Plan.

Summary of the 2014 Stock Option Plan is as follows:

Purpose
The purposes of the 2014 Stock Option Plan are to attract, retain and motivate employees and Directors of the Company; 
to provide a means of long-term incentives for their contributions to the growth and profits of the Company; and to 
allow such employees and Directors to participate in such growth and profitability.

Participants
The Company’s 2014 Stock Option Plan is administered by the Company’s Compensation Committee. The Company’s 
2014 Stock Option Plan provides for the grant of options to the Company’s employees, officers or Directors, or to a 
trust established in connection with any employee benefit plan of the Company.

Options granted under the 2014 Stock Option Plan may not be transferred in any manner other than by will or by the laws 
of descent and distribution, or pursuant to a domestic relations order or as determined by the Compensation Committee.

Maximum number of shares
The number of Ordinary Shares available for issue under the 2014 Stock Option Plan shall not, in aggregate, exceed 
320,737,712 Ordinary Shares (as adjusted according to the impact of the Share Consolidation), representing 4.02% of 
the issued Ordinary Shares as at the date of the annual report.
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Total number of shares available for issue
As at the date of the annual report, the total number of shares available for issue under the 2014 Stock Option Plan 
was 14,020,198 shares, representing approximately 0.18% of the issued shares of the Company.

Maximum entitlement of each participant
The total number of options (including both exercised and outstanding) granted in any 12-month period to each participant 
may not exceed at any time 1% of the then issued and outstanding Ordinary Shares.

Exercise period
The stock options granted shall be exercised within ten years from the grant date, subject to changes under the Hong 
Kong Listing Rules, as determined by the Compensation Committee of the Company.

Vesting period
Options granted under the 2014 Stock Option Plan vest over a four-year period.

Options granted before January 1, 2018 and issued to new employees and then-existing employees available for 
subscription generally vest at a rate pursuant to which 25% of the shares shall vest on the first anniversary of the vesting 
commencement date, an additional 1/36 of the remaining shares shall vest monthly upon the second, third and fourth 
anniversary of the vesting commencement date, respectively.

Options granted after January 1, 2018 and issued to new employees and existing employees available for subscription 
generally vest at a rate of 25% upon the first, second, third and fourth anniversary of the vesting commencement date, 
respectively.

Acceptance and payments
2014 Stock Option Plan does not provide for any payment upon application or acceptance of an option.

Exercise price and the determination basis
The exercise price of stock options must be at least equal to the fair market value of the Ordinary Shares on the date of 
grant. Such fair market value will be the higher of (i) the closing price of the shares on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s 
daily quotation sheet on the applicable date of grant (which must be a business day), and (ii) the average closing price 
of the shares on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (as stated in the relevant daily quotation sheets of the Hong Kong 
Stock Exchange) for the five business days immediately preceding the date of grant subject to such changes from time 
to time to applicable Hong Kong Listing Rules, as determined by the Compensation Committee.

Remaining life of the scheme
The 2014 Stock Option Plan will terminate ten years from the date of registration of the Plan with the PRC State 
Administration of Foreign Exchange, unless it is terminated earlier by the Board. The Board may amend or terminate the 
2014 Stock Option Plan at any time without necessary of asking for shareholders’ approval of the amendment unless 
required by applicable law. As the 2024 Equity Incentive Plan has taken effect on November 10, 2023, the 2014 Stock 
Option Plan was terminated on the same date.

(2)	 2014 Equity Incentive Plan – Hong Kong Share
The Company’s shareholders adopted the 2014 Equity Incentive Plan that became effective on November 15, 2013 when 
the 2014 Equity Incentive Plan was registered with the PRC State Administration of Foreign Exchange.

Movement of the RSUs granted to employees of the Group (except Directors of the Company) under the 2014 Equity 
Incentive Plan during the year ended December 31, 2024 is as follows:

Unit: Share

RSUs grant 
date

Purchase 
price per 

share (HKD)

Unvested 
number as 

of 1/1/24

Number of 
new grants 
during the 

reporting 
period

Lapsed 
number 

during the 
reporting 

period

Cancelled 
number 

during the 
reporting 

period

Vested 
number 

during the 
reporting 

period

 Weighted 
average 

closing price 
of Hong 

Kong Shares 
immediately 

before 
vesting 

dates (HKD) 

Unvested 
number 

as of  
12/31/24

 Closing 
price of 

Hong Kong 
Shares 

immediately 
before grant 
dates (HKD) Vesting period 

5/25/2020 0.031 355,750 – 2,816 – 352,934 16.80 – 16.92 3/1/2019-3/1/2024
11/23/2020 0.031 285,864 – 966 – 284,898 16.82 – 22.75 3/1/2020-9/29/2024
5/31/2021 0.031 690,810 – 37,963 – 337,088 16.71 315,759 24.15 10/16/2020-3/1/2025
9/15/2021 0.031 51,000 – – – 25,500 16.30 25,500 22.95 4/1/2021-6/10/2025
11/19/2021 0.031 778,489 – 39,360 – 384,395 16.77 354,734 22.35 3/1/2021-9/27/2025
4/8/2022 0.031 3,894,406 – 126,641 – 1,288,889 16.79 2,478,876 16.80 11/1/2021-3/1/2026
5/20/2022 0.031 89,978 – – – 29,993 16.45 59,985 15.88 1/4/2022-2/9/2026
9/5/2022 0.031 130,208 – – – 43,403 16.26 86,805 15.00 4/1/2022-6/28/2026
11/18/2022 0.031 375,256 – 26,820 – 125,086 16.84 223,350 17.40 8/29/2022-9/27/2026
4/1/2023 0.031 2,896,466 – 59,172 – 1,675,612 15.67 1,161,682 18.60 10/9/2022-1/16/2027

           

Total 9,548,227 – 293,738 – 4,547,798 4,706,691
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In accordance with the terms of the 2014 Equity Incentive Plan, the Compensation Committee may approve to accelerate 
the vesting period of the RSUs granted to the Directors of the Company and the employees of the Group.

As the 2024 Equity Incentive Plan has been approved at the annual general meeting held on June 28, 2023 and the 
Board has resolved to terminate the 2014 Equity Incentive Plan, the 2014 Equity Incentive Plan shall become expired 
on the effective date of the 2024 Equity Incentive Plan. Upon termination of the 2014 Equity Incentive Plan, no further 
RSUs may be offered, but RSUs granted before the termination shall be retained and continue to vest in accordance 
with, and subject to the terms of the 2014 Equity Incentive Plan.

Summary of the 2014 Equity Incentive Plan is as follows:

Purpose
The purposes of the 2014 Equity Incentive Plan are to attract, retain and motivate employees and Directors of the 
Company, to provide a means of long-term incentives for their contributions to the growth and profits of the Company, 
and to allow such employees and Directors to participate in such growth and profitability.

Participants
The Company’s 2014 Equity Incentive Plan is administered by the Company’s Compensation Committee. The Company’s 
2014 Equity Incentive provides for the grant of awards to the Company’s employees, officers or Directors, or to a trust 
established in connection with any employee benefit plan of the Company.

Awards granted under the 2014 Equity Incentive Plan may not be transferred in any manner other than by will or by 
the laws of descent and distribution, or pursuant to a domestic relations order or as determined by the Compensation 
Committee.

Maximum number of shares
The aggregate number of the Ordinary Shares available for award under the 2014 Equity Incentive Plan may not exceed 
80,184,428 Ordinary Shares (as adjusted according to the impact of the Share Consolidation), representing 1.01% of 
the issued Ordinary Shares as at the date of the annual report.

Total number of shares available for issue
As at the date of the annual report, the total number of shares available for issue under the 2014 Equity Incentive Plan 
was 17,814,860 shares, representing approximately 0.22% of the issued shares of the Company.

Maximum entitlement of each participant
The total number of RSUs (including both vested and outstanding) granted in any 12-month period to each participant 
may not exceed at any time 1% of the then issued and outstanding Ordinary Shares.

Vesting period
Awards granted under the 2014 Equity Incentive Plan vest over a four-year or three-year period. Awards may vest based 
on time or achievement of performance conditions.

The RSUs issued before April 1, 2023 to new employees and existing employees generally vest at a rate of 25% upon 
the first, second, third and fourth anniversary of the vesting commencement date, respectively.

The RSUs issued after April 1, 2023 (included) to existing employees generally vest at a rate of 50%, 30%, 20% on the 
vesting commencement date and on the subsequent first and second anniversary, respectively.

Acceptance and payments
Save as the purchase price below, the 2014 Equity Incentive Plan does not provide for any payment upon application 
or acceptance of RSUs.

Purchase price and the determination basis
The purchase price of HKD0.031 per share awarded by vesting of the RSUs was determined by the Compensation 
Committee of the Company and subject to the applicable Cayman Islands laws.

Remaining life of the scheme
The Board may amend or terminate the 2014 Equity Incentive Plan at any time without necessary of asking for shareholders’ 
approval of the amendment unless otherwise required by applicable law. As the 2024 Equity Incentive Plan has taken 
effect on November 10, 2023, the 2014 Stock Option Plan was terminated on the same date.
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(3)	 2021 STAR Market Restricted Share Incentive Scheme – A Share
On June 25, 2021, the Company’s general meeting adopted the 2021 STAR Market Restricted Share Incentive Scheme.

Movement of restricted shares granted under the 2021 STAR Market Restricted Share Incentive Scheme to employees of 
the Group (except Directors of the Company) during the year ended December 31, 2024 is as follows:

Unit: Share

Restricted 
Shares grant 
date

Grant price 
per share 

(RMB)

Unvested 
number as 

of 1/1/24

Number of 
new grants 
during the 

reporting 
period

Lapsed 
number 

during the 
reporting 

period

Cancelled 
number 

during the 
reporting 

period

Vested 
number 

during the 
reporting 

period

Weighted 
average 

closing price 
of A Shares 

immediately 
before 

vesting 
dates (RMB)

Unvested 
number 

as of  
12/31/24

Closing price 
of A Shares 

immediately 
before grant 
dates (RMB) Vesting period           

7/19/2021 20 24,966,540 – – 1,309,263 13,210,397 45.62 10,446,880 54.86 7/20/2022-7/17/2026
6/21/2022 20 4,674,320 – – 427,920 1,539,560 49.77 2,706,840 45.68 6/22/2023-6/18/2027

           

Total 29,640,860 – – 1,737,183 14,749,957 13,153,720
           

Summary of the 2021 STAR Market Restricted Share Incentive Scheme is as follows:

Purpose
The purposes of the scheme are to improve the Company’s long-term incentive mechanism, attract and retain outstanding 
personnel, fully mobilise the enthusiasm of the Company’s employees, effectively bond the interests of shareholders, 
the Company and core teams together, enable all parties to jointly pay attention to the long-term development of the 
Company.

Scope of awardees
The total number of awardees for the first grant and reserved grant proposed under the Scheme represents approximately 
24.06% of the Company’s employees as of December 31, 2024. The Awardees include Directors, senior management, 
core technicians, middle and senior business management and key technical and business staff of the Company.

Source of the restricted shares to be granted
The form of incentive adopted under the Scheme is Type II Restricted Shares. The source of all Restricted Shares under 
the Scheme will be A-share ordinary listed on the STAR market of the Shanghai Stock Exchange shares to be issued by 
the Company to the awardees.

Number of restricted shares to be granted
The total amount of restricted shares available for award under the Scheme will not exceed 75,650,400 A-share ordinary 
shares, representing approximately 0.95% of the total issued share capital of the Company as at the date of the annual 
report. Among them, 67,535,200 restricted shares were granted as the first grant, representing approximately 90.00% 
of the total number of restricted shares under the Scheme and approximately 0.85% of the total issued share capital 
of the Company as at the date of the annual report. 8,115,200 restricted shares were reserved for the reserved grant, 
representing approximately 10.00% of the total number of restricted shares under the Scheme and approximately 0.10% 
of the total issued share capital of the Company as at the date of the annual report.

Total number of shares available for issue
As at the date of the annual report, the total number of shares available for issue under the 2021 STAR Market Restricted 
Share Incentive Scheme was 13,153,720 shares, representing approximately 0.16% of the issued shares of the Company.

Maximum entitlement of each awardee
The cumulative amount of the Company’s shares granted to each awardee through all valid equity incentive plans shall 
not exceed 1% of the total share capital of the Company.

Attribution arrangements under the scheme
The restricted shares granted under the scheme may be vested in tranches as per the agreed proportions of 30%, 25%, 
25%, 20% upon the awardees satisfying the corresponding vesting conditions. A vest date must be a trading day within 
the validity period of the scheme, and shall not fall within the lock-up periods.

Acceptance and payment
Save as the grant price below, the 2021 STAR Market Restricted Share Incentive Scheme does not provide for any payment 
upon application or acceptance of the Restricted Shares granted.

Grant price and the determination basis
The grant price of the restricted shares for the first grant shall be RMB20 per Share. An awardee who has satisfied the 
conditions for grant and attribution may purchase A-share ordinary shares issued by the Company at such price. The 
grant price of the restricted shares for the reserved grant shall be the same as the grant price of the restricted shares for 
the first grant, i.e. RMB20 per share. The grant price was determined by comprehensive methodology which included the 
then average trading price of the RMB Shares listed on the STAR Market, the relevant PRC regulations and requirements 
on price determination and the incentive needs of the Company at the material time. For details of the determination 
basis, please further refer to the Company’s circular dated June 8, 2021.

Validity period of the scheme
The validity period of the scheme will commence from the grant date of the first grant, until the date on which all 
restricted shares granted to awardees have been vested or lapsed, such period shall not exceed 72 months.
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Performance assessment requirements at the Company level
The Company has selected the average revenue and the average EBITDA from 2018 to 2020 as the performance basis, 
and the growth rate of the definite proportion of the cumulative revenue and the cumulative EBITDA in 2021, 2022, 2023 
and 2024 to the performance basis, the target value shall not be less than 22%, 152%, 291% and 440% respectively, 
the trigger value is not less than 19%, 145%, 276% and 415%.

Assessment model of comprehensive weight and stepped vesting is set accordingly, and the company-level vesting ratios 
in each year are comprehensively calculated based on the coefficients corresponding to the completion of the above 
two indicators.

Performance assessment requirements at awardee’s individual level
The assessment result of an awardee consists of two parts: personal punishment verification and personal performance 
assessment. Then, the number of shares for the year actually attributed to the Awardee will be determined as per the 
corresponding individual attribution ratio in the following assessment rating table:

Punishment verification results

No punishment 
record of demerit 

or above

Punishment record 
of demerit or 

above    
Individual attribution ratio 100% 0%   

Performance assessment results A B C C– D\E         
Individual attribution ratio 100% 100% 100% 80% 0%      

For details of the STAR Market Incentive Scheme, please refer to the 2021 STAR Market Restricted Share Incentive Scheme 
(Draft) dated May 20, 2021 and the Announcement on Adjustment of Matters related to the 2021 STAR Market Restricted 
Share Incentive Scheme dated July 20, 2021 published on the website of SSE (https://www.sse.com.cn/).

(4)	 2024 Equity Incentive Plan – Hong Kong Share
The Company’s shareholders adopted the 2024 Equity Incentive Plan that became effective on November 10, 2023 when 
the 2024 Equity Incentive Plan was registered with the PRC State Administration of Foreign Exchange.

Movement of the RSUs granted to employees of the Group (except Directors of the Company) under the 2024 Equity 
Incentive Plan during the year ended December 31, 2024 is as follows:

Unit: Share

RSUs grant 
date

Consideration 
for the grant 

per share 
(HKD)

Unvested 
number as 

of 1/1/24

Number of 
new grants 
during the 

reporting 
period

Lapsed 
number 

during the 
reporting 

period

Cancelled 
number 

during the 
reporting 

period

Vested 
number 

during the 
reporting 

period

Weighted 
average 

closing price 
of Hong 

Kong Shares 
immediately 

before 
vesting 

dates (HKD)

Unvested 
number 

as of  
12/31/24

Closing price 
of Hong 

Kong Shares 
immediately 
before grant 
dates (HKD) Vesting period           

4/1/2024 0.031 – 8,315,970 232,248 – 4,158,080 15.16 3,925,642 15.16 4/1/2024-4/1/2026
           

Total – 8,315,970 232,248 – 4,158,080 3,925,642
           

According to the terms of the 2024 Equity Incentive Plan, the Compensation Committee may approve the acceleration 
of the vesting period of RSUs granted to Directors of the Company and employees of the Group.

Summary of the 2024 Equity Incentive Plan is as follows:

Purpose
The purposes of the 2024 Equity Incentive Plan are to attract, retain and motivate employees and Directors of the 
Company, to provide a means of long-term incentives for their contributions to the growth and profits of the Company, 
and to allow such employees and Directors to participate in such growth and profitability.

Participants
The Company’s 2024 Equity Incentive Plan is administered by the Company’s Compensation Committee. The Company’s 
2024 Equity Incentive provides for the grant of awards to the Company’s employees, officers or Directors, or to a trust 
established in connection with any employee benefit plan of the Company.

Awards granted under the 2024 Equity Incentive Plan may not be transferred in any manner other than by will or by 
the laws of descent and distribution, or pursuant to a domestic relations order or as determined by the Compensation 
Committee.

Maximum number of shares
The aggregate number of the Ordinary Shares available for award under the 2024 Equity Incentive Plan may not exceed 
596,812,206 Ordinary Shares (as adjusted according to the impact of the Share Consolidation), representing 7.48% of 
the issued Ordinary Shares as at the date of the annual report.
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Total number of shares available for issue
As at the date of the annual report, the total number of shares available for issue under the 2024 Equity Incentive Plan 
was 592,439,674 shares, being the total number of (i) 4,412,274 shares to be issued upon 4,412,274 RSUs granted but 
not yet vested and (ii) 588,027,400 shares to be issued upon 588,027,400 RSUs that may be granted, which represented 
approximately 7.43% of the issued shares of the Company.

Maximum entitlement of each participant
The total number of RSUs (including both vested and outstanding) granted in any 12-month period to each participant 
may not exceed at any time 1% of the then issued and outstanding Ordinary Shares.

Vesting period
Awards granted under the plan shall vest no earlier than the first anniversary of the date on which the Award is 
granted. However, subject to the terms of the plan and the relevant rules under the compensation committee charter, 
the Compensation Committee may determine a shorter vesting period for such award at its discretion.

Part of employees of the Group participate in the Company’s 2024 Equity Incentive Plan. The RSUs issued to participants 
by the Group generally vest at a rate of 50%, 30%, 20% on the vesting commencement date and on the subsequent 
first and second anniversary, respectively.

Acceptance and payments
An award of RSUs shall consist of a promise of the Company to pay or deliver one or more Hong Kong Share(s) on a 
specified date for a consideration equivalent to the aggregate par value of the number of Hong Kong Share(s) granted 
to the eligible participants (the “Consideration”) and the provision of services or such minimum payment as may be 
required by the applicable laws and rules or for such other consideration as the Compensation Committee may specify 
in connection with the grant. The Consideration shall be payable upon the acceptance of the grant of the RSUs but in 
any event no later than the date of vesting of the RSUs.

Purchase price and the determination basis
The 2024 Equity Incentive Plan does not provide any purchase price for each Hong Kong Share awarded.

Remaining life of the scheme
The 2024 Equity Incentive Plan will terminate ten years from the date of registration of the plan with the PRC State 
Administration of Foreign Exchange, unless it is terminated earlier by the Board. The Board may amend or terminate the 
2024 Equity Incentive Plan at any time without necessary of asking for shareholders’ approval of the amendment unless 
required by applicable law. As at the date of the annual report, the remaining life of the 2024 Equity Incentive Plan is 
approximately 8 years and 7 months.

3.	 Completion of stock incentive assessment indicators and the share-based payment 
recognised during the reporting period

in USD’000

Name of plan

Completion 
of assessment 
indicators at 
the Company 
level during the 
reporting period

Total share- 
based payment 

recognised during 
the reporting 

period    
2014 Stock Option Plan N/A 1,299
2014 Equity Incentive Plan N/A 8,520
2021 STAR Market Restricted Share Incentive Scheme 100% 28,536
2024 Equity Incentive Plan N/A 12,151

   

Total 50,506
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(II)	 RELEVANT SHARE INCENTIVE EVENTS THAT HAVE BEEN DISCLOSED IN THE PROVISIONAL 
ANNOUNCEMENTS AND WITH NO PROGRESS OR CHANGE IN SUBSEQUENT IMPLEMENTATION

Summary of the event Inquiry index   
Issue of ordinary shares pursuant to exercise of Restricted Share Units 

granted under the 2014 Equity Incentive Plan (adopted on June 13, 
2013) other than by Directors of the Company on January 5, 2024.

Next day disclosure return on the Hong Kong 
Stock Exchange: January 5, 2024

Issue of ordinary shares pursuant to exercise of Restricted Share Units 
granted under the 2014 Equity Incentive Plan (adopted on June 13, 
2013) other than by Directors of the Company on February 26, 2024.

Next day disclosure return on the Hong Kong 
Stock Exchange: February 26, 2024

Issue of ordinary shares pursuant to exercise of Restricted Share Units 
granted under the 2014 Equity Incentive Plan (adopted on June 13, 
2013) other than by Directors of the Company on March 27, 2024.

Next day disclosure return on the Hong Kong 
Stock Exchange: March 27, 2024

On April 1, 2024, the Company granted Restricted Share Units under 
the 2024 Equity Incentive Plan.

For details, please see the GRANT OF 
RESTRICTED SHARE UNITS as disclosed 
on the website of the Hong Kong Stock 
Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) on April 1, 
2024

Issue of ordinary shares pursuant to exercise of Restricted Share Units 
granted under the 2014 Equity Incentive Plan (adopted on June 13, 
2013) by Directors and non-directors of the Company on April 3, 
2024.

Next day disclosure return on the Hong Kong 
Stock Exchange: April 3, 2024

Issue of ordinary shares pursuant to exercise of Restricted Share Units 
granted under the 2024 Equity Incentive Plan (adopted on June 28, 
2023) other than by Directors of the Company on April 24, 2024.

Next day disclosure return on the Hong Kong 
Stock Exchange: April 24, 2024

Issue of ordinary shares pursuant to exercise of Restricted Share Units 
granted under the 2024 Equity Incentive Plan (adopted on June 28, 
2023) by Directors and non-directors of the Company on May 28, 
2024; Issue of ordinary shares pursuant to exercise of Restricted 
Share Units granted under the 2014 Equity Incentive Plan (adopted 
on June 13, 2013) other than by Directors of the Company on May 
28, 2024.

Next day disclosure return on the Hong Kong 
Stock Exchange: May 28, 2024

Issue of ordinary shares pursuant to exercise of Restricted Share Units 
granted under the 2014 Equity Incentive Plan (adopted on June 13, 
2013) other than by Directors of the Company on June 19, 2024.

Next day disclosure return on the Hong Kong 
Stock Exchange: June 19, 2024

On July 1, 2024, the Company granted Restricted Share Units under 
the 2024 Equity Incentive Plan.

For details, please see the GRANT OF 
RESTRICTED SHARE UNITS as disclosed 
on the website of the Hong Kong Stock 
Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) on July 1, 
2024

Issue of ordinary shares pursuant to exercise of Restricted Share 
Units granted under the 2024 Equity Incentive Plan (adopted on 
June 28, 2023) by Directors of the Company on July 4,2024; Issue 
of ordinary shares pursuant to exercise of Restricted Share Units 
granted under the 2014 Equity Incentive Plan (adopted on June 13, 
2013) other than by Directors of the Company on July 4, 2024.

Next day disclosure return on the Hong Kong 
Stock Exchange: July 4, 2024

On July 23,2024, the Board of Directors of the Company considered 
and approved the Proposal on the Third Attribution Period of the 
First Grant that Complies with the Attribution Conditions under the 
Company’s 2021 STAR Market Restricted Share Incentive Scheme, 
the Proposal on the Second Attribution Period of the Reserved 
Grant that Complies with the Attribution Conditions under the 
Company’s 2021 STAR Market Restricted Share Incentive Scheme 
and the Proposal on Lapsed Part of Restricted Shares under the 
2021 STAR Market Restricted Share Incentive Scheme by way of 
written resolutions.

For details, please see the Announcement 
on the Third Attribution Period of the 
First Grant and the Second Attribution 
Period of the Reserved Grant that 
Complies with the Attribution 
Conditions under the Company’s 
2021 STAR Market Restricted Share 
Incentive Scheme (2024-015), and the 
Announcement on the Void of Certain 
Restricted Shares under the 2021 STAR 
Market Restricted Share Incentive 
Scheme (2024-016), as disclosed on 
the website of the Shanghai Stock 
Exchange (www.sse.com.cn) on July 24, 
2024

Issue of ordinary shares pursuant to exercise of Restricted Share Units 
granted under the 2014 Equity Incentive Plan (adopted on June 13, 
2013) by Directors of the Company on September 4, 2024; Issue 
of ordinary shares pursuant to exercise of Restricted Share Units 
granted under the 2014 Equity Incentive Plan (adopted on June 13, 
2013) other than by Directors of the Company on September 4, 
2024.

Next day disclosure return on the Hong Kong 
Stock Exchange: September 4, 2024

On September 5, 2024, the Company completed the registration 
of shares of the Third Attribution Period of the First Grant and 
the Second Attribution Period of the Reserved Grant under the 
Company’s 2021 STAR Market Restricted Share Incentive Scheme.
The date of listing and circulation of the vested shares is September 
11, 2024.

For details, please see the Announcement on 
the Vesting Results of the Third Vesting 
Period of the First Grant and the Second 
Vesting Period of the Reserved Grant of 
the 2021 STAR Market Restricted Share 
Incentive Scheme and Listing of Shares 
(2024-018), as disclosed on the website of 
the Shanghai Stock Exchange (www.sse.
com.cn) on September 7, 2024,and Next 
day disclosure return on the Hong Kong 
Stock Exchange: September 6, 2024
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Summary of the event Inquiry index   
Issue of ordinary shares pursuant to exercise of Restricted Share Units 

granted under the 2014 Equity Incentive Plan (adopted on June 13, 
2013) other than by Directors of the Company on September 30, 
2024.

Next day disclosure return on the Hong Kong 
Stock Exchange: September 30, 2024

Issue of ordinary shares pursuant to exercise of Restricted Share Units 
granted under the 2014 Equity Incentive Plan (adopted on June 13,  
2013) other than by Directors of the Company on October 21, 
2024.

Next day disclosure return on the Hong Kong 
Stock Exchange: October 21, 2024

Issue of ordinary shares pursuant to exercise of Restricted Share Units 
granted under the 2024 Equity Incentive Plan (adopted on June 28, 
2023) other than by Directors of the Company on November 27, 
2024; Issue of ordinary shares pursuant to exercise of Restricted 
Share Units granted under the 2014 Equity Incentive Plan (adopted 
on June 13, 2013) other than by Directors of the Company on 
November 27, 2024.

Next day disclosure return on the Hong Kong 
Stock Exchange: November 27, 2024

Issue of ordinary shares pursuant to exercise of Restricted Share Units 
granted under the 2014 Equity Incentive Plan (adopted on June 13,  
2013) other than by Directors of the Company on December 9, 
2024.

Next day disclosure return on the Hong Kong 
Stock Exchange: December 9, 2024

  

XIV.	CONSTRUCTION AND IMPLEMENTATION OF INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEM DURING 
THE REPORTING PERIOD
(I)	 RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
The Board is responsible for ensuring that the Group maintains sound and effective risk management and internal 
control systems and for overseeing management in the operating of such systems on an ongoing basis. The Internal 
Audit Department is responsible for evaluating the adequacy and effectiveness of the risk management and internal 
control structure of the Company. Under the Corporate Governance Code issued by the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, 
management should provide a confirmation to the Board on the effectiveness of such systems. The Group’s risk 
management and internal control systems are designed to ensure the achievement of business objectives in operations, 
reliability and completeness of financial reporting and compliance with applicable laws and regulations. They are also 
designed to manage, rather than completely eliminate, risks impacting the Group’s ability to achieve its business objectives. 
Accordingly, these systems can only provide reasonable but not absolute assurance that the financial statements do not 
contain a material misstatement or omission.

The Board supervises the management’s designing, implementing and monitoring the risk management system to ensure 
the effectiveness of the risk management system. The implementation methods of the management are as follows:

•	 identifying risks, such as operational risk, strategy risk, market risk, legal risk and financial risk, etc.;

•	 assessing the identified risks by considering the impacts (including financial, reputation, business continuity & 
operational) and likelihoods of their occurrence; and

•	 designing, operating and monitoring internal control systems, and evaluating the effectiveness of implementation 
to mitigate and control such risks.

The Audit Committee under the Board has reviewed the effectiveness of risk management and internal control systems 
of the Group once a year and has required strengthening the comprehensive anti-fraud mechanism ensured that the 
risk management and internal control systems in place are effective.

(II)	 INTERNAL AUDIT
Internal audit is an independent and objective assessment function to evaluate the effectiveness of and contribute to 
the improvement of risk management, internal control, and governance systems. The person in charge of the Internal 
Audit Department shall draw up the annual audit plan based on the risk assessment and submit the plan, the budget 
and the staffing plan to the Audit Committee and the Chairman for approval.

The Internal Audit Department shall check and investigate major problems identified by senior managers. Major internal 
control audit results, the management’s corrective measures and the follow-ups of these measures will be reported 
to the Audit Committee, the Chairman and the Co-Chief Executive Officers. The audit report is reported to the Audit 
Committee semi-annually, and the Annual Internal Audit Plan shall be submitted to the Audit Committee within two 
months after each fiscal year end.
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Responsibilities of the internal audit include:

•	 reviewing the management’s internal control measures, providing reasonable assurance of the authenticity, accuracy 
and integrity of financial and operational information and ensuring the reliability and soundness of approaches for 
identification, measurement, classification and reporting;

•	 reviewing the internal control systems established or to be established, ensuring that the Company is currently 
in compliance with plans, procedures, systems, regulations and laws that have a significant impact on operations 
and reporting;

•	 reviewing the means of asset protection and verifying the existence of assets when appropriate;

•	 identifying major risks affecting the Company’s achievement of business objectives, reporting related risks to the 
management and supervising the management to take appropriate protective measures;

•	 reviewing whether internal control measures supporting operation of the Company are effective, and putting 
forward suggestions on problems detected;

•	 ensuring that the work of internal and external auditors on internal control is coordinated; and

•	 assisting in establishing and improving the anti-fraud mechanism, identifying the key areas, key links and main 
contents of anti-fraud, and rationally concerning and reviewing possible fraud in the internal audit process.

The Internal Audit Department shall have an independent status within the Company and shall not be involved in the 
day-to-day operation management of the Company. The Internal Audit Department has no operating responsibility or 
authority over the departmental operations that it audits.

In conducting these audits, the Internal Audit has free and full access to all necessary functions, records, properties and 
personnel.

After completing the audit, all audit results shall be reported to the management, and the management will determine 
and implement necessary corrective measures to eliminate defects of the internal control system.

The person in charge of the Internal Audit Department may meet privately with the members of the Audit Committee, 
without the presence of members of the Company’s management or the external auditors.

(III)	 INSIDE INFORMATION
The Company formulated the Disclosure Management System for Information Disclosure, Management System and 
Implementation Rules for Insiders (the “Systems and Rules”). According to the Systems and Rules, the Company maintains 
and regularly reviews a scope list identifying factors which are likely to give rise to the emergence of inside information. 
The Company ensures that confidentiality agreements are signed by all relevant parties to a transaction that is likely 
to give rise to the emergence of inside information. The Company also adopts appropriate measures to maintain the 
confidentiality of the sensitive information, such as using project codes and restricting access to such information to a 
limited group of recipients on a need-to-know basis. The Company organizes periodic training as it deems necessary for 
employees who, because of their office or employment, are likely to be in possession of inside information in relation 
to the Company, to help them understand the Company’s policies and procedures as well as their relevant disclosure 
duties and obligations.

XV.	 THE MANAGEMENT AND CONTROL ON THE COMPANY’S SUBSIDIARIES DURING THE 
REPORTING PERIOD
The Company implements group integrated management, and uniformly manages the Company’s standardized operation, 
personnel management, financial management, operation management, major event reporting and other matters.

XVI.	EXPLANATION OF THE INTERNAL CONTROL AUDIT REPORT
The Company will disclose the internal control audit report in accordance with the requirements of relevant laws, 
regulations and normative documents before April 30, 2025. Please take a notice on the relevant documents disclosed 
by the Company on the Shanghai Stock Exchange website (https://www.sse.com.cn) in the future.

XVII.	ETHICS COMPLIANCE
The Company’s Code of Business Conduct and Ethics (“Ethics Code”) applies to all employees, directors, contractors, 
consultants, agents and business partners, to ensure the company to comply with all applicable laws, regulations and 
standards of business conduct. The Company’s Ethics Code is committed to anti-fraud, anti-corruption, compliance with 
public interest, protection of intellectual property, safety and environmental protection, etc.

The Ethics Compliance Office (“ECO”) is an independent department under the Audit Committee of the Board, which 
is responsible for ethics compliance management and independent investigation, providing channels for reporting any 
potential violation on anonymous basis. The ECO reports to the Audit Committee from time to time.

The responsibilities of the ECO are formulating ethics compliance related policies and procedures, monitoring and ensuring 
that the professional ethics and business practices of the Company and its employees comply with the Company’s Ethics 
Code, managing and maintaining the hotline clues, timely investigating any evidence of fraud, if there is suspect of illegal 
or criminal activities, pursuing legal action. The ECO is also responsible for organizing employees’ ethics compliance 
training, improving their awareness of ethics compliance, and promoting ethics hotline.
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I.	 STATEMENT FROM THE BOARD ON THE ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY 
AND OTHER CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
RESPONSIBILITY OF THE BOARD
As a responsible corporate citizen, SMIC fully recognises the importance of environment, social and governance (“ESG”) 
on the path to a shared development, and joins hands with all stakeholders to make the world a better place. SMIC’s 
Board undertakes the ultimate responsibility for the ESG governance system, and is accountable for developing the 
Company’s ESG strategy, goal setting and progress, as well as ESG performance.

An ESG Steering Committee is set under the Board to be responsible for the Company’s ESG management. It formulates 
ESG strategy, objectives and direction by analyzing the internal and external environments, and deliberating corporate 
development strategy. The ESG Steering Committee leads and guides the ESG Committee in discussing, planning and 
promoting ESG-related issues, supervises ESG implementation across functional departments, so as to ensure legally 
compliant operation, and assists the Company in achieving ESG goals, reflecting how the Company cares for people, 
the environment and society. The ESG Steering Committee reviews the annual ESG Report and submits it to the Board 
for approval.

ISSUE ANALYSIS
Keeping abreast of the external environment and peer performance, the ESG Committee communicates closely with 
our internal and external stakeholders, identifies and assesses material issues, develops working plans based on ESG 
objectives, and reviews relevant progress regularly.

The ESG Committee is responsible for identifying, managing, overseeing and controlling the Company’s ESG-related risks, 
as well as facilitating the decision-making of the Board by providing risk analysis. The Board of Directors is responsible 
for overseeing material issues.

DAILY IMPLEMENTATION
An ESG Office has been set up at SMIC to optimize the ESG information collection system. Based on the nature of our 
business, the ESG Office analyses and formulates corresponding strategies, goals and action plans to promote a company-
wide ESG strategy and integrate it into our daily operation, thereby continuously improving our ESG governance ability.

II.	 OVERALL ESG WORK ACHIEVEMENTS
(I)	 ESG PRACTICES WITH INDUSTRY CHARACTERISTICS DURING THE YEAR

SMIC places a high priority on ESG information disclosure, adhering to industry-relevant ESG information disclosure 
standards. The Company prepares and publishes comprehensive ESG reports in alignment with international 
standards and industry guidelines, such as the Global Reporting Initiative (GRI) Sustainability Reporting Standards 
issued by the GRI and the Guidelines for Social Responsibility in the Electronics and Information Industry issued 
by China Electronics Standardization Association. Furthermore, SMIC actively supports and complies with the 
Responsible Business Alliance Code of Conduct, which is designed to ensure a safe working environment across 
the electronics supply chain, respectful and responsible treatment of employees, and environmentally accountable 
production processes.

SMIC is actively engaged in ESG-related initiatives within the industry, contributing to the green development 
of the semiconductor sector. For instance, the Company has actively embraced the United Nations Sustainable 
Development Goals, positioning green development as a core driver of its sustainable growth. Beyond its commitment 
to technological innovation and operational efficiency, SMIC takes energy conservation, emission reduction, and 
environmental protection as integral responsibilities, embedding these principles into every aspect of its daily 
operations.

Additionally, SMIC actively participates in industry seminars and collaborative exchanges, working with partners 
across the supply chain to reflect on past experiences and chart a roadmap for the industry’s future. In these 
forums, SMIC actively shares its ESG practices and achievements while learning from the best practices of other 
companies, collectively advancing the ESG performance of the semiconductor industry.

(II)	 ESG RATING PERFORMANCE DURING THE YEAR

ESG rating system ESG rating agencies
Rating results of the Company 

for the current year     
HSI ESG Index Hang Seng Indexes Company Limited A+
Wind ESG Wind Information Co., Ltd. A
China Securities Index China Securities Index Co., Ltd. A
CNI Index Shenzhen Securities Information Co., Ltd. AAA

   

(III)	 TRACKING BY ESG THEMED INDEX FUNDS DURING THE YEAR
During the year, SMIC was included in the Hang Seng Corporate Sustainability Index, CSI 300 ESG Index and 
others. Funds tracking the relevant indices include Hang Seng Corporate Sustainability Index Fund, CSI 300 ESG 
Benchmark ETF and others.

III.	 ENVIRONMENTAL INFORMATION
    
Whether relevant mechanisms for environmental protection have been established Yes
Environmental protection funds invested in the reporting period US$296 million  
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(I)	 ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION STATUS OF THE COMPANY AND ITS MAJOR SUBSIDIARIES 
CLASSIFIED AS THE KEY POLLUTANT DISCHARGING COMPANIES ANNOUNCED BY THE 
ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AUTHORITY

SMIC’s subsidiaries including SMIC Shanghai, SMIC Beijing, SMIC Tianjin, SMIC Shenzhen, SMNC, SMSC, SMBC and 
SMOC are the key pollutant discharging companies.

1.	 Information on pollutant discharging
In 2024, none of the above companies have excessive emissions.

Exhaust Gases
 

Methods of emission Discharged after treatment up to standard

Number and 
distribution of 

outlets 398 outlets on the roof and ground

Region Type Name of main pollutants

Maximum 
emission 

concentration of 
exhaust gases 

(mg/m3)
Emission standard 

(mg/m3) Compliance
       
Shanghai Region Acid exhaust Nitrogen oxides 17.3 150 Achieve

Fluoride 1.46 1.5 Achieve
Alkaline exhaust Ammonia 22.5 No concentration limit Achieve
Organic exhaust Non-methane hydrocarbon 53.6 70 Achieve

Beijing Region Acid exhaust Nitrogen oxides 13.1 50 Achieve
Fluoride 0.4 3 Achieve

Alkaline exhaust Ammonia 3.3 10 Achieve
Organic exhaust Non-methane hydrocarbon 2.7 10 Achieve

Tianjin Region Acid exhaust Nitrogen oxides 37.2 50 Achieve
Fluoride 1.0 9 Achieve

Alkaline exhaust Ammonia 1.5 100 Achieve
Organic exhaust Non-methane hydrocarbon 13.8 20 Achieve

Shenzhen Region Acid exhaust Nitrogen oxides 18.0 120 Achieve
Fluoride 0.6 9 Achieve

Alkaline exhaust Ammonia 16.6 No concentration limit Achieve
Organic exhaust Non-methane hydrocarbon 11.9 20 Achieve

      

Wastewater
 

Methods of emission
Discharged through the pipe after treatment up to 
standard

Number and 
distribution of  

outlets 22 outlets in workshop and non-workshop

Region Name of main pollutants

Maximum emission 
concentration of 

wastewater (mg/L)
Emission standard 

(mg/L) Compliance
     

Shanghai Region Fluoride 12.1 20 Achieve
Chemical Oxygen Demand (COD) 302.4 500 Achieve
Ammonia nitrogen 32.2 45 Achieve
Arsenic 0.0101 0.2 Achieve

Beijing Region Fluoride 9.4 10 Achieve
Chemical Oxygen Demand (COD) 239.0 500 Achieve
Ammonia nitrogen 20.5 45 Achieve
Arsenic 0.0323 0.1 Achieve

Tianjin Region Fluoride 12.4 20 Achieve
Chemical Oxygen Demand (COD) 229.0 500 Achieve
Ammonia nitrogen 7.7 35 Achieve

Shenzhen Region Fluoride 15.1 20 Achieve
Chemical Oxygen Demand (COD) 244.7 500 Achieve
Ammonia nitrogen 19.7 45 Achieve

     

2.	 Construction and operation of pollution prevention and control facilities
In 2024, SMIC can treat 194,169 m3 of wastewater and 550,675,920 m3 of exhaust gas per day, all pollution prevention 
and control facilities are in normal operation. 22 sets of acid exhaust treatment equipment, 7 sets of alkaline exhaust 
treatment equipment, 5 sets of organic exhaust treatment equipment and 3 sets of arsenic-containing exhaust treatment 
equipment are under construction. 1 set of ammonia-containing wastewater treatment system is under construction.

3.	 Environmental impact assessment and other administrative permissions for environmental 
protection of construction projects

The construction projects of all key pollutant discharging companies have completed the environmental impact assessment, 
and obtained the required environmental protection administrative permits according to the construction progress.

4.	 Environmental emergencies during the reporting period
To ensure environmental compliance, we regularly conduct external environmental audits and annual environmental 
monitoring. In addition, each plant has prepared a response plan for environmental emergencies and filed it with the 
local government, and regularly carried out environmental emergency drills according to the response plan. During the 
reporting period, SMIC had no environmental violations or was not fined for environmental violations.
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5.	 Response plan for environmental emergencies
In accordance with the requirements of the environmental protection department, the above key pollutant discharging 
companies have all completed the preparation and filing of the Emergency Response Plan for Environmental Incidents 
(the “Plan”). All these units have carried out emergency drills for environmental emergencies in accordance with the 
requirements of the Plan.

6.	 Environmental self-monitoring program
The above key pollutant discharging companies have completed the preparation of the self-monitoring program in 
accordance with the requirements and completed regular monitoring according to the Plan. As of the end of the reporting 
period, the emission indicators of all units have reached the standard.

7.	 Other environmental information that should be disclosed
The above key pollutant discharging companies have achieved certification of ISO 14001 environmental management 
system, ISO 14064 greenhouse gas emission verification system, ISO 50001 energy management system, and IECQ QC 
080000 hazardous substance management system, and have effectively implemented them in accordance with the 
system requirements.

(II)	 ADMINISTRATIVE PENALTY FOR ENVIRONMENTAL PROBLEMS DURING THE REPORTING 
PERIOD

None of the above key pollutant discharging companies were subject to administrative penalties for environmental 
problems during the reporting period.

(III)	 THE INFORMATION OF RESOURCE ENERGY CONSUMPTION AND EMISSIONS
The following is the resource energy consumption and emissions information.

1.	 Emission of greenhouse gas
In 2024, total GHG emissions of the Group reached 3,009,944 tons of equilvalent CO2. The GHG emissions of per standard 
logic 8-inch equivalent wafer photomask layer reached 9.8 kg of equilvalent CO2 in emission intensity.

2.	 Consumption of energy resource
In 2024, the total electricity consumption of the Group was 4,065 million kWh, and the energy consumption intensity 
was 12.08 kWh per standard logic 8-inch equivalent wafer photomask layer; the total natural gas consumption of the 
Group was 23,986 thousand m3, and the energy consumption intensity was 76.89 m3 per standard logic 8-inch equivalent 
wafer photomask layer; the total steam consumption of the Group was 282 thousand tons, and the energy consumption 
intensity was 0.86 kg per standard logic 8-inch equivalent wafer photomask layer; the total water consumption of the 
Group was 31,946 thousand tons, and the energy consumption intensity was 0.093 tons per standard logic 8-inch 
equivalent wafer photomask layer.

3.	 Discharge of waste and pollutants
In 2024, the Group have disposed 72,579 tons of general industrial solid waste, 94,876 tons of hazardous waste 
and 3,854 tons of domestic waste. The emission concentration and total amount of various pollutants have met the 
requirements of environmental permit.

4.	 The environmental management system of the Company
SMIC not only focuses on enterprise development and economic value creation, but also on environmental protection and 
making good use of resources and energy. We continue to implement improvement measures, fulfill our environmental 
protection responsibilities, and adhere to sustainable development.

Since the founding, we have set up the Environment/Safety/Hygiene Department, formulated the environmental protection, 
safety and health policy with reference to the ISO 14001 Environmental Management System, established the environmental 
protection management system, and implemented ISO 14001 Environmental Management System as well.

In accordance with laws, regulations and standards, and guided by environmental management policies, SMIC has 
systematically and normatively integrated environmental management practice into overall production and operations in 
aspects such as organizational structure, document control, operation control, supervision management, and continual 
improvement by planning, implementing, and operating environmental management projects.

We comply with over 100 applicable environmental protection laws or standards including the Environmental Protection 
Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Water Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the People’s Republic of 
China, the Law of the People’s Republic of China on the Prevention and Control of Atmospheric Pollution, the Law of 
the People’s Republic of China on Prevention and Control of Environmental Pollution by Solid Waste, and the Law of 
the People’s Republic of China on Environmental Impact Assessment.

(IV)	 MEASURES TAKEN TO REDUCE CARBON EMISSIONS DURING THE REPORTING PERIOD AND 
EFFECTS

    
Whether carbon reduction measures have been taken Yes
CO2 equivalent reduction 23,192 tons
Type of carbon reduction measures (such as the use of 

clean energy for power generation, the use of carbon 
reduction technology in the production process, and 
the development and production of new products 
that contribute to carbon reduction)

44 projects including the upgrade project of organic 
waste gas treatment system, the replacement project of 

fans with low-energy motors, the system upgrade project 
of the ice machine, the optimization project of the fresh 
air system in humidification method, the cleaning project 
of the PCW system plate heat exchanger, the installation 

project of frequency converters on motors, and the 
energy-saving transformation project of the lighting system  
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(V)	 RELEVANT INFORMATION THAT IS CONDUCIVE TO PROTECTING ECOLOGY, PREVENTING 
POLLUTION, AND FULFILLING ENVIRONMENTAL RESPONSIBILITIES

The environmental protection policy of SMIC emphasizes the optimal use of resources and energy, and the reduction 
of exhaust gas, greenhouse gases and hazardous waste emissions. We continue to implement improvement measures 
and the concept of sustainable development and fulfill environmental responsibility, to minimise the impact on the 
ecological environment. In 2024, SMIC Shanghai has obtained the title of “Shanghai Water Saving Enterprise”, SMIC 
Tianjin has passed the “No Waste Factory” evaluation, SMNC has obtained the “Star of No Waste” certificate from 
the Beijing Economic-Technological Development Area, SMOC has obtained the logo of “Green 3-Star Certification” 
and SMIC Beijing has obtained the title of “Green Electricity Consumption Demonstration Enterprise” from the Beijing 
Economic-Technological Development Area.

(VI)	 MEASURES TAKEN TO ADDRESS GLOBAL CLIMATE CHANGE AND THEIR EFFECTS
In the international context of increasingly severe global climate change, actively responding to climate change has 
become the key to achieving sustainable development of enterprises. SMIC adhered to the International Task Force 
on Climate-related Financial Disclosures guidelines and conducted a comprehensive and in-depth assessment of the 
Company’s climate risks. We not only identified the potential impact of climate change on our operations, supply chain 
stability and long-term financial performance, but also developed a transition plan to address climate-related risks and 
opportunities, and implemented a series of concrete and effective responses.

As a leader in the semiconductor industry, SMIC has always regarded green development as the core driving force for 
its sustainable development. The Company actively practices the concept of green operation, not only committed to 
technological innovation and production efficiency improvement, but also regards energy conservation, emission reduction 
and environmental protection as its own responsibility, deeply integrating them into every aspect of our daily operation. By 
adopting advanced energy-saving technologies and equipment and optimizing production processes, SMIC has effectively 
reduced energy consumption and carbon emissions, demonstrating its strong determination to combat climate change.

IV.	 PERFORMANCE OF SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITIES
(I)	 PRINCIPAL BUSINESS SOCIAL CONTRIBUTION AND INDUSTRY KEY INDICATORS
1.	 Principal business social contribution
In terms of logic IC, SMIC is representing the leading level of independent R&D of integrated circuit manufacturing 
technology in Chinese Mainland. In terms of specialty technologies, SMIC has successively launched the leading specialty 
technologies for segmented market in Chinese Mainland, and cooperated closely with customers, effectively understood 
the demands and development of end-user companies and the entire system industry, and has done its best to meet 
customer demand.

In addition to the IC foundry business, SMIC is also committed to creating a platform-based ecological service model, 
providing customers with one-stop supporting services such as design services and IP support, photomask manufacturing, 
and promoting the upstream and downstream cooperation of the integrated circuit industry chain, so as to provide 
customers with a full range of integrated circuit solutions together with partners in all links of the industry chain.

With excellent R&D technical strength, strong manufacturing capability, well-established supporting service system, 
and rich market practical experience, SMIC has formed prominent brand effects, obtained sound industry recognition, 
and accumulated a wide range of domestic and foreign customer resources. The Company has carried out in-depth 
cooperation with many well-known IC design companies and system manufacturers at home and abroad, and has won 
general recognition and good feedback from customers.

2.	 Industry key indicators
(1)	 Number of intellectual property
By the end of 2024, SMIC filed 20,108 patent applications in total, of which 13,964 were granted. SMIC is leading the 
Chinese Mainland semiconductor industry in terms of the numbers of applied and granted patents.

(2)	 Shipments, wafer production capacity
In 2024, the Group’s shipments were 8,021 thousand standard logic 8-inch equivalent wafers and the monthly capacity 
reached 947,625 standard logic 8-inch equivalent wafers by the end of 2024.

(II)	 PROMOTION OF SCIENTIFIC AND TECHNOLOGICAL INNOVATION
SMIC consistently regarded scientific and technological innovation and technology research and development as the core 
driving force for enterprise development. We formulated a clear and forward-looking R&D innovation strategy and set 
clear innovation R&D goals. By continuously investing in R&D resources and strengthening technological innovation, we 
made substantial progress in driving industry technological advancements. Meanwhile, we actively identified and rigorously 
assessed risks in the R&D innovation process, clarified their impact on the Company, and formulated management 
strategies based on assessment results, effectively mitigating potential risks in the R&D innovation process. To realize the 
standardization, normalization, and professionalization of innovation management, we have established a comprehensive 
and efficient innovation management system consisting of internal training, external cooperation, and innovation practice.

We have implemented a comprehensive R&D management process and assembled a professional R&D team, and we 
are committed to fostering in-depth research and development of application platforms to strengthen our technological 
foundation and construct a robust technological barrier for protection. During the reporting period, SMIC continued to 
increase its investment in R&D. The number of R&D personnel comprised 12.1% of the Company’s total workforce, and 
the total R&D costs amounted to US$765 million, representing 9.5% of revenue. As of the end of the reporting period, 
SMIC obtained 13,964 authorized patents in total, including 12,112 inventions and 1,852 utility model patents; and 
obtained 94 layout design rights in total.

Please refer to “II. Principal Business, Business Model, Industry Overview and R&D During the Reporting Period” in “Section 
4 Management Discussion and Analysis” for details of core technologies and R&D progress.
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(III)	 COMPLIANCE WITH SCIENTIFIC AND TECHNOLOGICAL ETHICS
As an integrated circuit manufacturing enterprise, SMIC’s primary business is to provide chip manufacturing services to 
customers. During the reporting period, the Company’s main operations did not involve scientific research activities in 
areas sensitive to technology ethics. Nevertheless, we continued to monitor global governance developments in scientific 
and technological ethics with caution and strictly complied with relevant requirements.

(IV)	 DATA SECURITY AND PRIVACY PROTECTION
SMIC places great importance on information security and customer privacy protection. It strictly complies with the 
requirements of relevant national laws and regulations such as the Cybersecurity Law of the People’s Republic of China. 
By establishing a comprehensive internal management system and conducting a wide range of safety education and 
training activities, SMIC ensures efficient and controllable management in all aspects, including information collection, 
security maintenance, and data processing.

SMIC has established a comprehensive information security protection system, which encompasses independent and 
secure data storage facilities and network environments, ensuring strict monitoring and management of information 
usage throughout the production process. Moreover, SMIC extends the scope of information security management to 
all third – party partners, including suppliers, customers, and visitors, thereby achieving physical security, data security, 
production area security, and personal information security. Meanwhile, SMIC has constructed a thorough confidential 
information technology protection and monitoring system, including data classification protection strategies, zoned storage 
management, collection procedures, regular inspection mechanisms, real – time monitoring measures, and audit procedures, 
to fully safeguard the security and compliance of confidential information. During the reporting period, SMIC did not 
experience any material cybersecurity or commercial information leakage incidents. As of the end of the reporting period, 
SMIC’s main operation sites have been accredited by the ISO 27001: 2022 Information Security Management System.

(V)	 TYPE AND CONTRIBUTIONS OF PUBLIC CHARITY ACTIVITIES ENGAGED
Type Amount/Number Descriptions     
Donation funds for charities RMB2.44 million SMIC Liver Transplant Program for Children
The person of salvage 111 persons

   

1.	 SPECIFIC CONDITIONS OF PUBLIC CHARITY ACTIVITIES ENGAGED
Public charity
In 2013, SMIC launched the “SMIC Liver Transplant Program for Children” charity project. The project collaborating with 
suppliers has donated a total of nearly RMB50 million over the past twelve years. By the end of 2024, 943 children from 
the Chinese Mainland had been helped.

SMIC’s responsibility in the community
As the Group grows and prospers, so do the communities where we operate. We also serve them as neighbors through 
the scores of programs and activities held on our own campuses. We also encourage individual efforts by our employees, 
who support local charities, to lecture at local universities, finance rural schools, provide disaster relief, and volunteer 
for projects throughout the region, focusing on community development and environmental preservation.

Support for education
The Company invests in the establishment of high-quality schools to give priority to the children of employees in order to 
erase the employees’ worries about their children’ s future and open the schools to the society, sharing quality educational 
resources and serving children whose parents are not our employees with quality resources and competitive fees. The 
Company and employees also support education in other ways. For example, we participate in external charity projects, 
such as donating books, winter clothing bags, schoolbags and other learning supplies to children in impoverished condition.

(VI)	 PROTECTION OF THE INTEREST OF SHAREHOLDERS AND CREDITORS
In order to effectively protect the legitimate rights and interests of shareholders and investors, in accordance with the 
requirements of applicable laws, regulations and regulatory documents, the Company has formulated the Articles of 
Association, the Rules of Procedures for General Meetings , the Management System for 
Information Disclosure  and the Management System for Investor Relations 

, in order to ensure the good communication among the Company and shareholders and investors, 
continue to complete the corporate governance structure, establish and improve the internal control system, implement 
a solid financial policy, and standardise the Company’s operating, increase shareholders’, investors’ and creditors’ 
understanding, trust and recognition of the Company, further improve the level of corporate governance, maximise the 
Company’s value and protect the legitimate rights and interests of shareholders, investors and creditors.

Furthermore, in order to strengthen the Company’s market value management, promote the enhancement of the 
Company’s investment value, increase investor returns, and safeguard investor interests, the Company has formulated the 
Market Value Management System ( ) in accordance with the China Securities Regulatory Commission’s 
“Regulatory Guidelines for Listed Companies No. 10 – Market Value Management” and other relevant laws and regulations. 
This system was approved by the Board through a written resolution on March 27, 2025.

(VII)	PROTECTION OF THE INTEREST OF EMPLOYEES
In accordance with international and domestic legal requirements, protection of the rights and interests of employees 
is the minimum standard commitment that SMIC keeps. We give employees more rights and interests according to the 
Company’s development strategy, so that employees enjoy common development and benefit with the Company.

SMIC provides a comprehensive salary and benefit system that includes short-term and long-term incentives such as 
salaries, bonuses, stock options, as well as social security, commercial insurance, paid vacations and other welfare and 
security that facilitate life.
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Employee health & safety
SMIC has been committed to creating a healthy and safe working environment for employees. When the Company was 
founded, we set up a special management department and established occupational health and safety management 
procedures in accordance with OHSAS 18001 (renamed ISO 45001) occupational health and safety management system, 
to systematically control health and safety risks. In accordance with the national occupational disease prevention and 
control law, SMIC organizes occupational health examinations for employees who are exposed to occupational hazards. 
The Company has a health center in the factory, equipped with experienced medical employees and adequate facilities. 
The Company established the three-level defense process and system from “entry psychological screening”, “psychological 
crisis prevention by early finding, early diagnosis and early treatment” to “psychological crisis management” to defend 
against psychological crisis. The Company has a psychological counseling room with a 24-hour psychological assistance 
hotline to help employees cope with multiple pressures from work, family and individuals.

Employee care
SMIC provides employees with convenient living service and facilities. In addition to the housing and schooling described 
above, our employees and their families enjoy good health insurance as well as access to the professionally staffed health 
service in the manufacturing sites, residential campuses and schools. We also care for our employees through on-the-
job training, subsidize university continuing education, athletic and recreational facilities, transportation and catering 
facilities, and strive to enrich the lives of employees.

Employee shareholding
    
Number of employees holding shares (person) 3,716
Proportion of employee shareholding in the total number of employees (%) 19.37
Number of shares held by employees (million shares) 114.26
Proportion of employee shareholding in total share capital (%) 1.43  

Note:	 The number of employees and the number of shares held by employees are the number of active employees of the Company vested 
under stock incentives plans and the total number of shares held by themselves as at the end of the year, excluding the shares of 
the Company held by employees in the secondary market.

(VIII)	THE PROTECTION OF THE INTEREST OF SUPPLIERS, CUSTOMERS AND CONSUMERS
Based on the concept of achieving a win-win cooperation with suppliers, SMIC strives to help improve the social 
responsibility management capabilities of enterprises in the supply chain. We conduct rigorous supplier audits and 
implement a hierarchical management model that covers the entire life cycle of the supply chain. We have established 
and continuously improved supplier management systems and processes. In addition, SMIC has formulated detailed 
requirements for all key aspects of supplier management, including entry, evaluation, and daily operations.

Customer service is one of the core values of SMIC’s corporate culture. SMIC strictly complies with domestic and 
international laws and regulations on consumer safety and product performance, and continuously promotes technological 
innovation to create higher value for customers and seek long-term development. We have a professional customer 
service team that spans across multiple countries and regions, including Shanghai, Beijing, Tianjin, Shenzhen, Taiwan, 
China, California, USA, Munich, Germany, Milan, Italy, and Tokyo, Japan, providing customers with comprehensive and 
multi-layered premium services. SMIC has established an efficient and sound system for tracking and addressing customer 
complaints, arranging relevant departments to investigate any customer complaints and handle them in a timely manner 
according to the procedures, to achieve enhanced customer satisfaction.

(IX)	 ASSURANCE OF THE PRODUCT SAFETY
SMIC has established rigorous and strict product quality identification and product recall procedures. We adhere to the 
Hazardous Substance Process Management System (QC 080000) to control the safety and health risks associated with our 
products, ensuring the products comply with both domestic and international regulations as well as customer requirements.

(X)	 INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY PROTECTION
SMIC attached great importance to the protection of intellectual property rights, and established a professional team for 
intellectual property protection and management. In accordance with laws and regulations, based on the actual situation, 
combined with the progress of technological innovation and the needs of the market environment, the Company flexibly 
formulated intellectual property protection strategies suitable for the Company’s development, so as to protect and utilize 
technological innovation achievements reasonably while continuously improving its own competitiveness, and protect 
the high-quality development of the Company.

(XI)	 OTHER SITUATION IN TERMS OF SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY
At SMIC, we comply with strict legal requirements for corporate governance, financial accounting, and transparent 
reporting. Our business practices are also ethical, safe, environmental friendly, and fair to our employees, in accordance 
with the laws, rules, and regulations applicable in the countries where we operate. In addition to obeying applicable legal 
duties and obligations, we continue to practice and strive for corporate social responsibility. Through our CSR Program 
(https://www.smics.com/en/site/responsibility_social), we hope to promote social, environmental, and ethical responsibility 
according to internationally recognised standards.

To achieve the following goals:

•	 Declare our support for the Responsible Business Alliance (Formerly the Electronic Industry Citizenship Coalition) 
(“RBA”) Code of Conduct (https://www.smics.com/en/site/responsibility_criterion) and will actively pursue 
conformance to the Code and participation by our suppliers.

•	 Uphold the human rights of our staff and the highest standards of business integrity, as required by the RBA 
Code, the SMIC Code of Business Conduct & Ethics (https://www.smics.com/uploads/ethic_codebusiness.pdf), SMIC 
Human Resources policies, and all other SMIC policies.
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•	 Strive to maintain a safe workplace for our employees and a healthy environment for the public while minimising adverse 
effects on the community, environment, and natural resources, consistent with our Environmental Protection, Safety 
& Health Policy and our related ISO and other international certifications (https://www.smics.com/en/site/about_HSE).

•	 Develop and maintain management systems to implement this CSR Policy with continual improvement as part of 
a holistic CSR Program. See our latest ESG Report at: https://www.smics.com/en/site/responsibility_report_honor.

In the practices of fulfilling CSR, we comply with the laws applicable in the place where we operate and align with the 
leading international standards for our industry. Our CSR practices have led to our Company to be awarded with HSI 
ESG rating A+, while continuing to be included in the Hang Seng Corporate Sustainability Index. Given our outstanding 
performance in environmental, social and governance aspects, SMIC has been newly included in the HSI ESG Enhanced 
Index and HSI ESG Enhanced Select Index. For details, please refer to https://www.hsi.com.hk.

V.	 OTHER CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
(I)	 INVESTOR RELATIONS AND PROTECTION

Type Times Relevant information     
Convening the earnings calls/webcasts 4 Hold earnings calls/webcasts regularly to 

facilitate shareholders and investors 
to have a more comprehensive and 
timely in-depth understanding of the 
Company’s operating performance, and 
answer questions from investors, fund 
managers and analysts.

Conducting investor relations management 
activities by virtue of new media

13 Distribute annual report and quarterly 
earnings report summary (four times a 
year), press releases of the Company 
achieving certifications, participation in 
industrial exhibitions and public welfare 
activities, etc., through the Company’s 
WeChat public account.

Setting up investor relations column on the 
official website

Yes Set up the investor relations section 
on the Company’s official website to 
comprehensively display information of 
interest to investors, fund managers, 
analysts, etc.   

Specific details of investor relations management and protection
SMIC has established a department of investor relations, with specialized staff dedicated to carrying out investor 
relations management work, strengthening communication with investors, and enhancing investors’ understanding and 
recognition of the Company through facilitating the exercise of shareholders’ rights, information disclosure, interactive 
communications and the handling of requests etc., in order to improve the Company’s governance and overall value as 
well as to realize the goal of respecting, rewarding and protecting our investors.

Other ways to communicate with investors
SMIC carries out investor relations management work through multiple channels, platforms and methods. We maintain 
communication with investors, fund managers, analysts and others through the Company’s official website, WeChat official 
account, investor hotline and e-mail box, stock exchange investor relations interactive platform, announcements, general 
meetings of shareholders, earnings calls/webcasts, roadshows, reverse roadshows, Investor and broker research, brokerage 
conferences, promotional materials, media interviews, and other legally effective channels, platforms and methods.

(II)	 TRANSPARENCY OF INFORMATION DISCLOSURE
In order to standardize the information disclosure, promote the standardized operation, and safeguard the legitimate 
rights and interests of the shareholders of the Company, especially the public shareholders, the Company has revised 
the Management System for Information Disclosure ( ) and the Management System for 
Investor Relations ( ) on November 7, 2024, in accordance with the Administrative Measures 
for Information Disclosure of Listed Companies ( ) and other relevant laws, regulations 
and normative documents to ensure that shareholders and investors can obtain timely, truthful, accurate and complete 
materials and information related to the Company.

(III)	 PARTICIPATION OF INSTITUTIONAL INVESTORS IN CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
During the reporting period, institutional investors expressed their views through voting at general meeting of shareholders 
held by the Company and increased their monitoring of the Company’s management. In addition, the Company also 
increased institutional investors’ participation in corporate governance by maintaining continuous two-way communication, 
listening carefully, engaging in substantive dialogue on business performance and strategy, and collecting their suggestions 
on corporate governance, ESG and etc.

(IV) OPERATION OF ANTI-COMMERCIAL BRIBERY AND ANTI-CORRUPTION MECHANISMS
SMIC integrates integrity and compliance management into daily operations. Under the Audit Committee of the Board 
of Directors, an independent Ethics and Compliance Office (the “Ethics Office”) is established to take full responsibility 
for formulating and effectively implementing policies related to ethics and compliance, preventing and managing 
compliance risks. Through regular risk assessments and audits, the Company ensures its legal and compliant operations. 
Meanwhile, the Company strengthens compliance training to enhance employees’ compliance awareness and capabilities, 
and promotes the ethics whistle-blowing hotline. To reinforce the prevention and control of integrity risks, the Company 
conducts an annual assessment on risks such as commercial bribery and occupational embezzlement and formulates 
corresponding prevention and control measures and training plans based on the assessment results to ensure the integrity 
and compliance of its operations.
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I.	 PERFORMANCE OF UNDERTAKINGS
(I)	 UNDERTAKINGS OF THE DE FACTO CONTROLLER OF THE COMPANY, SHAREHOLDERS, 

RELATED PARTIES, ACQUIRER AND THE COMPANY DURING OR SUBSISTING TO THE 
REPORTING PERIOD

Background of the 
undertaking

Type of the 
undertaking Undertaking party

Details of the 
undertaking

Time of the 
undertaking

Term of the 
undertaking

Whether 
there is a 
term for 
performance

Whether 
performed 
timely and 
strictly

Specific 
reasons for 
the failure 
to timely 
honor the 
undertaking

Further 
plans in 
the event 
of failing 
to timely 
honor the 
undertaking           

Commitments in 
relation to the 
initial public 
offering

Resolve peer 
competition

Substantial shareholders, 
domestic 
shareholders 
indirectly holding 
over 5% of shares

See note 1 July 16, 2020 Effective for a 
long time

No Yes N/A N/A

Resolve related 
(connected)
transaction

The Company, 
substantial 
shareholders, 
domestic 
shareholders 
indirectly holding 
over 5% of shares, 
Directors and 
senior management 
personnel

See note 2 July 16, 2020 Effective for a 
long time

No Yes N/A N/A

Other (share 
repurchase and 
commitment on 
share repurchase)

The Company See note 3 July 16, 2020 Effective for a 
long time

No Yes N/A N/A

Other (share 
repurchase 
commitment for 
fraudulent offering 
and listing)

The Company, 
substantial 
shareholders, 
domestic 
shareholders 
indirectly holding 
over 5% of shares

See note 4 July 16, 2020 Effective for a 
long time

No Yes N/A N/A

Other (commitment 
to remedy diluted 
immediate returns)

The Company, 
Directors and 
senior management 
personnel

See note 5 July 16, 2020 Effective for a 
long time

No Yes N/A N/A

Dividends The Company See note 6 July 16, 2020 Effective for a 
long time

No Yes N/A N/A

Other (commitment to 
bear compensation 
or liability 
according to law)

The Company, 
substantial 
shareholders, 
domestic 
shareholders 
indirectly holding 
over 5% of shares, 
Directors and 
senior management 
personnel

See note 7 July 16, 2020 Effective for a 
long time

No Yes N/A N/A

Other (binding 
measures should 
the commitments 
be violated)

The Company, 
substantial 
shareholders, 
domestic 
shareholders 
indirectly holding 
over 5% of shares, 
Directors and 
senior management 
personnel

See note 8 July 16, 2020 Effective for a 
long time

No Yes N/A N/A

Other (commitments 
on applicable laws 
and competent 
courts)

The Company, 
Directors and 
senior management 
personnel

See note 9 July 16, 2020 Effective for a 
long time

No Yes N/A N/A
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Note 1:

Commitments by substantial shareholders and domestic shareholders indirectly holding over 5% of shares

1.	 As of the date of this undertaking, the Company and subsidiaries directly or indirectly controlled by the Company have not, 

directly or indirectly, engaged in any business in any way within or outside China that constitutes peer competition or potential 

peer competition with the principal business of the issuer or its subsidiaries, including but not limited to develop, operate or assist 

in operating, participating in, and engaging in relevant businesses, not independently or in conjunction with, on behalf of any 

person, firm or company (enterprise, unit).

2.	 As of the date of this undertaking, the Company undertakes that it will not: (1) independently or with a third party, in the form 

of direct or indirect control, engage in a business or activity that constitutes peer competition or potential peer competition with 

issuer’s or its subsidiaries’ principal business that has a significant adverse impact (“competitive business”); (2) if the Company 

and its subsidiaries directly or indirectly controlled by the Company obtained new investment opportunities in any way to own 

the controlling shares, equity or interests of companies engaged in competitive business with the issuer and its subsidiaries, the 

Company will notify the issuer in writing. If within the reasonable period specified in the notice, the issuer makes a written reply 

that it is willing to accept the new investment opportunity, the Company or its subsidiaries directly or indirectly controlled by the 

Company (except the issuer and its subsidiaries) will procure as permitted by law that these new investment opportunities to be 

first provided to the issuer or its subsidiaries on reasonable and fair terms and conditions.

3.	 The undertaking takes effect from the date of making the undertaking until any of the following occurs: (1) the Company and 

parties acting in concert (if any) directly or indirectly hold less than 5% (exclusive) of the issuers’ shares; (2) the issuer’s shares 

are terminated from listing on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (except for the suspension of trading of the issuer’s shares for any 

reason); (3) when there is no statutory requirement for the content of a certain undertaking, the relevant part shall be automatically 

terminated.

4.	 For any party of the letter of undertaking, “subsidiaries” shall mean any other enterprise or entity (1) holds or controls 50% or 

more issued share capital or 50% or more voting rights, if applicable; or (2) is entitled 50% or more profits after tax; or (3) has 

the right to control the composition of the board of directors or control in any other form, regardless of whether it has legal 

personality or not, and the subsidiaries of the enterprise or entity.

If the Company fails to perform such obligations under the commitments above, the Company shall bear corresponding liabilities in 

accordance with the binding measures applicable to the failure of performance.

Note 2:

Commitments by the Company

1.	 To implement the statutory approval procedures for related (connected) transaction in strict accordance with the relevant laws and 

regulations of the place of listing, and strictly implement the related (connected) transaction avoidance system;

2.	 To ensure that independent non-executive Directors exercise their powers according to law, ensure the fairness of prices of related 

(connected) transactions and the compliance of approval procedures, and protect the interests of other shareholders to the maximum;

3.	 Where there are related (connected) transactions between the Company’s substantial shareholders and affiliates and the Company, 

it will perform related (connected) transaction decision-making procedures, and disclose information in a timely manner to ensure 

not to harm the legitimate rights and interests of the Company and other shareholders by virtue of such related (connected) 

transactions in strict accordance with the requirements of relevant laws, regulations and regulatory documents.

If the Company fails to perform such obligations under the commitments above, the Company shall bear corresponding liabilities in 

accordance with the binding measures applicable to the failure of performance.
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Commitments by substantial shareholders and domestic shareholders indirectly holding over 5% of shares

1.	 Without adversely affecting the interests of the issuer and other shareholders, the Company will take measures to regulate and 

minimize related (connected) transactions with the issuer.

2.	 For related (connected) transactions required in normal course of business, the Company will sign a standardised transaction 

agreement with the issuer according to law, fulfill or cooperate with the issuer to perform review and approval procedures and 

avoidance of voting and information disclosure obligations in accordance with relevant laws, regulations, regulatory documents 

and the requirements of issuer’s internal control systems including the Memorandum of Association and Articles of Association 

of Semiconductor Manufacturing International Corporation applicable after the A Share offering, and guarantee such related 

(connected) transactions will be implemented based on the basic principles of related (connected) transactions, such as fairness, 

impartiality and openness.

3.	 Undertakes not to harm the interests of the issuer and other shareholders by virtue of the related (connected) transactions.

If the Company fails to perform such obligations under the commitments above, the Company shall bear corresponding liabilities in 

accordance with the binding measures applicable to the failure of performance.

Commitments by Directors and senior management personnel

1.	 Without adversely affecting the interests of the issuer and other shareholders, I will take measures to regulate and minimize related 

(connected) transactions with the issuer.

2.	 For related (connected) transactions in normal course of business or unavoidable for other reasonable reasons, I will sign a regulated 

transaction agreement with the issuer according to law, fulfill review and approval procedures and avoidance of voting and 

information disclosure obligations in accordance with relevant laws, regulations, regulatory documents, the issuer’s Memorandum 

of Association and Articles of Association of Semiconductor Manufacturing International Corporation applicable after the A Share 

offering and the requirements of relevant internal control systems, and guarantee such related (connected) transactions will be 

implemented based on the principles of related (connected) transactions.

3.	 Undertakes not to harm the interests of the issuer and other shareholders by virtue of the related (connected) transactions.

The commitments made by me shall comply with applicable laws, regulations and regulatory documents, as well as the regulatory 

requirements of the securities regulatory authority and other competent authorities. In violation of the above-mentioned commitment, I 

will undertake corresponding obligations in accordance with the Letter of Commitment of Directors and Senior Management Personnel 

of Semiconductor Manufacturing International Corporation on Binding Measures when Failing to Fulfill Relevant Commitments.

Note 3:

Commitments by the Company

1.	 If securities regulatory departments or other competent departments determine that there is any misrepresentation, misleading 

statement or material omission in the contents contained in the Prospectus for the A Share offering such that there is a material and 

substantial impact on determining whether the Company meets the conditions for issuance as specified in laws, and the Company 

has obtained registration of the issuance by fraud and has the shares listed, the Company hereby undertakes to repurchase all 

new shares issued under the A Share offering in accordance with laws.

2.	 When the triggering condition for stabilizing the share price as specified in the Company’s plan for Stabilisation of the Price of 

RMB Ordinary Shares (A Shares) for the Three Years after the Initial Public Offering and Listing on the STAR Market of the Shanghai 

Stock Exchange of Semiconductor Manufacturing International Corporation is satisfied, the Company will perform its obligations 

to repurchase the shares in accordance with the provisions in such plan.

In violation of the above-mentioned commitments, the Company will undertake corresponding liabilities in accordance with its Letter of 

Commitment of Semiconductor Manufacturing International Corporation on Binding Measures when Failing to Fulfill Relevant Commitments.
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Note 4:

Commitments by the Company

1.	 The Company undertakes that the A Share offering by the issuer is not fraudulent.

2.	 If the Company obtains registration of the issuance by fraud, and has issued and listed shares when it does not meet the conditions 

for issuance and listing, the Company will start share repurchase procedures to repurchase all new shares issued under the A 

Share offering within 5 working days after being confirmed by the China Securities Regulatory Commission and other competent 

departments.

If the Company fails to perform such obligations under the commitments above, the Company shall bear corresponding liabilities in 

accordance with the binding measures applicable to the failure of performance.

Commitments by the substantial shareholders and domestic shareholders indirectly holding over 5% of shares

1.	 Undertake that the Company’s A Share issuance is not fraudulent.

2.	 If the Company obtains registration of the issuance by fraud, and has issued and listed shares when it does not meet the conditions 

for issuance and listing, urge the Company to start share repurchase procedures to repurchase all new shares issued under the A 

Share offering within 5 working days after being confirmed by the China Securities Regulatory Commission and other competent 

departments.

If the Company fails to perform such obligations under the commitments above, the Company shall bear corresponding liabilities in 

accordance with the binding measures applicable to the failure of performance.

Note 5:

Commitments by the Company

The Company will take active measures in compensation for the diluted immediate return. If it violates the relevant commitments, it will 

undertake corresponding liabilities in accordance with its Letter of Commitment of Semiconductor Manufacturing International Corporation 

on Binding Measures when Failing to Fulfill Relevant Commitments. In the meantime, the Company shall make supplementary or substitutive 

commitments to the investors, so as to protect the investors’ interests to the greatest extent possible. Such supplementary or substitutive 

commitments shall be fulfilled after being considered and approved at a general meeting.

Commitments by Directors and senior management personnel

1.	 I will not transfer any interests to other entities or individuals without consideration or with unfair conditions, nor otherwise damage 

the interests of the Company.

2.	 I will impose constraints on position-related consumption behavior.

3.	 I will not make any investment or consumption activity irrelevant to my performance of duties using the Company’s assets.

4.	 I will propel to link the remuneration policy formulated by the Board or the Compensation Committee with the implementation 

of the issuer’s remedial measures for diluted immediate returns.

5.	 In the case that any equity incentive scheme is introduced hereafter, I will actively support to link the vesting conditions of equity 

incentive with the implementation of the issuer’s remedial measures for diluted immediate returns.

6.	 During the date of this commitment to the completion of the A Share offering, if China Securities Regulatory Commission or 

the Shanghai Stock Exchange issue other new regulatory provisions on the remedial measures for diluted immediate returns and 

its commitments, and when the above commitments fail to meet the aforementioned requirements, I will make supplementary 

commitments in accordance with the aforementioned provisions.

7.	 I undertake to conscientiously fulfill the measures formulated by the issuer’s remedial measures for diluted immediate returns and 

any commitments made thereon regarding remedial measures for diluted immediate returns, in breach of such commitments and 

resulting in losses to the issuer or investors, I am willing to bear the compensation liability to the issuer or investor according to 

law.
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The commitments I made shall comply with applicable laws, regulations and regulatory documents, as well as the regulatory requirements 

of the securities regulatory authorities and other competent authorities. In violation of the above-mentioned commitment, I will undertake 

corresponding obligations in accordance with the Letter of Commitment of Directors and Senior Management Personnel of Semiconductor 

Manufacturing International Corporation on Binding Measures when Failing to Fulfill Relevant Commitments.

Note 6:

Commitments by the Company

The Company will implement the profit distribution policy strictly in accordance with the Notice on Further Implementation of Cash 

Dividends of Listed Companies issued by the China Securities Regulatory Commission, the Memorandum of Association and Articles of 

Association of Semiconductor Manufacturing International Corporation, and the Profit Distribution Policy and Dividend Return Plan for 

the Three Years after the Initial Public Offering and Listing of RMB Ordinary Shares (A Shares) on the STAR Market of the Shanghai Stock 

Exchange of Semiconductor Manufacturing International Corporation applicable after the A Share offering.

In violation of the above-mentioned commitments, the Company will undertake corresponding liabilities in accordance with its Letter of 

Commitment of Semiconductor Manufacturing International Corporation on Binding Measures when Failing to Fulfill Relevant Commitments.

Note 7:

Commitments by the Company

1.	 Contents contained in the Prospectus for the A Share offering have no misrepresentation, misleading statement or material omission, 

and the Company will be liable for the truthfulness, accuracy and completeness of the contents contained in the Prospectus.

2.	 If the China Securities Regulatory Commission or other competent departments determine(s) that there is any misrepresentation, 

misleading statement or material omission in the contents contained in the prospectus such that there is a material and substantial 

impact on determining whether the Company meets the conditions for issuance as specified in laws, and the Company has obtained 

registration of the issuance by fraud and has the shares listed, the Company hereby undertakes to repurchase all new shares issued 

under the A Share offering in accordance with laws.

3.	 In case any misrepresentation, misleading statement or material omission in the contents contained in the Prospectus leads to any 

losses of investors in securities transactions, the Company will compensate for their losses in accordance with laws. The specific 

procedures are as follows:

(1)	 When securities regulatory departments or other competent departments determine that there is any misrepresentation, 

misleading statement or material omission in the contents contained in the Prospectus such that the Company shall be 

liable, the Company will initiate relevant procedures to compensate for the losses of investors within five working days after 

receiving such written confirmation;

(2)	 The Company will communicate with the relevant intermediaries and investors actively to negotiate and confirm the scope, 

sequence, amount and form of compensation;

(3)	 After confirming the compensation amount through the above-mentioned method, or by securities regulatory departments or 

other competent departments, the Company will make compensation in the form confirmed through the above-mentioned 

method or such other forms required by laws.

In violation of the above-mentioned commitments, the Company will undertake corresponding liabilities in accordance with its Letter of 

Commitment of Semiconductor Manufacturing International Corporation on Binding Measures when Failing to Fulfill Relevant Commitments.

Commitments by substantial shareholders

1.	 Contents contained in the Prospectus for the A Share offering have no misrepresentation, misleading statement or material omission, 

and the Company will be liable for the truthfulness, accuracy and completeness of the contents contained in the Prospectus.
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2.	 In case any misrepresentation, misleading statement or material omission in the contents contained in the Prospectus leads to any 

losses of investors in securities transactions, the Company will compensate for their losses in accordance with laws. The specific 

procedures are as follows:

(1)	 When securities regulatory departments or judicial authority determine that there is any misrepresentation, misleading 

statement or material omission in the contents contained in the Prospectus such that the Company shall be liable, the 

Company will initiate relevant procedures to compensate for the losses of investors within ten working days after receiving 

such written confirmation;

(2)	 The Company will communicate with the investors actively to negotiate and confirm the scope, sequence, amount and form 

of compensation;

(3)	 After confirming the compensation amount through the above-mentioned method, or by securities regulatory departments 

or the judicial authority, the Company will make compensation accordingly.

If the Company fails to perform such obligations under the commitments above, the Company shall bear corresponding liabilities in 

accordance with the binding measures applicable to the failure of performance.

Commitments by domestic shareholders indirectly holding over 5% of shares

1.	 Contents contained in the Prospectus for the A Share offering have no misrepresentation, misleading statement or material omission, 

and the Company will be liable for the truthfulness, accuracy and completeness of the contents contained in the Prospectus.

2.	 In case any misrepresentation, misleading statement or material omission in the contents contained in the Prospectus leads to any 

losses of investors in securities transactions, the Company will compensate for their losses in accordance with laws. The specific 

procedures are as follows:

(1)	 When securities regulatory departments or judicial authority determine that there is any misrepresentation, misleading 

statement or material omission in the contents contained in the Prospectus such that the Company shall be liable, the 

Company will initiate relevant procedures to compensate for the losses of investors within three working days after receiving 

such written confirmation;

(2)	 The Company will communicate with the investors actively to negotiate and confirm the scope, sequence, amount and form 

of compensation;

(3)	 After confirming the compensation amount through the above-mentioned method, or by securities regulatory departments 

or the judicial authority, the Company will make compensation accordingly.

If the Company fails to perform such obligations under the commitments above, the Company shall bear corresponding liabilities in 

accordance with the binding measures applicable to the failure of performance.

Commitments by Directors and senior management personnel

1.	 Contents contained in the Prospectus for the A Share offering and other application documents have no misrepresentation, 

misleading statement or material omission, and I will be liable for the truthfulness, accuracy and completeness of the contents 

contained in the Prospectus.

2.	 In case any misrepresentation, misleading statement or material omission in the contents contained in the Prospectus and other 

application documents leads to any losses of investors in securities transactions, I will compensate for their losses in accordance 

with laws. The specific procedures are as follows:

(1)	 When securities regulatory departments or other competent authorities determine that there is any misrepresentation, 

misleading statement or material omission in the contents contained in the Prospectus and other application documents 

such that I shall be liable, I will initiate relevant procedures to compensate for the losses of investors within three working 

days after receiving such written confirmation;

(2)	 I will communicate with the issuer, other intermediaries and the investors actively to negotiate and confirm the scope, 

sequence, amount and form of compensation;

(3)	 After confirming the compensation amount through the above-mentioned method, or by securities regulatory departments 

or the judicial authority, I will make compensation in the form confirmed through the above-mentioned method or such 

other forms required by laws.
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The commitments made by me shall comply with applicable laws, regulations and regulatory documents, as well as the regulatory 

requirements of the securities regulatory authority and other competent authorities. In violation of the above-mentioned commitments, 

I will undertake corresponding obligations in accordance with the Letter of Commitment of Directors and Senior Management Personnel 

of Semiconductor Manufacturing International Corporation on Binding Measures when Failing to Fulfill Relevant Commitments.

Note 8:

Commitments by the Company

1.	 All public commitments made by the Company in the course of the A Share offering (hereinafter referred to as the “Company 

Commitments”) are true and binding on the Company. The Company voluntarily accepts the supervision by regulatory authorities, 

self-regulatory organisations and the public. The Company will perform all obligations and take all responsibilities under the 

Company Commitments strictly.

2.	 If the Company fails to fulfill the Company Commitments fully and effectively for reasons except force majeure, the Company 

hereby undertakes to adopt the following binding measures:

(1)	 Taking corresponding remedial measures or making new commitments (such commitments shall fulfill relevant approval 

and information disclosure procedure in accordance with laws, regulations, regulatory documents, the Memorandum of 

Association and Articles of Association of Semiconductor Manufacturing International Corporation, and the provisions in 

relevant internal control policy);

(2)	 Within 30 days after securities regulatory departments or other competent departments determine that the Company breaks 

or fails to fulfill the Company Commitments, or 30 days after determining that the investors suffer losses in securities 

transactions due to the Company’s breaking of or failure to fulfill the Commitments, the Company will compensate for the 

losses of the investors in accordance with laws. The compensation amounts shall be negotiated and confirmed by and between 

the Company and the investors, or decided or determined by means as permitted by securities regulatory departments or 

other competent departments.

Commitments by substantial shareholders and domestic shareholders indirectly holding over 5% of shares

1.	 All public commitments made by the Company in the course of the A Share offering of issuers (hereinafter referred to as the 

“Shareholders Commitments”) are true and binding on the Company. The Company voluntarily accepts the supervision by regulatory 

authorities, self-regulatory organisations and the public. The Company will perform all obligations and take all responsibilities under 

the Shareholders Commitments strictly.

2.	 If the Company fails to fulfill the Shareholders Commitments fully and effectively for reasons except force majeure, the Company 

hereby undertake to adopt the following binding measures:

(1)	 Taking corresponding remedial measures or making new commitments (such commitments shall fulfill relevant approval and 

information disclosure procedure in accordance with laws, regulations, regulatory documents, the Articles of Association, 

and the provisions in relevant internal control policy);

(2)	 If securities regulatory departments or judicial authority determine that the Company break or fail to fulfill foregoing 

Shareholders Commitments and shall assume corresponding responsibility, the Company will assume corresponding 

responsibility in accordance with laws.

Commitments by Directors and senior management personnel

1.	 All public commitments made by me in the course of the A Share offering (hereinafter referred to as the “Individual Commitments”) 

are true and binding on me. I voluntarily accept the supervision by regulatory authorities, self-regulatory organisations and the 

public. I will perform all obligations and take all responsibilities under the Individual Commitments strictly.

2.	 If I fail to fulfill the Individual Commitments fully and effectively for reasons except force majeure, I hereby undertake to adopt 

the following binding measures:

(1)	 Taking corresponding remedial measures or making new commitments (such commitments shall fulfill relevant approval 

and information disclosure procedure in accordance with laws, regulations, regulatory documents, the Memorandum of 

Association and Articles of Association of Semiconductor Manufacturing International Corporation, and the provisions in 

relevant internal control policy);
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(2)	 Within 30 days after securities regulatory departments or other competent departments determine that I break or fail to 

fulfill foregoing Individual Undertakings, or 30 days after determining that the investors suffer losses in securities transactions 

due to my breaking of or failure to fulfill the Individual Commitments, I voluntarily compensate investors in advance from 

all salary and/or allowances I received from the issuer.

Note 9:

Commitments by the Company

1.	 Any dispute arising from the initial public offering and listing of RMB Ordinary Shares (A Shares) on the STAR Market of the 

Shanghai Stock Exchange and during the listing period of the Company on STAR Market shall be governed by the laws of the 

People’s Republic of China (excluding Hong Kong Special Administrative Region, Macao Special Administrative Region and Taiwan) 

(hereinafter referred to as “China”), and be adjudicated by competent courts in China. The Company will not raise any objection 

to the above-mentioned applicable law and competent court.

2.	 The “disputes” stipulated in foregoing paragraph 1 shall include:

(1)	 where Directors or senior management personnel violate laws and regulations or the Company’s Articles of Association in 

performing their duties and cause losses to the Company, or others infringe on the legal rights and interests of the Company 

and cause losses to the Company, derivative litigation filed by shareholders who individually or collectively hold more than 

1% of the Company’s RMB Ordinary Shares (A Shares) for more than 180 consecutive days;

(2)	 where the Company fails to disclose information in accordance with regulations, or there is misrepresentation, misleading 

statement or material omission in securities issuance documents, regular reports, interim reports and other information 

disclosure materials, which causes holders of RMB Ordinary Shares (A Shares) to suffer losses in securities transactions, civil 

lawsuits filed by holders of RMB Ordinary Shares (A Shares) against the issuer and other responsible persons.

Commitments by Directors and senior management personnel

1.	 Any dispute arising from and during the A Share offering and listing and during the listing period of the Company on STAR Market 

shall be governed by the laws of the People’s Republic of China (excluding Hong Kong Special Administrative Region, Macao Special 

Administrative Region and Taiwan) (hereinafter referred to as “China”), and be adjudicated by competent courts in China.

2.	 I will not raise any objection to the above-mentioned applicable law and competent court.

II.	 THE APPOINTMENT AND DISMISSAL OF ACCOUNTING FIRMS
in USD’000

Current appointment   
Name of domestic accounting firm Ernst & Young Hua Ming LLP (Special General Partnership)
Remuneration of domestic accounting firm 588
Number of years of audit by domestic accounting firm 4 years
Name of certified public accountants of the domestic 

accounting firm
Meng Dong, Gu Fan

Accumulated term of auditing service of certified public 
accountants of domestic accounting firm

Meng Dong (4 years), Gu Fan (2 years)

Name of overseas accounting firm Ernst & Young
Remuneration of overseas accounting firm 843
Number of years of audit by overseas accounting firm 4 years
Name of certified public accountant of the overseas 

accounting firm
Ng Cheung

Term of auditing of certified public accountant of the 
overseas accounting firm

4 years
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III.	 MATERIAL LITIGATION AND ARBITRATION
On May 7, 2020, SMIC New Technology, a subsidiary of the Company, received an arbitration notice issued by the Hong 
Kong International Arbitration Center, stating that PDF filed an arbitration request with the Hong Kong International 
Arbitration Center. PDF disputed the rights and obligations of both parties under a series of agreements it entered into 
with SMIC New Technology. PDF required SMIC New Technology to pay the relevant fees under the agreements. SMIC 
New Technology has formally responded to the Hong Kong International Arbitration Center and opined that the fees it 
owed to PDF had already been fully paid in accordance with the contractual obligations and no additional fee is required. 
The arbitration is still ongoing.

IV.	 SIGNIFICANT RELATED (CONNECTED) TRANSACTIONS
(I)	 NON-EXEMPT CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS DISCLOSED UNDER THE HONG 

KONG LISTING RULES
Datang Holdings Framework Agreement – 2022 to 2024
Datang Holdings is the holding company of Datang HK, which is a substantial shareholder of the Company. Datang 
Holdings is therefore an associate of Datang HK and hence a connected person of the Company under Chapter 14A of 
the Hong Kong Listing Rules.

On February 10, 2022, the Company entered into a renewed framework agreement with Datang Holdings for a term 
of three years commencing on January 1, 2022 and ended on December 31, 2024 (the “Datang Holdings Framework 
Agreement”). For details of the transactions under the Datang Holdings Framework Agreement, please refer to the 
announcement of the Company dated February 10, 2022.

On May 12, 2022, the Directors approved to revise and adjust the annual cap for the year ended December 31, 2022 
under the Datang Holdings Framework Agreement from US$181 million to US$266 million due to the further increase 
in demand of Datang Holdings for the foundry services. Save for the aforesaid revision, all other terms and conditions 
under the Datang Holdings Framework Agreement remain unchanged. For details of the revision, please refer to the 
announcement of the Company dated May 12, 2022.

In 2024, the annual cap and actual transaction amounts generated by the Group under the Datang Holdings Framework 
Agreement are set out below.

Annual caps  
in 2024

Actual amount 
during the 

reporting period
Transactions (USD in million) (USD in million)    
The revenue generated by the Group under the Datang Holdings 

Framework Agreement
187 12

   

Conclusion
The Company has confirmed that the execution and enforcement of the agreement under the continuing connected 
transactions disclosed above in the section headed “(I) Non-exempt Continuing Connected Transactions Disclosed under 
the Hong Kong Listing Rules” have followed the relevant pricing principles of such continuing connected transactions. 
None of the transaction amounts exceeded the annual caps in 2024.

The independent non-executive Directors of the Company have confirmed to the Board that they have reviewed all non-
exempt continuing connected transactions and are of the view that:

(a)	 those transactions were entered into in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(b)	 those transactions were conducted on normal commercial terms or better; and

(c)	 those transactions were conducted in accordance with the relevant agreement governing them on terms that were 
fair and reasonable and in the interests of the shareholders of the Company as a whole.

Auditor review of continuing connected transactions
The auditor of the Company was engaged to report on the Group’s continuing connected transactions in accordance 
with the Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews 
of Historical Financial Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected 
Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The 
auditor has issued its unqualified letter containing its conclusions in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Hong Kong 
Listing Rules and confirmed that the aforesaid continuing connected transactions:

(a)	 have been approved by the Board;

(b)	 were in all material respects, in accordance with the pricing policies of the Group if the transactions involved the 
provision of goods or services by the Group;

(c)	 were entered into, in all material respects, in accordance with the relevant agreements governing the transactions; 
and

(d)	 have not exceeded the annual caps.
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(II)	 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS IN RELATION TO DAILY OPERATION
Matters that have been disclosed in provisional announcements and have developments or 
changes in subsequent implementation

Summary of the event Inquiry index   
On March 28, 2024, the Board of the Company reviewed and 

approved the Proposal on Forecast of Daily Related Transaction 
Quota in 2024.

For details, please refer to the Announcement 
on Forecast of Daily Related Transaction 
Quota in 2024 dated March 29, 2024 
published on Shanghai Securities News, 
China Securities Journal, Securities Times, 
Securities Daily, and on the website of SSE 
(https://www.sse.com.cn).  

The actual amounts during the reporting period of the daily related transactions, of which estimated amount in RMB 
are approved in the year and disclosed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange, are as follows:

Related party Related transaction

Estimated 
amount for 

2024
(RMB’000)

Actual amount 
during the 

reporting 
period

(RMB’000)

Percentage in 
the amount 

of similar 
transactions

(%)      
Semiconductor Global 

Solutions Corporation 
(“SGS”) (Note)

Purchase of goods 460 2,165 0.0
Receiving services 300 – 0.0
Leasing assets to the related 

party
2,291 1,686 0.9

Purchase of machinery and 
equipment from the related 
party

33,950 5,110 0.0

Subtotal 37,001 8,961

China Fortune-Tech 
Capital Co., Ltd. 
(“China Fortune-Tech”)

Receiving services 2,406 3,465 8.9
Leasing assets to the related 

party
3,727 6,627 3.6

Subtotal 6,133 10,092

Toppan Sensing 
Electronics (Shanghai) 
Co., Ltd. (“Toppan”)

Purchase of goods 52,329 68,189 0.5
Leasing assets to the related 

party
33,705 38,700 21.1

Subtotal 86,034 106,889

Brite Semiconductor 
(Shanghai) Co., Ltd. 
(“Brite”)

Sales of goods 520,000 382,915 0.7
Rendering services – 192 0.0
Subtotal 520,000 383,107

     

Total 649,168 509,049
     

Note:	 Semiconductor Global Solutions Corporation is no longer a related party of the Company under the SSE STAR Market Listing Rules 

since June 2024.

The actual amounts during the reporting period of the daily related transactions, of which annual caps in USD are approved 
in the previous year and disclosed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, are as follows:

Annual caps in 
2024

Actual  
amount during 

the reporting 
period

Related party Related transaction (USD in million) (USD in million)     
Datang Holdings and its related 

parties
Sales of goods and services 187 12
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V.	 MATERIAL CONTRACTS AND THE IMPLEMENTATION THEREOF
(I)	 GUARANTEES

in USD’000

External guarantees provided by the Company (excluding guarantees provided for its subsidiaries)   
Total guarantees incurred during the reporting period (excluding those provided for 

subsidiaries) –
Total balance of guarantees as at the end of the reporting period (A) (excluding those 

provided for subsidiaries) –  

Guarantees provided by the Company and its subsidiaries for its subsidiaries   
Total guarantees to subsidiaries incurred during the reporting period 267,078
Total balance of guarantees to subsidiaries as at the end of the reporting period (B) 2,846,037  

Aggregate guarantees of the Company (including those provided for subsidiaries)   
Aggregate guarantees (A+B) 2,846,037
Percentage of aggregate guarantees to equity attributable to owners of the Company (%) 13.8

Including:
Amount of guarantees provided for shareholders, de facto controller and related parties (C) –
Amount of debt guarantees directly or indirectly provided for guaranteed parties with gearing 

ratio over 70% (D) 103,632
Excess amount of aggregate guarantees over 50% of equity attributable to owners of the 

Company (E) –
Aggregate amount of the above three categories (C+D+E) 103,632  

(II)	 ENTRUSTED CASH ASSET MANAGEMENT
1.	 Entrusted wealth management

in USD’000

Type Sources of funds

Amount 
in current 
period(Note)

Outstanding 
balance

Amounts 
overdue 

but not yet 
recovered     

Structural deposits Self-owned funds 466,919 466,919 –
Monetary funds Self-owned funds 99,366 79,193 –
Private equity funds Self-owned funds 90,533 67,068 –

     

Note:	 Amount in current period is the highest daily number of such entrusted wealth management during the reporting period.
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SECTION 9    CHANGES IN SHARES AND INFORMATION OF SHAREHOLDERS

I.	 CHANGES IN SHARES
(I)	 TABLE OF CHANGES IN SHARES
1.	 Table of changes in Shares

Unit: Share

Prior to the change Increase/(decrease) in the change After the change

Number Proportion (%)
Issuance of 
new shares

Shares 
dividend

Conversion 
of capital 

reserves into 
share capital Others Sub-total Number Proportion (%)           

I.	 Tradable shares not subject to selling restrictions 7,946,555,760 100.00 14,749,957 – – 14,844,249 29,594,206 7,976,149,966 100.00
1.	 RMB Ordinary Shares 1,973,609,172 24.84 14,749,957 – – – 14,749,957 1,988,359,129 24.93
2.	 Overseas-listed foreign shares (2) 5,972,946,588 75.16 – – – 14,844,249 14,844,249 5,987,790,837 75.07

II.	 Total shares 7,946,555,760 100.00 14,749,957 – – 14,844,249 29,594,206 7,976,149,966 100.00          

Notes:

(1)	 This table does not include the impact of refinancing business on share changes.

(2)	 Overseas-listed foreign shares in this table are ordinary shares listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.

2.	 Description of changes in shares
(1)	 The change of the Company’s A-share capital is due to the listing and trading of 14,749,957 Restricted Shares 

vested during the third vesting period of the first grant and the second attribution period of the reserved grant 
of the 2021 STAR Market Restricted Share Incentive Scheme of the Company on September 11, 2024. For details, 
please refer to the Announcement on the Vesting Results of the Third Vesting Period of the First Grant and the 
Second Vesting Period of the Reserved Grant of the 2021 STAR Market Restricted Share Incentive Scheme and the 
Listing of Shares of SMIC (2024-018) on September 7, 2024.

(2)	 During the reporting period, the number of Hong Kong shares increased by 14,844,249 shares due to the new 
shares issued under the Hong Kong share incentive plans.

3.	 The impact (if any) of share changes on financial indicators, such as earnings per share 
and equity per share for the most recent year and period

During the reporting period, the Company’s share capital increased due to the vesting of STAR Market restricted shares 
and the new shares issued under the Hong Kong share incentive plans. The change has no significant impact on financial 
indicators, such as earnings per share and net assets per share.

(II)	 REPURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY
During the reporting period, neither the Company nor its subsidiaries had conducted any repurchase, sale or redemption 
of any ordinary shares (including sale of treasury shares, as defined under the Hong Kong Listing Rules). As at December 
31, 2024, there were no treasury shares held by the Company.

II.	 ISSUANCE AND LISTING OF SECURITIES
(I)	 ISSUANCE OF SECURITIES DURING THE REPORTING PERIOD

Unit: Share

Type of shares and derivative securities Issue date Issue price Issue amounts Listing date

Amounts 
approved for 

listing
Ending date for 

transaction        
RMB Ordinary Shares (A Shares) September 6, 2024  RMB20 14,749,957 September 11, 2024 14,749,957 /       

The above table only lists the issurance of the Company’s A Shares. For details on the changes in the total number of 
the Company’s shares, please refer to “I. Changes in Shares” in this section.

(II)	 CHANGES IN THE TOTAL NUMBER OF SHARES AND SHAREHOLDER STRUCTURE OF THE 
COMPANY AND CHANGES IN THE COMPANY’S ASSET AND LIABILITY STRUCTURE

For details on the changes in the total number of the Company’s shares, please refer to “I. Changes in Shares” in this 
section.
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III.	 PARTICULARS OF SHAREHOLDERS AND DE FACTO CONTROLLERS
(I)	 TOTAL NUMBER OF SHAREHOLDERS
  

Total number of shareholders of ordinary shares as of the end of the reporting period(1) 263,374
Total number of shareholders of ordinary shares as at the end of the month preceding the day when the annual report was disclosed(2) 248,801  

Notes:

(1)	 As at the end of the reporting period, 263,374 registered shareholders consist of 251,964 shareholders holding A Shares and 
11,410 shareholders holding Hong Kong Shares.

(2)	 As of February 28, 2025, 248,801 registered shareholders consist of 237,788 shareholders holding A Shares and 11,013 shareholders 
holding Hong Kong Shares.

(II)	 SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS
As at December 31, 2024, the following persons (other than the Directors and chief executives of the Company) had 
interests or short positions in 5% or more of the issued shares and underlying shares which are required to be disclosed 
to the Company pursuant to the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or which are recorded in the 
register required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO:

Unit: Share

Name of shareholders Nature of interests Long/short position
Number of ordinary 

shares held

Percentage 
of ordinary 
shares held 

to total 
issued share 

capital(1) Derivatives
Total 

interests

Percentage 
of total 

interests 
to total 

issued share 
capital(1)

Held directly Held indirectly          
China Information and 

Communication Technology 
Group Co., Ltd. and related 
stakeholders

China Information and 
Communication Technology 
Group Co., Ltd.

Interest of corporation 
controlled

Long Position 72,470,855(2) 1,116,852,595(2) 14.91% – 1,189,323,450 14.91%

Datang Holdings (Hongkong) 
Investment Company Limited

Beneficial owner Long Position 1,116,852,595(2) – 14.00% – 1,116,852,595 14.00%

         

China Integrated Circuit 
Industry Investment Fund 
Co., Ltd. and related 
stakeholders

China Integrated Circuit Industry 
Investment Fund Co., Ltd.

Interest of corporation 
controlled

Long Position – 617,214,804(3) 7.74% – 617,214,804 7.74%

Xinxin (Hongkong) Capital 
Co., Ltd.

Beneficial owner Long Position 617,214,804(3) – 7.74% – 617,214,804 7.74%

         

Notes:

(1)	 Based on 7,976,149,966 shares in issue as at December 31, 2024.

(2)	 1,116,852,595 shares are held by Datang HK which is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Datang Holdings, which in turn is wholly-owned 
by CICT. In addition, CICT directly holds 72,470,855 Ordinary Shares denominated in RMB, for a total of 1,189,323,450 shares.

(3)	 617,214,804 shares are held by Xinxin HK, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Xunxin (Shanghai) Investment Co., Ltd., which in turn is 
wholly-owned by China IC Fund.

(III)	 PARTICULARS OF SHAREHOLDINGS OF THE TOP TEN SHAREHOLDERS AND THE TOP TEN 
FLOATING SHAREHOLDERS (OR SHAREHOLDERS NOT SUBJECT TO SELLING RESTRICTIONS) 
AS OF THE END OF THE REPORTING PERIOD

1.	 As of the end of the reporting period, the Company had issued 5,987,790,837 shares in Hong Kong, accounting 
for approximately 75.07% of the total share capital of the Company and 1,988,359,129 shares in SSE STAR Market, 
accounting for approximately 24.93% of the total share capital of the Company.

2.	 The Company’s register of members in Hong Kong consists of HKSCC NOMINEES LIMITED and other registered 
shareholders, among which, shares held by HKSCC NOMINEES LIMITED on behalf of non-registered shareholders 
account for approximately 99.8% of the Company’s Hong Kong Shares; shares held by other registered shareholders 
account for approximately 0.2% of the Company’s Hong Kong Shares.

3.	 Pursuant to the Hong Kong Securities and Futures Ordinance, shareholders holding interests in 5% or more of 
any class of voting shares of the Company are required to make their own declaration of interests. According 
to the declaration of shareholders’ interests, Datang HK held 1,116,852,595 Hong Kong Shares and Xinxin HK 
held 617,214,804 Hong Kong Shares. The Company has excluded the number of shares held by the aforesaid 
shareholders from the number of shares held by HKSCC NOMINEES LIMITED.
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4.	 Nature of A shareholders is reported according to the nature of holders of shares as set out in the A Share register 
of China Clearing.

Unit: Share

Particulars of shareholdings of top 10 shareholders (excluding shares lent through securities financing)

Name of shareholders

Increase/
(decrease) 
during the 

reporting 
period

Number 
of shares 

held at the 
end of the 

reporting 
period

Percentage 
(%)

Number of 
shares held 
with selling 
restrictions

 
 
 

Pledged, marked or frozen

Nature of shareholders
Status of 

shares Number         
HKSCC NOMINEES LIMITED 14,887,764 4,241,825,322 53.18 – Nil – Unknown
Datang Holdings (Hongkong) Investment Company Limited – 1,116,852,595 14.00 – Nil – Overseas legal person
Xinxin (Hongkong) Capital Co., Ltd. – 617,214,804 7.74 – Nil – Overseas legal person
China Integrated Circuit Industry Investment Fund (Phase II) Co., Ltd. – 127,458,120 1.60 – Nil – Others
China Merchants Bank Co., Ltd. – ChinaAMC SSE STAR 50 Exchange 

Traded Funds* ( 50
)

(93,762,559) 114,589,555 1.44 – Nil – Others

China Information and Communication Technology Group Co., Ltd. – 72,470,855 0.91 – Nil – State-owned legal person
Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited – E Fund SSE STAR 

50 Exchange Traded Funds* ( 50
)

13,386,547 68,896,936 0.86 – Nil – Others

Hong Kong Securities Clearing Company Ltd. 32,372,345 39,681,173 0.50 – Nil – Others
Industrial and Commercial Bank of China – SSE 50 Exchange-Traded 

Open-End Index Securities Investment Fund* ( 50
)

13,309,286 37,356,723 0.47 – Nil – Others

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited – Huatai-PineBridge 
CSI 300 Exchange-traded Open-ended Index Securities Investment 
Fund* ( 300 )

19,549,800 34,399,236 0.43 – Nil – Others

        

Particulars of shareholding of top 10 shareholders not subject to selling restrictions (excluding shares lent through securities financing)

Name of shareholders
Number of tradable shares held 

without selling restrictions
Type and number of shares

Type Number     
HKSCC NOMINEES LIMITED 4,241,825,322 Overseas listed foreign shares 4,241,825,322
Datang Holdings (Hongkong) Investment Company Limited 1,116,852,595 Overseas listed foreign shares 1,116,852,595
Xinxin (Hongkong) Capital Co., Ltd. 617,214,804 Overseas listed foreign shares 617,214,804
China Integrated Circuit Industry Investment Fund (Phase II) Co., Ltd. 127,458,120 RMB Ordinary Shares 127,458,120
China Merchants Bank Co., Ltd. – ChinaAMC SSE STAR 50 Exchange Traded 

Funds* ( 50 )
114,589,555 RMB Ordinary Shares 114,589,555

China Information and Communication Technology Group Co., Ltd. 72,470,855 RMB Ordinary Shares 72,470,855
Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited – E Fund SSE STAR 50 

Exchange Traded Funds* ( 50
)

68,896,936 RMB Ordinary Shares 68,896,936

Hong Kong Securities Clearing Company Ltd. 39,681,173 RMB Ordinary Shares 39,681,173
Industrial and Commercial Bank of China – SSE 50 Exchange-Traded Open-End 

Index Securities Investment Fund* ( 50 )
37,356,723 RMB Ordinary Shares 37,356,723

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited – Huatai-PineBridge CSI 300 
Exchange-traded Open-ended Index Securities Investment Fund* (

300 )

34,399,236 RMB Ordinary Shares 34,399,236

Explanations on affiliated relationship or parties acting in concert among the 
abovementioned shareholders

1.	 Datang HK is a wholly-owned subsidiary of CICT.

2.	 Xinxin HK is a wholly-owned subsidiary of China IC Fund.

3.	 Zhang Xin ( ), Li Guohua ( ), Tang Xuefeng ( ) and Yang Gaofeng ( ), directors of  
China IC Fund, also serve as the directors of China IC Fund II. Supervisors Qin Bin ( ) and Lu Wei ( ) 
also serve as supervisors of China IC Fund II, and director Fan Bing ( ) also serves as the supervisor of 
China IC Fund II.

4.	 As the fund manager, Sino IC Capital Co., Ltd. manages China IC Fund and China IC Fund II in accordance 
with the respective entrusted management agreements.

5.	 China IC Fund and China IC Fund II have some of the same shareholders.

6.	 HKSCC NOMINEES LIMITED is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Hong Kong Securities Clearing Company Ltd.

Apart from these, the Company does not know whether the other shareholders mentioned above have affiliated 
relationship or parties acting in concert.    
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Shares lent through securities refinancing by shareholders holding over 5% of shares, top 10 shareholders and  
top 10 shareholders holding unrestricted tradable shares 

Name of shareholders

General and credit account 
holdings at the beginning  

of reporting period

Shares lent through  
securities financing at the 

beginning of the period and 
have not been returned

General and credit account 
holdings at the end of 

reporting period

Shares lent through  
securities financing at  

the end of the period and  
have not been returned

Total 
number of 

shares
Percentage 

(%)

Total 
number of 

shares
Percentage 

(%)

Total 
number of 

shares
Percentage 

(%)

Total 
number of 

shares
Percentage 

(%)

China Merchants Bank Co., 
Ltd. – ChinaAMC SSE STAR 50 
Exchange Traded Funds* (

50
)

208,352,114 2.62 2,708,300 0.03 114,589,555 1.44 – –

Industrial and Commercial Bank of 
China Limited – E Fund SSE STAR 
50 Exchange Traded Funds*  
( 50

)

55,510,389 0.70 566,300 0.01 68,896,936 0.86 – –

Industrial and Commercial Bank 
of China – SSE 50 Exchange-
Traded Open-End Index Securities 
Investment Fund* ( 50

)

24,047,437 0.30 169,900 0.002 37,356,723 0.47 – –

Industrial and Commercial Bank 
of China Limited – Huatai-
PineBridge CSI 300 Exchange-
traded Open-ended Index 
Securities Investment Fund* (

300
)

14,849,436 0.19 10,500 0.0001 34,399,236 0.43 – –

         

(IV)	 STRATEGIC INVESTORS OR GENERAL LEGAL PERSONS BECOMING TOP 10 SHAREHOLDERS 
BECAUSE OF THE NEW SHARE PLACING/DEPOSITARY RECEIPTS

Name of strategic investors or general legal 
persons

Stipulated start date of 
shareholding

Stipulated end date of 
shareholding    

China Integrated Circuit Industry Investment Fund 
(Phase II) Co., Ltd.

July 16, 2020 Nil

China Information and Communication Technology 
Group Co., Ltd.

July 16, 2020 Nil

Explanation on agreed shareholding period of strategic 
investors or general legal persons participating in 
placing of new shares

The lock-up period was within twelve months from the date 
of initial public offering of shares and listing on SSE STAR 
Market.   

IV.	 CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER AND DE FACTO CONTROLLER
During the reporting period, the shareholding of any single shareholder of the Company is below 30%. The number of 
Directors nominated by each shareholder is less than 1/2 of the total number of Directors. There are no circumstances in 
which a single shareholder may determine the selection of more than half of the Company’s Board by actually controlling 
the voting rights of the Company’s shares, or has a significant impact on the resolutions of the general meeting, and 
there is no relationship or concerted relationship between the substantial shareholders of the Company. Therefore, the 
Company does not have a controlling shareholder or a de facto controller.

V.	 OTHER LEGAL PERSON SHAREHOLDERS HOLDING 10% OR MORE OF SHARES

Name of legal person shareholder

Person in 
charge or legal 
representative of 
the unit

Date of 
establishment Organization code Registered capital

Principal activities or 
management activities       

China Information and Communication Technology Group Co., Ltd. Lu Guoqing August 15, 2018 91420100MA4L0GG411 RMB30 billion Information and Communication
Datang Holdings (Hongkong) Investment Company Limited Xiaoxia Shao December 3, 2008 N/A HKD1,000 Investment holding

      

Note:	 For details of shareholding, please refer to “III. (II) Substantial shareholders” in this section.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Ernst & Young
27/F, One Taikoo Place
979 King’s Road
Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

979
27

Tel : +852 2846 9888
Fax : +852 2868 4432
ey.com

To the shareholders of Semiconductor Manufacturing International Corporation
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Semiconductor Manufacturing International Corporation (the 
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 95 to 156, which comprise the consolidated statement of 
financial position as at December 31, 2024, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, 
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and 
notes to the consolidated financial statements, including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the 
Group as at December 31, 2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year 
then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by the International Accounting 
Standards Board (“IASB”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong 
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (“ISAs”) issued by the International Auditing 
and Assurance Standards Board. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities 
for the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance 
with the Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public 
Accountants, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion 
on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial 
statements section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of 
procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. 
The results of our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for 
our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial statements.
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Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter
  

Fair value measurement of a joint venture and 

associates’ portfolio investments

Acting as a limited partner, the Group has invested in a number 
of portfolio investments through several investment funds, 
which were accounted for as investments in a joint venture 
or associates using equity method. The investment funds 
measured their portfolio investments at fair value.

The valuation of such portfolio investments is primarily 
based on a combination of adoption of applicable valuation 
methodology and application of appropriate assumptions in the 
valuation. The Group has applied various valuation techniques 
to determine the fair values of portfolio investments. These 
valuation techniques, particularly those requiring significant 
unobservable inputs, usually involve management’s judgement 
and assumptions. Valuation results can vary significantly when 
different valuation techniques and assumptions are applied.

Due to the significance of the balance of the investment funds, 
the quantity of the Group’s joint venture and associates’ 
portfolio investments, the degree of complexity involved 
in valuing portfolio investments and the significant degree 
of judgement exercised by management in determining 
the valuation methodology and assumptions used in the 
valuation process, fair value measurement of a joint venture 
and associates’ portfolio investments is considered a key audit 
matter.

Relevant disclosures are included in Note 4, Note 5 and Note 
20 to the consolidated financial statements.

Our audit procedures included, among others,

Obtaining an understanding of the management’s internal 
control and assessment process of fair value measurement of a 
joint venture and associates’ portfolio investments, evaluating 
the design and operating effectiveness of key controls over 
the valuation of fair value measurement of a joint venture and 
associates’ portfolio investments;

Evaluating the Group’s methodology valuing the investment 
funds and the significant assumptions used with the assistance 
of our valuation specialists, and testing the accuracy of 
mathematical calculation applied in the valuation models. We 
performed the following procedures on a sample basis:

•	 for portfolio investments that traded in active markets, 
we assessed the fair values by comparing the fair value 
of the investments with publicly available market data;

•	 for portfolio investments that had recent equity 
transactions, we assessed the fair values by reading 
the recent investment agreements, understanding the 
relevant investment terms and comparing the fair values 
of investments with the transaction prices specified in 
the related agreements;

•	 for portfolio investments that did not have direct open 
market value or recent equity transaction, we assessed 
the appropriateness of the valuation methodology (e.g., 
market approach) adopted and the key assumptions in 
the valuation based on our industry knowledge as well 
as the information of comparable companies.

OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL REPORT
The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information 
included in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form 
of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, 
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our 
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, 
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have 
nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and 
fair view in accordance with IFRSs issued by IASB and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and 
for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements 
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern 
basis of accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have 
no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the 
Group’s financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Our 
report is made solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability 
to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will 
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material 
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on 
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout 
the audit. We also:

•	 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is 
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, 
or the override of internal control.

•	 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal 
control.

•	 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 
disclosures made by the directors.

•	 Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit 
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt 
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required 
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such 
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the 
date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going 
concern.

•	 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, 
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that 
achieves fair presentation.

•	 Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of 
the entities or business units within the Group as a basis for forming an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. 
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and review of the audit work performed for purposes of the group 
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and 
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding 
independence and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on 
our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the 
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these 
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely 
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences 
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Cheung Ng.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong
March 27, 2025
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SEMICONDUCTOR MANUFACTURING INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the year ended December 31, 2024

Notes 2024 2023
    

Revenue 6 8,029,921 6,321,560

Cost of sales (6,581,953) (5,103,816)
    

Gross profit 1,447,968 1,217,744

Research and development expenses (765,279) (707,275)

Selling and marketing expenses (39,847) (36,162)

General and administration expenses (580,041) (482,262)

Impairment losses on financial assets, net 36 (107) 1,255

Other operating income 7 411,206 364,447
    

Profit from operations 473,900 357,747

Interest income 546,061 736,591

Finance costs 8 (297,111) (209,424)

Foreign exchange gain 11,261 11,155

Other gains, net 9 96,837 262,591

Share of profit of associates and a joint venture 28,610 28,789
    

Profit before tax 859,558 1,187,449

Income tax expense 10 (129,565) (62,514)
    

Profit for the year 11 729,993 1,124,935
    

Other comprehensive income

Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods
Exchange differences on translating foreign operations (8,481) (35,068)

Cash flow hedges 28 (92,569) (80,633)
    

Total comprehensive income for the year 628,943 1,009,234
    

Profit for the year attributable to:

Owners of the Company 492,748 902,526

Non-controlling interests 237,245 222,409
    

729,993 1,124,935
    

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to:

Owners of the Company 391,704 786,893

Non-controlling interests 237,239 222,341
    

628,943 1,009,234
    

Earnings per share

Basic 14 $0.06 $0.11

Diluted 14 $0.06 $0.11
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SEMICONDUCTOR MANUFACTURING INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION  
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As of December 31, 2024

(In USD’000)

Notes 2024 2023
    

Assets

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 16 28,092,037 23,944,961

Right-of-use assets 17 432,148 473,797

Intangible assets 18 24,268 33,662

Investments in associates 20 1,252,507 2,042,671

Investment in a joint venture 20 13 2,295

Deferred tax assets 10 29,212 13,194

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 21 427,373 481,969

Financial assets at amortised cost 21 3,747,134 6,891,233

Derivative financial instruments 21 – 12,087

Restricted cash 23 372,514 256,071

Other assets 327 209
    

Total non-current assets 34,377,533 34,152,149
    

Current assets
Inventories 24 2,958,350 2,735,921

Prepayment and prepaid operating expenses 56,394 106,154

Trade and other receivables 25 840,153 1,170,008

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 21 272,257 214,629

Financial assets at amortised cost 21 4,206,926 2,948,991

Derivative financial instruments 21 66,054 42,836

Restricted cash 23 – 179,536

Cash and cash equivalents 21 6,364,189 6,215,058
    

14,764,323 13,613,133

Assets classified as held-for-sale 26 19,392 22,030
    

Total current assets 14,783,715 13,635,163
    

Total assets 49,161,248 47,787,312
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SEMICONDUCTOR MANUFACTURING INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION  
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As of December 31, 2024

(In USD’000)

SMIC  |  2024 ANNUAL REPORT

Notes 2024 2023
    

Equity and liabilities

Capital and reserves
Ordinary shares 27 31,905 31,786

Share premium 27 14,266,359 14,117,072

Other reserves 28 142,470 286,917

Retained earnings 29 6,173,075 5,680,327
    

Equity attributable to owners of the Company 20,613,809 20,116,102

Non-controlling interests 11,255,849 10,729,514
    

Total equity 31,869,658 30,845,616
    

Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 30 8,038,148 8,334,648

Lease liabilities 17 7,751 26,280

Bonds payable 31 – 599,115

Deferred tax liabilities 10 73,627 38,913

Deferred income 32 374,801 306,611

Derivative financial instruments 22 37,576 34,547
    

Total non-current liabilities 8,531,903 9,340,114
    

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 33 3,280,365 3,727,922

Contract liabilities 6 1,185,932 2,053,222

Borrowings 30 2,926,311 1,216,283

Lease liabilities 17 18,529 32,340

Bonds payable 31 605,258 –

Deferred income 32 198,645 173,097

Accrued liabilities 34 361,954 298,022

Derivative financial instruments 22 97,865 90,180

Current tax liabilities 84,828 10,516
    

Total current liabilities 8,759,687 7,601,582
    

Total liabilities 17,291,590 16,941,696
    

Total equity and liabilities 49,161,248 47,787,312
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SEMICONDUCTOR MANUFACTURING INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the year ended December 31, 2024

Ordinary 

shares

Share  

premium

Equity-settled 

employee 

benefit reserve

Foreign 

currency 

translation 

reserve

Cash flow 

hedges reserve Others

Retained 

earnings

Equity attributable 

to owner of the 

Company

Non-controlling 

interests Total equity

(Note 27) (Note 27) (Note 28) (Note 28) (Note 28) (Note 29)
            

As at January 1, 2023 31,651 13,963,465 142,754 (102,325) 94,933 241,697 4,777,801 19,149,976 9,811,445 28,961,421
            

Profit for the year – – – – – – 902,526 902,526 222,409 1,124,935

Other comprehensive income for the year – – – (35,000) (80,633) – – (115,633) (68) (115,701)
            

Total comprehensive income for the year – – – (35,000) (80,633) – 902,526 786,893 222,341 1,009,234
            

Issue of shares under share incentive plans 135 153,607 (96,965) – – – – 56,777 – 56,777

Share-based compensation – – 75,192 – – – – 75,192 11,693 86,885

Share of other capital reserve of associates – – – – – 6,204 – 6,204 – 6,204

Capital injection from non-controlling interests – – – – – – – – 725,095 725,095

Dilution of interests in subsidiaries – – – – – 41,060 – 41,060 (41,060) –
            

Subtotal 135 153,607 (21,773) – – 47,264 – 179,233 695,728 874,961
            

As at December 31, 2023 and  

January 1, 2024 31,786 14,117,072 120,981 (137,325) 14,300 288,961 5,680,327 20,116,102 10,729,514 30,845,616
            

Profit for the year – – – – – – 492,748 492,748 237,245 729,993

Other comprehensive income for the year – – – (8,475) (92,569) – – (101,044) (6) (101,050)
            

Total comprehensive income for the year – – – (8,475) (92,569) – 492,748 391,704 237,239 628,943
            

Issue of shares under share incentive plans 119 149,287 (97,209) – – – – 52,197 – 52,197

Share-based compensation – – 44,846 – – – – 44,846 5,660 50,506

Share of other capital reserve of associates – – – – – 17,481 – 17,481 – 17,481

Capital injection from non-controlling interests – – – – – – – – 281,865 281,865

Dilution of interests in subsidiaries – – – – – (8,521) – (8,521) 8,521 –

Payments for non-controlling interest – – – – – – – – (6,950) (6,950)
            

Subtotal 119 149,287 (52,363) – – 8,960 – 106,003 289,096 395,099
            

As at December 31, 2024 31,905 14,266,359 68,618(1) (145,800)(1) (78,269)(1) 297,921(1) 6,173,075 20,613,809 11,255,849 31,869,658
            

(1)	 These reserve accounts comprise the other reserves of US$142,470 thousand (December 31, 2023: US$286,917 thousand) in the consolidated 
statement of financial position. 
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SEMICONDUCTOR MANUFACTURING INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the year ended December 31, 2024

Ordinary 

shares

Share  

premium

Equity-settled 

employee 

benefit reserve

Foreign 

currency 

translation 

reserve

Cash flow 

hedges reserve Others

Retained 

earnings

Equity attributable 

to owner of the 

Company

Non-controlling 

interests Total equity

(Note 27) (Note 27) (Note 28) (Note 28) (Note 28) (Note 29)
            

As at January 1, 2023 31,651 13,963,465 142,754 (102,325) 94,933 241,697 4,777,801 19,149,976 9,811,445 28,961,421
            

Profit for the year – – – – – – 902,526 902,526 222,409 1,124,935

Other comprehensive income for the year – – – (35,000) (80,633) – – (115,633) (68) (115,701)
            

Total comprehensive income for the year – – – (35,000) (80,633) – 902,526 786,893 222,341 1,009,234
            

Issue of shares under share incentive plans 135 153,607 (96,965) – – – – 56,777 – 56,777

Share-based compensation – – 75,192 – – – – 75,192 11,693 86,885

Share of other capital reserve of associates – – – – – 6,204 – 6,204 – 6,204

Capital injection from non-controlling interests – – – – – – – – 725,095 725,095

Dilution of interests in subsidiaries – – – – – 41,060 – 41,060 (41,060) –
            

Subtotal 135 153,607 (21,773) – – 47,264 – 179,233 695,728 874,961
            

As at December 31, 2023 and  

January 1, 2024 31,786 14,117,072 120,981 (137,325) 14,300 288,961 5,680,327 20,116,102 10,729,514 30,845,616
            

Profit for the year – – – – – – 492,748 492,748 237,245 729,993

Other comprehensive income for the year – – – (8,475) (92,569) – – (101,044) (6) (101,050)
            

Total comprehensive income for the year – – – (8,475) (92,569) – 492,748 391,704 237,239 628,943
            

Issue of shares under share incentive plans 119 149,287 (97,209) – – – – 52,197 – 52,197

Share-based compensation – – 44,846 – – – – 44,846 5,660 50,506

Share of other capital reserve of associates – – – – – 17,481 – 17,481 – 17,481

Capital injection from non-controlling interests – – – – – – – – 281,865 281,865

Dilution of interests in subsidiaries – – – – – (8,521) – (8,521) 8,521 –

Payments for non-controlling interest – – – – – – – – (6,950) (6,950)
            

Subtotal 119 149,287 (52,363) – – 8,960 – 106,003 289,096 395,099
            

As at December 31, 2024 31,905 14,266,359 68,618(1) (145,800)(1) (78,269)(1) 297,921(1) 6,173,075 20,613,809 11,255,849 31,869,658
            

(1)	 These reserve accounts comprise the other reserves of US$142,470 thousand (December 31, 2023: US$286,917 thousand) in the consolidated 
statement of financial position. 
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SEMICONDUCTOR MANUFACTURING INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the year ended December 31, 2024

Notes 2024 2023
    

Operating activities

Profit for the year 729,993 1,124,935

Adjustments for:

Income tax expense 10 129,565 62,514

Depreciation and amortisation 11 3,223,063 2,667,291

Equity-settled share-based payment expense 11 50,506 86,885

Interest income (546,061) (736,591)

Finance costs 8 297,111 209,424

Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment and assets 

classified as held-for-sale 7 (18,513) (858)

Gain on disposal of associates 9 (95,668) (216,967)

Recognition of impairment losses 11 74,269 188,283

Fair value gains, net and dividend income from financial assets 9 (2,090) (51,265)

Net loss on foreign exchange from non-operating activities 13,930 259,936

Share of profit of associates and a joint venture (28,610) (28,789)

Others 7,204 965
    

3,834,699 3,565,763

Adjustments for the movements in working capital:

Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables 323,804 (30,608)

Increase in inventories (296,590) (1,013,972)

Decrease in restricted cash relating to operating activities 46 23,575

Decrease in other operating assets 49,642 49,882

(Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables (88,874) 465,987

(Decrease)/increase in contract liabilities (867,290) 76,164

Increase/(decrease) in deferred income 93,738 (70,907)

Increase/(decrease) in other operating liabilities 75,976 (10,217)
    

Cash generated from operations 3,125,151 3,055,667

Interest paid (205,958) (210,951)

Interest received 304,667 496,399

Income taxes (paid)/returned (48,305) 17,179
    

Net cash generated from operating activities 3,175,555 3,358,294
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SEMICONDUCTOR MANUFACTURING INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION  
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the year ended December 31, 2024

2024 2023
    

Investing activities

Acquisition of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (807,401) (1,213,359)

Proceeds from sale of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 795,377 1,124,834

Acquisition of financial assets at amortised cost (855,710) (6,610,647)

Proceeds from maturity of financial assets at amortised cost 2,939,764 7,836,620

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment (7,664,215) (7,630,407)

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment and assets 

classified as held-for-sale 29,205 3,590

Acquisition of intangible assets (5,592) (2,222)

Acquisition of land-use right (84) (818)

Capital injection in associates (74,516) (110,052)

Proceeds from sale of equity interests in associates and a joint venture 1,006,426 208,544

Dividends received from associates 2,985 8,934

Guarantee deposits refunded/(paid) 24,136 (24,168)

Proceeds from settlement of derivative financial instruments 91,188 201,579
    

Net cash used in investing activities (4,518,437) (6,207,572)
    

Financing activities

Proceeds from borrowings 3,412,203 4,657,043

Repayment of borrowings (1,873,404) (2,918,575)

Repayment of the principal portion of the lease liabilities (32,345) (51,981)

Proceeds from issue of shares under share incentive plans 52,197 56,777

Capital injection from non-controlling interests 281,865 725,095

Payments for non-controlling interest (6,950) –

Guarantee deposits refunded – 21,032

Payments for settlement of derivative financial instruments (225,230) (23,053)
    

Net cash generated from financing activities 1,608,336 2,466,338
    

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 265,454 (382,940)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 6,215,058 6,932,587

Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (116,323) (334,589)
    

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 6,364,189 6,215,058
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended December 31, 2024

1.	 GENERAL INFORMATION
The Company was established under the laws of the Cayman Islands on April 3, 2000. The Company’s ordinary shares 
are listed on the mainboard of Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and the SSE STAR Market, respectively. The address 
of the principal place of business is 18 Zhangjiang Road, Pudong New Area, Shanghai, China, 201203. The registered 
address is at Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111 Cayman Islands.

The Company is an investment holding company. The subsidiaries of the Company are engaged in the manufacture 
and testing of integrated circuits wafer (silicon wafers and various compound semiconductors), the rendering of the 
development, design and technical services related to integrated circuits, the manufacture of photomask, the testing and 
sale of self-produced products, and other services. The subsidiaries and their activities are set out in Note 19.

2.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with all applicable International Financial Reporting 
Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and the disclosure requirements of 
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for certain 
equity investments, monetary funds and derivative financial instruments which have been measured at fair value. Assets 
classified as held-for-sale are stated at the lower of their carrying amounts and fair values less costs to sell as further 
explained in Note 4.

These financial statements are presented in United States dollars (“USD”) and all values are rounded to the nearest 
thousand except when otherwise indicated.

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION
The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) 
for the year ended December 31, 2024. A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity), directly or indirectly, 
controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its 
involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee (i.e., existing 
rights that give the Group the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights results in control. When the Company has less than 
a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in 
assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

•	 the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee;

•	 rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

•	 the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the Company, using consistent 
accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains control, and 
continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the 
Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. 
All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between members 
of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes 
to one or more of the three elements of control described above. A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, 
without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the related assets (including goodwill), liabilities, any non-
controlling interest and the exchange fluctuation reserve; and recognises the fair value of any investment retained 
and any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share of components previously recognised in other 
comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on the same basis as would be 
required if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

3.	 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES
IFRSS MANDATORILY EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR
The Group has adopted the following revised IFRSs for the first time for the current year’s financial statements.

  

Amendments to IFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback
Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current  

(the “2020 Amendments”)
Amendments to IAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants  

(the “2022 Amendments”)
Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7 Supplier Finance Arrangements
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3.	 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES (continued)
IFRSS MANDATORILY EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR (continued)
The nature and the impact of the revised IFRSs are described below:

Amendments to IFRS 16 specify the requirements that a seller-lessee uses in measuring the lease liability arising in a 
sale and leaseback transaction to ensure the seller-lessee does not recognise any amount of the gain or loss that relates 
to the right of use it retains. Since the Group has no sale and leaseback transactions with variable lease payments that 
do not depend on an index or a rate occurring from the date of initial application of IFRS 16, the amendments did not 
have any impact on the financial position or performance of the Group.

The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements for classifying liabilities as current or non-current, including what is meant 
by a right to defer settlement and that a right to defer must exist at the end of the reporting period. Classification of 
a liability is unaffected by the likelihood that the entity will exercise its right to defer settlement. The amendments also 
clarify that a liability can be settled in its own equity instruments, and that only if a conversion option in a convertible 
liability is itself accounted for as an equity instrument would the terms of a liability not impact its classification. The 
2022 Amendments further clarify that, among covenants of a liability arising from a loan arrangement, only those with 
which an entity must comply on or before the reporting date affect the classification of that liability as current or non-
current. Additional disclosures are required for non-current liabilities that are subject to the entity complying with future 
covenants within 12 months after the reporting period. The Group has reassessed the terms and conditions of its liabilities 
as at 1 January 2023 and 2024 and concluded that the classification of its liabilities as current or non-current remained 
unchanged upon initial application of the 2020 Amendments and 2022 Amendments. Accordingly, the amendments did 
not have any impact on the financial position or performance of the Group.

Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7 clarify the characteristics of supplier finance arrangements and require additional 
disclosure of such arrangements. The disclosure requirements in the amendments are intended to assist users of financial 
statements in understanding the effects of supplier finance arrangements on an entity’s liabilities, cash flows and exposure 
to liquidity risk. As the Group does not have supplier finance arrangements, the amendments did not have any impact 
on the Group’s financial statements.

IFRSS ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
The Group has not applied the following new and revised IFRSs, which have been issued but are not yet effective, in these 
financial statements. The Group intends to apply these new and revised IFRSs, if applicable, when they become effective.

  

IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements(3)

IFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public Accountability: Disclosures(3)

Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7 Amendments to the Classification and Measurement of Financial 
Instruments(2)

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its 
Associate or Joint Venture(4)

Amendments to IAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability(1)

Annual Improvements to IFRS Accounting  
Standards – Volume 11

Amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS 7, IFRS 9, IFRS 10 and IAS 7(2)

  

(1)	 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2025
(2)	 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2026
(3)	 Effective for annual/reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2027
(4)	 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption

Further information about those IFRSs that are expected to be applicable to the Group is described below.

IFRS 18 replaces IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements. While a number of sections have been brought forward from 
IAS 1 with limited changes, IFRS 18 introduces new requirements for presentation within the statement of profit or loss, 
including specified totals and subtotals. Entities are required to classify all income and expenses within the statement of 
profit or loss into one of the five categories: operating, investing, financing, income taxes and discontinued operations 
and to present two new defined subtotals. It also requires disclosures about management-defined performance measures 
in a single note and introduces enhanced requirements on the grouping (aggregation and disaggregation) and the location 
of information in both the primary financial statements and the notes. Some requirements previously included in IAS 1 
are moved to IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors, which is renamed as IAS 8 Basis 
of Preparation of Financial Statements. As a consequence of the issuance of IFRS 18, limited, but widely applicable, 
amendments are made to IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows, IAS 33 Earnings per Share and IAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting. 
In addition, there are minor consequential amendments to other IFRSs. IFRS 18 and the consequential amendments to 
other IFRSs are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2027 with earlier application permitted. 
Retrospective application is required. The Group is currently analysing the new requirements and assessing the impact 
of IFRS 18 on the presentation and disclosure of the Group’s financial statements.



104

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended December 31, 2024

3.	 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES (continued)
IFRSS ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE (continued)
Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7 clarify the date on which a financial asset or financial liability is derecognised and 
introduce an accounting policy option to derecognise a financial liability that is settled through an electronic payment 
system before the settlement date if specified criteria are met. The amendments clarify how to assess the contractual cash 
flow characteristics of financial assets with environmental, social and governance and other similar contingent features. 
Moreover, the amendments clarify the requirements for classifying financial assets with non-recourse features and 
contractually linked instruments. The amendments also include additional disclosures for investments in equity instruments 
designated at fair value through other comprehensive income and financial instruments with contingent features. The 
amendments shall be applied retrospectively with an adjustment to opening retained profits (or other component of 
equity) at the initial application date. Prior periods are not required to be restated and can only be restated without the 
use of hindsight. Earlier application of either all the amendments at the same time or only the amendments related to 
the classification of financial assets is permitted. The amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on 
the Group’s financial statements.

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 address an inconsistency between the requirements in IFRS 10 and in IAS 28 in 
dealing with the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture. The amendments 
require a full recognition of a gain or loss resulting from a downstream transaction when the sale or contribution of assets 
constitutes a business. For a transaction involving assets that do not constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting from 
the transaction is recognised in the investor’s profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated investor’s interest in that 
associate or joint venture. The amendments are to be applied prospectively. The previous mandatory effective date of 
amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 was removed by the IASB. However, the amendments are available for adoption now.

Amendments to IAS 21 specify how an entity shall assess whether a currency is exchangeable into another currency and 
how it shall estimate a spot exchange rate at a measurement date when exchangeability is lacking. The amendments 
require disclosures of information that enable users of financial statements to understand the impact of a currency not 
being exchangeable. Earlier application is permitted. When applying the amendments, an entity cannot restate comparative 
information. Any cumulative effect of initially applying the amendments shall be recognised as an adjustment to the 
opening balance of retained profits or to the cumulative amount of translation differences accumulated in a separate 
component of equity, where appropriate, at the date of initial application. The amendments are not expected to have 
any significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.

Annual Improvements to IFRS Accounting Standards – Volume 11 set out amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS 7 (and the 
accompanying Guidance on implementing IFRS 7), IFRS 9, IFRS 10 and IAS 7. Details of the amendments that are expected 
to be applicable to the Group are as follows:

•	 IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures: The amendments have updated certain wording in paragraph B38 of IFRS 
7 and paragraphs IG1, IG14 and IG20B of the Guidance on implementing IFRS 7 for the purpose of simplification 
or achieving consistency with other paragraphs in the standard and/or with the concepts and terminology used in 
other standards. In addition, the amendments clarify that the Guidance on implementing IFRS 7 does not necessarily 
illustrate all the requirements in the referenced paragraphs of IFRS 7 nor does it create additional requirements. 
Earlier application is permitted. The amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s 
financial statements.

•	 IFRS 9 Financial Instruments: The amendments clarify that when a lessee has determined that a lease liability 
has been extinguished in accordance with IFRS 9, the lessee is required to apply paragraph 3.3.3 of IFRS 9 and 
recognise any resulting gain or loss in profit or loss. In addition, the amendments have updated certain wording in 
paragraph 5.1.3 of IFRS 9 and Appendix A of IFRS 9 to remove potential confusion. Earlier application is permitted. 
The amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.

•	 IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements: The amendments clarify that the relationship described in paragraph 
B74 of IFRS 10 is just one example of various relationships that might exist between the investor and other parties 
acting as de facto agents of the investor, which removes the inconsistency with the requirement in paragraph B73 
of IFRS 10. Earlier application is permitted. The amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on 
the Group’s financial statements.

•	 IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows: The amendments replace the term “cost method” with “at cost” in paragraph 
37 of IAS 7 following the prior deletion of the definition of “cost method”. Earlier application is permitted. The 
amendments are not expected to have any impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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4.	 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES AND A JOINT VENTURE
An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor an interest 
in a joint venture. Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the 
investee, but is not control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights 
to the net assets of the joint venture. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which 
exists only when decisions about the relevant activities require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

The Group’s investments in associates and a joint venture are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position 
at the Group’s share of net assets under the equity method of accounting, less any impairment losses.

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and other comprehensive income of associates and a joint venture is 
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. In addition, when there has 
been a change recognised directly in the equity of the associate or joint venture, the Group recognises its share of any 
changes, when applicable, in the consolidated statement of changes in equity. Unrealised gains and losses resulting 
from transactions between the Group and its associates or joint venture are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s 
investments in the associates or a joint venture, except where unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment of 
the assets transferred. Upon the acquisition of the ownership interest in an associate or a joint venture, any excess of 
the cost of the investment over the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the 
investee is recognised as goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of the investment.

Upon loss of significant influence over the associate or joint control over the joint venture, the Group measures and 
recognises any retained investment at its fair value. Any difference between the carrying amount of the associate or joint 
venture upon loss of significant influence or joint control and the fair value of the retained investment and proceeds 
from disposal is recognised in profit or loss.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT
The Group measures its derivative financial instruments, monetary funds and equity investments at fair value at the end 
of each reporting period. Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an 
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the 
presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either in the principal market for 
the asset or liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability. 
The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability 
is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that 
market participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to generate economic 
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that would use the 
asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available 
to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the 
fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement 
as a whole:

Level 1 – based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 – based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement is observable, either directly or indirectly

Level 3 – based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines 
whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level 
input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.
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4.	 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
REVENUE RECOGNITION
Revenue from contracts with customers
Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control of goods or services is transferred to the customers 
at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods 
or services. When the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount, the amount of consideration is estimated 
to which the Group will be entitled in exchange for transferring the goods or services to the customer. The variable 
consideration is estimated at contract inception and constrained until it is highly probable that a significant revenue 
reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when the associated uncertainty with the variable 
consideration is subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component which provides the customer with a significant benefit of financing 
the transfer of goods or services to the customer for more than 1 year, revenue is measured at the present value of 
the amount receivable, discounted using the discount rate that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction 
between the Group and the customer at contract inception.

When the contract contains a financing component which provides the Group with a significant financial benefit for more 
than 1 year, revenue recognised under the contract includes the interest expense accreted on the contract liability under 
the effective interest method. For a contract where the period between the payment by the customer and the transfer 
of the promised goods or services is 1 year or less, the transaction price is not adjusted for the effects of a significant 
financing component, using the practical expedient in IFRS 15.

Revenues are recognised when, or as, the control of the goods or services is transferred to the customer. Depending on 
the terms of the contract and the laws applicable, control of the goods and services may be transferred over time or at 
a point in time. Control of the goods and services is transferred over time if the Group’s performance:

•	 provides all of the benefits received and consumed simultaneously by the customer;

•	 creates and enhances an asset that the customer controls as the Group performs; or

•	 does not create an asset with an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable right to payment 
for performance completed to date.

If control of the goods and services transfers over time, revenue is recognised over the period of the contract by reference 
to the progress towards complete satisfaction of that performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a 
point in time when the customer obtains control of the goods and services.

Contracts with customers may include multiple performance obligations. For such arrangements, the Group allocates 
revenue to each performance obligation based on its relative standalone selling price. The Group generally determines 
standalone selling prices based on the prices charged to customers. If the stand-alone selling price is not directly 
observable, it is estimated using expected cost plus a margin or adjusted market assessment approach, depending on 
the availability of observable information. Assumptions and estimations have been made in estimating the relative selling 
price of each distinct performance obligation, and changes in judgements on these assumptions and estimates may 
impact the revenue recognition.

Sale of goods
The Group manufactures semiconductor wafers for its customers based on the customers’ designs and specifications 
pursuant to manufacturing agreements and/or purchase orders. The Group also sells certain semiconductor standard 
products to customers. Revenue from the sale of wafer is recognised at the point in time when control of the asset is 
transferred to the customer, generally on delivery of the wafer.

Customers have the right of return within 1 year pursuant to warranty provisions. The Group typically performs tests 
of its products prior to shipment to identify yield rate per wafer. Occasionally, product tests performed after shipment 
identify yields below the level agreed with the customer. In those circumstances, the customer arrangement may provide 
for a reduction to the price paid by the customer or for the costs to return products and to ship replacement products 
to the customer. The Group estimates the amount of sales returns and the cost of replacement products based on the 
historical trend of returns and warranty replacements relative to sales as well as a consideration of any current information 
regarding specific known product defects at customers that may exceed historical trends.

Contract liabilities
A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer 
before the Group transfers the related goods or services. Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue when the Group 
satisfies performance obligation under the contract (i.e., transfers control of the related goods or services to the customer).

Rendering of services
Revenue from the rendering testing services is recognised over time, using an input method to measure progress towards 
complete satisfaction of the service, because the Group does not create an asset with an alternative use to the Group and 
the Group has an enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date. The input method recognises revenue 
based on the proportion of the actual costs incurred relative to the estimated total costs for satisfaction of the services.
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4.	 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
REVENUE RECOGNITION (continued)
Revenue from other sources
Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis over the lease terms. Variable lease payments that do not depend 
on an index or a rate are recognised as income in the reporting period in which they are incurred.

Other income
Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly 
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, when 
appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ right to receive payment has been established, it is probable 
that the economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of the dividend can be 
measured reliably.

FOREIGN CURRENCIES
These consolidated financial statements are presented in United States dollars (“USD”), which is the Company’s functional 
currency and the Group’s presentation currency.

Foreign currency transactions recorded by the entities in the Group are initially recorded using their respective functional 
currency rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies 
are translated at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period. Differences arising 
on settlement or translation of monetary items are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange 
rates at the dates of the initial transactions

The functional currencies of certain subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates are currencies other than the United States 
dollar. As at the end of the reporting period, the assets and liabilities of these entities are translated into United States 
dollars at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period and their statements of profit or loss are 
translated into United States dollars at the average exchange rates that for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate 
significantly during that period, in which case the exchange rates that approximate to those prevailing at the dates of the 
transactions are used. The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated 
in the exchange fluctuation reserve, except to the extent that the differences are attributable to non-controlling interests.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative amount in the reserve relating to that particular foreign operation 
is recognised in profit or loss.

BORROWING COSTS
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets 
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of 
those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist 
of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
If the Group receives information after the reporting period, but prior to the date of authorisation for issue, about 
conditions that existed at the end of the reporting period, it will assess whether the information affects the amounts 
that it recognises in its financial statements. The Group will adjust the amounts recognised in its financial statements to 
reflect any adjusting events after the reporting period and update the disclosures that relate to those conditions in light 
of the new information. For non-adjusting events after the reporting period, the Group will not change the amounts 
recognised in its financial statements, but will disclose the nature of the non-adjusting events and an estimate of their 
financial effects, or a statement that such an estimate cannot be made, if applicable.

GOVERNMENT FUNDING
Government funding is recognised at their fair value where there is reasonable assurance that the funding will be received 
and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the funding relates to an expense item, it is recognised as 
income on a systematic basis over the periods that the costs, for which it is intended to compensate, are expensed.

Where the funding relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to a deferred income account and is released to profit 
or loss over the expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual instalments or deducted from the carrying 
amount of the asset and released to profit or loss by way of a reduced depreciation charge.
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4.	 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
OTHER EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
Retirement benefits
The Group’s Chinese employees are entitled to a retirement benefit based on their salary and their length of service in 
accordance with a state-managed pension plan. The PRC government is responsible for the pension liability to these 
retired staff. The Group is required to make contributions to the state-managed retirement plan at a rate equal to 14.0% 
to 16.0% of the monthly basic salary of current employees. The Group has no further payment obligations once the 
contributions have been paid and there are no forfeited contributions that may be used by the Group. The costs are 
recognised in profit or loss or in underlying assets as they become payable.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT ARRANGEMENTS
The Company operates share option schemes. Employees (including directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the 
form of share-based payments, whereby employees render services in exchange for equity instruments (“equity-settled 
transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is measured by reference to the fair value of the equity instruments 
at the grant date.

The fair value determined at the grant date of the equity-settled transactions is expensed on a graded vesting basis over 
the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of equity instruments that will eventually vest, with a corresponding 
increase in equity. At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its estimate of the number of equity instruments 
expected to vest. The impact of the revision of the original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such that 
the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to the equity-settled employee 
benefits reserve. When share options are exercised, the amount previously recognised in the reserve will be transferred 
to share premium.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken into account when determining the grant date fair value, 
but the likelihood of the conditions being met is assessed as part of the Group’s best estimate of the number of equity 
instruments that will ultimately vest. Market performance conditions are reflected within the grant date fair value. Any 
other conditions attached to an equity instrument, but without an associated service requirement, are considered to be 
non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions are reflected in the fair value of an equity instrument and lead to an 
immediate expensing of an equity instrument unless there are other service and/or performance conditions.

For equity instruments that do not ultimately vest because non-market performance and/or service conditions have not 
been met, no expense is recognised. Where equity instruments include a market or non-vesting condition, the transactions 
are treated as vesting irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided that all other 
performance and/or service conditions are satisfied.

Where an equity-settled equity instrument is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and 
any expense not yet recognised for the equity instrument is recognised immediately. This includes any equity instrument 
where non-vesting conditions within the control of either the Group or the employee are not met. However, if a new 
equity instrument is substituted for the cancelled equity instrument, and is designated as a replacement equity instrument 
on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and new equity instruments are treated as if they were a modification of 
the original equity instrument, as described in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per share.

INCOME TAX
Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised 
outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax
Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation 
authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting 
period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax
Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary differences at the end of the reporting period 
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except:

•	 when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction 
that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor 
taxable profit or loss and does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences; and

•	 in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures, 
when the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary 
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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4.	 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
INCOME TAX (continued)
Deferred tax (continued)
Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits 
and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will 
be available against which the deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and unused 
tax losses can be utilised, except:

•	 when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of 
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects 
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss and does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible 
temporary differences; and

•	 in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint 
ventures, deferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that the temporary differences 
will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences 
can be utilised.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND DEPRECIATION
Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in progress, held for use in the production or supply of goods or 
services, or for administrative purposes, are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at their costs, less 
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. Such cost comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable 
costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and location for its intended use.

The Group constructs certain of its plant and equipment. In addition to costs under the construction contracts, the costs 
that are directly related to the construction and acquisition of such plant and equipment are capitalised. Depreciation is 
recorded at the time assets are ready for their intended use. Such properties are classified to the appropriate categories 
of property, plant and equipment when completed and ready for intended use. Depreciation of these assets, on the 
same basis as other property assets, commences when the assets are ready for their intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs and 
maintenance, is normally charged to profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred. In situations where the recognition 
criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as a 
replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the Group 
recognises such parts as individual assets with specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment 
to its residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Buildings 25 years 4%
Machinery and equipment 5 to 10 years 10% to 20%
Office equipment 3 to 5 years 20% to 331/3%

An item at property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are 
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item 
of property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount 
of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Construction in progress is stated at cost less any impairment losses, and is not depreciated. It is reclassified to the 
appropriate category of property, plant and equipment when completed and ready for use.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (OTHER THAN GOODWILL)
The Group’s intangible assets consist primarily of technology, licenses and patents, which are acquired separately and 
measured on initial recognition at cost. Intangible assets are subsequently amortised over the useful economic life of 3 
to 15 years and assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The 
amortisation period and the amortisation method for an intangible asset are reviewed at least at each financial year end.



110

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended December 31, 2024

4.	 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS
Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required (other than 
inventories, contract assets, deferred tax assets, financial assets and non-current assets classified as held for sale), the 
asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating 
unit’s value in use and its fair value less costs of disposal, and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset 
does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets, in which 
case the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing 
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that 
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss 
is charged to profit or loss in the period in which it arises in those expense categories consistent with the function of 
the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as to whether there is an indication that previously recognised 
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is 
estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there has been 
a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an amount higher than 
the carrying amount that would have been determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment loss 
been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to profit or loss in the 
period in which it arises.

LEASES
The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if 
the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee
The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases 
of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets representing 
the right to use the underlying assets.

Right-of-use assets
Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement date of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset is 
available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and any impairment 
losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of 
lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the commencement date 
less any lease incentives received.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease terms and the estimated useful 
lives of the assets as follows:

Buildings	 5 to 6 years
Machinery and equipment	 3 to 5 years
Land-use right	 50 to 70 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise of 
a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the estimated useful life of the asset.

Lease liabilities
Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date of the lease at the present value of lease payments to be 
made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less any 
lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid 
under residual value guarantees. The lease payments also include the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably 
certain to be exercised by the Group and payments of penalties for termination of a lease, if the lease term reflects 
the Group exercising the option to terminate the lease. The variable lease payments that do not depend on an index 
or a rate are recognised as an expense in the period in which the event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement 
date because the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After the commencement date, the amount 
of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, 
the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease term, a change 
in lease payments (e.g., a change to future lease payments resulting from a change in an index or rate) or a change in 
assessment of an option to purchase the underlying asset.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its short-term leases of vehicle and computer (that is 
those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase 
option). It also applies the recognition exemption for leases of low-value assets to leases of office equipment and 
computers that are considered to be of low value.

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis 
over the lease term.
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4.	 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
LEASES (continued)
Group as a lessor
Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset 
are classified as operating leases. When a contract contains lease and non-lease components, the Group allocates the 
consideration in the contract to each component on a relative stand-alone selling price basis. Rental income is accounted 
for on a straight-line basis over the lease terms and is included in profit or loss due to its operating nature. Initial direct 
costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset 
and recognised over the lease term on the same basis as rental income. Contingent rents are recognised in profit or loss 
in the period in which they are earned.

Sale and leaseback transactions
The Group applies the requirements of IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers to assess whether sale and 
leaseback transaction constitutes a sale by the Group.

The Group acts as a seller – lessee
For sale and leaseback transactions in which a transfer of the asset satisfies the requirements in IFRS 15 to be accounted 
for as a sale, the Group measure the right-of-use assets arising from the leaseback at the proportion of the previous 
carrying amount of the asset that relates to the right of use retained by the seller–lessee and accordingly recognises 
only the amount of the gain that relates to the rights transferred to the buyer–lessor. For a transfer that does not satisfy 
the requirements as a sale, the Group as a seller-lessee continues to recognise the assets and accounts for the transfer 
proceeds as borrowings within the scope of IFRS 9.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position comprise cash on hand and at banks, and short-term highly 
liquid deposits with a maturity of generally within three months that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash, 
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value and held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash commitments.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and 
at banks, and short-term deposits as defined above, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an 
integral part of the Group’s cash management.

RESTRICTED CASH
Restricted cash consists of bank deposits pledged against foreign exchange trading, letters of guarantee, borrowings, etc. 
In the consolidated statement of cash flows, change of restricted cash to be only paid for property, plant and equipment 
is presented as an investing activity. Change of restricted cash pledged against borrowings is presented as a financing 
activity. Change of restricted cash pledged against letter of credit is presented as an operating activity.

INVENTORIES
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs of inventories are determined on a weighted 
average basis, in the case of work in progress and finished goods, comprises direct materials, direct labour and an 
appropriate proportion of overheads. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price for inventories less all 
estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to make the sale.

NON-CURRENT ASSETS HELD-FOR-SALE
Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held-for-sale if their carrying amount will be recovered principally 
through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use. For this to be the case, the asset or disposal group must 
be available for immediate sale in its present condition subject only to terms that are usual and customary for the sale 
of such assets or disposal groups and its sale must be highly probable.

Non-current assets and disposal groups (other than investment properties and financial assets) classified as held-for-sale 
are measured at the lower of their carrying amounts and fair values less costs to sell. Property equipment and intangible 
assets classified as held for sale are not depreciated or amortised.

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS
Initial recognition and measurement
Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently measured at amortised cost and fair value through 
profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow 
characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing them. With the exception of trade receivables that do not 
contain a significant financing component or for which the Group has applied the practical expedient of not adjusting 
the effect of a significant financing component, the Group initially measures a financial asset at its fair value plus in 
the case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not 
contain a significant financing component or for which the Group has applied the practical expedient are measured at 
the transaction price determined under IFRS 15.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive 
income, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal 
amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that are not SPPI are classified and measured at fair value through 
profit or loss, irrespective of the business model.
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4.	 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS (continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (continued)
The Group’s business model for managing financial assets refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to generate 
cash flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling 
the financial assets, or both. Financial assets classified and measured at amortised cost are held within a business model 
with the objective to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows, while financial assets classified and 
measured at fair value through other comprehensive income are held within a business model with the objective of 
both holding to collect contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets which are not held within the aforementioned 
business models are classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the 
Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets 
that require delivery of assets within the period generally established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)
Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest method and are subject to 
impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the statement of financial position at fair value with 
net changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

This category includes derivative instruments. Dividends on the equity investments are also recognised as other gain in 
profit or loss when the right of payment has been established.

Derecognition of financial assets
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is 
derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position) when:

•	 the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

•	 the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the 
received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and either 
(a) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither 
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through 
arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset. When 
it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the 
asset, the Group continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement. In 
that case, the Group also recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are measured 
on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the 
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Group could be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets
The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses (“ECLs”) for all debt instruments not held at fair value 
through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due in accordance with 
the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an approximation of the original 
effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or other credit 
enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.

General approach
ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk 
since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from default events that are possible within the 
next 12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has been a significant increase in credit risk 
since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected over the remaining life of the exposure, 
irrespective of the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly 
since initial recognition. When making the assessment, the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial 
instrument as of the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as of the date of 
initial recognition and considers reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort, 
including historical and forward-looking information. The Group considers that there has been a significant increase in 
credit risk when contractual payments are more than 30 days past due.
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4.	 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS (continued)
General approach (continued)
The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain 
cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset to be in default when internal or external information indicates 
that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into account any credit 
enhancements held by the Group. A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering 
the contractual cash flows.

Debt investments at financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment under the general approach and they 
are classified within the following stages for measurement of ECLs except for trade receivables and contract assets which 
apply the simplified approach as detailed below.

Stage 1 – Financial instruments for which credit risk has not increased significantly since initial recognition and for 
which the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 – Financial instruments for which credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition but that are 
not credit-impaired financial assets and for which the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to 
lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 – Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting date (but that are not purchased or originated 
credit-impaired) and for which the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Simplified approach
For trade receivables and contract assets that do not contain a significant financing component or when the Group 
applies the practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing component, the Group applies the 
simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group does not track changes in credit risk, 
but instead recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has established a 
provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the 
debtors and the economic environment.

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
Initial recognition and measurement
Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans 
and borrowings, lease liabilities, payables, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective hedge, 
as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net 
of directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables, lease liabilities, derivative financial instruments, bonds 
payable and borrowings.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised costs
After initial recognition, trade and other payables, borrowings, lease liabilities, and bonds payable are subsequently 
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, 
in which case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised 
as well as through the effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are 
an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is included in finance costs in 
profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or 
they expire. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration 
paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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4.	 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND HEDGE ACCOUNTING
The Group enters into a variety of derivative financial instruments to manage its exposure to interest rate and foreign 
exchange rate risks, including foreign exchange forward contracts, cross currency swap contracts and interest rate swap 
contracts. Further details of derivative financial instruments are disclosed in Note 21 and Note 36, respectively.

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date the derivative contracts are entered into and are subsequently 
remeasured at fair value at the end of each reporting period. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss 
immediately unless the derivative is designated and effective as a hedging instrument, in which event the timing of the 
recognition in profit or loss depends on the nature of the hedge relationship.

For the purpose of hedge accounting, hedges are classified as:

•	 fair value hedges when hedging the exposure to changes in the fair value of a recognised asset or liability or an 
unrecognised firm commitment; or

•	 cash flow hedges when hedging the exposure to variability in cash flows that is either attributable to a particular 
risk associated with a recognised asset or liability or a highly probable forecast transaction, or a foreign currency 
risk in an unrecognised firm commitment; or

•	 hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation.

At the inception of a hedge relationship, the Group formally designates and documents the hedge relationship to which 
the Group wishes to apply hedge accounting, the risk management objective and its strategy for undertaking the hedge.

The documentation includes identification of the hedging instrument, the hedged item, the nature of the risk being 
hedged and how the Group will assess whether the hedging relationship meets the hedge effectiveness requirements 
(including the analysis of sources of hedge ineffectiveness and how the hedge ratio is determined). A hedging relationship 
qualifies for hedge accounting if it meets all of the following effectiveness requirements:

•	 There is “an economic relationship” between the hedged item and the hedging instrument.

•	 The effect of credit risk does not “dominate the value changes” that result from that economic relationship.

•	 The hedge ratio of the hedging relationship is the same as that resulting from the quantity of the hedged item 
that the Group actually hedges and the quantity of the hedging instrument that the Group actually uses to hedge 
that quantity of hedged item.

Cash flow hedges
The effective portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument is recognised directly in other comprehensive income 
in the cash flow hedge reserve, while any ineffective portion is recognised immediately in profit or loss. The cash flow 
hedge reserve is adjusted to the lower of the cumulative gain or loss on the hedging instrument and the cumulative 
change in fair value of the hedged item.

The amount accumulated in other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss as a reclassification adjustment 
in the same period or periods during which the hedged cash flows affect profit or loss.

If cash flow hedge accounting is discontinued, the amount that has been accumulated in other comprehensive income must 
remain in accumulated other comprehensive income if the hedged future cash flows are still expected to occur. Otherwise, 
the amount will be immediately reclassified to profit or loss as a reclassification adjustment. After discontinuation, once 
the hedged cash flow occurs, any amount remaining in accumulated other comprehensive income must be accounted 
for as described above.

REPURCHASE OF SHARES
Own equity instruments which are reacquired and held by the Company or the Group (treasury shares) are recognised 
directly in equity at cost. No gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of 
the Group’s own equity instruments.

PROVISIONS
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it 
is probable that the Group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount 
of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation 
at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a 
provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present 
value of those cash flows (when the effect of the time value of money is material).
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5.	 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions 
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and 
the disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that 
could require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in the future.

JUDGEMENTS
Deferred tax assets
Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available 
against which the losses can be utilised. Significant management judgement is required to determine the amount of 
deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and the level of future taxable profits, together 
with future tax planning strategies.

As disclosed in Note 10 to the financial statements, the Group has tax losses carried forward. These losses related to 
subsidiaries that have a history of losses, have not expired, and may not be used to offset taxable income elsewhere in 
the Group. The subsidiaries have neither any taxable temporary difference nor any tax planning opportunities available 
that could partly support the recognition of these losses as deferred tax assets. On this basis, the Group has determined 
that it cannot recognise deferred tax assets on the tax losses carried forward.

If the Group had been able to recognise all unrecognised deferred tax assets, the profit and equity would have increased 
by US$651.1 million. Further details on deferred taxes are disclosed in Note 10 to the financial statements.

ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end 
of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets 
and liabilities within the next financial year.

Fair value of financial instruments
Some of the Group’s assets and liabilities are measured at fair value for financial reporting purposes. In estimating the 
fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group uses market-observable data to the extent it is available. Where Level 
1 inputs are not available, The Group uses valuation techniques that include inputs that are not based on observable 
market data to estimate the fair value of certain types of financial instruments. Note 37 provide detailed information 
about the valuation techniques, inputs and key assumptions used in the determination of the fair value of various assets 
and liabilities.

Fair value measurement of associates and a joint venture’s portfolio investments
The Group has invested in a number of portfolio investments through several investment funds, which were accounted 
for as investments in associates or a joint venture using equity method. The investment funds measured their equity 
investments in portfolio investments at fair value. The valuation of such portfolio investments is primarily based on a 
combination of adoption of applicable valuation methodology and the application of appropriate assumptions in the 
valuation. The unlisted equity investments in portfolio investments have been valued based on a market-based valuation 
technique as detailed in Note 20 to the financial statements. The valuation requires the Group to determine the comparable 
public companies (peers) and select the price multiple. In addition, the Group makes estimates about the discount for 
illiquidity. The Group classifies the fair value of these investments as Level 3.

Impairment of inventories
The Group periodically assesses the net realizable value of its inventories and provides for inventory impairment based on 
the difference between the cost of the inventory and the net realizable value. When estimating the net realizable value 
of inventories, management considers the purpose for which the inventories are held, as well as future use or sales as 
the basis for estimation. Where the expectation is different from the original estimate, such difference will impact on the 
carrying value of the inventories and write-down of inventories in the period in which such estimates have been changed.

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than goodwill)
The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment for all non-financial assets (including the right-of-
use assets) at the end of each reporting period. Other non-financial assets are tested for impairment when there are 
indicators that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset 
or a cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal 
and its value in use. The calculation of the fair value less costs of disposal is based on available data from binding 
sales transactions in an arm’s length transaction of similar assets or observable market prices less incremental costs for 
disposing of the asset. When value in use calculations are undertaken, management must estimate the expected future 
cash flows from the asset or cash-generating unit and choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present 
value of those cash flows.
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6.	 SEGMENT INFORMATION AND REVENUE
DESCRIPTION OF SEGMENTS
For management purposes, the Group operates in one segment, engaging principally in the manufacture and sale of 
integrated circuits. Management makes high-level strategic decisions and reviews the consolidated results of the Group.

DISAGGREGATION OF REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS
The Group’s operating revenue from customers is detailed as below:

Revenue from external customers

2024 2023

USD’000 USD’000
   

By region

China 6,797,714 5,062,085

America 992,527 1,034,382

Eurasia 239,680 225,093
   

8,029,921 6,321,560
   

By type of goods or services

Wafers 7,486,934 5,794,477

Masks, testing and others 542,987 527,083
   

8,029,921 6,321,560
   

By timing of revenue recognition

Goods transferred at a point in time 7,945,327 6,273,851

Services transferred over time 84,594 47,709
   

8,029,921 6,321,560
   

LIABILITIES RELATED TO CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS
The Group has recognised the liabilities related to contracts with customers as contract liabilities of US$1,185.9 million 
as of December 31, 2024 (December 31, 2023: US$2,053.2 million). The contract liabilities comprise of the prepayments 
received from customers, to whom the wafers have not been transferred. Revenue recognised that was included in 
the contract liabilities as at the beginning of the year was US$2,053.2 million (2023: US$1,977.1 million). Amount of 
US$1,185.9 million is expected to be recognised as revenue within 1 year as all related contracts have a duration of 1 
year or less.

PERFORMANCE OBLIGATIONS
Information about the Group’s performance obligations is summarised below:

Sale of goods
The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery of the goods and payment is generally made within a certain period 
of time after advance payment or invoicing. Some contracts provide customers with a right of return and exchange goods.

Rendering of services
The performance obligation is satisfied over time as services are rendered and settle regularly according to the service 
progress.

SEGMENT ASSETS
The Group will continue to incur capital expenditures and depreciation expenses as it equips and ramps-up additional 
fabs and expand its capacity at the existing fabs. The non-current assets were mainly located in Chinese Mainland.

SIGNIFICANT CUSTOMERS
During the year ended December 31, 2024, there was no single customer or its subsidiaries whose sales revenue accounted 
for 10% or more of the total revenue.



SMIC  |  2024 ANNUAL REPORT

117

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended December 31, 2024

7.	 OTHER OPERATING INCOME
2024 2023

USD’000 USD’000
   

Government funding 401,602 363,589

Others 9,604 858
   

411,206 364,447
   

8.	 FINANCE COSTS
2024 2023

USD’000 USD’000
   

Interest on:

Bank and other borrowings 279,053 190,109

Leases (Note 17) 1,143 2,422

Corporate bonds (Note 31) 16,915 16,893
   

297,111 209,424
   

9.	 OTHER GAINS, NET
2024 2023

USD’000 USD’000
   

Fair value gains, net and dividend income from financial assets:

Structural deposits and monetary funds 9,627 14,545

Equity securities (7,537) 36,720
   

2,090 51,265

Gain on disposal of associates(1) 95,668 216,967

Others (921) (5,641)
   

96,837 262,591
   

(1)	 The gain was mainly arising from the sale of an associate and the passive dilution of the Group’s equity interests in associates 
caused by the new issuance of shares by the associates.
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10.	 INCOME TAX EXPENSE
INCOME TAX EXPENSE

2024 2023

USD’000 USD’000
   

Current tax  

– Land appreciation tax 1,036 –

– Enterprise income tax 111,257 56,909

Deferred tax 17,272 5,605
   

129,565 62,514
   

The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the accounting profit as follows:

2024 2023

USD’000 USD’000
   

Profit before tax 859,558 1,187,449
   

Income tax expense calculated at 25% 214,890 296,863

Effect of different tax rate in other jurisdictions (2,984) 5,389

Share of loss/(profit) of associates and a joint venture 3,909 10,003

Expenses not deductible for tax 3,603 6,511

Effect of tax holiday and tax concession (143,281) (128,821)

Additional deduction (130,677) (94,183)

Temporary differences and tax losses not recognised 190,629 21,562

Income not subjected to tax (7,560) (54,810)

Land appreciation tax 1,036 –
   

129,565 62,514
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10.	 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)
DEFERRED TAX BALANCES
The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the year are as follows:

Property, 

plant and 

equipment

Accrued 

liabilities

Intangible 

assets Impairment

Loss available 

for offsetting 

against future 

taxable profits Total

Deferred tax assets USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000
       

As at January 1, 2023 22,419 4,358 1,063 1,278 16,225 45,343

Recognise in profit or loss (1,502) 369 (188) 4,832 (16,225) (12,714)
       

As at December 31, 2023  

and January 1, 2024 20,917 4,727 875 6,110 – 32,629

Recognise in profit or loss (1,553) 11,194 (188) 7,668 – 17,121
       

As at December 31, 2024 19,364 15,921 687 13,778 – 49,750
       

Fair value 

adjustments of 

investments

Cash flow 

hedges

Property, 

plant and 

equipment Total

Deferred tax liabilities USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000

As at January 1, 2023 27,762 – 38,317 66,079

Recognise in profit or loss (2,264) – (4,845) (7,109)

Exchange differences (622) – – (622)
     

As at December 31, 2023 

and January 1, 2024 24,876 – 33,472 58,348

Recognise in profit or loss 41,484 – (7,091) 34,393

Recognise in other reserves – 2,173 – 2,173

Exchange differences (749) – – (749)
     

As at December 31, 2024 65,611 2,173 26,381 94,165
     

For presentation purposes, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have been offset in the statement of financial position. 
The following is the net deferred tax balances of the Group for financial reporting purposes:

2024 2023

USD’000 USD’000
   

Net deferred tax assets 29,212 13,194

Net deferred tax liabilities 73,627 38,913
   

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the following items:

2024 2023

USD’000 USD’000
   

Tax Losses 4,340,839 3,668,513

Deductible temporary differences 352,768 176,521
   

4,693,607 3,845,034
   

At the end of the reporting period, no deferred tax asset was recognised in respect of tax losses of US$4,340.8 million 
(December 31, 2023: US$3,668.5 million) due to the unpredictability of future taxable profit, of which US$49.4 million, 
US$2.4 million, US$655.2 million, US$162.0 million and US$3,471.8 million will expire in 2025, 2026, 2027, 2028, 2029 
and thereon, respectively.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law and relevant regulations, a 10% withholding tax is levied on dividends 
declared to foreign investors from the foreign investment enterprises established in Chinese Mainland, however, profits 
distributed by overseas investors from resident enterprises within China for direct investment within the applicable scope 
are temporarily exempt from withholding income tax. No deferred tax liability for withholding tax has been recognised 
as the Company is able to control the timing and method of distributions from subsidiaries and the subsidiary in Chinese 
Mainland is not expected to distribute these profits in the foreseeable future other than domestic direct investment that 
meets the applicable scope.
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10.	 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)
INCOME TAX RATE
The Company is incorporated in the Cayman Islands, where it is not currently subject to taxation. The detailed status of 
the Group’s principal entities located in Chinese Mainland with income tax holidays are elaborated as follows:

According to CaiShui [2012] No.27, Guofa [2020] No.8 and relevant tax regulations, SMIC Beijing is qualified as an 
integrated circuit enterprise and entitled to enjoy a 10-year tax holiday (income tax full exemption from 2015 to 2024) 
beginning from 2015 after utilizing all prior years’ tax losses. Meanwhile, SMIC Beijing has obtained the certificate of 
high-tech enterprise issued on December 19, 2024. SMIC Beijing enjoyed the preferential treatment of full exemption 
from income tax in 2024 and will submit documents in accordance with the relevant regulations as required.

According to Enterprise Income Tax Law of the People’s Republic of China, some subsidiaries of the Company were 
qualified as high-tech enterprises. The certification period for SMIC Shanghai and SMIC Shenzhen is from 2023 to 2025, 
and the certification period for SMIC Tianjin and SMNC is from 2022 to 2024 and were entitled to enjoy the preferential 
corporate income tax rate of 15% in 2024.

All the other entities located in Chinese Mainland are subject to income tax rate of 25%.

Pillar Two income taxes
The Group is within the scope of the Pillar Two model rules. The Group has applied the mandatory exception to recognising 
and disclosing information about deferred tax assets and liabilities arising from Pillar Two income taxes, and will account 
for the Pillar Two income taxes as current tax when incurred. Pillar Two legislation has been enacted or substantively 
enacted in certain jurisdictions in which some subsidiaries of Group operate.

The Group has performed an assessment of its potential exposure to Pillar Two income taxes based on the 2024 financial 
information for the constituent entities in the Group. As such, it may not be entirely representative of future circumstances. 
Based on the assessment, the Group should benefit from the transitional safe harbour for the jurisdictions where Pillar 
Two legislation has been enacted for 2024 which the Group operates.

The Group continues to follow Pillar Two legislative developments, as more countries enact the Pillar Two model rules, 
to evaluate the potential future impact on its financial statements.

11.	 PROFIT FOR THE YEAR
Profit for the year has been arrived at after charging/(crediting):

2024 2023
USD’000 USD’000

   

Cost of sales
Cost of wafers sold 6,091,087 4,610,796
Impairment losses recognised on inventories 74,162 189,538
Cost of others sold 416,704 303,482

   

6,581,953 5,103,816
   

Impairment losses on financial assets, net
Addition/(reversal) in allowance on doubtful trade receivables (Note 36) 363 (802)
Reversal in allowance on doubtful other receivables (Note 36) (256) (453)

   

107 (1,255)
   

Depreciation and amortisation
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (Note 16) 3,167,628 2,594,871
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (Note 17) 41,169 58,029
Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 18) 14,266 14,391

   

3,223,063 2,667,291
   

Employee benefits expense
Wages and salaries 698,343 663,205
State-managed pension 90,214 86,506
Bonus 216,491 141,540
Non-monetary benefits 54,653 42,353
Equity-settled share-based payments expense (Note 35) 50,506 86,885

   

1,110,207 1,020,489
   

Other expense/(gain)
Royalties expense 25,227 24,137
Foreign exchange gain (11,261) (11,155)

   

Auditors’ remuneration
Audit services – annual report related 1,431 1,444
Audit services – others 79 79
Non-audit services(1) 66 65

   

1,576 1,588
   

(1)	 The non-audit services consist of consultation of ESG report.
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12.	 DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ EMOLUMENTS
2024 2023

USD’000 USD’000
   

Salaries, bonus and benefits 4,322 5,343

State-managed pension 20 22

Equity-settled share-based payment expense 1,925 2,639
   

6,267 8,004
   

The Group has no contributions to pension schemes for directors or past directors, except for the state-managed pension 
for the executive directors.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ REMUNERATION

Salaries, bonus 

and benefits

State-managed 

pension

Total 

remuneration

2024 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000
    

Executive directors:

Liu Xunfeng 1,114 10 1,124
    

Non-executive directors:

Lu Guoqing – – –

Chen Shanzhi – – –

Yang Lumin – – –

Huang Dengshan – – –
    

– – –
    

Independent non-executive directors:

Lau Lawrence Juen-Yee(1) 36 – 36

Fan Ren Da Anthony 102 – 102

Liu Ming 67 – 67

Wu Hanming 63 – 63

Chen Xinyuan 19 – 19
    

287 – 287
    

Co-CEOs:

Liang Mong Song 1,472 – 1,472

Zhao Haijun 1,449 10  1,459
    

2,921 10 2,931
    

4,322 20 4,342
    

(1)	 On June 28, 2024, Professor Lau Lawrence Juen-Yee retired as an independent non-executive Director of the Company.

Academician Liu Ming and Academician Wu Hanming had agreed to waive his/her cash compensation commencing from 
October 25, 2024 in respect of being an independent non-executive Director of the Company.

In 2024, no emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the directors of the Company as an inducement to join or 
upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office (2023: nil). 
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12.	 DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)
EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT EXPENSE
The equity-settled share-based payments granted to directors include stock options, RSUs and restricted shares.

The directors and chief executives during the year held stock options and RSUs. The related expense for the year ended 
December 31, 2024 was as follows:

2024

USD’000
  

Liu Xunfeng 341

Fan Ren Da Anthony 191

Liu Ming 171

Wu Hanming 129

Liang Mong Song 482

Zhao Haijun 523

Lau Lawrence Juen-Yee (retired) 88
  

1,925
  

13.	 FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES
The five highest paid individuals during the year included one (2023: one) executive director and two (2023: two) Co-
CEOs, details of whose emoluments are set out in Note 12 above. Details of the emoluments of the remaining two 
(2023: two) highest paid individuals (except directors and Co-CEOs) for the year are as follows:

2024

USD’000
  

Salaries and benefits 667

Bonus 749

State-managed pension 20

Equity-settled share-based payment expense 654
  

2,090
  

The bonus is determined on the basis of the basic salary and the performance of the Group and the individual.

In 2024, no emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the five highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or 
upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office (2023: nil).

The emoluments of the remaining two highest paid individuals (except Directors and Co-CEOs) fell within the following 
band is as below:

2024
  

Approximately US$960,001 to US$1,024,000 1

Approximately US$1,024,001 to US$1,088,000 1
  

2
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14.	 EARNINGS PER SHARE
BASIC EARNINGS PER SHARE
The earnings and weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation of basic earnings per share are 
as follows:

(In USD’000, except share  

and per share data)

2024 2023
   

Earnings used in the calculation of basic earnings per share 492,748 902,526

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purposes of basic 

earnings per share 7,958,902,288 7,928,909,712
   

Basic earnings per share $0.06 $0.11
   

DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE
The earnings used in the calculation of diluted earnings per share are as follows:

(In USD’000, except share  

and per share data)

2024 2023
   

Earnings used in the calculation of diluted earnings per share 492,748 902,526
   

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation of 

basic earnings per share 7,958,902,288 7,928,909,712

Adjustments for share incentive plans 25,040,758 35,105,032
   

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation of 

diluted earnings per share 7,983,943,046 7,964,014,744
   

Diluted earnings per share $0.06 $0.11
   

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Group had 6,822,292 (2023: 9,460,349) weighted average outstanding 
employee stock options excluded from the computation of diluted earnings per share because the exercise price was 
higher than the average market price of the ordinary shares. For the year ended December 31, 2024, the Group had no 
unexercised restricted shares excluded from the calculation of diluted earnings per share, as the performance conditions 
had been met (2023: 6,570).

15.	 DIVIDEND
The board of director did not recommend the payment of any dividend for the year ended December 31, 2024 (December 
31, 2023: nil).
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16.	 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Buildings

Machinery 

and 

equipment

Office 

equipment

Construction 

in progress Total

USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000
      

Cost

As at January 1, 2023 1,483,051 25,447,463 405,191 6,582,695 33,918,400

Additions – 229,066 – 7,460,755 7,689,821

Transfers 27,466 3,025,227 100,899 (3,153,592) –

Disposals (378) (63,300) (905) (126) (64,709)
      

As at December 31, 2023  

and January 1, 2024 1,510,139 28,638,456 505,185 10,889,732 41,543,512

Additions – – – 7,321,089 7,321,089

Transfers 501,074 5,318,480 98,060 (5,917,614) –

Disposals (1,800) (118,003) (3,988) – (123,791)
      

As at December 31, 2024 2,009,413 33,838,933 599,257 12,293,207 48,740,810
      

Accumulated depreciation and 

impairment

As at January 1, 2023 400,767 14,354,647 299,649 7,805 15,062,868

Depreciation 59,673 2,468,142 67,056 – 2,594,871

Disposals (241) (57,631) (900) – (58,772)

Impairment loss written off – (290) – (126) (416)
      

As at December 31, 2023  

and January 1, 2024 460,199 16,764,868 365,805 7,679 17,598,551

Depreciation 75,621 3,005,291 86,716 – 3,167,628

Disposals (168) (106,245) (3,890) – (110,303)

Impairment loss written off – (7,103) – – (7,103)
      

As at December 31, 2024 535,652 19,656,811 448,631 7,679 20,648,773
      

Net carrying amount

As at December 31, 2023 1,049,940 11,873,588 139,380 10,882,053 23,944,961

As at December 31, 2024 1,473,761 14,182,122 150,626 12,285,528 28,092,037
      

CONSTRUCTION IN PROGRESS
Included in construction in progress as of December 31, 2024, US$9,237.2 million, US$2,077.3 million, US$527.6 
million and US$443.4 million were related to the construction of facilities and payment for acquisition of machinery and 
equipment of the fabs in Shanghai, Beijing, Shenzhen and Tianjin, respectively.
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17.	 LEASES
THE GROUP AS A LESSEE
The Group has lease contracts for various items of buildings, machinery and equipment, and other equipment used in 
its operations. Lump sum payments were made to acquire the land-use right with lease periods of 50 to 70 years and 
no ongoing payments will be made. Leases of buildings generally have lease terms between 5 and 6 years, and leases 
of machinery and equipment generally have lease terms between 3 and 5 years. Other equipment generally has lease 
terms of 12 months or less and/or is individually of low value.

Right-of-use assets
The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets and the movements during the year are as follows:

Buildings

Machinery and 

equipment land-use right Total

USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000
     

As at January 1, 2023 1,630 103,729 424,436 529,795

Additions 1,226 – 805 2,031

Depreciation (520) (48,275) (9,234) (58,029)
     

As at December 31, 2023 and  

January 1, 2024 2,336 55,454 416,007 473,797

Additions – – 84 84

Depreciation (621) (31,296) (9,252) (41,169)

Transfer out – – (564) (564)
     

As at December 31, 2024 1,715 24,158 406,275 432,148
     

Land-use right pledged as security
As of December 31, 2024, there was no land-use right (December 31, 2023: nil) that has been secured to borrowings 
(Note 30) of the Group.

Lease liabilities
The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the movements during the year are as follows:

2024 2023

USD’000 USD’000
   

As at January 1, 58,620 109,531

New leases – 1,226

Interest charged 1,143 2,422

Repayment (33,488) (54,403)

Foreign exchange gain/(loss) 5 (156)
   

As at December 31, 26,280 58,620
   

Current portion 18,529 32,340

Non-current portion 7,751 26,280
   

26,280 58,620
   

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in Note 36 to the financial statements.
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17.	 LEASES (continued)
THE GROUP AS A LESSEE (continued)
Profit or loss in relation to leases
The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to leases are as follows:

2024 2023

USD’000 USD’000
   

Interest expense 1,143 2,422

Depreciation of right-of-use assets 41,169 58,029

Expense relating to short-term and low value leases 14,895 7,390
   

Cash outflow in relation to leases
The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in Note 38 to the consolidated financial statements.

THE GROUP AS A LESSOR
The Group leases parts of its buildings under operating lease arrangements. The terms of the leases generally require 
the tenants to pay security deposits. Rental income recognised by the Group during the year was US$25.7 million (2023: 
US$25.0 million).

As of December 31, 2024, the undiscounted lease payments receivable by the Group in future periods under non- 
cancellable operating leases with its tenants are as follows:

2024 2023

USD’000 USD’000
   

Within 1 year 4,024 4,723

1-2 years 2,084 3,907

Over 2 years 690 2,605
   

6,798 11,235
   

18.	 INTANGIBLE ASSETS
IP license

USD’000
  

Cost

As at January 1, 2023 467,885

Additions 2,722
  

As at December 31, 2023 and January 1, 2024 470,607

Additions 4,872
  

As at December 31, 2024 475,479
  

Accumulated amortisation and impairment

As at January 1, 2023 422,554

Amortisation 14,391
  

As at December 31, 2023 and January 1, 2024 436,945

Amortisation 14,266
  

As at December 31, 2024 451,211
  

Net carrying amount

As at December 31, 2023 33,662

As at December 31, 2024 24,268
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19.	 SUBSIDIARIES
The subsidiaries of the Company at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

Name of entity

Place of establishment/
incorporation
and operation Kind of legal entity

Issued share 
capital/registered 

capital
Percentage of equity attributable 

to the Company Principal activities
       

SMIC Shanghai # PRC Limited corporation USD2,440,000,000 Indirectly 100.00% Manufacturing and selling of 
semiconductor products

SMIC Beijing # PRC Limited corporation USD1,000,000,000 Indirectly 100.00% Manufacturing and selling of 
semiconductor products

SMIC Tianjin # PRC Limited corporation USD1,290,000,000 Indirectly 100.00% Manufacturing and selling of 
semiconductor products

SMIC Shenzhen # PRC Limited corporation USD2,415,000,000 Indirectly 55.05% Manufacturing and selling of 
semiconductor products

SMNC # PRC Limited corporation USD4,800,000,000 Indirectly 51.00% Manufacturing and selling of 
semiconductor products

SMSC # PRC Limited corporation USD6,500,000,000 Indirectly 38.52% Manufacturing and selling of 
semiconductor products

SMBC # PRC Limited corporation USD5,000,000,000 Indirectly 54.04% Manufacturing and selling of 
semiconductor products

SMOC # PRC Limited corporation USD5,500,000,000 Indirectly 67.03% Manufacturing and selling of 
semiconductor products

SMTC # PRC Limited corporation USD5,000,000,000 Indirectly 100.00% Manufacturing and selling of 
semiconductor products

SMIC New Technology # PRC Limited corporation USD400,000,000 Indirectly 100.00% Research and development 
activities

Better Way Enterprises Limited Samoa Limited corporation USD1,000,000 Directly 100.00% Provision of marketing related 
activities

SMIC, Americas United States of America Limited corporation USD500,000 Directly 100.00% Provision of marketing related 
activities

SMIC Japan Corporation Japan Limited corporation JPY10,000,000 Directly 100.00% Provision of marketing related 
activities

SMIC Europe S.R.L Italy Limited corporation EUR100,000 Directly 100.00% Provision of marketing related 
activities

Semiconductor Manufacturing International (BVI) 
Corporation

British Virgin Islands Limited corporation USD10 Directly 100.00% Provision of marketing related 
activities

SMIC Investment (Shanghai) Corporation # PRC Limited corporation USD465,800,000 Directly 100.00% Investment holding
SMIC Tianjin (Cayman) Corporation Cayman Islands Limited corporation USD50,000 Directly 100.00% Investment holding
SilTech Semiconductor Corporation Cayman Islands Limited corporation USD10,000 Directly 100.00% Investment holding
SilTech Semiconductor (Hong Kong) Corporation Limited Hong Kong, China Limited corporation HKD1,000 Indirectly 100.00% Investment holding
SilTech Semiconductor (Shanghai) Corporation Limited # PRC Limited corporation USD12,000,000 Indirectly 100.00% Investment holding
SMIC Holdings Corporation # PRC Limited corporation USD4,450,000,000 Directly 100.00% investment holding
Magnificent Tower Limited British Virgin Islands Limited corporation USD50,000 Indirectly 100.00% investment holding
China IC Capital Co., Ltd # PRC Limited corporation RMB3,458,000,000 Indirectly 100.00% Investment holding
China IC Capital (Ningbo) Co., Ltd # PRC Limited corporation RMB4,000,000,000 Indirectly 100.00% Investment holding
Shanghai Hexin Investment Management Limited 

Partnership #

PRC Limited partnership RMB50,000,000 Indirectly 99.00% Investment holding

Qingdao Juyuan Jintai Capital Fund, LLP # PRC Limited partnership RMB155,000,000 Indirectly 78.55% Investment holding
Shanghai SMIC Private School # PRC Non-profit private school RMB4,000,000 Indirectly 100.00% Private education
Beijing SMIC Private School # PRC Non-profit private school RMB5,000,000 Indirectly 100.00% Private education

       

#	 For identification purposes only.
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19.	 SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS
The non-wholly owned subsidiaries of the Company that have material non-controlling interests are SMNC and SMBC. 
The combined summary of financial information is set out below. The summarised financial information below represents 
amounts before intragroup eliminations.

2024 2023

USD’000 USD’000
   

Current assets 4,307,362 3,323,234

Non-current assets 7,924,810 7,297,608

Current liabilities (1,456,435) (1,115,001)

Non-current liabilities (660,622) (338,199)
   

Net assets 10,115,115 9,167,642
   

Equity attributable to owners of the Company 5,293,854 4,675,497

Non-controlling interests 4,821,261 4,492,145
   

Net assets 10,115,115 9,167,642
   

2024 2023

USD’000 USD’000
   

Revenue 2,162,158 1,654,369

Expense (2,132,610) (1,621,252)

Other income 44,495 31,455
   

Profit for the year 74,043 64,572
   

Profit attributable to owners of the Company 37,762 32,932

Profit attributable to the non-controlling interests 36,281 31,640
   

Profit for the year 74,043 64,572
   

Total comprehensive income attributable to owners of the Company 32,832 32,932

Total comprehensive income attributable to the non-controlling interests 41,211 31,640
   

Total comprehensive income for the year 74,043 64,572
   

Dividends paid to non-controlling interests – –
   

Net cash inflow from operating activities 1,615,077 1,146,884

Net cash outflow from investing activities (2,884,247) (2,025,828)

Net cash inflow from financing activities 1,162,031 844,255
   

Net cash outflow (107,139) (34,689)
   

20.	 INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES AND A JOINT VENTURE
The details of the Group’s material associates at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

Name of entity

Place of 

establishment and 

operation Class of share held

Statutory percentage 

of ownership interest 

attributable to the Group

2024 2023
     

Sino IC Leasing Shanghai, PRC Ordinary 8.17% 8.17%

NSI Zhejiang, PRC Ordinary 14.83% 14.83%

UNTC Zhejiang, PRC Ordinary 14.08% 14.10%
     

Among the above enterprises, NSI is a non-listed company. UNTC is listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange. Sino IC 
Leasing issued bonds on the Shanghai Stock Exchange. The share transfer registration procedures for the transfer of JCET 
shares from the Company’s subsidiary of SilTech Shanghai to PanShi Run Qi were completed on November 12, 2024, and 
SilTech Shanghai no longer holds any shares of JCET. Therefore, the Group’s material associates no longer include JCET.

In accordance with the Articles of Association of the investees, the Group has significant influence through the right the 
Group owned to appoint director(s) to the board of directors of the above companies.
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20.	 INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES AND A JOINT VENTURE (continued)
All of these associates are accounted for using the equity method in these consolidated financial statements. Summarised 
financial information in respect of the Group’s material associates, which include Sino IC Leasing, NSI and UNTC is below:

2024 2023

USD’000 USD’000
   

Current assets 3,405,860 2,860,176

Non-current assets 11,384,131 11,643,659

Current liabilities (1,654,221) (1,863,912)

Non-current liabilities (7,693,627) (7,620,466)
   

Net assets 5,442,143 5,019,457

Less: non-controlling interests (1,129,082) (552,606)
   

Equity attributable to owners of the associates 4,313,061 4,466,851
   

Share of equity of associates 469,572 492,353

Goodwill 1,452 1,452

Less: unrealised profit (8,892) (11,661)
   

Carrying amount of the Group’s interest 462,132 482,144
   

2024 2023

USD’000 USD’000
   

Total revenue 1,351,152 1,169,722

Profit attributable to owners (242,657) (372,267)

Total comprehensive income attributable to owners (300,684) (442,261)

Dividends received from the associates – 2,167
   

The following table illustrates the financial information of the Group’s remaining associates and a joint venture:

Investments in associates Investment in joint venture

2024 2023 2024 2023

USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000
     

Share of profit for the year 45,448 75,666 (2,238) 1,288

Share of total comprehensive income for the year 33,564 61,250 (2,255) 1,219

Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s investments 790,375 784,860 13 2,295
     

The associates and the joint venture included several investment funds, which measured their equity investments in 
portfolio investments at fair value. As of December 31, 2024, the carrying amount of those investment funds was 
US$682.3 million (December 31, 2023: US$705.0 million). The valuation of such portfolio investments is primarily based 
on a combination of adoption of applicable valuation methodology and the application of appropriate assumptions in 
the valuation. The unlisted equity investments in portfolio investments have been valued using recent transaction price 
or market approach, the listed equity investments in portfolio investments have been valued using quoted market prices 
adjusted for marketability and liquidity.



130

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended December 31, 2024

21.	 FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
The Group holds the following financial instruments:

2024 2023
Financial assets USD’000 USD’000

   

Non-current portion
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Listed equity securities 6,019 –
Restricted listed equity securities – 30,009
Unlisted equity securities 132,067 167,821
Structural deposits 289,287 284,139
Financial assets at amortised cost
Bank deposits maturing more than 1 year 3,747,134 6,891,233
Other financial assets at amortised cost
Restricted cash (Note 23) 372,514 256,071
Derivative financial instruments
Cross currency swap contracts — cash flow hedges – 1,306
Interest rate swap contracts — cash flow hedges – 10,781

   

Current portion
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Structural deposits 186,893 108,926
Monetary funds 85,364 105,703
Financial assets at amortised cost
Bank deposits maturing more than 3 months and within 1 year 4,206,926 2,948,991
Other financial assets at amortised cost
Cash and cash equivalents 6,364,189 6,215,058
Restricted cash (Note 23) – 179,536
Financial assets included in trade and other receivables(1) (Note 25) 490,045 605,236
Derivative financial instruments
Cross currency swap contracts — cash flow hedges 61,240 38,897
Interest rate swap contracts — cash flow hedges 4,814 3,939

   

15,946,492 17,847,646
   

(1)	 Financial assets included in trade and other receivables excluded the value-added tax to be deducted and tax recoverables.

2024 2023
Financial liabilities USD’000 USD’000

   

Non-current portion
Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Borrowings (Note 30) 8,038,148 8,334,648
Lease liabilities (Note 17) 7,751 26,280
Bonds payable (Note 31) – 599,115
Derivative financial instruments
Cross currency swap contracts — cash flow hedges 37,576 34,547

   

Current portion
Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Financial liabilities included in trade and other payables and accrued 

liabilities 3,195,306 3,550,863
Borrowings (Note 30) 2,926,311 1,216,283
Lease liabilities (Note 17) 18,529 32,340
Bonds payable (Note 31) 605,258 –
Derivative financial instruments
Cross currency swap contracts — cash flow hedges 86,218 90,180
Forward exchange contracts — cash flow hedges 11,647 –

   

14,926,744 13,884,256
   

The Group’s exposure to various risks associated with the financial instruments is discussed in Note 36.
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22.	 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The Group’s derivative financial instruments included cross currency swap contracts, interest rate swap contracts and 
forward exchange contracts, the carrying amounts of those derivative financial instruments were presented in Note 21.

CROSS CURRENCY SWAP CONTRACTS – CASH FLOW HEDGE
Cross currency swap contracts are designated as hedging instruments in cash flow hedges of outstanding bank deposits 
and debts denominated in foreign currency. It is the policy of the Group to enter into cross currency swap contracts 
to mitigate the impact of volatility of future cash flows caused by the changes in exchange rates associated with the 
balance of bank deposits and debts denominated in foreign currency.

The following table details the notional amounts and remaining terms of the cross currency swap contracts outstanding 
at the end of the reporting period:

Average exchange rate Notional value

2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023

RMB/JPY’000 RMB/JPY’000 USD’000 USD’000
       

Buy RMB

Within 1 year 7.1890 6.9259 37,511,422 20,769,845 5,217,915 2,932,476

1-5 years 6.7728 6.7624 3,615,000 7,455,000 533,753 1,052,565

Sell RMB

Within 1 year 6.9749 7.0802 3,714,145 19,314,757 532,500 2,727,033

Sell JPY

Within 1 year 152.1810 – 156,746,400 – 1,030,000 –
       

The impacts of the cross currency swap contracts on the statement of financial position are as follows:

Notional 

amount

Carrying amount Line item in the statement of 

financial position

Change in fair value 

used for measuring 

hedge ineffectiveness 

for the yearAssets Liabilities

RMB/JPY’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000
      

Buy RMB 41,126,422 15,659 (123,794) Derivative financial instrument (232,906)

Sell RMB 3,714,145 14,486 – Derivative financial instrument 119,584

Sell JPY 156,746,400 31,095 – Derivative financial instrument 56,992
      

The effects of the cross currency swap contracts on the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income 
are as follows:

Total hedging gain/

(loss) recognised in other 

comprehensive income

Hedge ineffectiveness 

recognised in profit 

or loss

Line item in 

the statement 

of profit or 

loss and other 

comprehensive 

income

Amount 

reclassified 

from other 

comprehensive 

income to profit 

or loss

Line item in the statement of  

profit or loss and other 

comprehensive income

USD’000 USD’000 USD’000
      

Buy RMB (232,906) – N/A 140,305 Foreign exchange gain, Finance costs

Sell RMB 119,584 – N/A (93,198) Foreign exchange gain, Finance costs

Sell JPY 56,992 – N/A (65,304) Foreign exchange gain, Finance costs
      

The Group does not enter into any cross currency swap contract for speculative purposes.
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22.	 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
INTEREST RATE SWAP CONTRACTS – CASH FLOW HEDGE
Interest rate swap contracts are designated as hedging instruments in cash flow hedges of debts with variable interest 
rates. Under interest rate swap contracts, the Company agrees to exchange the difference between fixed and floating 
rate interest amounts calculated on agreed notional principal amounts. Such contracts enable the Group to mitigate the 
risk of changing interest rates on the fair value of issued fixed rate debt and on the cash flow exposures of the issued 
variable rate debt.

The following table details the notional amounts and remaining terms of interest rate swap contracts outstanding at 
the end of the reporting period.

Average interest rate Notional value

2024 2023 2024 2023

USD’000 USD’000
     

Receive floating pay fixed rates

Within 1 year 1.51% 2.60% 142,000 152,000

1-5 years – 1.51% – 159,000
     

The impacts of the interest rate swap contracts on the statement of financial position are as follows:

Notional 

amount

Carrying amount Line item in the statement of 

financial position

Change in fair value 

used for measuring 

hedge ineffectiveness 

for the yearAssets Liabilities

USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000
      

Receive floating pay fixed rates 142,000 4,814 – Derivative financial instrument 14,677
      

The effects of the interest rate swap contracts on the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income are 
as follows:

Total hedging 

gain recognised 

in other 

comprehensive 

income

Hedge 

ineffectiveness 

recognised in 

profit or loss

Line item in 

the statement 

of profit or 

loss and other 

comprehensive 

income

Amount 

reclassified 

from other 

comprehensive 

income to profit 

or loss

Line item in 

the statement 

of profit or 

loss and other 

comprehensive 

income

USD’000 USD’000 USD’000
      

Receive floating pay fixed rates 14,677 – N/A (24,566) Finance costs
      

The interest rate swaps are settled on a quarterly basis. The floating rate on the interest rate swaps is based on Secured 
Overnight Financing Rate. The difference between the fixed and floating interest rates will be settled on a net basis.
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22.	 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
FORWARD EXCHANGE CONTRACTS – CASH FLOW HEDGE
Forward exchange contracts are designated as hedging instruments in cash flow hedges of outstanding bank deposits 
and debs denominated in foreign currency. It is the policy of the Group to enter into forward exchange contracts to 
mitigate the impact of volatility of future cash flows caused by the changes in exchange rates associated with the balance 
of bank deposits and debs denominated in foreign currency.

The following table details the notional amounts and remaining terms of the forward exchange contracts outstanding 
at the end of the reporting period:

Average exchange rate Notional value

2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000 USD’000 USD’000
       

Buy RMB

Within 1 year 7.0670 – 2,561,805 – 362,500 –
       

The impacts of the forward exchange contracts on the statement of financial position are as follows:

Notional 

amount

Carrying amount Line item in the statement of 

financial position

Change in fair value 

used for measuring 

hedge ineffectiveness 

for the yearAssets Liabilities

RMB’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000
      

Buy RMB 2,561,805 – (11,647) Derivative financial instrument (23,115)
      

The effects of the forward exchange contracts on the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income are 
as follows:

Total hedging gain/

(loss) recognised in other 

comprehensive income

Hedge ineffectiveness 

recognised in profit 

or loss

Line item in 

the statement 

of profit or 

loss and other 

comprehensive 

income

Amount 

reclassified 

from other 

comprehensive 

income to profit 

or loss

Line item in the statement of  

profit or loss and other 

comprehensive income

USD’000 USD’000 USD’000
      

Buy RMB (23,115) – N/A 17,135 Foreign exchange gain
      

23.	 RESTRICTED CASH
2024 2023

USD’000 USD’000
   

Non-current portion 372,514 256,071

Current portion – 179,536
   

372,514 435,607
   

As of December 31, 2024, the restricted cash consisted of bank time deposits pledged against secured borrowings of 
US$372.5 million (December 31, 2023: US$411.4 million).

24.	 INVENTORIES
2024 2023

USD’000 USD’000
   

Raw materials 1,520,167 1,265,914

Work in progress 1,105,683 1,068,664

Finished goods 332,500 401,343
   

2,958,350 2,735,921
   



134

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended December 31, 2024

25.	 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
2024 2023

USD’000 USD’000
   

Trade receivables 407,588 495,102

Allowance on doubtful trade receivables (Note 36) (1,034) (758)
   

406,554 494,344
   

Other receivables 9,175 10,427

Allowance on doubtful other receivables (Note 36) (157) (413)
   

9,018 10,014
   

Notes receivables 50,783 62,470

Value-added tax to be deducted 332,297 558,807

Tax recoverables 17,811 5,965

Investment receivables 17,533 3,884

Dividend and interest receivables – 25,820

Refundable deposits and surety 6,157 8,704
   

840,153 1,170,008
   

The following is an aging analysis of trade receivables presented based on the invoice date at the end of the reporting 
period.

2024 2023

Age of trade receivables USD’000 USD’000
   

Within 1 year 407,267 495,003

1-2 years 245 6

Over 3 years 76 93
   

407,588 495,102
   

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for goods sold or services rendered in the ordinary course of business, 
which are generally due for settlement within 30-90 days. Trade receivables are recognised initially at the amount of 
consideration that is unconditional unless they contain significant financing components, when they are recognised at 
fair value. The Group holds the trade receivables with the objective to collect the contractual cash flows and therefore 
measures them subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The Group does not hold any collateral 
or other credit enhancements over its trade receivable balances. Details about the Group’s impairment policies and the 
calculation of the loss allowance are provided in Note 36.

The following is an aging analysis of other receivables at the end of the reporting period.

2024 2023

Age of other receivables USD’000 USD’000
   

Within 1 year 8,972 8,920

1-2 years 64 1,297

2-3 years 33 29

Over 3 years 106 181
   

9,175 10,427
   

Due to the short-term nature of the current receivables, the carrying amounts of trade and other receivables are considered 
to be the same as their fair value.

26.	 ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD-FOR-SALE
As of December 31, 2024, the assets related to employee’s living quarters recognised as assets classified as held-for-
sales was US$19.4 million (December 31, 2023: US$22.0 million). The expected disposal expense was US$4.2 million 
(December 31, 2023: US$5.0 million).
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27.	 SHARES AND ISSUED CAPITAL
ISSUED AND FULLY PAID ORDINARY SHARES

Number of shares Ordinary shares Share premium

USD’000 USD’000
    

As at January 1, 2023 7,912,664,696 31,651 13,963,465

Issue of shares under share incentive plans (Note 35) 33,891,064 135 153,607
    

As at December 31, 2023 and January 1, 2024 7,946,555,760 31,786 14,117,072

Issue of shares under share incentive plans (Note 35) 29,594,206 119 149,287
    

As at December 31, 2024 7,976,149,966 31,905 14,266,359
    

28.	 OTHER RESERVES
EQUITY-SETTLED EMPLOYEE BENEFIT RESERVE
The equity-settled employee benefit reserve related to share options, RSUs and restricted shares granted by the Company 
to the Group’s employees under stock incentive plans. Items included in equity-settled employee benefit reserve will not 
be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss.

FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION RESERVE
Exchange differences relating to the translation of the results and net assets of the Group’s foreign operations from their 
functional currencies to the Group’s presentation currency (i.e. United States dollars) are recognised directly in other 
comprehensive income and accumulated in the foreign currency translation reserve. Exchange differences previously 
accumulated in the foreign currency translation reserve (in respect of translating the net assets of foreign operations) 
will be reclassified to profit or loss upon the disposal or deconsolidation of the foreign operation.

CASH FLOW HEDGES
To mitigate the impact of volatility of future cash flows caused by the changes in exchange rates and interest rate 
associated with outstanding debts, the Group entered into several cross currency swap contracts, interest rate swap 
contracts and forward exchange contracts, which were designated as hedging instruments. Any gains or losses arising 
from changes in fair value of these hedging instruments are taken directly to profit or loss, except for the effective 
portion of cash flow hedges, which is recognised in other comprehensive income/(loss) and later reclassified to profit or 
loss when the hedged item affects profit or loss.

The hedging reserve is used to record gains or losses on derivatives designated and qualified as cash flow hedges that 
are recognised in other comprehensive income. Amounts will be reclassified to profit or loss when the associated hedged 
transaction affects profit or loss.

2024 2023

USD’000 USD’000
   

Other comprehensive income on cash flow hedges recognised

Fair value (loss)/gain (64,768) 16,967

Offset foreign exchange loss (18,548) (1,858)

Deducted finance cost (7,080) (95,742)

Deferred tax liabilities (2,173) –
   

(92,569) (80,633)

As at January 1, 14,300 94,933
   

As at December 31, (78,269) 14,300
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29.	 RETAINED EARNINGS
As stipulated by the relevant laws and regulations applicable to China’s foreign investment enterprise, the Company’s 
PRC subsidiaries are required or allowed to make appropriations to non-distributable reserves. The general reserve fund 
requires annual appropriation of 10% of after tax profit (as determined under accounting principles generally accepted 
in the PRC at each year-end), after offsetting accumulated losses from prior years, until the accumulative amount of such 
reserve fund reaches 50% of the registered capital of the relevant subsidiaries. The general reserve fund can only be 
used to increase the registered capital and eliminate future losses of the relevant subsidiaries under the PRC regulations.

30.	 BORROWINGS
2024 2023

At amortised cost USD’000 USD’000
   

Short-term bank borrowings – unsecured 148,901 479,337
   

Long-term bank borrowings – secured

– Guaranteed loans 2,823,130 2,827,484

– Pledged loans 200,738 276,200

Long-term bank borrowings – unsecured 7,791,690 5,967,910
   

10,964,459 9,550,931
   

Current portion

Short-term bank borrowings 148,901 479,337

Current maturities of long-term bank borrowings 2,777,410 736,946
   

2,926,311 1,216,283
   

Non-current portion

Non-current maturities of long-term bank borrowings 8,038,148 8,334,648
   

10,964,459 9,550,931
   

Borrowing by repayment schedule

Within 1 year 2,926,311 1,216,283

1-2 years 2,542,005 2,802,153

2-5 years 2,396,414 2,707,835

Over 5 years 3,099,729 2,824,660
   

10,964,459 9,550,931
   

As of December 31, 2024, the pledged loans of US$200.7 million (December 31,2023: US$276.2 million) were secured 
by the pledge of bank deposits (Note 23).

The carrying amounts of the Group’s borrowings are denominated in the following currencies:

2024 2023

USD’000 USD’000
   

RMB 10,421,541 8,614,664

USD 542,918 936,267
   

10,964,459 9,550,931
   

The weighted average effective interest rates of borrowings are set out as follows:

2024 2023

USD’000 USD’000
   

RMB 1.68% 2.10%

USD 3.26% 3.54%
   

Interest rates above do not include effect by hedging Instruments.
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31.	 BONDS PAYABLE
On February 27, 2020, the Company issued 5-year unsecured corporate bonds for a total amount of US$600.0 million 
on the Singapore Exchange. The corporate bonds carry a coupon interest rate of 2.693% with bond interest payable 
semi-annually on February 27 and August 27. As of the issue date, the net book value of the liabilities amounted to 
US$596.4 million after deducting transaction cost in connection with the offering of the bonds.

USD’000
  

Principal amount 600,000

Discount of bonds payable (3,232)

Transaction cost (368)
  

596,400
  

The movement of the corporate bonds is set out below:

USD’000
  

As at January 1, 2023 598,379

Interest charged 16,893

Interest payable recognised (16,157)
  

As at December 31, 2023 and January 1, 2024 599,115

Interest charged (Note 8) 16,915

Interest payable recognised (10,772)
  

As at December 31, 2024 605,258
  

32.	 DEFERRED INCOME
Government funding is recorded as deferred income upon receipt and recognised as other operating income over the 
useful life of equipment or until the milestones specified in the terms of the funding have been reached. In 2024, the 
Group receives government funding of US$261.8 million (2023: US$96.0 million) and recognised US$168.0 million (2023: 
US$166.1 million) as other operating income.

33.	 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
2024 2023

USD’000 USD’000
   

Payables for property, plant and equipment 1,818,770 2,123,363

Trade payables 789,525 700,642

Deposits received 468,376 544,564

Others 203,694 359,353
   

3,280,365 3,727,922
   

Trade and other payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally settled on terms of 30 to 60 days.
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33.	 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continued)
The following is an aging analysis of trade payables and payables for property, plant and equipment presented based 
on the invoice date at the end of the reporting period:

2024 2023

Age of payables USD’000 USD’000
   

Within 30 days 2,431,182 2,717,453

31-60 days 126,139 79,238

Over 60 days 50,974 27,314
   

2,608,295 2,824,005
   

The carrying amounts of trade and other payables are considered to be the same as their fair values, due to their short- 
term nature.

34.	 ACCRUED LIABILITIES
The amounts of accrued liabilities as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 were US$362.0 million and US$298.0 million, 
within which the amounts of accrued bonus were US$278.7 million and US$201.4 million, respectively.

35.	 SHARE-BASED PAYMENT
SHARE INCENTIVE PLANS
The below share incentive plans allow the Company to offer the below incentive awards to employees of the Group.

The expense arising from equity-settled share-based payments for the year ended December 31, 2024 was US$50.5million 
(2023: US$86.9 million).

2014 Stock option plan
As the 2024 Equity Incentive Plan has been approved at the annual general meeting held on June 28, 2023 and the 
Board has resolved to terminate the 2014 Stock Option Plan, the 2014 Stock Option Plan shall become expired on the 
effective date of the 2024 Equity Incentive Plan. Upon termination of the 2014 Stock Option Plan, no further options 
may be offered, but the options granted before the termination shall be retained and continue to vest in accordance 
with, and subject to the terms of the 2014 Stock Option Plan.

The options are granted at the fair market value of the Company’s ordinary shares and expire 10 years from the date 
of grant and vest over a requisite service period of 4 years. Options to purchase Ordinary Shares granted before January 
1, 2018 and issued to new employees and then-existing employees generally vest at a rate pursuant to which 25% of 
the shares shall vest on the first anniversary of the vesting commencement date, an additional 1/36 of the remaining 
shares shall vest monthly upon the second, third, and fourth anniversary of the vesting commencement date, respectively. 
Options to purchase Ordinary Shares granted after January 1, 2018 and issued to new employees and existing employees 
generally vest at a rate of 25% upon the first, second, third, and fourth anniversary of the vesting commencement date, 
respectively.
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35.	 SHARE-BASED PAYMENT (continued)
SHARE INCENTIVE PLANS (continued)
2014 Equity Incentive Plan
As the 2024 Equity Incentive Plan has been approved at the annual general meeting held on June 28, 2023 and the 
Board has resolved to terminate the 2014 Equity Incentive Plan, the 2014 Equity Incentive Plan shall become expired 
on the effective date of the 2024 Equity Incentive Plan. Upon termination of the 2014 Equity Incentive Plan, no further 
RSUs may be offered, but RSUs granted before the termination shall be retained and continue to vest in accordance 
with, and subject to the terms of the 2014 Equity Incentive Plan.

Awards granted under the 2014 Equity Incentive Plan vest over a four-year or three-year period. Awards may vest 
based on time or achievement of performance conditions. The RSUs issued before April 1, 2023 to new employees and 
existing employees generally vest at a rate of 25% upon the first, second, third, and fourth anniversary of the vesting 
commencement date, respectively. The RSUs issued after April 1, 2023 (included) to existing employees generally vest 
at a rate of 50%,30%,20% on the vesting commencement date and on the subsequent first and second anniversary, 
respectively.

2024 Equity Incentive Plan
Part of employees of the Group participate in the Company’s 2024 Equity Incentive Plan. The RSUs issued to participants 
by the Group generally vest at a rate of 50%, 30%, 20% on the vesting commencement date and on the subsequent 
first and second anniversary, respectively.

2021 STAR Market Restricted Share Incentive Scheme
The restricted shares granted under the scheme may be vested in tranches as per the agreed proportions 30%, 25%, 
25%, 20% upon the awardees satisfying the corresponding vesting conditions. A vest date must be a trading day within 
the validity period of the scheme, and shall not fall within the lock-up periods.

The validity period of the scheme will commence from the grant date of the first grant, until the date on which all 
restricted shares granted to awardees have been vested or lapsed, such period shall not exceed 72 months.

MOVEMENTS DURING THE YEAR
2014 Stock Option Plan
The following table illustrates the number and weighted average exercise prices (“WAEP”) of, and movements in, stock 
options during the year:

2024 2024 2023 2023

Number WAEP Number WAEP     

Outstanding at January 1 21,124,955 HKD17.75 31,802,132 HKD15.54

Lapsed during this year (880,841) HKD20.76 (1,384,857) HKD20.32

Exercised during this year (4,940,425) HKD16.84 (9,292,320) HKD9.80
     

Outstanding at December 31 15,303,689 HKD17.88 21,124,955 HKD17.75     

Exercisable at December 31 10,592,453 HKD18.53 13,187,828 HKD17.26     

The weighted average closing price of the Company’s shares immediately before the dates while the stock options were 
exercised was HKD26.63 (2023: HKD20.11).

The range of exercise prices for options outstanding at the end of the year was from HKD6.42 to HKD24.50 (2023: 
from HKD6.40 to HKD24.50).

No stock options were granted in 2024.
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35.	 SHARE-BASED PAYMENT (continued)
MOVEMENTS DURING THE YEAR (continued)
2014 Equity Incentive Plan
The following table illustrates the number and purchase price of, and movements in, 2014 RSUs during the year:

2024 2024 2023 2023

Number Purchase price Number Purchase price
     

Unvested at January 1 9,982,902 HKD0.031 12,016,129 HKD0.031

Granted during this year – HKD0.031 6,486,093 HKD0.031

Lapsed during this year (293,738) HKD0.031 (1,097,849) HKD0.031

Vested during this year (4,888,123) HKD0.031 (7,421,471) HKD0.031
     

Unvested at December 31 4,801,041 HKD0.031 9,982,902 HKD0.031
     

The weighted average closing price of the Company’s shares immediately before the dates on which the 2014 RSUs were 
vested was HKD16.47 (2023: HKD17.60).

No 2014 RSUs were granted in 2024.

2024 Equity Incentive Plan
The following table illustrates the number and purchase price of, and movements in, 2024 RSUs during the year:

2024 2024

Number Purchase price
   

Granted during this year 8,784,806 HKD0.031

Lapsed during this year (232,248) HKD0.031

Vested during this year (4,372,532) HKD0.031
   

Unvested at December 31 4,180,026 HKD0.031
   

The weighted average closing price of the Company’s shares immediately before the dates on which the 2024 RSUs 
were vested was HKD15.20.

2024 RSUs was granted on April 1 and July 1, 2024 with the fair value of HKD15.13, HKD17.09, respectively.

The valuation of the 2024 RSUs is based on ordinary stock price on grant date.

2021 STAR Market Restricted Share Incentive Scheme
The following table illustrates the number and grant price of, and movements in, restricted shares during the year:

2024 2024 2023 2023

Number Grant price Number Grant price
     

Unvested at January 1 29,640,860 RMB20 49,923,896 RMB20

Lapsed during this year (1,737,183) RMB20 (4,076,584) RMB20

Vested during this year (14,749,957) RMB20 (16,206,452) RMB20
     

Unvested at December 31 13,153,720 RMB20 29,640,860 RMB20
     

No restricted shares were granted in 2024.
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36.	 RISK MANAGEMENT
CAPITAL MANAGEMENT
The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as going concerns while 
maximising the return to stakeholders through the optimisation of the capital structure.

The Group balances its overall capital structure through new share issues, share buy-backs, the issue of new debt or the 
repayment of existing debt, and reviews the capital structure on an interim basis.

This section sets out an analysis of net debt as below:

2024 2023

Net Debt USD’000 USD’000
   

Borrowings 10,964,459 9,550,931

Lease liabilities 26,280 58,620

Bonds payable 605,258 599,115
   

Subtotal 11,595,997 10,208,666
   

Less:

Cash and cash equivalents 6,364,189 6,215,058

Restricted cash 372,514 435,607

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss – current portion 272,257 214,629

Financial assets at amortised cost 7,954,060 9,840,224
   

(3,367,023) (6,496,852)
   

The gearing ratio at end of the reporting period was as follows:

2024 2023

USD’000 USD’000
   

Net debt (3,367,023) (6,496,852)

Equity 31,869,658 30,845,616
   

Net debt to equity ratio -10.6% -21.1%
   

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
The Group’s principal financial instruments, other than derivatives, comprise borrowings, lease liabilities, bonds payables, 
restricted cash, cash and cash equivalents, and bank deposits maturing more than 3 months. The main purpose of these 
financial instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s operations. The Group has various other financial assets and 
liabilities such as trade receivables and trade payables, which arise directly from its operations.

The Group also enters into derivative transactions, including principally cross currency swaps and interest rate swaps. The 
purpose is to manage the interest rate and currency risks arising from the Group’s operations and its sources of finance.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk 
and liquidity risk. The board of directors reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks and they are 
summarised below.
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36.	 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
MARKET RISK
The Group’s activities expose it primarily to the financial risks of changes in foreign currency exchange rates and interest 
rates. The Group enters into a variety of derivative financial instruments to manage its exposure to foreign currency risk 
and interest rate risk, including:

•	 cross currency swap contracts and forward exchange contracts to mitigate the impact of volatility of future cash 
flows caused by the fluctuation in exchange rates associated with outstanding long-term debts and financial asset 
at amortised cost denominated in a currency other than the USD; and

•	 interest rate swaps to mitigate the risk of rising interest rates.

Market risk exposures are measured using the sensitivity analysis and the analysis in the following sections relate to the 
position as of December 31, 2024.

There has been no change in the Group’s exposure to market risks or the manner in which these risks are managed 
and measured.

FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK
The Group undertakes transactions denominated in foreign currencies, consequently, exposures to exchange rate 
fluctuations arise. Exchange rate exposures are managed within approved policy parameters utilising forward exchange 
contracts.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities, considering 
the effects of derivative financial instruments, at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

Liabilities Assets

2024 2023 2024 2023

USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000
     

EUR 107,303 281,233 108,179 269,997

JPY 116,986 186,501 1,110,336 179,454

RMB 6,501,194 6,580,281 8,069,219 8,196,808

Others 141,734 122,799 16,209 6,023
     

Foreign currency sensitivity analysis
The Group is mainly exposed to the currency of RMB.

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5% increase in the USD against RMB, which represents management’s 
assessment of the reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding 
foreign currency denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation at the period end for a 5% change in foreign 
currency rates. For a 5% decrease of the USD against RMB, there would be an equal and opposite impact on the profit 
or loss after tax below predicted.

2024 2023

USD’000 USD’000
   

Profit after tax (74,606) (83,825)
   

INTEREST RATE RISK
The Group is exposed to interest rate risk relates primarily to the Group’s long-term borrowing obligations, which the 
Group generally assumes to fund capital expenditures and working capital requirements. The risk is managed by the 
Group by maintaining an appropriate mix between fixed and floating rate borrowings, and by the use of interest rate 
swap contracts.
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36.	 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
INTEREST RATE RISK (continued)
Interest rate sensitivity analysis
The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s long-term debt 
obligations with a floating interest rate.

The Group’s policy is to manage its interest cost using a mix of fixed and variable rate debts. To manage this mix in a 
cost-effective manner, the Group enters into interest rate swaps, in which the Group agrees to exchange, at specified 
intervals, the difference between fixed and variable rate interest amounts calculated by reference to an agreed-upon 
notional principal amount. At December 31, 2024, after taking into account the effect of the interest rate swaps, 
approximately 79% (2023: 58%) of the Group’s interest-bearing borrowings bore interest at fixed rates.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a 50bps increase in interest rates, with all other variables held constant, 
of the Group’s profit after tax (through the impact on floating rate borrowings) and the Group’s equity. For a 50bps 
decrease of interest rates, there would be an equal and opposite impact on the profit or loss after tax below predicted.

2024 2023

USD’000 USD’000
   

Profit after tax (13,916) (18,149)
   

PRICE RISK
The Group’s exposure to equity securities price risk arises from investments held by the Group and classified in the 
consolidated statement of financial position as at fair value through profit or loss (Note 21).

On December 31, 2024, 5% increase/(decrease) in equity securities price would result in increase/(decrease) in profit by 
US$5.18 million (December 31, 2023: US$7.42 million).

CREDIT RISK
Credit risk refers to the risk that counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the 
Group. The Group is mainly exposed to credit risk from trade receivables, other receivables, other financial assets at 
amortised cost, including bank deposits, interest receivables, notes receivables, restricted cash, investment receivables, 
refundable deposits and surety, and the financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, including structural deposits, 
monetary funds and derivative financial instruments.

Customer credit risk is managed subject to the Group’s established policy. It is the Group’s policy that all customers 
who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures and is offered credit terms only with 
the approval from Finance and Sales Division. Credit quality of a customer is assessed using publicly available financial 
information and its own trading records to rate its major customers. The Group’s exposure and credit ratings of its 
counterparties are continuously monitored. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the 
result that the Group’s exposure to bad debts is not significant.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had certain concentrations of credit risk as 20.3% (2023: 38.1%) and 
50.4% (2023: 61.5%) of the Group’s trade receivables were due from the Group’s largest customer and five largest 
customers, respectively.

The Group applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to measure expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected loss 
allowance for all trade receivables. To measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables and other receivables have 
been grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics and aging.

The loss allowance as of December 31, 2024 for trade receivables was determined using simplified approach as follows:

2024 Balance

Expected  

loss rate

Allowance 

on doubtful 

receivables
    

Within 1 year 407,267 0.23% 918

1-2 years 245 16.26% 40

Over 3 years 76 100% 76
    

407,588 1,034
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36.	 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
CREDIT RISK (continued)

2023 Balance

Expected  

loss rate

Allowance 

on doubtful 

receivables
    

Within 1 year 495,003 0.13% 664

1-2 years 6 23.08% 1

Over 3 years 93 100% 93
    

495,102 758
    

For other receivables, the Group recognises lifetime ECL when there has been a significant increase in credit risk since 
initial recognition. However, if the credit risk on other receivables has not increased significantly since initial recognition, 
the Group measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to 12-month ECL. Based on the assessment, the impairment 
loss reversed during the year for other receivables was US$0.3 million.

The closing allowance on doubtful trade receivables and other receivables as of December 31, 2024 reconcile to the 
opening balance as follows:

2024 2023

USD’000 USD’000
   

As at January 1, 1,171 2,426

Addition/(reversal) in allowance on doubtful trade receivables 363 (802)

Reversal in allowance on doubtful other receivables (256) (453)

Write off in allowance on doubtful trade receivables (87) –
   

As at December 31, 1,191 1,171
   

The main credit risk on bank deposits, interest receivables, notes receivables, restricted cash, structural deposits, monetary 
funds and derivative financial instruments is limited because the counterparties are banks and financing institutions with 
high credit-ratings.

The above-mentioned financial assets are considered to have low credit risk as there is no significant increase in credit risk 
since the initial recognition. The maximum exposure at the end of the year is the carrying amount. The credit exposure 
of the above-mentioned other financial assets at amortised cost are classified as stage 1, for which the loss allowance 
is measured at an amount equal to 12-month ECLs.
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36.	 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
LIQUIDITY RISK
The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds considering the maturity of both its financial instruments and financial 
assets (e.g., trade receivables) and projected cash flows from operations. The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance 
between continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, lease 
liabilities and bonds.

The following tables detail the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities with 
agreed repayment periods. The tables have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities 
based on the earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay. The tables include both interest and principal 
cash flows. To the extent that interest flows are floating rate, the undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate 
curves at the end of the reporting period. The contractual maturity is based on the earliest date on which the Group 
may be required to pay.

Weighted 

average 

effective 

interest rate

Less than 3 

months

3 months to 

1 year 1-5 years Over 5 years Total

2024 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000
        

Interest-bearing bank and 

other borrowings Fixed 1.62% 235,155 691,067 4,164,281 2,425,973 7,516,476

Floating 2.01% 21,205 2,153,231 1,593,777 425,700 4,193,913

Lease liabilities 3.70%-5.00% 8,259 10,614 7,753 – 26,626

Bonds payable 2.69% 608,079 – – – 608,079

Financial liabilities included in 

trade and other payables 

and accrual liabilities 2,892,724 296,337 – – 3,189,061
        

3,765,422 3,151,249 5,765,811 2,851,673 15,534,155
        

Weighted 

average 

effective 

interest rate

Less than 3 

months

3 months to 

1 year 1-5 years Over 5 years Total

2023 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000
        

Interest-bearing bank and 

other borrowings Fixed 2.10% 111,760 620,182 4,267,383 2,231,647 7,230,972

Floating 2.54% 405,588 276,964 2,051,940 556,247 3,290,739

Lease liabilities 3.70%-5.00% 8,430 25,054 26,718 – 60,202

Bonds payable 2.69% 8,079 8,079 608,079 – 624,237

Financial liabilities included in 

trade and other payables 

and accrual liabilities 3,232,116 306,727 – – 3,538,843
        

3,765,973 1,237,006 6,954,120 2,787,894 14,744,993
        

The amounts included above for variable interest rate instruments for non-derivative financial liabilities are subject to 
change if changes in variable interest rates differ to those estimates of interest rates determined at the end of the 
reporting period.

Interest rates above do not include effect by hedging instruments.
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36.	 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
LIQUIDITY RISK (continued)
The following table details the Group’s liquidity analysis for the cross currency swap contracts and interest rate swap 
contract. The table has been drawn up based on the undiscounted inflows and outflows on those derivatives.

Less than 

3 months

3 months 

to 1 year

1 year 

to 5 years

Over 

5 years Total

2024 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000
      

Cross currency swap contracts  
— cash flow hedges

Gross settled:
– inflows 2,637,322 4,166,832 513,217 – 7,317,371

– outflows (2,580,658) (4,190,041) (552,433) – (7,323,132)
      

Interest rate swap contracts  
— cash flow hedges

Gross settled:

– inflows 2,323 5,914 – – 8,237

– outflows (524) (1,334) – – (1,858)
      

Forward exchange contracts  
— cash flow hedges

Gross settled:

– inflows 188,928 167,428 – – 356,356

– outflows (193,000) (169,500) – – (362,500)
      

54,391 (20,701) (39,216) – (5,526)
      

Less than 

3 months

3 months 

to 1 year

1 year 

to 5 years

Over 

5 years Total

2023 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000
      

Cross currency swap contracts  
— cash flow hedges

Gross settled:

– inflows 2,066,035 3,685,054 1,090,536 – 6,841,625

– outflows (2,077,153) (3,673,272) (1,158,686) – (6,909,111)
      

Interest rate swap contracts  
— cash flow hedges

Gross settled:

– inflows 5,214 10,321 8,236 – 23,771

– outflows (1,566) (2,723) (1,859) – (6,148)
      

(7,470) 19,380 (61,773) – (49,863)
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37.	 FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, financial assets at amortised 
cost, financial assets included in trade and other receivables, lease liabilities, financial liabilities included in trade and 
other payables and accrued liabilities, borrowings and bonds payable approximate to their carrying amounts.

VALUATION PROCESSES
The finance department performs the valuations of financial assets required for financial reporting purposes and reports 
directly to the Person-in-charge of Finance. Discussions of valuation processes, results and change analyses are held by 
the Person-in-charge of Finance and the financial team annually, in line with the Group’s yearly reporting periods. The 
valuation is reviewed by the audit committee.

VALUATION TECHNIQUES AND ASSUMPTIONS APPLIED FOR THE PURPOSES OF MEASURING 
FAIR VALUE
The fair values of financial instruments are based on quoted market prices in active markets and valuation techniques that 
use observable market-based inputs or unobservable inputs that are corroborated by market data. Pricing information that 
the Group obtains from third parties is internally validated for reasonableness prior to use in the consolidated financial 
statements. When observable market prices are not readily available, the Group generally estimates the fair value using 
valuation techniques that rely on alternate market data or inputs that are generally less readily observable from objective 
sources and are estimated based on pertinent information available at the time of the applicable reporting periods. In 
certain cases, fair values are not subject to precise quantification or verification and may fluctuate as economic and 
market factors vary and the Group’s evaluation of those factors changes.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS RECOGNISED IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 
POSITION
The following tables provide an analysis of financial instruments that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis 
subsequent to initial recognition, grouped into Levels 1 to 3 based on the degree to which the fair value is observable. 
There is no transfer within different levels of the fair value hierarchy in the year ended December 31, 2024:

•	 Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active market for identical 
assets or liabilities;

•	 Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 
that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); 
and

•	 Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that include inputs for the asset or 
liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).
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37.	 FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS RECOGNISED IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 
POSITION (continued)

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

2024 Valuation techniques USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000
      

Financial assets

Listed equity securities Quoted market prices 6,019 – – 6,019

Unlisted equity securities Valuation multiples or the latest 

price method of financing – – 132,067 132,067

Structural deposits Monte Carlo simulation – – 476,180 476,180

Monetary funds Observable prices 85,364 – – 85,364

Cross currency swap contracts  

– cash flow hedges

The present value of the estimated 

future cash flows based on 

observable yield curves – 61,240 – 61,240

Interest rate swap contracts  

– cash flow hedges

The present value of the estimated 

future cash flows based on 

observable yield curves – 4,814 – 4,814
      

91,383 66,054 608,247 765,684
      

Financial liabilities

Cross currency swap contracts  

– cash flow hedges

The present value of the estimated 

future cash flows based on 

observable yield curves – 123,794 – 123,794

Forward exchange contracts  

– cash flow hedges

The present value of the estimated 

future cash flows based on 

observable yield curves – 11,647 – 11,647
      

– 135,441 – 135,441
      

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

2023 Valuation techniques USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000
      

Financial assets

Restricted listed equity securities Asian option pricing model – – 30,009 30,009

Unlisted equity securities Valuation multiples or the latest 

price method of financing – – 167,821 167,821

Structural deposits Monte Carlo simulation – – 393,065 393,065

Monetary funds Observable prices 105,703 – – 105,703

Cross currency swap contracts  

– cash flow hedges

The present value of the estimated 

future cash flows based on 

observable yield curves – 40,203 – 40,203

Interest rate swap contracts  

– cash flow hedges

The present value of the estimated 

future cash flows based on 

observable yield curves – 14,720 – 14,720
      

105,703 54,923 590,895 751,521
      

Financial liabilities

Cross currency swap contracts  

– cash flow hedges

The present value of the estimated 

future cash flows based on 

observable yield curves – 124,727 – 124,727
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37.	 FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS USING SIGNIFICANT UNOBSERVABLE INPUTS (LEVEL 3)
The following table presents the changes in level 3 instruments for the year ended:

Restricted  

listed equity  

securities

Unlisted  

equity  

securities

Structural  

deposits Total

USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000
     

As at January 1, 2023 37,172 170,486 290,523 498,181

Additions – 9,786 1,069,641 1,079,427

Disposals (16,990) (34,450) (956,876) (1,008,316)

Gain recognised 10,747 25,275 12,448 48,470

Foreign exchange loss (920) (3,276) (22,671) (26,867)
     

As at December 31, 2023 and January 1, 2024 30,009 167,821 393,065 590,895

Additions – 9,056 740,648 749,704

Disposals – (33,809) (661,111) (694,920)

Transfer out (30,457) – – (30,457)

Gain recognised 448 (8,874) 7,161 (1,265)

Foreign exchange loss – (2,127) (3,583) (5,710)
     

As at December 31, 2024 – 132,067 476,180 608,247
     

During the year, as the lock-up period of the restricted listed equity securities held by the Group expired, these securities 
became quoted in an active market. Consequently, their fair value was reclassified from Level 3 to Level 1 of the fair 
value hierarchy, with a transfer amount of US$30.5 million. Moreover, throughout the year, there were no other material 
transfers between different levels of the fair value hierarchy for the Group’s financial instruments.

VALUATION INPUTS AND RELATIONSHIPS TO FAIR VALUE
The following table summarises the quantitative information about the significant unobservable inputs used in level 3 
fair value measurements:

2024

Fair value 

(USD’000) Valuation techniques Unobservable input
    

Unlisted equity securities 132,067 Valuation multiples or the latest price 

method of financing

Average PE, PS, EVS multiple of peers 

and the latest price of financing

Structural deposits 476,180 Monte Carlo simulation Brownian motion process
    

2023

Fair value 

(USD’000) Valuation techniques Unobservable input
    

Unlisted equity securities 167,821 Valuation multiples or the latest price 

method of financing

Average PE, PS, EVS multiple of peers 

and the latest price of financing

Restricted listed equity securities 30,009 Asian option pricing model Liquidity discounts

Structural deposits 393,065 Monte Carlo simulation Brownian motion process
    

The sensitivity analysis of unobservable inputs as of December 31, 2024 is summarised as below:

The higher the average PE, PS, EVS multiple of peers, the higher the fair value.

The higher the latest price of financing, the higher the fair value.

The higher the liquidity discounts, the lower the fair value.
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38.	 CASH FLOW INFORMATION
CHANGES IN LIABILITIES ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Borrowings

Lease 

liabilities

Bonds 

payable Total

Liabilities from financing activities USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000
     

As at January 1, 2023 7,986,522 109,531 598,379 8,694,432

Net cash flows in/(out) 1,738,468 (51,981) – 1,686,487

Acquisition – leases – 1,226 – 1,226

Interest charged 190,109 2,422 16,893 209,424

Interest payable recognised (190,109) (2,422) (16,157) (208,688)

Foreign exchange loss (174,059) (156) – (174,215)
     

As at December 31, 2023 and January 1, 2024 9,550,931 58,620 599,115 10,208,666

Net cash flows in/(out) 1,538,799 (32,345) – 1,506,454

Interest charged 279,053 1,143 16,915 297,111

Interest payable recognised (277,977) (1,143) (10,772) (289,892)

Foreign exchange (loss)/gain (126,347) 5 – (126,342)
     

As at December 31, 2024 10,964,459 26,280 605,258 11,595,997
     

NON-CASH INVESTING AND FINANCING ACTIVITIES

2024 2023

USD’000 USD’000
   

Increase of right-of-use assets (excluded land-use right) – 1,226
   

TOTAL CASH OUTFLOW OF LEASES
The total cash outflow for leases included in the statement of cash flows is as follows:

2024 2023

USD’000 USD’000
   

Within operating activities 16,038 9,812

Within financing activities 32,345 72,424
   

48,383 82,236
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38.	 CASH FLOW INFORMATION (continued)
CURRENCIES IN WHICH CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ARE HELD

2024 2023

USD’000 USD’000
   

RMB 4,960,735 5,365,279

JPY 1,110,304 179,422

USD 170,550 394,086

EUR 108,179 269,998

HKD 13,455 6,273

TWD 966 –
   

6,364,189 6,215,058
   

39.	 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
The names of the related parties which had transactions with the Group for the year ended December 31, 2024 and the 
relationships with the Group are disclosed below:

Related party name Relationship  

Subsidiaries of Datang Holdings (“Datang“) Datang Holdings through Datang HK indirectly holding 

more than 5% shares of the Company

Toppan An associate of the Group

Brite and its subsidiaries An associate of the Group

China Fortune-Tech An associate of the Group

Sino IC Leasing and its subsidiaries An associate of the Group

UNTC An associate of the Group

NSI An associate of the Group

SGS An associate of the Group

Semiconductor Technology Innovation Center (Beijing) 

Co., Ltd. (“Beijing Innovation Center”)

An associate of the Group

JCET and its subsidiaries An associate of the Group in the past 12 months

Key Management Personnel who have transactions with 

the Group

Directors and senior management personnel
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39.	 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)
TRADING TRANSACTIONS
During the year, the Group’s transactions with related parties that are not members of the Group are as below:

2024 2023

USD’000 USD’000    

Sale of goods and services

Beijing Innovation Center Sale of goods and services 114,456 60,047

Brite and its subsidiaries Sale of goods and services 74,247 100,998

NSI Sale of goods 22,277 12,866

Datang(1) Sale of goods and services 12,498 16,634    

Purchase of goods and services

Toppan Purchase of goods 9,580 4,260

Beijing Innovation Center Purchase of services 7,131 3,127

China Fortune-Tech Purchase of services 487 745

SGS Purchase of goods 468 134

JCET and its subsidiaries Purchase of services 443 729    

Transfer of assets

SGS Purchase of equipment 2,904 18,368

Sino IC Leasing and its subsidiaries Purchase of equipment – 229,066    

Group as a lessor

Toppan Rent income 5,437 4,751

China Fortune-Tech Rent income 930 860

SGS Rent income 591 713

Beijing Innovation Center Rent income 79 411

UNTC Rent income – 103

NSI Rent income 3 23    

Group as a lessee

Sino IC Leasing and its subsidiaries Payment of lease liabilities 32,717 53,754     

(1)	 The related party transactions above constituted non-exempt continuing connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of 
the Hong Kong Listing Rules. Details are disclosed in “IV.(I) Non-exempt Continuing Connected Transactions Disclosed under the 
Hong Kong Listing Rules” in “Section 8 Significant Events” in the annual report. The other party transactions did not constitute 
non-exempt continuing connected transaction under Chapter 14A of the Hong Kong Listing Rules.

The pricing of trading transactions with related parties that are not members of the Group refers to the pricing standards 
of third parties for comparable product or services at the same time and in the same region.
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39.	 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)
TRADING TRANSACTIONS (continued)
The following balances were outstanding at the end of the reporting period:

Amounts due from  

related parties

Amounts due to  

related parties

2024 2023 2024 2023

USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000
     

Brite and its subsidiaries 6,769 8,216 347 5,916

SGS 18 3,700 1,462 2,281

Toppan 1,016 1,002 375 689

Beijing Innovation Center 15,960 38,923 10,530 19,172

China Fortune-Tech 15 223 71 55

Sino IC Leasing and its 

subsidiaries – – 24,403 56,097

Datang 13 – 1,196 2,414

NSI 4,924 4,415 1,933 5,625

JCET and its subsidiaries – – – 51
     

The balances are unsecured and interest-free and repayable on demand.

EMOLUMENTS OF KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL
Directors and senior management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing 
and controlling the activities of the Group, directly or indirectly.

The emoluments of directors and senior management personnel during the year are as follows:

2024 2023

USD’000 USD’000
   

Salaries, bonus and benefits 5,633 6,519

State-managed pension 41 41

Equity-settled share-based payment expense 2,312 2,814
   

7,986 9,374
   

The emoluments of directors and senior management personnel is determined by the Compensation Committee in regard 
to the Group’s profitability, business achievement, individual performance and market trends.

The numbers of senior management whose remuneration including salaries, bonus, benefits and state-managed pension 
fell within the following bands for the years ended December 31, 2024 are as follows:

2024
  

Approximately US$512,001 to US$576,000 1

Approximately US$768,001 to US$832,000 1

Approximately US$1,088,001 to US$1,152,000 1

Approximately US$1,408,001 to US$1,472,000 2
  

5
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40.	 FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE COMPANY
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

2024 2023

USD’000 USD’000
   

Assets

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 4,623 16,483

Investments in subsidiaries 11,596,709 10,956,682

Investments in associates 221,383 218,208

Other assets 295,502 302,442
   

Total non-current assets 12,118,217 11,493,815
   

Current assets
Prepayment and prepaid operating expenses 917 941

Trade and other receivables 24,371 22,756

Due from subsidiaries 8,748,799 10,718,913

Financial assets at amortised cost 37,589 –

Derivative financial instruments 51,568 7,550

Cash and cash equivalents 1,573,683 337,570
   

Total current assets 10,436,927 11,087,730
   

Total assets 22,555,144 22,581,545
   

Equity and liabilities

Capital and reserves
Ordinary shares 31,905 31,786

Share premium 14,266,359 14,117,072

Other reserves 142,470 286,917

Retained earnings 6,173,075 5,680,327
   

Total equity 20,613,809 20,116,102
   

Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 413,137 757,230

Bonds payable – 599,115

Derivative financial instruments 37,576 34,547
   

Total non-current liabilities 450,713 1,390,892
   

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 45,195 43,364

Due to subsidiaries 401,866 817,505

Borrowings 336,536 149,533

Bonds payable 605,258 –

Accrued liabilities 3,902 10,206

Derivative financial instruments 97,865 53,943
   

Total current liabilities 1,490,622 1,074,551
   

Total liabilities 1,941,335 2,465,443
   

Total equity and liabilities 22,555,144 22,581,545
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40.	 FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE COMPANY (continued)
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Ordinary 

shares

Share 

premium

Other 

reserves

Retained 

earnings Total equity

USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000
      

As at January 1, 2023 31,651 13,963,465 377,059 4,777,801 19,149,976

Profit for the year – – – 902,526 902,526

Other comprehensive income for the year – – (115,633) – (115,633)
      

Total comprehensive income for the year – – (115,633) 902,526 786,893
      

Issue of shares under share incentive plans 135 153,607 (96,965) – 56,777

Share-based compensation – – 75,192 – 75,192

Share of other capital reserve of associates – – 6,204 – 6,204

Dilution of interests in subsidiaries – – 41,060 – 41,060
      

Subtotal 135 153,607 25,491 – 179,233
      

As at December 31, 2023 and  

January 1, 2024 31,786 14,117,072 286,917 5,680,327 20,116,102
      

Profit for the year – – – 492,748 492,748

Other comprehensive income for the year – – (101,044) – (101,044)
      

Total comprehensive income for the year – – (101,044) 492,748 391,704
      

Issue of shares under share incentive plans 119 149,287 (97,209) – 52,197

Share-based compensation – – 44,846 – 44,846

Share of other capital reserve of associates – – 17,481 – 17,481

Dilution of interests in subsidiaries – – (8,521) – (8,521)
      

Subtotal 119 149,287 (43,403) – 106,003
      

As at December 31, 2024 31,905 14,266,359 142,470 6,173,075 20,613,809
      

41.	 COMMITMENTS
The Group had the following contractual commitments at the end of the reporting period:

2024 2023

USD’000 USD’000
   

Commitments for building and facility construction 258,061 503,805

Commitments for acquisition of machinery and equipment 6,652,728 10,701,636

Commitments for acquisition of intangible assets 13,118 20,071

Commitments for capital contributions 121,307 171,384
   

7,045,214 11,396,896
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42.	 CONTINGENCY EVENTS
ARBITRATION OF CONTRACT DISPUTED WITH PDF
On May 7, 2020, SMIC New Technology, a subsidiary of the Company, received an arbitration notice issued by the 
Hong Kong International Arbitration Center, whereby PDF filed an arbitration request with the Hong Kong International 
Arbitration Center. PDF disputed the rights and obligations of both parties under a series of agreements it entered into 
with SMIC New Technology. PDF required SMIC New Technology to pay the relevant fees under the agreements. SMIC 
New Technology has formally responded to the Hong Kong International Arbitration Center and opined that the fees it 
owed to PDF had already been fully paid in accordance with the contractual obligations and no additional fee is required. 
The arbitration is still ongoing.

Management of the Group is of the view that the aforementioned contract dispute is still in the arbitration stage and 
the result of arbitration is uncertain and cannot be reasonably ascertainable. As of December 31, 2024, the Group did 
not make provision for the contingent liabilities from the contract dispute.

43.	 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
There is no material subsequent event undertaken by the Group after December 31, 2024.

44.	 APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors of the Company on March 
27, 2025.
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